World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1651-1764





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

JG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 11 March 21, 2023

REVIEW

1651 Microbiome-liver crosstalk: A multihit therapeutic target for liver disease

Kirundi J, Moghadamrad S, Urbaniak C

1669 Radiological findings in non-surgical recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: From locoregional treatments to immunotherapy

Ippolito D, Maino C, Gatti M, Marra P, Faletti R, Cortese F, Inchingolo R, Sironi S

1685 Factors affecting the quality of bowel preparation for colonoscopy in hard-to-prepare patients: Evidence from the literature

Shahini E, Sinagra E, Vitello A, Ranaldo R, Contaldo A, Facciorusso A, Maida M

MINIREVIEWS

1708 Gut microbiome therapeutic modulation to alleviate drug-induced hepatic damage in COVID-19 patients Ahsan K, Anwar MA, Munawar N

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

1721 Locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction method identifying two polymorphisms of hepatitis B virus genotype C2 infections, rt269L and rt269I

Kim K, Choi YM, Kim DH, Jang J, Choe WH, Kim BJ

Retrospective Cohort Study

1735 Risk factors predict microscopic extranodal tumor deposits in advanced stage III colon cancer patients Jhuang YH, Chou YC, Lin YC, Hu JM, Pu TW, Chen CY

Retrospective Study

1745 Outcomes of ABO-incompatible liver transplantation in end-stage liver disease patients co-infected with hepatitis B and human immunodeficiency virus

Tang JX, Zhang KJ, Fang TS, Weng RH, Liang ZM, Yan X, Jin X, Xie LJ, Zeng XC, Zhao D

CASE REPORT

1757 Eosinophilic enteritis requiring differentiation from chronic enteropathy associated with SLCO2A1 gene: A case report

Kimura K, Jimbo K, Arai N, Sato M, Suzuki M, Kudo T, Yano T, Shimizu T



World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 11 March 21, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Edditorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastroenterology, Bum Joon Kim, PhD, Professor, Chief of Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Director of Institute of Endemic Disease, Seoul National University Medical Center, Liver Research Institute, College of Medicine, Seoul National University, Seoul 03080, South Korea. kbumjoon@snu.ac.kr

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG, World J Gastroenterol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastroenterology and hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WIG mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastroenterology and hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, and pediatric gastroenterology.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJG is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE, also known as SciSearch®), Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Journal Citation Reports, Index Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 impact factor (IF) for WJG as 5.374; IF without journal self cites: 5.187; 5-year IF: 5.715; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.84; Ranking: 31 among 93 journals in gastroenterology and hepatology; and Quartile category: Q2. The WJG's CiteScore for 2021 is 8.1 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Gastroenterology is 18/149.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Gastroenterology	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gcrinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 1, 1995	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Weekly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Andrzej S Tarnawski	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
March 21, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1651-1668

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1651

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Microbiome-liver crosstalk: A multihit therapeutic target for liver disease

Jorum Kirundi, Sheida Moghadamrad, Camilla Urbaniak

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ogino S, United States; Patno N, United States

Received: September 21, 2022 Peer-review started: September 21, 2022 First decision: November 5, 2022 Revised: January 5, 2023 Accepted: March 7, 2023 Article in press: March 7, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Jorum Kirundi, Department of Biomedical Research, University of Bern, Bern 3014, Switzerland

Sheida Moghadamrad, Department of Gastroenterology/Hepatology, Laboratories for Translational Research, Ente Ospedaliero Cantonale, Bellinzona and Faculty of Biomedical Sciences, Università della Svizzera italiana, Lugano 6900, Switzerland

Camilla Urbaniak, ZIN Technologies, Middleburg Heights, OH 44130, United States

Corresponding author: Camilla Urbaniak, PhD, Research Scientist, ZIN Technologies, Middleburg Heights, OH 44130, United States. camilla.urbaniak@jpl.nasa.gov

Abstract

Liver disease has become a leading cause of death, particularly in the West, where it is attributed to more than two million deaths annually. The correlation between gut microbiota and liver disease is still not fully understood. However, it is well known that gut dysbiosis accompanied by a leaky gut causes an increase in lipopolysaccharides in circulation, which in turn evoke massive hepatic inflammation promoting liver cirrhosis. Microbial dysbiosis also leads to poor bile acid metabolism and low short-chain fatty acids, all of which exacerbate the inflammatory response of liver cells. Gut microbial homeostasis is maintained through intricate processes that ensure that commensal microbes adapt to the low oxygen potential of the gut and that they rapidly occupy all the intestinal niches, thus outcompeting any potential pathogens for available nutrients. The crosstalk between the gut microbiota and its metabolites also guarantee an intact gut barrier. These processes that protect against destabilization of gut microbes by potential entry of pathogenic bacteria are collectively called colonization resistance and are equally essential for liver health. In this review, we shall investigate how the mechanisms of colonization resistance influence the liver in health and disease and the microbial-liver crosstalk potential as therapeutic target areas.

Key Words: Microbiome; Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; Liver disease; Microbiome-host crosstalk; Gut homeostasis; Microbial metabolites

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The influence of the gut microbiome on various body systems has important implications for health and disease, such as liver disease. While the exact mechanisms of how the microbiome contributes to liver disease are unknown, there is strong evidence that the translocation of various metabolites across the mucosal barrier plays a strong role, which is precipitated by dysbiotic gut microbiota. Considering the importance of the microbiome in liver disease, powerful therapeutic options that can manipulate the gut microbiome are being explored. These approaches could have the potential for effective treatments for various stages of liver disease. This review will explore how the mechanisms of colonization resistance influence the liver in health and disease and finally examine potential therapeutic targets in the gut-liver axis.

Citation: Kirundi J, Moghadamrad S, Urbaniak C. Microbiome-liver crosstalk: A multihit therapeutic target for liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(11): 1651-1668 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1651.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1651

INTRODUCTION

A healthy gut microbiota plays a significant role in maintaining a homeostatic gut environment. One such role is colonization resistance, which is defined as the microbial capacity to resist invasion of exogenous microorganisms (for example, pathogens) and/or prevent uncontrolled overgrowth of endogenous microbes (for example, pathobionts). For gut homeostasis to be achieved, microbial alpha diversity must remain high, gut mucosal integrity must be maintained, and tolerance to the billions of microbial immunogens present in the gut must be established. This is all achieved through intricate microbe-to-microbe and microbe-to-host interactions mediated by microbial metabolites, such as shortchain fatty acids, or microbial cell wall components, such as lipopolysaccharides, lipoteichoic acid, peptidoglycans and flagellin. Homeostasis is also achieved through the production of antimicrobial peptides, resource and oxygen competition, host immunomodulation, and conjugation of bile acids. The mechanisms by which these inter/intramicrobial interactions mediate colonization resistance or how their perturbation leads to disease have not yet been fully elucidated. However, it is known that an imbalance in microbial composition, otherwise known as dysbiosis, which may arise from dietary changes, ingestion of exogenous toxins such as antibiotics or xenobiotics, or through infections that suppress the immune system, has serious and sometimes long-term clinical implications. Diseases such as diabetes, obesity, atherosclerosis, and liver disease are associated with dysbiosis and the translocation of gut microbial products into circulation. As the liver is the first organ to be exposed to the gut bacterial products and digested food delivered through the portal vein, any leakage of microbial products into circulation will lead to hepatocellular immune activation, thereby promoting systemic and hepatic inflammation, which may lead to liver disease[1]. An understanding of the mechanisms involved in colonization resistance and its influencing factors is therefore crucial to establish their link to the etiology of liver disease as well as to identify possible hit points along the gut-liver axis that can be utilized as therapeutic targets for liver disease^[2]. This review explores some of the mechanisms of colonization resistance and their importance to the etiology of the different stages of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) from simple steatosis to liver inflammation, as well as alcohol-associated liver disease (ALD), and highlights potential entry points that may be used as therapeutic targets for liver disease. A summary of the interplay between the microbiome, liver, immune system, and metabolome is presented in Figure 1.

GUT MICROBIAL EUBIOSIS

The gut microbiome starts taking shape at birth, where it is initially influenced by the mode of delivery. Vaginally born babies will have a gut microbial composition very close to the maternal vaginal microbiota, while the caesarian born will adopt mainly the skin microbiota^[3]. Mammals have five phyla that predominate the gut: Firmicutes (e.g., Lactobacillus, Clostridium, Ruminococcus, Eubacterium, Fecalibacterium and Roseburia), Actinobacteria (with Bifidobacterium as one of its most important members), Bacteroidetes (e.g., Bacteroides, Prevotella, and Xylanibacter), Proteobacteria (e.g., Escherichia and Desulfovibrio) and Verrucomicrobia (e.g., Akkermansia)[4]. The earliest colonizers are mainly facultative aerobes of the phyla Firmicutes and Actinobacteria, which play a significant role in lowering the gut's oxygen level to allow for the colonization of obligate anaerobes. These aerotolerant microbes reside in the upper gut, where they continue to reduce the amount of oxygen in the gut for life. Escherichia coli and Enterococcus faecalis are the most abundant in the oxygen-high neonatal gut, and they rapidly expand in the early phase, leading to a gradual depression of oxygen levels and allowing growth of the facultative





Gut-liver axis

Figure 1 During development of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, several immunological and metabolic pathways intersect, thus promoting progression of liver injury and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. In healthy conditions, gut-liver axis homeostasis is guaranteed by intact intestinal epithelium barriers and proper liver-host immune functions that limit the translocation of bacteria and their metabolites. In nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), on the one hand, the intestinal barriers are disrupted (thin mucus layer, decreased expression of tight junction proteins, altered ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes, dysbiosis, decreased short-chain fatty acids that result in increased leakage of bacteria and their metabolites (Lipopolysaccharide, MDP, flagellin, bacterial DNA) into the portal vein and systemic circulation, consequently stimulating the production of inflammatory cytokines in the systemic circulation. On the other hand, liver function is compromised because of the accumulation of fat, altered lipid metabolism, and increased microbial burden, which in turn elicits hepatic inflammation, hepatic stellate cell activation and collagen deposition, Kupffer cell activation, and triggering of the toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathway, which altogether contribute to the development of NASH. Tj: Tight junction; SCFAs: Short-chain fatty acids; KC: Kupffer cell; HSC: Hepatic stellate cell; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; mLN: Mesenteric lymph nodes; TLR4: Toll-like receptor 4; TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-α; IL-6: Interleukin-6; TGF-β: Transforming growth factor-β; IL-1β: Interleukin-1β.

> anaerobes *Bifidobacterium*, *Bacteroides* and *Clostridium*, which colonize most of the lower gut[4,5]. The neonatal microbiota is also influenced by the mode of feeding, where breast-fed babies show a more stable microbiota that has a higher copy number of Bacteroides and Bifidobacterium but a lower abundance of Enterococcus and Streptococcus species, while formula-fed babies have a higher abundance of *Clostridium*, *Streptococcus* and *Enterococcus*[6]. The early life microbiota only begins to take a semblance of adult microbiota when solid food is introduced and will remain relatively unstable until 3-5 years after birth[7]. The rapid expansion of early life microbiota and the adaptation to oxygen levels signify the earliest mechanisms for initiating gut microbial homeostasis[8].

> The colon has the highest density of microbes in the gastrointestinal tract, harboring approximately 70% of all gut microbes, which are mostly members of the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla[9]. The Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes axis is important in maintaining gut homeostasis, as members of each phylum have specialized metabolic roles (*i.e.*, metabolism of sugar vs. indigestible fibers) that impact the microbiome and the host. It is believed that the role in homeostasis is optimized when the relative abundance is 80% Firmicutes and 15% Bacteroidetes[8,10,11]. However, the significance of this value and the actual impact it has on the host have been questioned by some researchers[12], emphasizing the importance of more research on the role of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes in gut microbial homeostasis, health and disease. Nutrients, metabolic byproducts and the competition between exogenous microbes and commensals help prevent colonization of pathogens and maintain homeostasis. Different animal studies have shown that nutrient competition occurs between metabolically related microbiota members. For example, germ-free mice colonized with three human commensal strains of Escherichia coli (E. coli HS, E. coli Nissle 1917, E. coli MG1655) successfully prevented colonization of the cecum by the pathogen enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC) EDL933, an E. coli 0157:H7 biotype, due to the three precolonized commensal biotypes outcompeting E. coli EDL933 for nutrients[13]. This colonization resistance was further shown to occur using multiple sugars as metabolic substrates for probiotic E. coli Nissle 1917 and commensal subtype E. coli HS, whose rapid growth effectively limited the colonization of EHEC E. coli EDL933 in a mouse model[14]. Competition for a shared nutritional niche of proline was



similarly demonstrated in a gnotobiotic mouse model colonized with early life microbiota where earlylife E. coli 1 was shown to outcompete E. coli 0157:H7[15]. This colonization resistance was also thought to be attributed to the production of lactate and acetate by bifidobacteria and enterococci, which can suppress the motility of *E. coli* 0157:H7 under cecal anaerobic conditions[15]. Colonization resistance is also aided by the production of toxic antimicrobial peptides by commensals. For example, many members of the phylum Bacteroidetes produce toxic antimicrobial peptides through their type 6 secretion systems (T6SS)[16], E. coli produces narrow-spectrum antibiotics called microcins that effectively kill competitors within their niche[17,18], and the probiotic Bifidobacterium secretes broadspectrum bacteriocins[19].

Overall, any extrinsic or intrinsic factors that upset the stable microbial communities will in essence destabilize the colonization resistance mechanisms and lead to disease by allowing colonization of pathogenic microbes and/or leakage of microbes and microbial toxins into circulation.

COLONIZATION RESISTANCE THROUGH MICROBIAL ENHANCEMENT OF GUT BARRIER FUNCTION

The gut is lined with a thick mucus layer made of a highly glycosylated mucin 2 protein, which is densely packed and insoluble in the layer closest to the epithelium but loosely packed and soluble on the outer layer[20,21]. This mucus layer prevents direct contact of bacteria with the gut epithelium, thereby reducing the potential for pathogen colonization [20,21]. The development of the mucus layer is enhanced by the gut microbiota and depends on the intestinal microbial composition. It has been shown that germ-free rodents have a much thinner mucus layer than their conventionally colonized counterparts^[22]. Petersson and colleagues have shown that a thin colon mucosal layer in a colitis germfree mouse model can be restored by administering lipopolysaccharides or peptidoglycans to germ-free mice^[22]. Bacteria enhance the mucus layer in numerous ways, such as through the production of secondary metabolites. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), such as acetate produced by Bifidobacterium or butyrate produced by gram-positive Firmicutes such as Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Roseburia sp, and Butyricicoccus pullicaecorum[23,24], are known to strengthen gut barrier function, normalize permeability, improve intestinal epithelium defense, protect against pathogenic infections, and reduce inflammation[25-28].

Intestinal epithelial cells are held together by a set of tight junction proteins that are molecules situated at the tight junctions of epithelial cells. The integrity of these tight junctions can be influenced by commensal bacteria and their effects on tight junction proteins. For example, Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG induces claudin-3 expression, L. acidophilus and L. plantarum stimulate the expression of occludin, and Bifidobacterium infantis preserves claudin-4 and occludin deposition at tight junctions[29,30]. In a mouse necrotizing enterocolitis model, Bifidobacterium was found to preserve claudin 4 and occludin localization in tight junctions, thereby preventing gut permeability[31]. In mouse models, probiotics have been shown to improve the integrity of the intestinal barrier, which has also been observed in Crohn's and colitis patients [28]. In vitro treatment of Caco-2 cells with the probiotic E. coli Nissle 1917 increases the expression and peripheral migration of ZO-2[32]. Treatment of Caco2 cells with the probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum MB452 increased occludin and cingulin gene expression[33]. These results indicate that in vitro, certain probiotics can improve gut barrier function. Maintaining the integrity of the intestinal barrier is essential due to the high levels of microbial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) present within the lumen of the gut, as LPS is a potent immunological signal that can induce an inflammatory cascade if detected systemically, which a healthy intestinal barrier effectively prevents[34]. Leakage of LPS and other microbial polypeptides into circulation due to dysbiosis can lead to inflammation in the liver (among other organs), which can lead to the development of liver disease[34].

COLONIZATION RESISTANCE AND BILE ACID METABOLISM

Pericentral hepatocytes primarily produce bile acids from cholesterol[35]. In humans, these acids are then transported to the gut, where they are dehydroxylated, epimerized, or dehydrogenated into different secondary bile acids, such as deoxycholic acid (DCA), ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA), ursocholic acid, or lithocholic acid (LCA)[35]. In mice, murideoxycholic acid and hyodeoxycholic acid are also produced^[35]. Secondary bile acids are known to bind to the intestinal farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and G-protein coupled receptor 5 (TGR5)[36]. Some bile acid metabolites have also been shown to have a contradictory effect on gut barrier tight junctions[36]. UDCA and LCA, for example, have opposing effects on the barrier of human colonic T84 cells[36]. Treatment of these cells with primary bile acid-chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) combined with LCA leads to an increase in barrier permeability and the inflammatory cytokine IL-8[37]. Using a Caco-2 cell model, it was demonstrated that DCA led to an increase in the phosphorylation of epithelial growth factor receptor, which induced barrier dysfunction[38]. Prematurely weaned piglets treated with CDCA showed an improvement in the gut



barrier with higher ZO-1 expression and increased expression of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and interleukin (IL)-6 and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10[39]. The authors speculated that the anti-inflammatory effects of both IL-10 and ZO-1 counteracted the inflammatory effects of IL-6 and TNF- α , thus precipitating a net improvement in the intestinal barrier[39]. These examples demonstrate that bile acid metabolism is a significant key player in gut health, and it can be utilized as a therapeutic target for liver disease and other metabolic disorders, as will be discussed later.

MICROBIAL ASSOCIATION WITH LIVER DISEASE

Liver disease has been shown through preclinical and clinical trials to be accompanied by gut dysbiosis [40-44]. It has been shown that liver cirrhosis is also correlated with bacteremia, increased gut permeability, and increased circulatory LPS[43]. Dysbiosis has been noted in many mouse models of liver disease, such as secondary biliary fibrosis (common) induced by bile duct ligation, alcoholic liver disease induced by alcohol uptake in drinking water and hepatotoxicity-induced liver cirrhosis using carbon tetrachloride (CCL₄) treatment[42,43]. In humans, several gram-positive bacteria, including members of the genera Clostridium XI, Anaerobacter, Streptococcus, and Lactobacillus, were found to be more abundant in the gut in NAFLD patient biopsies than in healthy volunteers[45]. In contrast, Oscillibacter and Flavonifractor of the family Ruminococcaceae were abundant in healthy volunteers relative to NAFLD patients[45]. In severe fibrosis forms of NAFLD, the bacteria Bacteroidetes vulgatus and *Escherichia coli* were identified as the most abundant^[46]. Although there has not yet been a general consensus on what microbial ratios of different strains exist in NAFLD patients, many research findings indicate that a lower Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio is associated with liver disease[11,47]. Dysbiosis may be caused by a reduction in bile acids (which are bacteriostatic) of a cirrhotic liver, which precipitates inflammation and immunosuppression, factors that can positively feedback on cirrhosis[42]. Dysbiosis may also arise from increased saprophytic fungal growth in the alimentary canal. Cirrhotic liver patients who routinely receive antimicrobial treatment have an overgrowth of fungi, especially Candida, leading to fungal-bacterial balance in the gut and worsening dysbiosis[42]. Although cirrhosis is a systemic disease, it is believed to be worsened by dysbiosis both in the gut liver axis and outside this axis, such as in saliva and serum[42,48].

While there is a knowledge gap on the use of microbial interventions for NAFLD therapy, there are data showing that nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients improve following treatment with the antibiotic rifaximin, which is used for the treatment of traveler's diarrhea caused by Escherichia coli[49]. In a study examining the gut microbiota of stage 4 hepatitis C virus (HCV) patients, Prevotella and Faecalibacterium were found to be more abundant in HCV patients than in healthy controls, while Ruminococcus and some Clostridium species were more abundant in healthy controls than in HCV patients. Bifidobacterium was found only in healthy individuals[50]. Germ-free mice were shown to develop NAFLD following fecal microbial transplantation from donor hyperglycemic mice with systemic inflammation when fed a high-fat diet[51]. On the other hand, germ-free recipients that received fecal transplantation from normal donors (i.e., normoglycemic with negligible systemic inflammation) did not develop NAFLD and were normoglycemic when fed a high-fat diet[51]. Rabot *et al*[52] also showed that germ-free mice fed a high-fat diet were more resistant to hepatic steatosis than colonized controls. In an experimental mouse model of cholestasis-induced liver fibrosis induced either through bile duct ligation or by CCl₄treatments, colonization with complex microbiota (specific pathogen-free mice) was protective against severe fibrosis when compared to limited colonization (Altered Schaedler Flora)[53]. How the gut microbiota induces a leaky gut, bacteriaemia and an inflammatory flare leading to liver disease has been the subject of intense research. Brown and colleagues fed mice a high carbohydrate diet to induce a leaky gut[54]. This high carbohydrate diet caused a sloughing of the intestinal villi and reduced tight junction integrity, which allowed bacteria to translocate into the circulatory system^[54]. In cirrhotic patients, it has been shown that microbial components leaking through the intestinal barrier, such as LPS, lipoteichoic acid, lipopolypeptides, and peptidoglycans, activate Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in hepatic stellate cells, Kupffer cells, and hepatocytes (all of which are differentially populated with TLRs 1-9), inducing severe inflammatory responses and fibrosis in the liver[43,55] Microbial activation of TLR2 in monocytes has especially been identified as significant in liver fibrosis through the production of TNF alpha, which initiates a cascade of reactions leading to increased gut permeability[43].

MICROBIAL METABOLITES IN LIVER DISEASE

Gut microbiota-host crosstalk in liver disease remains widely unclear. However, in recent years, many studies have established a correlation between different microbial metabolites and liver disease[56]. LPS are gut microbiota-derived endotoxins that form the major component of the gram-negative bacterial outer cell wall. High plasma levels of LPS have been identified in NAFLD patients and are associated with gram-negative intestinal bacterial overgrowth and compromised gut lining epithelial tight



junctions[57,58]. LPS induces an inflammatory response by activating hepatic Kupffer cells through TLR4. Apart from inducing proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines from hepatic Kupffer cells, LPS also activates hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) to differentiate into myofibroblast-like cells by producing extracellular matrix proteins, thus promoting liver fibrosis[49,59-61]. Other important metabolites are SCFAs from the fermentation of indigestible dietary fiber, which are mostly found in the colon, where most of them are produced and absorbed[62]. The major microbial fermentation products following microbial degradation of fiber are the SCFAs butyrate, propionate, and acetate. The body utilizes approximately 10% of the energy supply from microbially derived SCFAs, meaning that 90% is stored in white adipose tissue[63]. Several studies have revealed that gut microbial dysbiosis is associated with chronic liver diseases such as NAFLD or ALD[45,64]. In a metabolomic study in children with NASH, serum levels of 2-butanone and 4-methyl-2-pentanone were found to be elevated compared to those in healthy individuals^[65]. Adults with NAFLD were found to have higher levels of fecal propionate and isobutyric acid, which are part of the fecal SCFA family[66]. Obese patients with NAFLD were also found to have high levels of propanoic acid and butanoic acid [67]. SCFAs such as acetate and butyrate modulate the host immune response by dampening the LPS-induced hepatocellular inflammatory response and restoring mucosal and systemic immunologic homeostasis, thus minimizing liver injury [68,69]. SCFAs can act as hormonal molecules by binding to G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which leads to activation of the GPCR pathway, slowing gut motility and increasing energy harvest⁷⁰-72]. Upon activation, glucagon-like peptide-1 is secreted from epithelial L-cells, enters circulation, and induces insulin release from the pancreas[70]. GPCR pathway activation also limits insulin-mediated hepatic and muscular fat accumulation and stimulates energy expenditure[71]. In adipocytes, SCFAs activate G protein-coupled receptor (GPR) 41 and GPR43 to inhibit lipolysis and activate adipocyte differentiation[70]. SCFAs also regulate immune cell functions through GPR43, which is widely expressed in most immune cells[73-75]. SCFAs have also been shown to inhibit histone deacetylases, which downregulate gene expression and reduce the production of inflammatory cytokines, particularly in macrophages and blood mononuclear cells during acute inflammatory hepatitis[69]. Therefore, it can be argued that dysbiosis that reduces microbial SCFA generation will result in a dysregulated inflammatory response and thus contribute to the progression of liver disease"

Indole and its derivatives are microbial metabolites of tryptophan breakdown. Indole upregulates tight junction proteins in the gut and downregulates colonic epithelium inflammatory genes through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor [76]. Indole-3-propionate activates pregnane X receptor to downregulate proinflammatory cytokine production and has been associated with protection against injury through oxidative stress signaling[76,77]. Indole-3-acetate has been shown to modulate hepatocyte lipogenesis, thus playing a protective role against NAFLD[78]. Microbial metabolism of dietary choline and Lcarnitine produces trimethylamine (TMA), which is oxidized to trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) during hepatic detoxification of the blood through catalysis of the liver enzyme hepatic flavin monooxygenases[79]. TMAO is excreted in urine, and recent findings in animal NAFLD models fed a high-fat diet have shown increased urine levels of TMAO[80]. In a Chinese cohort study, the severity of NAFLD was closely associated with circulatory TMAO[81]. Bacteria are essential for the conversion of dietary choline to TMA, which is oxidized in the liver through the catalysis of hepatic flavin monooxygenase to generate trimethylamine-N-oxide, whose accumulation has been associated with both cardiac and renal disease[82,83]. Phosphatidylcholine is also metabolized by gut microbes to generate TMA, whose oxidation in the liver yields TMAO and, as previously described, may lead to kidney and cardiac disease[84,85]. It is now thought that accumulation of TMAO in the liver causes NASH through the inhibition of FXR and alteration of bile acid homeostasis[86]. SCFAs are significant microbial metabolites in the etiology of liver disease. More studies are required to target SCFAs as diagnostic or therapeutic tools for predicting or treating liver disease.

DIET AND XENOBIOTICS IN LIVER DISEASE

Liver disease is highly influenced by exposure to different environmental factors, which has recently been referred to as the exposome. It is now known that liver disease is impacted by an interaction between the genetic makeup of the host, exposome, and gut microbiome[87,88]. Certain types of gut microbiota have been associated with endogenous alcohol generation, which may in turn be hepatotoxic, leading to NASH[89]. The gut microbiota is important for the metabolism of bile acids, and in the absence or deficiency of bacteria that can convert primary bile acids to secondary bile acids, there is an accumulation of circulatory bile acids, which in turn activate TGR5, leading to monocyte dysfunction, which may exacerbate the hepatic inflammatory response and lead to liver disease[90]. High circulatory bile acids reflect a dysfunctional FXR, the nuclear receptor responsible for bile acid homeostasis, whose function is to facilitate enterohepatic bile acid circulation[91]. Dysbiosis affecting 7a -dehydroxylation-rich Firmicutes, which convert primary bile acids to FXR-low-binding secondary bile acids, will inevitably affect the function of FXR, leading to liver disease[92]. The liver is a crucial filter for toxins that find their way into the body either accidentally or deliberately. Alcohol is by far the most significant xenobiotic causing liver disease in humans, and it has been identified as the cause of ALD



[93]. It can be argued that alcohol consumption causes both destruction of microbial communities and rupture of the barrier wall integrity in the gut and leads to induction of inflammation during detoxification in the liver. A compromised gut barrier leads to leakage of LPS and other microbial ligands into circulation, triggering inflammation of liver cells.

A high-fat diet and environmental pollutants are further risk factors for liver disease, and their effects are exacerbated by microbial metabolites [94,95]. It is likely that most xenobiotics, in addition to being directly toxic to hepatic cells, will cause dysbiosis that favors changes in microbial composition that generate toxic liver disease-causing metabolites. The changes in these microbial metabolites may therefore be used as noninvasive diagnostic biomarkers for liver disease[96] but may also become significant therapeutic targets for the treatment of this disease [96-98]. A high carbohydrate diet has been demonstrated in environmental enteropathy animal models to lead to intestinal wall epithelial brushborder shortening and loosening of tight junctions[54]. Furthermore, small intestinal gram-negative bacterial overgrowth and high plasma LPS levels can lead to liver disease[56]. In the absence of dietary fibers, the gut microbiota cannot produce sufficient SCFAs, which may lead to a dysregulated inflammatory response and liver disease[99,100]. Most liver metabolism occurs through the catalysis of cytochrome P-450 (CYP-450), and it is known that many dietary biproducts can influence the activity of CYP-450[101]. Dietary retinoids, for example, are metabolized by hepatic cells, including hepatic stellate cells. An alteration in the uptake and metabolism of retinoids may influence retinoic acid signaling, which may activate hepatic stellate cells, resulting in loss of retinoid stores, aberrant extracellular matrix generation and the onset of fibrosis, which inevitably precipitate liver disease[102]. Additionally, alcohol consumption affects hepatic retinoid metabolism through inhibition of retinoid oxidation, induction of CYP2E1 enzymes to increase retinoic acid metabolism, or increased peripheral tissue damping of retinoic acid, all of which leads to activation of hepatic stellate cells and development of liver disease[103]. Retinoic acid is a gut microbial metabolite of vitamin A whose intestinal concentration is modulated by suppression of retinol dehydrogenase 7 expression by commensal Clostridia microbes[104]. Retinoic acid not only regulates bile acid homeostasis but also shares with it the receptors retinoid X receptor and FXR and therefore shares the functions of lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity[105]. In a rat model, a high-fat diet in combination with high glucocorticoid treatment resulted in a fourfold hepatic lipid deposition and an almost threefold increase in circulatory alanine aminotransferase indicative of liver injury [106]. A high-fat diet also caused severe liver damage with high levels of circulatory alanine transaminases (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferases (AST) in a mouse model[107]. Mice fed a high-fat diet developed high intestinal gram-negative microbial growth and an increase in ethanol-producing bacteria when compared to mice fed normal chow[107]. This result is consistent with findings from clinical studies where it has been documented that microbial diversity rapidly changes with a change in diet[108]. Therefore, it can be concluded that diet, food additives, and xenobiotics affect liver disease by influencing gut microbial composition, gut permeability, and microbial metabolites. The liver plays a major role in metabolism and blood detoxification and is thus prone to damage from microbial endotoxins, environmental toxins, and microbial dietary metabolites, all of which work together in cascaded inflammatory responses to cause liver injury. Understanding the individualized microbial signatures and their influence on gut permeability, immunologic inflammatory responses, and the hepatic response to insult will expose multientry avenues to precision liver disease therapy.

MICROBIOME-HOST INTERACTION IN LIVER DISEASE

The intestine is heavily colonized with microbiota, yet the surrounding tissues remain sterile. This barrier is maintained by intricate crosstalk between gut microbes, the gut wall epithelium, and the innate immune system[109,110]. The expression of intercellular tight junction proteins between the intestinal epithelium is regulated by cytokines such as interferon gamma and TNF and other regulatory cytokines that interact with immunoglobulin A (IgA)-coated gut microbiota to maintain gut and immune homeostasis[111]. A change in diet or intake of xenobiotics such as alcohol, prescription/overthe-counter drugs, or other environmental chemicals may lead to destabilization of the intestinal homeostatic environment either through selective overgrowth or reduction of specific microbial strains or injury to the mucosal lining. A destabilization of the homeostatic environment will give way to a shift in the immunological signaling molecules protective to the gut tight junctions and a sloughing of intestinal villi. This breach in the barrier allows leakage of microbial endotoxins into circulation and microbial translocation into the liver, thus triggering an immunological inflammatory response once the microbial products are detected by the liver's pathogen recognition receptors, mainly the TLR and nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptors [109,112]. HSCs are endowed with TLR 2, 4, and 9, which are associated with promoting TLR4 fibrosis[43,60]. Kupffer cells are lined with TLR 2, 3, 4, and 9 and are hepatic macrophages that form the main targets of microbial ligands within the liver[43]. Furthermore, hepatocytes express TLR 1-9 and are the most abundant cells in the liver, playing a critical role in the acute phase of the immunologic response through cytokine-like IL-6[113]. The inflammatory response of the liver to leaked gut-microbial endotoxins is not yet fully understood. However, it is



known that upon activation, Kupffer cells release proinflammatory and profibrogenic cytokines, such as TNF- α , Transforming Growth Factor (TGF)- β and IL-1 β , and a few more members of the inflammasome whose effect is to induce inflammation and accumulation of lipids in the liver, and if this is not resolved, it leads to fibrosis NAFLD[114]. Therapeutic target efforts are geared toward minimizing the hepatic inflammation seen after proinflammatory cytokine release. Chemokine receptor antagonists such as C-C motif chemochine receptor (CCR) 2 and CCR5 [Cenicrivinoc (CVC)] have been used with some success to decrease leukocyte infiltration, and when used in a diet-induced NASH mouse model and a thioacetamide-induced fibrosis rat model, liver fibrosis was effectively reduced[115,116]. This outcome has since been replicated in phase 2 clinical trials with a remarkable reduction in fibrosis[117]. Several other proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-17, IL-11, and IL-1, are still under investigation. A clinical trial therapy utilizing an IL-1 pathway anti-inflammatory drug, diacerelin, achieved a remarkable reduction in fibrosis in NAFLD patients with diabetes[118].

THE GUT MICROBIOME AS A DIAGNOSTIC BIOMARKER FOR LIVER DISEASE

The dynamics of the gut microbiome could be used as a noninvasive diagnostic tool for liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)[119]. In a cross-regional prospective validation study in China, human fecal samples analyzed for microbial diversity revealed a significant rise in diversity as the liver condition advanced from cirrhosis to HCC with cirrhosis[119]. There was also a high level of butyrateproducing bacteria in healthy controls relative to early cirrhosis patients and a notable rise in LPSproducing bacteria in HCC patients[119]. In a different experiment, gut microbiota known to originate from the oral cavity were found to be enriched in liver cirrhosis patients relative to healthy volunteers [120]. In an Asian NAFLD cohort, Ruminococcaceae and Veillonellaceae species were found to be more predominant in NAFLD patients relative to healthy individuals[121]. These microbiome changes could not be associated with genetic predispositions known to influence NAFLD and were thought to be environmentally driven[121]. Bacteroides and Escherichia spp. have, on the other hand, been associated with liver fibrosis in NAFLD patients[122]. Overall, these multiregional studies indicate that there is great potential for the gut microbiota as a noninvasive diagnostic biomarker for liver disease with distinct indications of the staging of fibrosis and inflammation[121,123]. There is also great potential for the gut microbiota and associated metabolites to be utilized as therapeutic biomarkers[119-121]. It must, however, be appreciated that as of yet, a single microbial signature indicative of liver disease does not exist mainly because disease outcome is influenced by multiple factors such as diet, genetic background, age, and lifestyle (such as alcohol consumption), all of which must be considered while interpreting data on the predictive value of fecal microbiota on liver disease[124].

THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

As we have discussed above, dysbiosis and a dysfunctional gut barrier promote the leakage of microbial endotoxins and components, as well as bile acid metabolites, into circulation, which can eventually lead to liver injury. Various therapeutic approaches (which are at various stages of testing) could be used to address these different factors for the treatment or prevention of liver disease, which will be highlighted below. Although SCFA supplements could be an attractive therapeutic approach in liver disease, their taste is normally not well tolerated. However, methods such as microencapsulation[125], either as soft gels or liquid capsules, are available that mask the taste of bitter medications and could be used for oral delivery of SCFA, which has the added benefit of being slow release and helps prevent evaporation of some volatile SCFAs, such as butyrate. Butyrate enemas have been used in a rat model, with the treatment group showing improved mucosal repair and reduced colonic damage compared to the untreated control groups[126]. However, butyrate enemas did not show any improvement in clinical studies with ulcerative colitis patients[127]. There is potential for the use of SCFA as a therapeutic approach, but more research is required to develop an optimal approach. Prebiotics such as inulin represent a substitute approach for the supply of SCFAs[98]. Multiple agonists of FXR are under investigation, including GS-9674 and LJN452, in phase 2 trials for NASH[98]. Some fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), such as FGF19 and FGF21, have shown encouraging results for NAFLD therapy[128,129].

Probiotic interventions

Treating dysbiosis and restoring homeostasis is complicated due to the wide range of associated factors that lead to a loss of important microbial populations or diversity in the first place. In most cases, treating dysbiosis with a single approach usually gives discouraging outcomes. However, studies involving probiotics have shown encouraging results in terms of safety, tolerance, and efficacy[130]. In a Phase 1 clinical trial, *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG administered to cirrhotic patients resulted in reduced *Enterobacteraceae* and increased relative abundance of *Clostridiales incertae* Sedis XIV and *Lachnospiriceae* with reduced endotoxemia and decreased pathogenic bacterial growth indicative of improved health

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

[131]. In another study using multiple probiotic strains, a reduction in inflammatory cytokine flares in cirrhotic patients was observed [132]. In obese, sonographically identified NAFLD children, treatment with a probiotic combination of Bifidobacteria (B. bifidum and B. lactis) and two Lactobacilli (L. rhamnosus DSMZ 21690 and L. acidophilus) strains significantly lowered intrahepatic fat content and ALT levels as well as AST relative to the placebo treatment[133]. This reduction in hepatic steatosis was replicated in NAFLD patients treated with a multistrain probiotic [134]. In another study, a twelve-week treatment of 30 NAFLD volunteers with six strains of bacteria containing Bifidobacterium breve and B. lactis, Lactobacillus rhamnosus, L. acidophilus and L. paracasei pacasei and Pediococcus pentosaceus in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study led to an improvement in proinflammatory cytokines, a reduction in cholesterol and a decrease in body weight [135]. When probiotics are mixed with compatible prebiotics, better outcomes have been achieved in clinical trials, but more studies are needed to determine the most effective combinations [136,137]. Hepatic steatosis has, for example, been reported to decrease in patients with NASH following symbiotic and prebiotic treatment. Serum alkaline phosphatase was decreased following treatment with probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics[136] However, it is noteworthy that the outcomes are dependent on the composition of probiotics, the exposure time, and the dosage[136]. Studies in animal models have shown similar outcomes as in human studies. In rats fed a high-fat diet, treatment with Bifidobacteria longum or Lactobacillus acidophilus significantly reduced hepatic fat accumulation[138]. There was also a strong negative correlation between fat liver content and probiotic concentration in the stool [138]. In addition, hepatic steatosis was markedly reduced after 12 wk of treatment with B. longum, but this was not the case with L. acidophilus treatment[138]. In a diabetic rat model, treatment with Akkermansia muciniphila led to a decreased inflammatory response and improved liver function[139]. In hepatic encephalopathy, a mixture of Lactobacillus plantarum, L. casei, L. delbrueckii subsp. Bulgaricus, Bifidobacterium infantis, B. longum, B, breve, and Streptococcus salivarius subsp. Thermophilius has been associated with both primary and secondary prophylaxis[140,141]. Yogurts containing L. bulgaricus, S. thermophilus, L. acidopilus La5 and B. lactis Bb12 as well as a prebiotic mixture of fruco-oligosaccharides and L. casei, L. rhamnosus, S. thermophilus, B. breve, L. acidophilus, B. longum, and L. bulgaricus have been shown to improve aminotransferase in NAFLD patients[142-144]. In NASH patients, probiotics containing L. bulgaricus and S. thermophilus have also shown improvement in aminotransferase[145]. A combination of B. longum W11 and fructooligosaccharides, on the other hand, has shown improvement in aminotransferase and the histological score activity of NASH patients[146]

Fecal microbiota transplantation

Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) is the administration of a solution containing fecal material from a "healthy" donor into the intestinal tract of a recipient to modify that recipient's gut microbial composition for targeted health benefits[147]. To date, FMT has been successfully used in the treatment of recurrent Clostridium difficile infection, and there is growing evidence that FMT can be used to treat noninfectious diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, obesity, and other metabolic disorders [147]. FMT has also been tried as a therapeutic option for liver disease. In a diet-induced steatohepatitis mouse model, FMT-treated mice showed increased SCFAs, improved expression of tight junction proteins, reduced proinflammatory cytokines and less intrahepatic lipid deposition compared to controls (*i.e.*, no FMT)[148]. There have also been several human clinical trials but with mixed outcomes, with some achieving a significant reduction in proinflammatory cytokines and improved gut barrier function and others not responding to therapy [149,150]. Future experiments should address the question of who qualifies as a healthy donor, how should we deal with the variation in gut microbial diversity among the recipients, and how best to package the product for better acceptability.

Bile acid metabolism

A recent study in mice indicated that during antibiotic-induced dysbiosis, the homeostasis of bile acids was equally destabilized[151,152]. Treatment of these mice with flavanones and total phenolic extracts of citrus aurantium L. (TPE-CA) restored bile acid homeostasis and gut barrier integrity [152]. TPE-CA also regulates the enterohepatic circulation entry of bile acids through the farnesoid X receptorfibroblast-growth factor 15 pathway[152]. The effects of dysbiosis and increased intestinal unconjugated bile acid that are observed in ALD were reversed through improved FXR activity and gut barrier function following treatment with fexaramine, which is an intestine restricted FXR agonist. These results indicate that modulation of cyp7a1 and lipid metabolism can be achieved in a mouse model and thereby minimize ethanol-derived liver damage by targeting the bile acid-FXR-fibroblast-growth factor 15 signaling pathway^[153]. Future experiments to verify these findings in higher mammals and translate the results to therapeutic interventions for human liver disease are warranted.

Precision microbial engineering

The mechanisms by which the intestinal microbiota influences the development and/or progression of liver disease are only beginning to unfold, but to fully elucidate the microbiome role in liver disease, a more comprehensive picture of the dynamics of the gut ecosystem is needed. Unfortunately, most of our knowledge about the intestinal microbiota arises from fecal or biopsy sample analysis, which is not

representative of the entire gut microbiome. However, novel technologies are being developed to address this knowledge gap. One such innovation is a capsule sampler and drug delivery system that is swallowed and utilizes mechanical gut peristaltic movements to guide the capsule down the entire length of the gut as the capsule collects samples [154]. Recently, a capsule robot was designed from a shape memory alloy spring with a chamber of a storage capacity of 500 µL, which showed enhanced sample preservation [155]. Another approach consists of an inexpensive 3D-printed sampler containing a hydrogel whose swelling ability seal and protects the liquid gut samples[156]. Such strategies that analyze small samples from various sites will provide information on microbiota distribution and will make microbial engineering and microbial targeting more feasible.

One such microbial engineering approach being developed is the use of Clustered Regulatory Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR) Cas-based instructions to precisely cut off targeted genetic sequences of the microbial genome and thus change their function in vivo[157]. A conjugative plasmid, TP114, was recently used as a delivery vehicle for CRISPR-Cas9, targeted at drug-resistant Escherichia coli and Citrobacter rodentium, which led to full clearance of these organisms in a mouse model four days after administration[157]. More recent delivery systems for CRISPR-Cas9 have been designed to utilize probiotics as a genetically engineered conjugative vehicle that are more efficient and practical to use than bacteriophage-based systems [158,157]. The use of CRISPR-Cas9 as antimicrobial therapy is still in its early stages but has the potential to be an effective therapy for targeting specific, undesired microbes in the dysbiotic gut of liver disease. Other approaches to manipulate the gut microbiome are mucosal vaccines. IgA is the predominant antibody in the gut that binds to pathogens and commensals, preventing their translocation across the mucosal barrier. Using a probiotic-based mucosal vaccine with Lactobacillus acidophilus, Fox et al [159] showed that a potent, diverse IgA response could be elicited which could help with colonization resistance. In another study, Slack and colleagues designed an oral vaccine using genetically modified Salmonella enterica capable of setting evolutionary traps for prophylaxis treatment in a mouse model [160,161]. While this technology was advanced into a pig model and is currently being tested on human neonates to treat neonatal sepsis and necrotizing enterocolitis, it has hallmarks to be equally beneficial as therapeutic approaches for liver disease.

Diet and lifestyle changes as therapeutic targets

There are many therapeutic options for NAFLD that are being explored, some of which are in advanced levels of clinical trials; however, no treatment is yet available [124]. Diet and lifestyle changes remain the most effective methods of managing liver disease[162]. Low caloric diets, low carbohydrate intake and low protein diets have all been shown to be effective in the management of liver disease[163,162]. It should, however, be noted that dietary changes alone cannot achieve the intended long-term weight loss goals to reduce liver inflammation. It is rather a combination of correct diet and exercise that is most effective against NAFLD[162]. The response to dietary changes and exercise on both gut microbiota that are negatively associated with liver disease and the amount of fat in the liver is different between individuals and between races [164] The amount of *Bacteroides*, for example, is lower in Chinese NAFLD individuals after diet and exercise compared to people from the West, and this is correlated with lower hepatic fat[164]. It has also been noted that Bacteroides increases in obese volunteers but decreases in lean volunteers following exercise and diet intervention [165]. This is suggestive of personalized intervention approaches of diet and lifestyle changes[164].

CONCLUSION

The influence of the gut microbiome on various body systems has important implications for health and disease, such as liver disease. While the exact mechanisms by which the microbiome contributes to liver disease are unknown, there is strong evidence that translocation of various metabolites across the mucosal barrier plays a strong role, which is precipitated by a dysbiotic gut microbiota. Considering the importance of the microbiome in liver disease, powerful therapeutic options that can manipulate the gut microbiome are being explored. These approaches could have the potential for effective treatments for various stages of liver disease. More research needs to be done to understand the crosstalk between the microbiome and host as it relates to liver disease so that more effective and targeted preventative and therapeutic options can be developed.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kirundi J conceived, wrote, and edited the manuscript; Moghadamrad S made the figure and edited the manuscript; Urbaniak C conceived and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed equally in the responses to the reviewers. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Jorum Kirundi 0000-0001-9617-0634.

S-Editor: Liu GL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu GL

REFERENCES

- Albillos A, de Gottardi A, Rescigno M. The gut-liver axis in liver disease: Pathophysiological basis for therapy. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 558-577 [PMID: 31622696 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.10.003]
- Kisseleva T, Brenner D. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of liver fibrosis and its regression. Nat Rev Gastroenterol 2 Hepatol 2021; 18: 151-166 [PMID: 33128017 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-00372-7]
- 3 Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, Knight R. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2010; 107: 11971-11975 [PMID: 20566857 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1002601107]
- 4 Schroeder BO, Bäckhed F. Signals from the gut microbiota to distant organs in physiology and disease. Nat Med 2016; 22: 1079-1089 [PMID: 27711063 DOI: 10.1038/nm.4185]
- Guaraldi F, Salvatori G. Effect of breast and formula feeding on gut microbiota shaping in newborns. Front Cell Infect 5 Microbiol 2012; 2: 94 [PMID: 23087909 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00094]
- Ma J, Li Z, Zhang W, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Mei H, Zhuo N, Wang H, Wang L, Wu D. Comparison of gut microbiota in exclusively breast-fed and formula-fed babies: a study of 91 term infants. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 15792 [PMID: 32978424 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-72635-x
- Rodríguez JM, Murphy K, Stanton C, Ross RP, Kober OI, Juge N, Avershina E, Rudi K, Narbad A, Jenmalm MC, Marchesi JR, Collado MC. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. Microb Ecol Health Dis 2015; 26: 26050 [PMID: 25651996 DOI: 10.3402/mehd.v26.26050]
- 8 Milani C, Duranti S, Bottacini F, Casey E, Turroni F, Mahony J, Belzer C, Delgado Palacio S, Arboleya Montes S, Mancabelli L, Lugli GA, Rodriguez JM, Bode L, de Vos W, Gueimonde M, Margolles A, van Sinderen D, Ventura M. The First Microbial Colonizers of the Human Gut: Composition, Activities, and Health Implications of the Infant Gut Microbiota. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2017; 81 [PMID: 29118049 DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.00036-17]
- Iebba V, Totino V, Gagliardi A, Santangelo F, Cacciotti F, Trancassini M, Mancini C, Cicerone C, Corazziari E, Pantanella F, Schippa S. Eubiosis and dysbiosis: the two sides of the microbiota. New Microbiol 2016; 39: 1-12 [PMID: 269229811
- Mariat D, Firmesse O, Levenez F, Guimarăes V, Sokol H, Doré J, Corthier G, Furet JP. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes 10 ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. BMC Microbiol 2009; 9: 123 [PMID: 19508720 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-123]
- Manor O, Dai CL, Kornilov SA, Smith B, Price ND, Lovejoy JC, Gibbons SM, Magis AT. Health and disease markers 11 correlate with gut microbiome composition across thousands of people. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 5206 [PMID: 33060586 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18871-11
- Magne F, Gotteland M, Gauthier L, Zazueta A, Pesoa S, Navarrete P, Balamurugan R. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes 12 Ratio: A Relevant Marker of Gut Dysbiosis in Obese Patients? Nutrients 2020; 12 [PMID: 32438689 DOI: 10.3390/nu12051474]
- Leatham MP, Banerjee S, Autieri SM, Mercado-Lubo R, Conway T, Cohen PS. Precolonized human commensal 13 Escherichia coli strains serve as a barrier to E. coli O157:H7 growth in the streptomycin-treated mouse intestine. Infect Immun 2009; 77: 2876-2886 [PMID: 19364832 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.00059-09]
- 14 Maltby R, Leatham-Jensen MP, Gibson T, Cohen PS, Conway T. Nutritional basis for colonization resistance by human commensal Escherichia coli strains HS and Nissle 1917 against E. coli O157:H7 in the mouse intestine. PLoS One 2013; 8: e53957 [PMID: 23349773 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053957]
- 15 Momose Y, Hirayama K, Itoh K. Competition for proline between indigenous Escherichia coli and E. coli O157:H7 in gnotobiotic mice associated with infant intestinal microbiota and its contribution to the colonization resistance against E. coli O157:H7. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 2008; 94: 165-171 [PMID: 18247153 DOI: 10.1007/s10482-008-9222-6]
- Russell AB, Wexler AG, Harding BN, Whitney JC, Bohn AJ, Goo YA, Tran BQ, Barry NA, Zheng H, Peterson SB, Chou 16 S, Gonen T, Goodlett DR, Goodman AL, Mougous JD. A type VI secretion-related pathway in Bacteroidetes mediates interbacterial antagonism. Cell Host Microbe 2014; 16: 227-236 [PMID: 25070807 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.007]
- Patzer SI, Baquero MR, Bravo D, Moreno F, Hantke K. The colicin G, H and X determinants encode microcins M and 17 H47, which might utilize the catecholate siderophore receptors FepA, Cir, Fiu and IroN. Microbiology (Reading) 2003; 149: 2557-2570 [PMID: 12949180 DOI: 10.1099/mic.0.26396-0]
- 18 Baquero F, Lanza VF, Baquero MR, Del Campo R, Bravo-Vázquez DA. Microcins in Enterobacteriaceae: Peptide



Antimicrobials in the Eco-Active Intestinal Chemosphere. Front Microbiol 2019; 10: 2261 [PMID: 31649628 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02261]

- Javvadi SG, Kujawska M, Papp D, Jordan A, Lawson MAE, Clarke P, Beraza N, Hall LJ, Microbes G, Microbiome I, 19 Kingdom U. A novel bacteriocin produced by Bifidobacterium longum subsp. infantis has dual antimicrobial and immunomodulatory activity. 2022 Preprint. Available from: bioRxiv [DOI: 10.1101/2022.01.27.477972]
- Johansson ME, Ambort D, Pelaseyed T, Schütte A, Gustafsson JK, Ermund A, Subramani DB, Holmén-Larsson JM, 20 Thomsson KA, Bergström JH, van der Post S, Rodriguez-Piñeiro AM, Sjövall H, Bäckström M, Hansson GC. Composition and functional role of the mucus layers in the intestine. Cell Mol Life Sci 2011; 68: 3635-3641 [PMID: 21947475 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-011-0822-3]
- 21 Johansson ME, Larsson JM, Hansson GC. The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011; 108 Suppl 1: 4659-4665 [PMID: 20615996 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1006451107]
- Petersson J, Schreiber O, Hansson GC, Gendler SJ, Velcich A, Lundberg JO, Roos S, Holm L, Phillipson M. Importance 22 and regulation of the colonic mucus barrier in a mouse model of colitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2011; 300: G327-G333 [PMID: 21109593 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00422.2010]
- 23 Geirnaert A, Steyaert A, Eeckhaut V, Debruyne B, Arends JB, Van Immerseel F, Boon N, Van de Wiele T. Butyricicoccus pullicaecorum, a butyrate producer with probiotic potential, is intrinsically tolerant to stomach and small intestine conditions. Anaerobe 2014; 30: 70-74 [PMID: 25179909 DOI: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.08.010]
- 24 Van Immerseel F, Ducatelle R, De Vos M, Boon N, Van De Wiele T, Verbeke K, Rutgeerts P, Sas B, Louis P, Flint HJ. Butyric acid-producing anaerobic bacteria as a novel probiotic treatment approach for inflammatory bowel disease. J Med Microbiol 2010; 59: 141-143 [PMID: 19942690 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.017541-0]
- Geirnaert A, Calatayud M, Grootaert C, Laukens D, Devriese S, Smagghe G, De Vos M, Boon N, Van de Wiele T. 25 Butyrate-producing bacteria supplemented in vitro to Crohn's disease patient microbiota increased butyrate production and enhanced intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 11450 [PMID: 28904372 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-11734-8
- 26 Iacob S, Iacob DG, Luminos LM. Intestinal Microbiota as a Host Defense Mechanism to Infectious Threats. Front *Microbiol* 2018; 9: 3328 [PMID: 30761120 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03328]
- Parada Venegas D, De la Fuente MK, Landskron G, González MJ, Quera R, Dijkstra G, Harmsen HJM, Faber KN, 27 Hermoso MA. Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFAs)-Mediated Gut Epithelial and Immune Regulation and Its Relevance for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 277 [PMID: 30915065 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00277]
- Ewaschuk JB, Diaz H, Meddings L, Diederichs B, Dmytrash A, Backer J, Looijer-van Langen M, Madsen KL. Secreted 28 bioactive factors from Bifidobacterium infantis enhance epithelial cell barrier function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2008; 295: G1025-G1034 [PMID: 18787064 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.90227.2008]
- 29 Rose EC, Odle J, Blikslager AT, Ziegler AL. Probiotics, Prebiotics and Epithelial Tight Junctions: A Promising Approach to Modulate Intestinal Barrier Function. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34201613 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22136729]
- Ulluwishewa D, Anderson RC, McNabb WC, Moughan PJ, Wells JM, Roy NC. Regulation of tight junction permeability 30 by intestinal bacteria and dietary components. J Nutr 2011; 141: 769-776 [PMID: 21430248 DOI: 10.3945/jn.110.135657]
- Bergmann KR, Liu SX, Tian R, Kushnir A, Turner JR, Li HL, Chou PM, Weber CR, De Plaen IG. Bifidobacteria 31 stabilize claudins at tight junctions and prevent intestinal barrier dysfunction in mouse necrotizing enterocolitis. Am J Pathol 2013; 182: 1595-1606 [PMID: 23470164 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.01.013]
- Guo S, Chen S, Ma J, Ma Y, Zhu J, Liu Y, Wang P, Pan Y. Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 Protects Intestinal Barrier 32 Function by Inhibiting NF-κB-Mediated Activation of the MLCK-P-MLC Signaling Pathway. Mediators Inflamm 2019; **2019**: 5796491 [PMID: 31354386 DOI: 10.1155/2019/5796491]
- 33 Bruewer M, Samarin S, Nusrat A. Inflammatory bowel disease and the apical junctional complex. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006; 1072: 242-252 [PMID: 17057204 DOI: 10.1196/annals.1326.017]
- Mohammad S, Thiemermann C. Role of Metabolic Endotoxemia in Systemic Inflammation and Potential Interventions. 34 Front Immunol 2020; 11: 594150 [PMID: 33505393 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.594150]
- Dawson PA, Karpen SJ. Intestinal transport and metabolism of bile acids. J Lipid Res 2015; 56: 1085-1099 [PMID: 35 25210150 DOI: 10.1194/jlr.R054114]
- Ghosh S, Whitley CS, Haribabu B, Jala VR. Regulation of Intestinal Barrier Function by Microbial Metabolites. Cell Mol 36 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 11: 1463-1482 [PMID: 33610769 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.02.007]
- 37 Stenman LK, Holma R, Korpela R. High-fat-induced intestinal permeability dysfunction associated with altered fecal bile acids. World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 923-929 [PMID: 22408351 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i9.923]
- Raimondi F, Santoro P, Barone MV, Pappacoda S, Barretta ML, Nanayakkara M, Apicella C, Capasso L, Paludetto R. 38 Bile acids modulate tight junction structure and barrier function of Caco-2 monolayers via EGFR activation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2008; 294: G906-G913 [PMID: 18239063 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00043.2007]
- de Diego-Cabero N, Mereu A, Menoyo D, Holst JJ, Ipharraguerre IR. Bile acid mediated effects on gut integrity and 39 performance of early-weaned piglets. BMC Vet Res 2015; 11: 111 [PMID: 25972097 DOI: 10.1186/s12917-015-0425-6]
- Fouts DE, Torralba M, Nelson KE, Brenner DA, Schnabl B, Bacterial translocation and changes in the intestinal 40 microbiome in mouse models of liver disease. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 1283-1292 [PMID: 22326468 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.01.019
- Yan AW, Fouts DE, Brandl J, Stärkel P, Torralba M, Schott E, Tsukamoto H, Nelson KE, Brenner DA, Schnabl B. 41 Enteric dysbiosis associated with a mouse model of alcoholic liver disease. Hepatology 2011; 53: 96-105 [PMID: 21254165 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24018]
- Albhaisi SAM, Bajaj JS, Sanyal AJ. Role of gut microbiota in liver disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 42 2020; 318: G84-G98 [PMID: 31657225 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00118.2019]
- 43 Brenner DA, Paik YH, Schnabl B. Role of Gut Microbiota in Liver Disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 2015; 49 Suppl 1: S25-S27 [PMID: 26447960 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000391]



- Balmer ML, Slack E, de Gottardi A, Lawson MA, Hapfelmeier S, Miele L, Grieco A, Van Vlierberghe H, Fahrner R, 44 Patuto N, Bernsmeier C, Ronchi F, Wyss M, Stroka D, Dickgreber N, Heim MH, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ. The liver may act as a firewall mediating mutualism between the host and its gut commensal microbiota. Sci Transl Med 2014; 6: 237ra66 [PMID: 24848256 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008618]
- 45 Jiang W, Wu N, Wang X, Chi Y, Zhang Y, Qiu X, Hu Y, Li J, Liu Y. Dysbiosis gut microbiota associated with inflammation and impaired mucosal immune function in intestine of humans with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 8096 [PMID: 25644696 DOI: 10.1038/srep08096]
- Loomba R, Seguritan V, Li W, Long T, Klitgord N, Bhatt A, Dulai PS, Caussy C, Bettencourt R, Highlander SK, Jones 46 MB, Sirlin CB, Schnabl B, Brinkac L, Schork N, Chen CH, Brenner DA, Biggs W, Yooseph S, Venter JC, Nelson KE. Gut Microbiome-Based Metagenomic Signature for Non-invasive Detection of Advanced Fibrosis in Human Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Cell Metab 2017; 25: 1054-1062.e5 [PMID: 28467925 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.001]
- 47 Wang B, Jiang X, Cao M, Ge J, Bao Q, Tang L, Chen Y, Li L. Altered Fecal Microbiota Correlates with Liver Biochemistry in Nonobese Patients with Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 32002 [PMID: 27550547 DOI: 10.1038/srep32002]
- Trebicka J, Macnaughtan J, Schnabl B, Shawcross DL, Bajaj JS. The microbiota in cirrhosis and its role in hepatic 48 decompensation. J Hepatol 2021; 75 Suppl 1: S67-S81 [PMID: 34039493 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.11.013]
- 49 Gangarapu V, Ince AT, Baysal B, Kayar Y, Kılıç U, Gök Ö, Uysal Ö, Şenturk H. Efficacy of rifaximin on circulating endotoxins and cytokines in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 27: 840-845 [PMID: 26043290 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000348]
- 50 Aly AM, Adel A, El-Gendy AO, Essam TM, Aziz RK. Gut microbiome alterations in patients with stage 4 hepatitis C. Gut Pathog 2016; 8: 42 [PMID: 27625705 DOI: 10.1186/s13099-016-0124-2]
- 51 Le Roy T, Llopis M, Lepage P, Bruneau A, Rabot S, Bevilacqua C, Martin P, Philippe C, Walker F, Bado A, Perlemuter G, Cassard-Doulcier AM, Gérard P. Intestinal microbiota determines development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. Gut 2013; 62: 1787-1794 [PMID: 23197411 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303816]
- 52 Rabot S, Membrez M, Bruneau A, Gérard P, Harach T, Moser M, Raymond F, Mansourian R, Chou CJ. Germ-free C57BL/6J mice are resistant to high-fat-diet-induced insulin resistance and have altered cholesterol metabolism. FASEB J 2010; 24: 4948-4959 [PMID: 20724524 DOI: 10.1096/fj.10-164921]
- Moghadamrad S, Hassan M, McCoy KD, Kirundi J, Kellmann P, De Gottardi A. Attenuated fibrosis in specific 53 pathogen-free microbiota in experimental cholestasis- and toxin-induced liver injury. FASEB J 2019; 33: 12464-12476 [PMID: 31431085 DOI: 10.1096/fj.201901113R]
- Brown EM, Wlodarska M, Willing BP, Vonaesch P, Han J, Reynolds LA, Arrieta MC, Uhrig M, Scholz R, Partida O, 54 Borchers CH, Sansonetti PJ, Finlay BB. Diet and specific microbial exposure trigger features of environmental enteropathy in a novel murine model. Nat Commun 2015; 6: 7806 [PMID: 26241678 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms8806]
- Oliveira-Nascimento L, Massari P, Wetzler LM. The Role of TLR2 in Infection and Immunity. Front Immunol 2012; 3: 55 79 [PMID: 22566960 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00079]
- Zhao ZH, Lai JK, Qiao L, Fan JG. Role of gut microbial metabolites in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Dig Dis 2019; 56 20: 181-188 [PMID: 30706694 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12709]
- Thuy S, Ladurner R, Volynets V, Wagner S, Strahl S, Königsrainer A, Maier KP, Bischoff SC, Bergheim I. Nonalcoholic 57 fatty liver disease in humans is associated with increased plasma endotoxin and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 concentrations and with fructose intake. J Nutr 2008; 138: 1452-1455 [PMID: 18641190 DOI: 10.1093/jn/138.8.1452]
- 58 Miele L, Valenza V, La Torre G, Montalto M, Cammarota G, Ricci R, Mascianà R, Forgione A, Gabrieli ML, Perotti G, Vecchio FM, Rapaccini G, Gasbarrini G, Day CP, Grieco A. Increased intestinal permeability and tight junction alterations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2009; 49: 1877-1887 [PMID: 19291785 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22848]
- Seki E, Tsutsui H, Nakano H, Tsuji N, Hoshino K, Adachi O, Adachi K, Futatsugi S, Kuida K, Takeuchi O, Okamura H, 59 Fujimoto J, Akira S, Nakanishi K. Lipopolysaccharide-induced IL-18 secretion from murine Kupffer cells independently of myeloid differentiation factor 88 that is critically involved in induction of production of IL-12 and IL-1beta. J Immunol 2001; 166: 2651-2657 [PMID: 11160328 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.4.2651]
- Seki E, De Minicis S, Osterreicher CH, Kluwe J, Osawa Y, Brenner DA, Schwabe RF. TLR4 enhances TGF-beta 60 signaling and hepatic fibrosis. Nat Med 2007; 13: 1324-1332 [PMID: 17952090 DOI: 10.1038/nm1663]
- Hritz I, Mandrekar P, Velayudham A, Catalano D, Dolganiuc A, Kodys K, Kurt-Jones E, Szabo G. The critical role of 61 toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 in alcoholic liver disease is independent of the common TLR adapter MyD88. Hepatology 2008; 48: 1224-1231 [PMID: 18792393 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22470]
- Rahat-Rozenbloom S, Fernandes J, Gloor GB, Wolever TM. Evidence for greater production of colonic short-chain fatty acids in overweight than lean humans. Int J Obes (Lond) 2014; 38: 1525-1531 [PMID: 24642959 DOI: 10.1038/ijo.2014.46]
- Bergman EN. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. Physiol Rev 63 1990; 70: 567-590 [PMID: 2181501 DOI: 10.1152/physrev.1990.70.2.567]
- Wieland A, Frank DN, Harnke B, Bambha K. Systematic review: microbial dysbiosis and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. 64 Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015; 42: 1051-1063 [PMID: 26304302 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13376]
- Del Chierico F, Nobili V, Vernocchi P, Russo A, De Stefanis C, Gnani D, Furlanello C, Zandonà A, Paci P, Capuani G, 65 Dallapiccola B, Miccheli A, Alisi A, Putignani L. Gut microbiota profiling of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and obese patients unveiled by an integrated meta-omics-based approach. Hepatology 2017; 65: 451-464 [PMID: 27028797 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28572
- Rau M, Rehman A, Dittrich M, Groen AK, Hermanns HM, Seyfried F, Beyersdorf N, Dandekar T, Rosenstiel P, Geier A. 66 Fecal SCFAs and SCFA-producing bacteria in gut microbiome of human NAFLD as a putative link to systemic T-cell activation and advanced disease. United European Gastroenterol J 2018; 6 1496-1507 [PMID: 30574320 DOI: 10.1177/ 2050640618804444
- Raman M, Ahmed I, Gillevet PM, Probert CS, Ratcliffe NM, Smith S, Greenwood R, Sikaroodi M, Lam V, Crotty P, 67



Bailey J, Myers RP, Rioux KP. Fecal microbiome and volatile organic compound metabolome in obese humans with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 11: 868-75.e1 [PMID: 23454028 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.02.015

- Corrêa-Oliveira R, Fachi JL, Vieira A, Sato FT, Vinolo MA. Regulation of immune cell function by short-chain fatty 68 acids. Clin Transl Immunology 2016; 5: e73 [PMID: 27195116 DOI: 10.1038/cti.2016.17]
- Visekruna A, Luu M. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Bile Acids in Intestinal and Liver Function, Inflammation, 69 and Carcinogenesis. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 703218 [PMID: 34381785 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.703218]
- van der Hee B, Wells JM. Microbial Regulation of Host Physiology by Short-chain Fatty Acids. Trends Microbiol 2021; 70 29: 700-712 [PMID: 33674141 DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2021.02.001]
- Kimura I, Ozawa K, Inoue D, Imamura T, Kimura K, Maeda T, Terasawa K, Kashihara D, Hirano K, Tani T, Takahashi 71 T, Miyauchi S, Shioi G, Inoue H, Tsujimoto G. The gut microbiota suppresses insulin-mediated fat accumulation via the short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR43. Nat Commun 2013; 4: 1829 [PMID: 23652017 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms2852]
- 72 Towle HC. Glucose and cAMP: adversaries in the regulation of hepatic gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98: 13476-13478 [PMID: 11717416 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.251530798]
- Silva YP, Bernardi A, Frozza RL. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids From Gut Microbiota in Gut-Brain 73 Communication. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020; 11: 25 [PMID: 32082260 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00025]
- 74 Dalile B, Van Oudenhove L, Vervliet B, Verbeke K. The role of short-chain fatty acids in microbiota-gut-brain communication. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 16: 461-478 [PMID: 31123355 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-019-0157-3]
- 75 Tan J, McKenzie C, Potamitis M, Thorburn AN, Mackay CR, Macia L. The role of short-chain fatty acids in health and disease. Adv Immunol 2014; 121: 91-119 [PMID: 24388214 DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00003-9]
- Zelante T, Iannitti RG, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Pieraccini G, Zecchi R, D'Angelo C, Massi-Benedetti C, 76 Fallarino F, Carvalho A, Puccetti P, Romani L. Tryptophan catabolites from microbiota engage aryl hydrocarbon receptor and balance mucosal reactivity via interleukin-22. Immunity 2013; 39: 372-385 [PMID: 23973224 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.003]
- Zhang LS, Davies SS. Microbial metabolism of dietary components to bioactive metabolites: opportunities for new therapeutic interventions. Genome Med 2016; 8: 46 [PMID: 27102537 DOI: 10.1186/s13073-016-0296-x]
- Krishnan S, Ding Y, Saeidi N, Choi M, Sridharan GV, Sherr DH, Yarmush ML, Alaniz RC, Jayaraman A, Lee K. Gut 78 Microbiota-Derived Tryptophan Metabolites Modulate Inflammatory Response in Hepatocytes and Macrophages. Cell Rep 2019; 28: 3285 [PMID: 31533048 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.08.080]
- Velasquez MT, Ramezani A, Manal A, Raj DS. Trimethylamine N-Oxide: The Good, the Bad and the Unknown. Toxins 79 (Basel) 2016; 8 [PMID: 27834801 DOI: 10.3390/toxins8110326]
- 80 Dumas ME, Barton RH, Toye A, Cloarec O, Blancher C, Rothwell A, Fearnside J, Tatoud R, Blanc V, Lindon JC, Mitchell SC, Holmes E, McCarthy MI, Scott J, Gauguier D, Nicholson JK. Metabolic profiling reveals a contribution of gut microbiota to fatty liver phenotype in insulin-resistant mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006; 103: 12511-12516 [PMID: 16895997 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0601056103]
- 81 Chen YM, Liu Y, Zhou RF, Chen XL, Wang C, Tan XY, Wang LJ, Zheng RD, Zhang HW, Ling WH, Zhu HL. Associations of gut-flora-dependent metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide, betaine and choline with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in adults. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 19076 [PMID: 26743949 DOI: 10.1038/srep19076]
- Rath S, Rud T, Pieper DH, Vital M. Potential TMA-Producing Bacteria Are Ubiquitously Found in Mammalia. Front 82 Microbiol 2019; 10: 2966 [PMID: 31998260 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02966]
- Tang WH, Wang Z, Kennedy DJ, Wu Y, Buffa JA, Agatisa-Boyle B, Li XS, Levison BS, Hazen SL. Gut microbiota-83 dependent trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) pathway contributes to both development of renal insufficiency and mortality risk in chronic kidney disease. Circ Res 2015; 116: 448-455 [PMID: 25599331 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305360
- Romano KA, Vivas EI, Amador-Noguez D, Rey FE. Intestinal microbiota composition modulates choline bioavailability 84 from diet and accumulation of the proatherogenic metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide. mBio 2015; 6: e02481 [PMID: 25784704 DOI: 10.1128/mBio.02481-14]
- Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB, Fu X, Chung YM, Wu Y, Schauer P, Smith JD, Allayee H, Tang WH, DiDonato JA, Lusis AJ, Hazen SL. Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease. Nature 2011; 472: 57-63 [PMID: 21475195 DOI: 10.1038/nature09922]
- Tan X, Liu Y, Long J, Chen S, Liao G, Wu S, Li C, Wang L, Ling W, Zhu H. Trimethylamine N-Oxide Aggravates Liver 86 Steatosis through Modulation of Bile Acid Metabolism and Inhibition of Farnesoid X Receptor Signaling in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Mol Nutr Food Res 2019; 63: e1900257 [PMID: 31095863 DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.201900257]
- Jones DP. Sequencing the exposome: A call to action. Toxicol Rep 2016; 3: 29-45 [PMID: 26722641 DOI: 87 10.1016/j.toxrep.2015.11.009
- Wild CP. Complementing the genome with an "exposome": the outstanding challenge of environmental exposure 88 measurement in molecular epidemiology. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2005; 14: 1847-1850 [PMID: 16103423 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0456]
- Zhu L, Baker SS, Gill C, Liu W, Alkhouri R, Baker RD, Gill SR. Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic 89 steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: a connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. Hepatology 2013; 57: 601-609 [PMID: 23055155 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26093]
- 90 Leonhardt J, Haider RS, Sponholz C, Leonhardt S, Drube J, Spengler K, Mihaylov D, Neugebauer S, Kiehntopf M, Lambert NA, Kortgen A, Bruns T, Tacke F, Hoffmann C, Bauer M, Heller R. Circulating Bile Acids in Liver Failure Activate TGR5 and Induce Monocyte Dysfunction. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 12: 25-40 [PMID: 33545429 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.01.011]
- Armstrong LE, Guo GL. Role of FXR in Liver Inflammation during Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Curr Pharmacol Rep 91 2017; 3: 92-100 [PMID: 28983452 DOI: 10.1007/s40495-017-0085-2]
- 92 Weiss GA, Hennet T. Mechanisms and consequences of intestinal dysbiosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 2017; 74: 2959-2977



[PMID: 28352996 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-017-2509-x]

- Osna NA, Donohue TM Jr, Kharbanda KK. Alcoholic Liver Disease: Pathogenesis and Current Management. Alcohol Res 93 2017; 38: 147-161 [PMID: 28988570]
- Rosenfeld CS. Gut Dysbiosis in Animals Due to Environmental Chemical Exposures. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2017; 7: 94 396 [PMID: 28936425 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00396]
- 95 Lynch SV, Pedersen O. The Human Intestinal Microbiome in Health and Disease. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 2369-2379 [PMID: 27974040 DOI: 10.1056/nejmra1600266]
- Sharpton SR, Schnabl B, Knight R, Loomba R. Current Concepts, Opportunities, and Challenges of Gut Microbiome-96 Based Personalized Medicine in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Cell Metab 2021; 33: 21-32 [PMID: 33296678 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.11.010]
- Hyun JY, Kim SK, Yoon SJ, Lee SB, Jeong JJ, Gupta H, Sharma SP, Oh KK, Won SM, Kwon GH, Cha MG, Kim DJ, 97 Ganesan R, Suk KT. Microbiome-Based Metabolic Therapeutic Approaches in Alcoholic Liver Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35955885 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23158749]
- Dai X, Hou H, Zhang W, Liu T, Li Y, Wang S, Wang B, Cao H. Microbial Metabolites: Critical Regulators in NAFLD. 98 Front Microbiol 2020; 11: 567654 [PMID: 33117316 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.567654]
- Campo L, Eiseler S, Apfel T, Pyrsopoulos N. Fatty Liver Disease and Gut Microbiota: A Comprehensive Update. J Clin 99 Transl Hepatol 2019; 7: 56-60 [PMID: 30944821 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2018.00008]
- Kendrick SF, O'Boyle G, Mann J, Zeybel M, Palmer J, Jones DE, Day CP. Acetate, the key modulator of inflammatory 100 responses in acute alcoholic hepatitis. *Hepatology* 2010; **51**: 1988-1997 [PMID: 20232292 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23572]
- 101 Mega A, Marzi L, Kob M, Piccin A, Floreani A. Food and Nutrition in the Pathogenesis of Liver Damage. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33923822 DOI: 10.3390/nu13041326]
- Shirakami Y, Lee SA, Clugston RD, Blaner WS. Hepatic metabolism of retinoids and disease associations. Biochim 102 Biophys Acta 2012; 1821: 124-136 [PMID: 21763780 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.06.023]
- 103 Liu C, Russell RM, Seitz HK, Wang XD. Ethanol enhances retinoic acid metabolism into polar metabolites in rat liver via induction of cytochrome P4502E1. Gastroenterology 2001; 120: 179-189 [PMID: 11208727 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2001.20877]
- 104 Grizotte-Lake M, Zhong G, Duncan K, Kirkwood J, Iyer N, Smolenski I, Isoherranen N, Vaishnava S. Commensals Suppress Intestinal Epithelial Cell Retinoic Acid Synthesis to Regulate Interleukin-22 Activity and Prevent Microbial Dysbiosis. Immunity 2018; 49: 1103-1115.e6 [PMID: 30566883 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.11.018]
- Graham TE, Yang Q, Blüher M, Hammarstedt A, Ciaraldi TP, Henry RR, Wason CJ, Oberbach A, Jansson PA, Smith U, 105 Kahn BB. Retinol-binding protein 4 and insulin resistance in lean, obese, and diabetic subjects. N Engl J Med 2006; 354: 2552-2563 [PMID: 16775236 DOI: 10.1056/nejmoa054862]
- 106 D'souza AM, Beaudry JL, Szigiato AA, Trumble SJ, Snook LA, Bonen A, Giacca A, Riddell MC. Consumption of a highfat diet rapidly exacerbates the development of fatty liver disease that occurs with chronically elevated glucocorticoids. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2012; 302: G850-G863 [PMID: 22268100 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00378.2011]
- Singh RP, Halaka DA, Hayouka Z, Tirosh O. High-Fat Diet Induced Alteration of Mice Microbiota and the Functional 107 Ability to Utilize Fructooligosaccharide for Ethanol Production. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2020; 10: 376 [PMID: 32850478 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00376]
- David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, Ling AV, Devlin AS, Varma Y, Fischbach 108 MA, Biddinger SB, Dutton RJ, Turnbaugh PJ. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature 2014; 505: 559-563 [PMID: 24336217 DOI: 10.1038/nature12820]
- König J, Wells J, Cani PD, García-Ródenas CL, MacDonald T, Mercenier A, Whyte J, Troost F, Brummer RJ. Human 109 Intestinal Barrier Function in Health and Disease. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2016; 7: e196 [PMID: 27763627 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2016.54]
- 110 Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson AJ. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *Science* 2012; 336: 1268-1273 [PMID: 22674334 DOI: 10.1126/science.1223490]
- Zhang H, Luo XM. Control of commensal microbiota by the adaptive immune system. Gut Microbes 2015; 6: 156-160 111 [PMID: 25901893 DOI: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1031946]
- Li D, Wu M. Pattern recognition receptors in health and diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2021; 6: 291 [PMID: 112 34344870 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-021-00687-0]
- Crispe IN. Hepatocytes as Immunological Agents. J Immunol 2016; 196: 17-21 [PMID: 26685314 DOI: 113 10.4049/jimmunol.1501668]
- 114 Mridha AR, Wree A, Robertson AAB, Yeh MM, Johnson CD, Van Rooyen DM, Haczeyni F, Teoh NC, Savard C, Ioannou GN, Masters SL, Schroder K, Cooper MA, Feldstein AE, Farrell GC. NLRP3 inflammasome blockade reduces liver inflammation and fibrosis in experimental NASH in mice. J Hepatol 2017; 66: 1037-1046 [PMID: 28167322 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.01.022]
- Parthasarathy G, Malhi H. Macrophage Heterogeneity in NASH: More Than Just Nomenclature. Hepatology 2021; 74: 115 515-518 [PMID: 33666272 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31790]
- Lefebvre E, Moyle G, Reshef R, Richman LP, Thompson M, Hong F, Chou HL, Hashiguchi T, Plato C, Poulin D, 116 Richards T, Yoneyama H, Jenkins H, Wolfgang G, Friedman SL. Antifibrotic Effects of the Dual CCR2/CCR5 Antagonist Cenicriviroc in Animal Models of Liver and Kidney Fibrosis. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0158156 [PMID: 27347680 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158156]
- 117 Ratziu V, Sanyal A, Harrison SA, Wong VW, Francque S, Goodman Z, Aithal GP, Kowdley KV, Seyedkazemi S, Fischer L, Loomba R, Abdelmalek MF, Tacke F. Cenicriviroc Treatment for Adults With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis and Fibrosis: Final Analysis of the Phase 2b CENTAUR Study. Hepatology 2020; 72: 892-905 [PMID: 31943293 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31108]
- 118 Leite NC, Viegas BB, Villela-Nogueira CA, Carlos FO, Cardoso CRL, Salles GF. Efficacy of diacerein in reducing liver steatosis and fibrosis in patients with type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A randomized, placebocontrolled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab 2019; 21: 1266-1270 [PMID: 30687994 DOI: 10.1111/dom.13643]



- 119 Ren Z, Li A, Jiang J, Zhou L, Yu Z, Lu H, Xie H, Chen X, Shao L, Zhang R, Xu S, Zhang H, Cui G, Sun R, Wen H, Lerut JP, Kan Q, Li L, Zheng S. Gut microbiome analysis as a tool towards targeted non-invasive biomarkers for early hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 2019; 68: 1014-1023 [PMID: 30045880 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315084]
- 120 Qin N, Yang F, Li A, Prifti E, Chen Y, Shao L, Guo J, Le Chatelier E, Yao J, Wu L, Zhou J, Ni S, Liu L, Pons N, Batto JM, Kennedy SP, Leonard P, Yuan C, Ding W, Hu X, Zheng B, Qian G, Xu W, Ehrlich SD, Zheng S, Li L. Alterations of the human gut microbiome in liver cirrhosis. Nature 2014; 513: 59-64 [PMID: 25079328 DOI: 10.1038/nature13568]
- Lee G, You HJ, Bajaj JS, Joo SK, Yu J, Park S, Kang H, Park JH, Kim JH, Lee DH, Lee S, Kim W, Ko G. Distinct 121 signatures of gut microbiome and metabolites associated with significant fibrosis in non-obese NAFLD. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 4982 [PMID: 33020474 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18754-5]
- Sharpton SR, Ajmera V, Loomba R. Emerging Role of the Gut Microbiome in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: From 122 Composition to Function. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 296-306 [PMID: 30196156 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.08.065
- Ahmad MI, Khan MU, Kodali S, Shetty A, Bell SM, Victor D. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Due to Nonalcoholic Fatty 123 Liver Disease: Current Concepts and Future Challenges. J Hepatocell Carcinoma 2022; 9: 477-496 [PMID: 35673598 DOI: 10.2147/JHC.S344559]
- Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, Hardy T, Henry L, Eslam M, George J, Bugianesi E. Global burden of NAFLD and 124 NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 15: 11-20 [PMID: 28930295 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.109]
- Weisany W, Yousefi S, Tahir NA, Golestanehzadeh N, McClements DJ, Adhikari B, Ghasemlou M. Targeted delivery 125 and controlled released of essential oils using nanoencapsulation: A review. Adv Colloid Interface Sci 2022; 303: 102655 [PMID: 35364434 DOI: 10.1016/j.cis.2022.102655]
- Butzner JD, Parmar R, Bell CJ, Dalal V. Butyrate enema therapy stimulates mucosal repair in experimental colitis in the 126 rat. Gut 1996; 38: 568-573 [PMID: 8707089 DOI: 10.1136/gut.38.4.568]
- Hamer HM, Jonkers DM, Vanhoutvin SA, Troost FJ, Rijkers G, de Bruïne A, Bast A, Venema K, Brummer RJ. Effect of 127 butyrate enemas on inflammation and antioxidant status in the colonic mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis in remission. Clin Nutr 2010; 29: 738-744 [PMID: 20471725 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2010.04.002]
- 128 Harrison SA, Rossi SJ, Paredes AH, Trotter JF, Bashir MR, Guy CD, Banerjee R, Jaros MJ, Owers S, Baxter BA, Ling L, DePaoli AM. NGM282 Improves Liver Fibrosis and Histology in 12 Weeks in Patients With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2020; 71: 1198-1212 [PMID: 30805949 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30590]
- Harrison SA, Ruane PJ, Freilich BL, Neff G, Patil R, Behling CA, Hu C, Fong E, de Temple B, Tillman EJ, Rolph TP, Cheng A, Yale K. Efruxifermin in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2a trial. Nat Med 2021; 27: 1262-1271 [PMID: 34239138 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-021-01425-3]
- Meroni M, Longo M, Dongiovanni P. The Role of Probiotics in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A New Insight into 130 Therapeutic Strategies. Nutrients 2019; 11 [PMID: 31689910 DOI: 10.3390/nu11112642]
- Bajaj JS, Heuman DM, Hylemon PB, Sanyal AJ, Puri P, Sterling RK, Luketic V, Stravitz RT, Siddiqui MS, Fuchs M, 131 Thacker LR, Wade JB, Daita K, Sistrun S, White MB, Noble NA, Thorpe C, Kakiyama G, Pandak WM, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Randomised clinical trial: Lactobacillus GG modulates gut microbiome, metabolome and endotoxemia in patients with cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2014; 39: 1113-1125 [PMID: 24628464 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12695]
- Román E, Nieto JC, Gely C, Vidal S, Pozuelo M, Poca M, Juárez C, Guarner C, Manichanh C, Soriano G. Effect of a 132 Multistrain Probiotic on Cognitive Function and Risk of Falls in Patients With Cirrhosis: A Randomized Trial. Hepatol Commun 2019; 3: 632-645 [PMID: 31061952 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1325]
- Famouri F, Shariat Z, Hashemipour M, Keikha M, Kelishadi R. Effects of Probiotics on Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease 133 in Obese Children and Adolescents. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2017; 64: 413-417 [PMID: 28230607 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.000000000001422
- Kobyliak N, Abenavoli L, Mykhalchyshyn G, Kononenko L, Boccuto L, Kyriienko D, Dynnyk O. A Multi-strain 134 Probiotic Reduces the Fatty Liver Index, Cytokines and Aminotransferase levels in NAFLD Patients: Evidence from a Randomized Clinical Trial. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2018; 27: 41-49 [PMID: 29557414 DOI: 10.15403/jgld.2014.1121.271.kby
- 135 Ahn SB, Jun DW, Kang BK, Lim JH, Lim S, Chung MJ. Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Study of a Multispecies Probiotic Mixture in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 5688 [PMID: 30952918 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-42059-3
- 136 Castillo V, Figueroa F, González-Pizarro K, Jopia P, Ibacache-Quiroga C. Probiotics and Prebiotics as a Strategy for Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease, a Narrative Review. Foods 2021; 10 [PMID: 34441497 DOI: 10.3390/foods10081719]
- 137 Hu D, Yang W, Mao P, Cheng M. Combined Amelioration of Prebiotic Resveratrol and Probiotic Bifidobacteria on Obesity and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Nutr Cancer 2021; 73: 652-661 [PMID: 32436410 DOI: 10.1080/01635581.2020.1767166
- 138 Xu RY, Wan YP, Fang QY, Lu W, Cai W. Supplementation with probiotics modifies gut flora and attenuates liver fat accumulation in rat nonalcoholic fatty liver disease model. J Clin Biochem Nutr 2012; 50: 72-77 [PMID: 22247604 DOI: 10.3164/jcbn.11-38]
- 139 Zhang L, Qin Q, Liu M, Zhang X, He F, Wang G. Akkermansia muciniphila can reduce the damage of gluco/Lipotoxicity, oxidative stress and inflammation, and normalize intestine microbiota in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Pathog Dis 2018; 76 [PMID: 29668928 DOI: 10.1093/femspd/fty028]
- Lunia MK, Sharma BC, Sharma P, Sachdeva S, Srivastava S. Probiotics prevent hepatic encephalopathy in patients with 140 cirrhosis: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 1003-8.e1 [PMID: 24246768 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.11.006
- 141 Zhao LN, Yu T, Lan SY, Hou JT, Zhang ZZ, Wang SS, Liu FB. Probiotics can improve the clinical outcomes of hepatic encephalopathy: An update meta-analysis. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2015; 39: 674-682 [PMID: 25956487 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2015.03.008
- Shavakhi A, Minakari M, Firouzian H, Assali R, Hekmatdoost A, Ferns G. Effect of a Probiotic and Metformin on Liver 142



Aminotransferases in Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis: A Double Blind Randomized Clinical Trial. Int J Prev Med 2013; 4: 531-537 [PMID: 23930163]

- 143 Nabavi S, Rafraf M, Somi MH, Homayouni-Rad A, Asghari-Jafarabadi M. Effects of probiotic yogurt consumption on metabolic factors in individuals with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Dairy Sci 2014; 97: 7386-7393 [PMID: 25306266 DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-8500]
- Eslamparast T, Poustchi H, Zamani F, Sharafkhah M, Malekzadeh R, Hekmatdoost A. Synbiotic supplementation in 144 nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. Am J Clin Nutr 2014; 99: 535-542 [PMID: 24401715 DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.113.068890]
- Aller R, De Luis DA, Izaola O, Conde R, Gonzalez Sagrado M, Primo D, De La Fuente B, Gonzalez J. Effect of a 145 probiotic on liver aminotransferases in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients: a double blind randomized clinical trial. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2011; 15: 1090-1095 [PMID: 22013734]
- Malaguarnera M, Vacante M, Antic T, Giordano M, Chisari G, Acquaviva R, Mastrojeni S, Malaguarnera G, Mistretta A, 146 Li Volti G, Galvano F. Bifidobacterium longum with fructo-oligosaccharides in patients with non alcoholic steatohepatitis. Dig Dis Sci 2012; 57: 545-553 [PMID: 21901256 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-011-1887-4]
- 147 Gupta S, Allen-Vercoe E, Petrof EO. Fecal microbiota transplantation: in perspective. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2016; 9: 229-239 [PMID: 26929784 DOI: 10.1177/1756283X15607414]
- 148 Zhou D, Pan Q, Shen F, Cao HX, Ding WJ, Chen YW, Fan JG. Total fecal microbiota transplantation alleviates high-fat diet-induced steatohepatitis in mice via beneficial regulation of gut microbiota. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 1529 [PMID: 28484247 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-01751-y]
- 149 Forlano R, Sivakumar M, Mullish BH, Manousou P. Gut Microbiota-A Future Therapeutic Target for People with Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35955434 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23158307
- Craven L, Rahman A, Nair Parvathy S, Beaton M, Silverman J, Qumosani K, Hramiak I, Hegele R, Joy T, Meddings J, 150 Urquhart B, Harvie R, McKenzie C, Summers K, Reid G, Burton JP, Silverman M. Allogenic Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Patients With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Improves Abnormal Small Intestinal Permeability: A Randomized Control Trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2020; 115: 1055-1065 [PMID: 32618656 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000661]
- 151 Kuno T, Hirayama-Kurogi M, Ito S, Ohtsuki S. Reduction in hepatic secondary bile acids caused by short-term antibioticinduced dysbiosis decreases mouse serum glucose and triglyceride levels. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 1253 [PMID: 29352187 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-19545-1
- Liu L, Liu Z, Li H, Cao Z, Li W, Song Z, Li X, Lu A, Lu C, Liu Y. Naturally Occurring TPE-CA Maintains Gut 152 Microbiota and Bile Acids Homeostasis via FXR Signaling Modulation of the Liver-Gut Axis. Front Pharmacol 2020; 11: 12 [PMID: 32116693 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00012]
- Hartmann P, Hochrath K, Horvath A, Chen P, Seebauer CT, Llorente C, Wang L, Alnouti Y, Fouts DE, Stärkel P, 153 Loomba R, Coulter S, Liddle C, Yu RT, Ling L, Rossi SJ, DePaoli AM, Downes M, Evans RM, Brenner DA, Schnabl B. Modulation of the intestinal bile acid/farnesoid X receptor/fibroblast growth factor 15 axis improves alcoholic liver disease in mice. Hepatology 2018; 67: 2150-2166 [PMID: 29159825 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29676]
- 154 Cui J, Zheng X, Hou W, Zhuang Y, Pi X, Yang J. The study of a remote-controlled gastrointestinal drug delivery and sampling system. Telemed J E Health 2008; 14: 715-719 [PMID: 18817502 DOI: 10.1089/tmj.2007.0118]
- Rehan M, Al-Bahadly I, Thomas DG, Avci E. Capsule robot for gut microbiota sampling using shape memory alloy 155 spring. Int J Med Robot 2020; 16: 1-14 [PMID: 33460261 DOI: 10.1002/rcs.2140]
- Waimin JF, Nejati S, Jiang H, Qiu J, Wang J, Verma MS, Rahimi R. Smart capsule for non-invasive sampling and 156 studying of the gastrointestinal microbiome. RSC Adv 2020; 10: 16313-16322 [PMID: 35498852 DOI: 10.1039/c9ra10986b]
- 157 Neil K, Allard N, Roy P, Grenier F, Menendez A, Burrus V, Rodrigue S. High-efficiency delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 by engineered probiotics enables precise microbiome editing. Mol Syst Biol 2021; 17: e10335 [PMID: 34665940 DOI: 10.15252/msb.202110335
- Neil K, Allard N, Grenier F, Burrus V, Rodrigue S. Highly efficient gene transfer in the mouse gut microbiota is enabled 158 by the Incl(2) conjugative plasmid TP114. Commun Biol 2020; 3: 523 [PMID: 32963323 DOI: 10.1038/s42003-020-01253-0]
- Fox BE, Vilander AC, Gilfillan D, Dean GA, Abdo Z. Oral Vaccination Using a Probiotic Vaccine Platform Combined 159 with Prebiotics Impacts Immune Response and the Microbiome. Vaccines (Basel) 2022; 10 [PMID: 36146543 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines10091465]
- 160 Moor K, Slack E. What makes a bacterial oral vaccine a strong inducer of high-affinity IgA responses? Antibodies 2015; 4: 295-313 [DOI: 10.3390/antib4040295]
- Diard M, Bakkeren E, Lentsch V, Rocker A, Bekele NA, Hoces D, Aslani S, Arnoldini M, Böhi F, Schumann-Moor K, 161 Adamcik J, Piccoli L, Lanzavecchia A, Stadtmueller BM, Donohue N, van der Woude MW, Hockenberry A, Viollier PH, Falquet L, Wüthrich D, Bonfiglio F, Loverdo C, Egli A, Zandomeneghi G, Mezzenga R, Holst O, Meier BH, Hardt WD, Slack E. A rationally designed oral vaccine induces immunoglobulin A in the murine gut that directs the evolution of attenuated Salmonella variants. Nat Microbiol 2021; 6: 830-841 [PMID: 34045711 DOI: 10.1038/s41564-021-00911-1]
- Romero-Gómez M, Zelber-Sagi S, Trenell M. Treatment of NAFLD with diet, physical activity and exercise. J Hepatol 2017; 67: 829-846 [PMID: 28545937 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.05.016]
- Huang MA, Greenson JK, Chao C, Anderson L, Peterman D, Jacobson J, Emick D, Lok AS, Conjeevaram HS. One-year 163 intense nutritional counseling results in histological improvement in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100: 1072-1081 [PMID: 15842581 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-140-10-200405180-00006]
- Cheng R, Wang L, Le S, Yang Y, Zhao C, Zhang X, Yang X, Xu T, Xu L, Wiklund P, Ge J, Lu D, Zhang C, Chen L, 164 Cheng S. A randomized controlled trial for response of microbiome network to exercise and diet intervention in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Nat Commun 2022; 13: 2555 [PMID: 35538056 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-022-29968-0]
- Allen JM, Mailing LJ, Niemiro GM, Moore R, Cook MD, White BA, Holscher HD, Woods JA. Exercise Alters Gut 165



Microbiota Composition and Function in Lean and Obese Humans. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2018; 50: 747-757 [PMID: 29166320 DOI: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001495]



Jaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1669-1684

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1669

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Radiological findings in non-surgical recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: From locoregional treatments to immunotherapy

Davide Ippolito, Cesare Maino, Marco Gatti, Paolo Marra, Riccardo Faletti, Francesco Cortese, Riccardo Inchingolo, Sandro Sironi

Specialty type: Radiology, nuclear medicine and medical imaging

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chen Q, China; Wei W, China; Kim BJ, South Korea

Received: November 21, 2022 Peer-review started: November 21, 2022 First decision: December 10, 2022 Revised: January 10, 2023 Accepted: March 2, 2023 Article in press: March 2, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Davide Ippolito, Cesare Maino, Department of Radiology, IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, Monza 20900, Italy

Davide Ippolito, Sandro Sironi, School of Medicine and Surgery, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milano 20121, Italy

Marco Gatti, Riccardo Faletti, Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Turin, Turin 10126, Italy

Paolo Marra, Sandro Sironi, Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, Papa Giovanni XXIII Hospital, Bergamo 24127, Italy

Francesco Cortese, Riccardo Inchingolo, Interventional Radiology Unit, "F. Miulli" Regional General Hospital, Bari 70121, Italy

Corresponding author: Davide Ippolito, MD, Assistant Professor, Doctor, Department of Radiology, IRCCS San Gerardo dei Tintori, 33 Via Pergolesi, Monza 20900, Italy. davide.atena@tiscalinet.it

Abstract

Since hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) represents an important cause of mortality and morbidity all over the world. Currently, it is fundamental not only to achieve a curative treatment but also to manage in the best way any possible recurrence. Even if the latest update of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer guidelines for HCC treatment has introduced new locoregional techniques and confirmed others as well-established clinical practices, there is still no consensus about the treatment of recurrent HCC (RHCC). Locoregional treatments and medical therapy represent two of the most widely accepted approaches for disease control, especially in the advanced stage of liver disease. Different medical treatments are now approved, and others are under investigation. On this basis, radiology plays a central role in the diagnosis of RHCC and the assessment of response to locoregional treatments and medical therapy for RHCC. This review summarized the actual clinical practice by underlining the importance of the radiological approach both in the diagnosis and treatment of RHCC.

Key Words: Carcinoma; Hepatocellular; Liver; Ablation; Catheter; Radio frequency ablation; Ablation techniques; Medication therapy management; RECIST



©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: During the follow-up of patients affected by hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), radiology is considered the key to the diagnosis of recurrence, by taking advantage of cross-sectional imaging with a special focus on computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. As in the case of active surveillance in a patient with mild to moderate risk for developing HCC, cross-section imaging can help in the quick identification of signs of recurrence. Moreover, radiology plays a key role in the evaluation of treatment response during medical therapy for HCC, recently approved in the revised version of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer staging.

Citation: Ippolito D, Maino C, Gatti M, Marra P, Faletti R, Cortese F, Inchingolo R, Sironi S. Radiological findings in non-surgical recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: From locoregional treatments to immunotherapy. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(11): 1669-1684

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1669.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1669

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) represents the sixth-leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide, and it is the most frequent primary liver tumor, accounting for about 85% of primary liver malignancies. Cirrhosis is the histological substrate on which 80% of HCCs arise[1]. According to the European Association for the Study of the Liver and the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, all patients with a high risk of developing HCC should undergo a surveillance program[2,3]. Treatment options with curative intent are liver resection (LR), locoregional treatments (LRT), or orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), and the choice of treatment is influenced by intrinsic features of the lesion, aspects related to the patient, and medical and economic resources available in each center [4,5].

Many HCCs are detected at an intermediate or advanced stage, which are not eligible, at least in the first instance, for curative treatment. In such cases, several treatment options are available, which can also be used in a combined or sequential manner including local termoablation [radiofrequency ablation (RFA), microwave ablation (MWA)], traditional transarterial embolization with traditional chemotherapy or microparticles [transcatheter arterial embolization, transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), TACE with drug-eluting beads (DEB-TACE)], transarterial radioembolization (TARE), and stereotactic ablative radiotherapy[6]. Finally, in cases of metastatic disease, the most common and widely used and approved approach remains systemic therapy with sorafenib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor drug implicated in several pathogenetic mechanisms^[7].

However, even if the primary goal is to have a curative intent, recurrence rate after transplantation is between 8% and 21% despite the use of new predictive models[8]. By contrast to OLT, both LRT and LR suffer from a high recurrence rate (60%-80%). When occurring, tumor recurrence may be considered non-transplantable if it exceeds the transplantation criteria such as those defined by the alphafetoprotein or Milan/up-to-seven criteria. Non-transplantable recurrence is a major cause of precluding salvage OLT, which showed comparable overall survival (OS) to primary OLT in patients with HCC with compensated cirrhosis[9].

Even if the latest update of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) guidelines[10] for HCC treatment has introduced new locoregional techniques and confirmed others as well-established clinical practices, there is still no consensus about the treatment of recurrent HCC (RHCC)[11]. For these reasons, the multidisciplinary approach should be considered to define the best option for each RHCC patient[12]. On this basis, this review summarized the actual clinical practice by underlining the importance of the radiological approach both in the diagnosis and treatment of RHCC.

LRT

To date, the available options for RHCC were similar to naïve-HCC options and include LR, OLT, and LRT for patients with liver-only recurrence, TACE, TARE, and stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for patients with unresectable disease, and systemic therapies or enrollment in clinical trials for patients with extrahepatic disease recurrence^[13-15].

Ablative treatments

Since only 15%-30% of patients with RHCC are suitable for an LR due to progressive liver dysfunction,



presence of multiple nodules, tumor location, or donor shortage for LT, the ablative treatments play a crucial role in early-stage RHCC[16]. RFA for RHCC is a safe and feasible technique, offering no significant difference in OS compared to RFA for primary HCC[17]. As both RFA and LR are indicated in RHCC tumors with similar features, many studies have compared the two treatments.

Three interesting and recent meta-analyses[13,18] established that LR provided better outcomes than RFA, especially in long-term survival outcomes. RFA is associated with a decreased risk of major complications and requires shorter hospitalization time, a more cost-effective approach in comparison with LR. Moreover, in well-selected patients, RFA may be an optimal choice for RHCC with similar outcomes of LR, notably for a single lesion < 3 cm or in patients with three or fewer nodules, following the guidelines for primary HCC[10]. Also, other studies, including one randomized controlled trial[19], confirmed the same results[20-22].

RFA performances are found to be worse than LR in disease free-survival (DFS), because the LR may ensure removal of the tumor-bearing portal territory where micrometastases and microscopic vascular invasion are present and usually impossible to detect through external ultrasonography[13].

To overcome the shortcomings of RFA, MWA has been assessed in the treatment of HCC, as it produces significantly larger areas of necrosis, faster ablation times, higher intratumor temperature, less tumor seeding risk, and less susceptibility to heat-sink effect over RFA[15,23] (Figure 1). However, there are few studies about percutaneous MWA performance in RHCC. Only one has compared surgical MWA and LR for RHCC showing the safety and feasibility of surgical MWA for RHCC within 3 cm in size and no more than three nodules[24]. Nevertheless, MWA was proven to be superior to RFA[25] and competing with LR when the tumor is > 3 cm and < 5 cm and close to the large vessels[26]. During treatment of very early and early HCC, RFA, MWA, and cryoablation have substantially similar outcomes[23].

A multicentric randomized controlled trial comparing RFA with cryoablation in HCC < 4 cm reported no differences in terms of OS and DFS but found differences regarding local tumor control in favor of cryoablation (7.7% *vs* 18.2%, *P* = 0.04)[27]. While another study conducted on 3239 patients showed a significant advantage in liver cancer-specific survival for RFA[28]. Therefore, the results regarding cryoablation are still unclear[29]. However, data are currently lacking concerning outcomes following the use of cryoablation in RHCC, and future studies should be focused on these aspects.

TACE

TACE is the most common treatment modality used for RHCC following initial resection[16,17]. However, as with LR, appropriate candidates for TACE should be carefully chosen based on their hepatic reserve[16,30] (Figure 2). However, there may exist a significant risk of worsened liver dysfunction following TACE among patients who have undergone prior hepatectomy[15,16,30]. Scores such as up-to-seven criteria or biomarkers such as Mac-2 binding protein glycosylation isomer to assess liver fibrosis can be used to identify patients who tolerate TACE less[16,30].

Regarding TACE in RHCC, Zu *et al*[31] demonstrated that the 1-, 2-, and 3-year OS rates after TACE were 73%, 52%, and 32%, respectively, while the number of resected HCC nodules (\geq 2), size (> 5 cm) of the RHCCs, and the number of TACE sessions (\leq 3) are independent risk factors for poor outcomes after TACE for recurrent HCC. Comparing TACE in naïve-HCC and RHCC, Liu *et al*[32] showed that RHCC treated with TACE accomplished acceptable results. After the propensity score matching analysis, there were no statistically significant differences between the naïve-HCC group and RHCC group in objective tumor regression and disease control rate. On the other side, the RHCC group had a shorter median OS (24 mo *vs* 33 mo) and PFS (10 mo *vs* 12 mo) in comparison with the naïve-HCC group.

Since it is a non-curative treatment, a recent meta-analysis demonstrated that TACE had worse outcomes (OS and DFS) than liver transplantation, LR, and RFA in RHCC patients[33]. Even comparing the two LRTs, Gou *et al*[34] showed that RFA had better short-term and long-term OS than TACE. Conversely, TACE may improve survival in patients with inoperable tumors, with large lesions or multifocal RHCC (beyond the Milan Criteria), and early (< 1 year) recurrence[35,36]. Interestingly, TACE proved to be a more effective option than LR/RFA in RHCC of BCLC stage 0 or A with microvascular invasion, especially in those that recur early after curative resection[37].

Among transarterial procedures, DEB-TACE, which uses doxorubicin, and TARE, using yttrium-90labeled spheres, have been developed[12]. Even if it has been demonstrated that DEB-TACE facilitates higher concentrations of drugs within the target tumor and lower systemic concentrations with fewer adverse events than conventional-TACE in the management of HCC, especially on RHCC, there is no strong evidence showing the superiority of DEB-TACE over conventional TACE[38,39]. There are a lack of studies considering DEB-TACE as monotherapy for RHCC.

TARE may be an option for intermediate or advanced-stage HCC. It could also be used as an alternative to TACE especially for patients with portal vein thrombosis or for patients with earlier stages who are not eligible for curative procedures[16]. It is a safe and effective procedure for RHCC following LR, with satisfactory outcomes (median time-to-progression and OS were 11.3 mo and 22.1 mo, respectively)[40].

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i7.1669 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Computed tomography study for assessment of treatment response (after microwave ablation). A: A 65-year-old male underwent microwave ablation of a hepatocellular carcinoma located in the V-VIII hepatic segment. Computed tomography scans were acquired after 2 wk of treatment. A large hypoattenuating area in the unenhanced (arrowhead) phase located in the V-VIII hepatic segment represented the treatment zone; B-D: During the dynamic study, no enhancement during the arterial phase (B) was seen, underlying the complete treatment response. Also, during the portal venous phase (C) and delayed phase (D) no wash-out was seen; E-H: After 1 year, the area of treatment was less hypoattenuating in the unenhanced phase (E), with a pseudonodular peripheral area of hypervascularization during the arterial phase (F, yellow arrow), with a wash-out during the portal venous and delayed phases (G and H, yellow arrow). On the other hand, the area of treatment did not show any arterial phase hyperenhancement or wash-out (H, arrowhead). The final diagnosis was hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence after microwave ablation (yellow arrows).

Combined therapies

Since RHCC frequently requires aggressive treatment to reach good therapeutic outcomes, the combined approaches have been evaluated by several studies for RHCC[16]. It has been proven that TACE alone is unable to cause complete tumor necrosis[41] and that RFA cannot detect satellite lesions [13]. Therefore, combined therapies may have a synergistic effect and be beneficial for patients with RHCC. TACE-RFA combined treatment can cause tumor necrosis up to 7 cm in diameter in one session [42].

The combination of TACE and RFA leads to theoretical advantages over either monotherapy. TACE can reduce the heat sink effect of the RFA, thereby increasing the ablation range. On the other hand, satellite lesions can be detected through TACE[41]. Furthermore, TACE with the intralesional accumulation of radio-opaque iodized oil used or drug-eluting beads increases the echogenicity and conspicuity of small HCC, otherwise hardly visible on ultrasound (US) guidance during RFA[43].

Song *et al*[44] showed that TACE-RFA had better DFS in comparison with TACE alone in patients with RHCC \leq 5 cm. However, there were no significant differences between the two groups in OS and adverse events. Ascites is a frequent complication in the TACE-RFA group (Figure 3). Moreover, TACE-RFA provides comparable local efficacy and long-term survival results for patients with RHCC after hepatectomy, both for tumor size < 5 cm and > 5 cm. Furthermore, the TACE-RFA group has fewer complications[41,45] and lower hospitalization time in comparison with the LR group[45].

Zhang *et al*[46] demonstrated that DEB-TACE combined with RFA can increase the survival of patients with RHCC. Notably, OS rates were similar to primary HCC, while DFS rates were lower. A recent study[47] comparing MWA-TACE with TACE alone for small RHCC showed that the 5-year PFS of the combined therapy (37.5%) was higher than that of patients receiving TACE alone (18.7%), while the cumulative OS rates at 5 years were 61.1% for TACE-MWA and 50.3% for TACE alone, with no significant differences. Song *et al*[44] and Ji *et al*[47] demonstrated that combined therapies improve tumor control but not long-term survival outcomes.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i7.1669 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Computed tomography study for assessment of treatment response (after transarterial chemoembolization). A: A 55-year-old male underwent conventional transarterial chemoembolization of a hepatocellular carcinoma lesion located in the VIII hepatic segment. Two years after treatment, a computed tomography scan showed areas of hyperattenuating components in the unenhanced phase (A), representing the ethiodized oil (arrowhead); B-D: During the arterial (B) phase, a pseudonodular area of hypervascularization during the arterial phase (B, yellow arrow) was seen, with a slight hypoattenuating appearance during the portal venous phase (C) and a clear washout during the delayed phase (D). This represents an example of recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after transarterial chemoembolization.

MEDICAL THERAPY

Since 2007, sorafenib represented the standard medical treatment of advanced HCC[48] (Figure 4). Sorafenib was the first multityrosine-kinase inhibitor, blocking different receptors, including Raf, the vascular endothelial growth factor, and platelet-derived growth factor, expressed by signaling pathways in HCC. Considering its large approval worldwide, sorafenib was employed not only for patients in an advanced stage of the disease but also as a bridging therapy to downstage the disease and include patients in the transplantation list[49].

Currently, the clinical landscape for patients with advanced liver cancer has changed quickly. Different agents were approved for clinical use, including lavatinib, cabozantinib, regorafenib, and ramucirumab, all addressed to the aforementioned pathways[50]. Moreover, different signs of progress have been made in immunotherapy, in particular with the advent of immune check-point blockers. Nivolumab (anti-PD-1 antibody), pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1 antibody), tremelimumab (anti-CTLA-4 antibody), and atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1 antibody) were tested for advanced HCC[51].

In 2022, Reig *et al*[10] refreshed the BCLC strategy for prognosis prediction and treatment recommendations. It has been established that the first line treatment of advanced HCC should be based on a combined approach. Atezolizumab with bevacizumab (anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibody) is currently the first-choice first-line treatment. Finn *et al*[52], in a global, open-label, phase 3 trial, demonstrated the best OS and PFS of the combined therapy in comparison with sorafenib alone. Conversely, the atezolizumab-bevacizumab treatment can be used in patients with compensated Child-Pugh A cirrhosis and risk of upper gastrointestinal bleeding.

The second-line treatment is not well established yet. If patients underwent sorafenib treatment, then it is possible to evaluate the benefit from regorafenib[53], cabozatinib[54], or ramucirumab[55]. If the second-line treatment cannot add a clinical benefit or is not feasible due to patient contraindications, then the third-line treatment with cabozatinib can be considered to increase OS[56]. Finally, if all previously mentioned cases are not manageable, patients should be enrolled in clinical trials. Clinical and laboratory data used to choose the preferred medical treatment are out of the scope of the present review.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1669 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Magnetic resonance imaging follow-up study with GD-EOB-DTPA for assessment of treatment response (after transarterial chemoembolization and radiofrequency ablation). A and B: A 70-year-old female underwent conventional transarterial chemoembolization-radiofrequency ablation of a hepatocellular carcinoma lesion located in the VIII hepatic segment. Eighteen months after treatment, confluent areas of hyperintense signal on T2 weighted imaging, with and without fat saturation, represented fibrosis. In this context a small slightly hyperintense nodular lesion was seen on T2 weighted imaging (T2 and T2 fs, yellow arrows); C-F: This lesion was isointense to the liver parenchyma in the unenhanced phase (C), with a non-peripheral wash-in appearance during the arterial phase (D), isointense during the portal venous phase (E), and hypointense during the hepatobiliary phase acquired after 20 min of Gd-EOB-DTPA administration (F). The final diagnosis was recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after transarterial chemoembolization-radiofrequency ablation.

> In this setting, patients who underwent LRTs should be followed up due to the risk of recurrence. In patients who underwent medical approaches it is important to monitor tumor response. All the abovementioned medical strategies can determine apoptosis or necrosis of tumoral cells. One of the most important common findings to evaluate during follow-up is the change in tumor size. A significant increase in tumor volume or maximum axial diameter should be considered as a progression, according to the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria[56]. However, over time, different clinical studies were focused on the main issues related to the WHO classification. Consequently, RECIST 1.1 was introduced in clinical practice. However, RECIST 1.1 has some limitations, including the increase or decrease in size and necrosis, not being taken into account[57]. This last aspect is extremely important during medical treatments since the majority of drugs employed for HCC induce a reduction in tumor vascularization. For these reasons it is important to acquire images with complete protocols, to detect typical radiological findings of the primitive tumor, and to collect every significant change. First, increased dimensions of hypervascular areas or nodules should be considered as a main finding of tumor recurrence or progression [58,59]. To evaluate these, it is of utmost importance to acquire a correct arterial phase both on computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

> In 2014, Salvaggio et al[60] aimed to collect HCC enhancement changes after sorafenib treatment. The authors demonstrated that after medical treatment both arterial and portal venous enhancement was significantly reduced. In particular, the authors demonstrated that patients with partial response can manifest a greater decrease in arterial phase enhancement. However, they did not demonstrate the opposite. Patients with progressive disease did not show any statistically significant difference in arterial phase enhancement before and after treatment. To better understand the medical response, the international literature moved to the usefulness of MRI. Choi et al[61] reviewed the most common imaging findings of HCC during medical treatment by using MRI. The authors reported the importance of the hypervascular appearance during the arterial phase, as reported for CT. Moreover, MRI can help to detect early responders from non-responders by using diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) and apparent diffusion coefficient maps, showing in the first group of patients an increase of DWI signal





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1669 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Multiphasic computed tomography study for assessment of treatment response (after sorafenib). A-D: A 66-year-old female underwent conventional medical therapy (sorafenib) for an advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) lesion. Computed tomography images represented the complete response to the medical therapy, with no areas or nodular lesions suspected for HCC; E-H: During the follow-up, 2 years after completion of therapy, a nodular hypoattenuating lesion in the unenhanced phase (E) appeared in the VII hepatic segment. This lesion had similar features of primary HCC, with non-rim hyperenhancement during the arterial phase (F), wash-out during the portal venous phase (G) and delayed phase (H). This is an example of HCC recurrence after sorafenib.

> with correspondence on apparent diffusion coefficient map due to necrosis and reduced tumor cellularity. Finally, MR can benefit from the usefulness of hepatobiliary contrast agents, as demonstrated in the SORAMIC trial[62]. However, by searching PubMed and EMBASE no important studies have been published yet about this promising added value, and future studies should be focused on these aspects.

> The advent of all the above-mentioned strategies, alone or combined, introduced a new class of response[52]. While about 8% can show a hyperprogression, a new atypical response is included in the iRECIST criteria[63]. However, no predictive biomarkers can help clinicians to determine the risk of atypical response during immunotherapy, and only the radiological approach, both with CT and MRI, can help follow patients during the treatment. Even if in the past medical treatment was considered the last useful medical treatment in advanced HCC, different ongoing studies are testing a combination of only medical drugs and in combination with LRTs, such as TACE, as reported by Pinter *et al*[64].

> Combined strategies may be useful in advanced RHCC. Peng et al[65] showed that sorafenib combined with TACE-RFA was superior to therapy with sorafenib alone concerning time to progression and OS in patients with RHCC with one intrahepatic tumor size ≤ 7 cm or ≤ 5 cm intrahepatic nodules, with each tumor ≤ 3 cm.

RADIOLOGICAL APPROACH TO RHCC

Radiology plays a central role in the assessment of patient response LRT for RHCC. The identification of viable tumor treatment guides for further management, and it potentially affects transplantation eligibility. In these instances, it is often helpful to engage in a multidisciplinary discussion to determine how to best manage each patient. The Liver Imaging Reporting and Data System (LI-RADS) was developed in 2011 to relay the likelihood of HCC on CT or MRI in a standardized manner, in patients at risk for HCC. In 2017, the LI-RADS treatment response algorithm (LI-RADS TRA) was introduced for the assessment of lesions that have been previously treated with LRT[66]. Unlike the prior response criteria RECIST and WHO that focus on disease progression on a systemic level, LI-RADS TRA is based on enhancement features to predict viability on a lesion level[67]. Although modified RECIST (mRECIST) has historically been used for the evaluation of HCC after locoregional therapy, differences from LI-RADS TRA include a lack of equivocal category and a lack of additional features for diagnosing tumor viability[68]. mRECIST uses the presence of arterial enhancing components alone to diagnose



viability while LI-RADS TRA includes additional imaging features such as washout during the portal venous or delayed phases and enhancement similar to pre-treatment to define viable tumors and encompass the equivocal category in addition to the binary evaluation[69].

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HCC RECURRENCE DETECTION

Non-invasive imaging is superior to any other method for the surveillance of patients at risk of developing RHCC, either after OLT or other curative treatments. However, robust data lacks the optimal follow-up schedule of HCC-treated patients. Notably, international guidelines slightly differ in the recommended follow-up intervals, ranging from 3 mo to 6 mo, and duration of cross-sectional imaging after curative treatments. The National Comprehensive Cancer Network panel recommends ongoing total-body surveillance with multiphasic cross-sectional imaging (i.e. CT or MRI) every 3 mo to 6 mo for 2 years, then every 6 mo to 12 mo after curative therapies [70]. The 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases suggests surveillance for HCC recurrence in posttransplant patients with abdominal and chest CT scan, though timing and duration as well as the impact of surveillance are not univocally defined[71]. After ablative therapies, the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases recommends surveillance with contrast-enhanced CT or MRI every 3-6 mo[71].

The 2018 European Society for Medical Oncology Clinical Practice Guidelines were endorsed by the pan-Asian consensus conference, which included experts from several Asian societies. However, the Asian-adapted version slightly changed the follow-up timing after curative treatment, limiting the 3-mo interval by dynamic CT or MRI studies to the 1st year instead of 2[72,73]. Also, the European Association for the Study of the Liver recommends a follow-up after resection with curative intent with 3-4 mo intervals limited to the 1st year after treatment, with a return to regular surveillance thereafter[4].

Interestingly, Kim et al^[74] found that HCC patients who undergo curative treatments with complete response and who present with increasing alpha-fetoprotein levels have a high probability of impending tumor recurrence even in the presence of a negative MRI. The follow-up schedule proposed within the European Society for Medical Oncology guidelines for patients treated with TACE or systemic therapies includes contrast-enhanced CT or MRI every 3 mo^[74].

All the above-mentioned guidelines converge on the equivalent role of CT and MRI in clinical practice, given that the most important aspect for the diagnosis of HCC is the definition of criteria with the highest achievable accuracy, regardless of the imaging technique. Erkan *et al*[75] reviewed 3491 pathologically examined liver lesions, either studied by CT or MRI, comparing the diagnostic performance of different non-invasive diagnostic criteria of HCC. They found no statistically significant differences among criteria in diagnostic accuracy, with LI-RADS performing the best in terms of sensitivity and accuracy. Nevertheless, though CT and MRI have comparable performance in clinical practice, they present specific features to be considered.

СТ

CT has the advantage of being the most practical and widely available tool to perform surveillance in HCC-treated patients. Its main limitations consist of ionizing radiation exposure and iodinated contrast agents-related nephrotoxicity. The detection and characterization of liver nodules with conventional contrast-enhanced CT is substantially limited to the size, morphology, and enhancement pattern of the lesions, which are sufficient elements to reach a confident diagnosis according to LI-RADS. RHCC imaging findings are analogous to the primary lesion. In particular, the typical hallmarks in the imaging diagnosis of RHCC are the combination of hyperenhancement in the arterial phase and washout on the portal venous or delayed phases^[4]. Several studies and meta-analyses have compared the performance of CT with other imaging techniques. In a multicenter prospective trial including 544 nodules in 381 patients, the sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis of 10-20 mm HCC nodules were 67.9% and 76.8%, respectively, while for the 20-30 mm HCC nodules, the sensitivity and specificity were higher (71.6% and 93.6%, respectively)[76]. In a meta-analysis, CT had an overall sensitivity of 72% with a subgroup analysis revealing a sensitivity of 31% vs 82% for sub-centimetric lesions compared to \geq 1 cm ones[77]. Of note, this data did not consider the prevalence of HCC diagnosis in HCC-naïve patients compared to previously treated patients, for whom the pre-test probability of disease is expected to be increased. A multicenter prospective study that enrolled patients scheduled for liver imaging before surgery showed a sensitivity of 70%[78].

MRI

The accuracy of MRI in detecting HCC, especially small nodules, is superior to that of CT as shown by several studies and meta-analyses, one of which reported a sensitivity of 82% compared with 66% of CT and a comparable specificity [4,79]. However, MRI is yet to be definitively recommended over CT, given that the quality of the available evidence is considered low [79]. Moreover, a distinction between extracellular contrast agents (ECA) and hepatobiliary contrast agents (HBCA) should be considered. Analogous to those used in CT, ECA detects and characterizes lesions through the enhancement pattern.



Conversely, HBCA provides information on the hepatocellular function and bile excretion. Typical nodule hypointensity against a strongly enhanced background parenchyma in the hepatobiliary phase increases RHCC conspicuity and delineation, facilitating detection and consequently the diagnosis[80]. Despite this advantage, it must be pointed out that, if considered alone, hepatobiliary phase imaging is non-specific. Therefore, it always requires interpretation together with the dynamic study [81]. Martino et al[82] reported significantly higher diagnostic accuracy, sensitivity, and negative predictive value when dynamic and hepatobiliary phase MRI were combined compared to CT and dynamic phase MRI alone; a particular diagnostic benefit was obtained for lesions between 1 cm and 2 cm.

Nevertheless, although most HCC lesions are typically hypointense during the hepatobiliary phase, about 5%-12% HCC lesions can be hyperintense, owing to the overexpression of OATP[81]; conversely, some benign nodules may show no contrast uptake[83]. The knowledge of the pathological features of the originally treated nodules may predict the behavior of recurrent disease on hepatobiliary phase imaging, improving diagnostic confidence.

Different HBCA molecules have specific pharmacokinetic profiles. Gadoxetate disodium presents a 50% hepatic excretion, which contributes to an early liver parenchyma enhancement. Conversely, gadobenate-dimeglumine has a 3%-5% hepatic excretion that delays the hepatobiliary phase imaging onset. As a consequence, gadoxetate disodium does not provide a conventional delayed vascular phase but instead shows a transitional phase that lasts for several minutes, representing a transition from extracellular-dominant to intracellular-dominant enhancement[81]. Interestingly, Yim et al[84] recently observed that, in a retrospective cohort of patients who underwent both ECA and HBCA, RHCC was diagnosticated with higher accuracy using ECA.

DWI has been shown to improve the accuracy of RHCC detection, especially when combined with gadoxetic acid-enhanced imaging[85,86]. Finally, a recent meta-analysis confirmed that DWI may improve the ability to detect residual HCC or RHCC after TACE[87].

MRI likely has the highest accuracy compared to other imaging techniques in the detection of small recurrence after curative treatments^[43]. However, results interpretation according to the standard LI-RADS may suffer from reduced sensitivity and specificity for disease recurrence detection. Wang et al [88] found that non-rim arterial phase hyperenhancement and three ancillary features (hepatobiliary phase hypointensity, mild-moderate T2 hyperintensity, and restriction of diffusion) were significantly related to RHCCs < 20 mm and concluded that the characterization of < 10 mm recurrence may show improved specificity compared with the LI-RADS 4 category combining at least two ancillary features. However, in patients treated with systemic therapies, according to the mRECIST criteria, new HCC lesions must measure at least 1 cm to define disease progression [58]. Despite the high sensitivity of MRI to detect recurrence after curative treatments, it has been shown that small viable RHCC may hide behind false-negative studies. This warrants regular short-term imaging surveillance[89].

However, in the absence of evidence to recommend a particular method or contrast agent over the other, practitioners are encouraged to base the choice on their judgment on an individual basis, considering the local availability of resources, personal experience, and imaging features of the previously-treated HCC[71].

Contrast-enhanced US

The use of contrast-enhanced US (CEUS) is encouraged as it has been demonstrated that its specificity can be even superior compared to CT/MRI[76]. Although CEUS is inferior to both CT and MRI in terms of objectivity and panoramic view, it provides advantages in cases of renal dysfunction and iodine allergy. The current indications for CEUS are multiple, the most important of which are equivocal or inconclusive findings on CT or MRI studies and assessment of treatment response after TACE or ablation[90]. Bansal et al[91] proposed an algorithm with alternating MRI and CEUS for secondary surveillance following potentially curative therapy of HCC. In their prospective studies, the authors found similar diagnostic performance of the two techniques; of note, CEUS was able to confirm or disprove equivocal findings on MRI. The comparable diagnostic performance of CEUS, CT, and MRI was previously reported[92].

It has been reported that RHCC may differ from the initial tumor at imaging, and this may help to distinguish recurrence form residual diseases, which may have a prognostic relevance. Wu *et al* [93] recently described different CEUS patterns of RHCC compared to initial tumors: Among the others, more homogeneous enhancement, poorly defined borders, and marked washout were found to be typical features of recurrent disease.

The application of artificial intelligence and radiomics to preoperative CEUS has recently gained large interest, and it has been demonstrated to potentially predict the prognosis in terms of HCC recurrence and overall survival [94-97]. CEUS, added to other conventional US-based techniques, has also shown the ability to improve the prediction of microvascular invasion, which is probably the most important factor associated with a worse prognosis[98]. Finally, CEUS can be useful as guidance for ablative therapies, especially to target recurrence of previously treated lesions[99,100].

Perfusion CT/MRI

Perfusion imaging does not have a definite role in clinical practice, and it is mainly performed for investigative purposes. Although several authors have independently demonstrated that perfusion CT-



derived parameters can discriminate between normal liver parenchyma, HCC, and hypervascular pseudolesions[101-103], they are yet to be included in clinical practice guidelines due to the absence of standardization among different centers[104]. However, perfusion imaging that provides quantitative parameters that could potentially be more reliable than qualitative/subjective parameters seems promising in the assessment of tumor response both to locoregional and systemic therapies[105-114].

Compared to CT, perfusion MRI has been investigated more regarding the possibility of predicting microvascular invasion of HCC before treatment. The microvascular invasion has been demonstrated to be correlated with poor outcomes of curative therapies due to higher rates of disease recurrence[115]. Perfusion MRI can be performed either with dynamic contrast-enhanced studies or with the intravoxel incoherent motion diffusion-weighted technique[116-119].

Nuclear medicine

The role of nuclear medicine in the diagnosis and staging of HCC is debated. If on the one hand there is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography preoperatively, it has been demonstrated that nuclear medicine studies are able to predict tumor aggressiveness and may aid in identifying those patients at risk for HCC recurrence after liver transplantation, resection, or ablation for better treatment allocation[120,121]. Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography, with or without CT, has also been shown to present low sensitivity but high specificity for diagnosing extrahepatic metastases or local residual/recurrent HCC after treatment [121].

CONCLUSION

On the one hand, the assessment of the response to LRTs has been widely described[121-123]. On the other hand, histologic modifications induced by molecular therapies may explain different imaging findings of recurrent disease. Differentiation between treatment-induced tumor necrosis and viable tumor with reduced arterial perfusion may be challenging. After treatment with systemic targeted therapy, the tumor may show areas of necrosis without any contrast enhancement that must be distinguished from areas of reduced but still unequivocal arterial uptake consistent with viable tumor[44]. Even RHCC under systemic treatments may present with atypical enhancing patterns, especially lacking arterial hyperenhancement, which makes radiological assessment more difficult. All these aspects should be considered, and multimodal imaging evaluation combined with multidisciplinary framework can improve image interpretation. Conventional non-invasive imaging techniques provide robust criteria for HCC residual/recurrence detection, with high accuracy, representing the current standard of practice. Advanced imaging tools, either hardware- or software-based, have a double potential role: to predict HCC treatment response or the risk of recurrence, to increase sensitivity, specificity, and thus operator confidence in early RHCC detection.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ippolito D and Maino C designed the research; Maino C, Gatti M, Marra P, and Cortese F performed the research; Maino C, Gatti M, Marra P, and Cortese F analyzed the data; All authors wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Davide Ippolito 0000-0002-2696-7047; Cesare Maino 0000-0002-5742-802X; Marco Gatti 0000-0001-8168-5280; Paolo Marra 0000-0003-4935-8110; Riccardo Faletti 0000-0002-8865-8637; Francesco Cortese 0000-0002-2731-3766; Riccardo Inchingolo 0000-0002-0253-5936; Sandro Sironi 0000-0002-4469-5073.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Chen YL

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- Forner A, Reig M, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2018; 391: 1301-1314 [PMID: 29307467 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30010-2
- 2 Sacco R, Gadaleta-Caldarola G, Galati G, Lombardi G, Mazza G, Cabibbo G. EASL HCC summit: liver cancer management. Future Oncol 2014; 10: 1129-1132 [PMID: 24947253 DOI: 10.2217/fon.14.68]
- 3 Heimbach JK. Overview of the Updated AASLD Guidelines for the Management of HCC. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y) 2017; 13: 751-753 [PMID: 29339953]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatocellular 4 carcinoma. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 182-236 [PMID: 29628281 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.019]
- Heimbach JK, Kulik LM, Finn RS, Sirlin CB, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Zhu AX, Murad MH, Marrero JA. AASLD 5 guidelines for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2018; 67: 358-380 [PMID: 28130846 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29086]
- Huang X, Liu Y, Xu L, Ma T, Yin X, Huang Z, Wang C, Bi X, Che X. Meta-analysis of Percutaneous vs. Surgical 6 Approaches Radiofrequency Ablation in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Front Surg 2021; 8: 788771 [PMID: 35059430 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.788771]
- Couri T, Pillai A. Goals and targets for personalized therapy for HCC. Hepatol Int 2019; 13: 125-137 [PMID: 30600478 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-018-9919-1]
- 8 Sapisochin G, Bruix J. Liver transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma: outcomes and novel surgical approaches. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 14: 203-217 [PMID: 28053342 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.193]
- 9 Gozzo C, Hermida M, Herrero A, Panaro F, Cassinotto C, Mohamad AM, Assenat E, Guillot C, Allimant C, Schembri V, Basile A, Dharancy S, Ursic-Bedoya J, Guiu B. Non-transplantable recurrence after percutaneous thermal ablation of \leq 3cm HCC: Predictors and implications for treatment allocation. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 2975-2987 [PMID: 35932178 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.2063]
- 10 Reig M, Forner A, Rimola J, Ferrer-Fàbrega J, Burrel M, Garcia-Criado Á, Kelley RK, Galle PR, Mazzaferro V, Salem R, Sangro B, Singal AG, Vogel A, Fuster J, Ayuso C, Bruix J. BCLC strategy for prognosis prediction and treatment recommendation: The 2022 update. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 681-693 [PMID: 34801630 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.11.018]
- Villanueva A. Hepatocellular Carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 1450-1462 [PMID: 30970190 DOI: 11 10.1056/NEJMra1713263]
- Kim KM. Nonsurgical multidisciplinary approach for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after surgical resection. Hepat 12 Oncol 2015; 2: 29-38 [PMID: 30190985 DOI: 10.2217/hep.14.31]
- Yang Y, Yu H, Tan X, You Y, Liu F, Zhao T, Qi J, Li J, Feng Y, Zhu Q. Liver resection versus radiofrequency ablation 13 for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Hyperthermia 2021; 38: 875-886 [PMID: 34078221 DOI: 10.1080/02656736.2021.1933218]
- 14 Wen T, Jin C, Facciorusso A, Donadon M, Han HS, Mao Y, Dai C, Cheng S, Zhang B, Peng B, Du S, Jia C, Xu F, Shi J, Sun J, Zhu P, Nara S, Millis JM; MDT of West China Hospital*. Multidisciplinary management of recurrent and metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma after resection: an international expert consensus. Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr 2018; 7: 353-371 [PMID: 30498711 DOI: 10.21037/hbsn.2018.08.01]
- Aquina CT, Eskander MF, Pawlik TM. Liver-Directed Treatment Options Following Liver Tumor Recurrence: A Review 15 of the Literature. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 832405 [PMID: 35174097 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.832405]
- Tampaki M, Papatheodoridis GV, Cholongitas E. Intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection: an 16 update. Clin J Gastroenterol 2021; 14: 699-713 [PMID: 33774785 DOI: 10.1007/s12328-021-01394-7]
- Fukuhara T, Aikata H, Hyogo H, Honda Y, Morio K, Morio R, Hatooka M, Kobayashi T, Naeshiro N, Kawaoka T, 17 Tsuge M, Hiramatsu A, Imamura M, Kawakami Y, Chayama K. Efficacy of radiofrequency ablation for initial recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after curative treatment: Comparison with primary cases. Eur J Radiol 2015; 84: 1540-1545 [PMID: 25979193 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2015.04.020]
- Liu J, Zhao J, Gu HAO, Zhu Z. Repeat hepatic resection VS radiofrequency ablation for the treatment of recurrent 18 hepatocellular carcinoma: an updated meta-analysis. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol 2022; 31: 332-341 [PMID: 33143517 DOI: 10.1080/13645706.2020.1839775]
- 19 Xia Y, Li J, Liu G, Wang K, Qian G, Lu Z, Yang T, Yan Z, Lei Z, Si A, Wan X, Zhang H, Gao C, Cheng Z, Pawlik TM, Wang H, Lau WY, Wu M, Shen F. Long-term Effects of Repeat Hepatectomy vs Percutaneous Radiofrequency Ablation Among Patients With Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol 2020; 6: 255-263 [PMID: 31774468 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.4477]
- Uhlig J, Sellers CM, Stein SM, Kim HS. Radiofrequency ablation versus surgical resection of hepatocellular carcinoma: 20 contemporary treatment trends and outcomes from the United States National Cancer Database. EurRadiol 2019; 29: 2679-2689 [PMID: 30560364 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-018-5902-4]
- Feng Y, Wu H, Huang DQ, Xu C, Zheng H, Maeda M, Zhao X, Wang L, Xiao F, Lv H, Liu T, Qi J, Li J, Zhong N, Wang 21 C, Feng H, Liang B, Ren W, Qin C, Nguyen MH, Zhu Q. Radiofrequency ablation versus repeat resection for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma (≤ 5 cm) after initial curative resection. EurRadiol 2020; 30: 6357-6368 [PMID: 32529568 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-020-06990-8
- Shi T, Xu C, Feng Y, Wei Y, Lv H, Zhu Q. Surgical resection versus radiofrequency ablation for early recurrent 22 hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 34: 844-851 [PMID: 35694799 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002393]
- Gupta P, Maralakunte M, Kumar-M P, Chandel K, Chaluvashetty SB, Bhujade H, Kalra N, Sandhu MS. Overall survival 23 and local recurrence following RFA, MWA, and cryoablation of very early and early HCC: a systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis. EurRadiol 2021; 31: 5400-5408 [PMID: 33439319 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-020-07610-1]
- Ryu T, Takami Y, Wada Y, Hara T, Sasaki S, Saitsu H. Efficacy of surgical microwave ablation for recurrent 24 hepatocellular carcinoma after curative hepatectomy. HPB (Oxford) 2020; 22: 461-469 [PMID: 31473076 DOI: 10.1016/j.hpb.2019.08.001



- Izzo F, Granata V, Grassi R, Fusco R, Palaia R, Delrio P, Carrafiello G, Azoulay D, Petrillo A, Curley SA. 25 Radiofrequency Ablation and Microwave Ablation in Liver Tumors: An Update. Oncologist 2019; 24: e990-e1005 [PMID: 31217342 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0337]
- Wang Z, Liu M, Zhang DZ, Wu SS, Hong ZX, He GB, Yang H, Xiang BD, Li X, Jiang TA, Li K, Tang Z, Huang F, Lu 26 M, Chen JA, Lin YC, Lu X, Wu YQ, Zhang XW, Zhang YF, Cheng C, Ye HL, Wang LT, Zhong HG, Zhong JH, Wang L, Chen M, Liang FF, Chen Y, Xu YS, Yu XL, Cheng ZG, Liu FY, Han ZY, Tang WZ, Yu J, Liang P. Microwave ablation versus laparoscopic resection as first-line therapy for solitary 3-5-cm HCC. Hepatology 2022; 76: 66-77 [PMID: 35007334 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32323]
- Wang C, Wang H, Yang W, Hu K, Xie H, Hu KQ, Bai W, Dong Z, Lu Y, Zeng Z, Lou M, Gao X, Chang X, An L, Qu J, 27 Li J, Yang Y. Multicenter randomized controlled trial of percutaneous cryoablation versus radiofrequency ablation in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 2015; 61: 1579-1590 [PMID: 25284802 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27548]
- 28 Xu J, Noda C, Erickson A, Mokkarala M, Charalel R, Ramaswamy R, Tao YU, Akinwande O. Radiofrequency Ablation vs. Cryoablation for Localized Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Propensity-matched Population Study. Anticancer Res 2018; 38: 6381-6386 [PMID: 30396961 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.12997]
- Llovet JM, De Baere T, Kulik L, Haber PK, Greten TF, Meyer T, Lencioni R. Locoregional therapies in the era of 29 molecular and immune treatments for hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 18: 293-313 [PMID: 33510460 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-00395-0]
- 30 Eso Y, Takai A, Takahashi K, Ueda Y, Taura K, Marusawa H, Seno H. Combination of Mac-2 Binding Protein Glycosylation Isomer and Up-To-Seven Criteria as a Useful Predictor for Child-Pugh Grade Deterioration after Transarterial Chemoembolization for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cancers (Basel) 2019; 11 [PMID: 30909405 DOI: 10.3390/cancers11030405]
- Zu QQ, Liu S, Zhou CG, Yang ZQ, Xia JG, Zhao LB, Shi HB. Chemoembolization of recurrent hepatoma after curative 31 resection: prognostic factors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2015; 204: 1322-1328 [PMID: 26001244 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.14.13343
- Liu Y, Ren Y, Ge S, Xiong B, Zhou G, Feng G, Song S, Zheng C. Transarterial Chemoembolization in Treatment-Naïve 32 and Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Propensity-Matched Outcome and Risk Signature Analysis. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 662408 [PMID: 34155478 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.662408]
- Zheng J, Cai J, Tao L, Kirih MA, Shen Z, Xu J, Liang X. Comparison on the efficacy and prognosis of different strategies 33 for intrahepatic recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis. Int J Surg 2020; 83: 196-204 [PMID: 32980518 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.09.031]
- Gou H, Liu S, Zhu G, Peng Y, Li X, Yang X, He K. Effectiveness of radiofrequency ablation versus transarterial 34 chemoembolization for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: A meta-analysis. Acta Radiol Open 2022; 11: 20584601221085514 [PMID: 35368406 DOI: 10.1177/20584601221085514]
- 35 Cheng YC, Chen TW, Fan HL, Yu CY, Chang HC, Hsieh CB. Transarterial chemoembolization for intrahepatic multiple recurrent HCC after liver resection or transplantation. Ann Transplant 2014; 19: 309-316 [PMID: 24975583 DOI: 10.12659/AOT.890505
- Wang K, Liu G, Li J, Yan Z, Xia Y, Wan X, Ji Y, Lau WY, Wu M, Shen F. Early intrahepatic recurrence of hepatocellular 36 carcinoma after hepatectomy treated with re-hepatectomy, ablation or chemoembolization: a prospective cohort study. Eur J Surg Oncol 2015; 41: 236-242 [PMID: 25434327 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2014.11.002]
- Jin YJ, Lee JW, Lee OH, Chung HJ, Kim YS, Lee JI, Cho SG, Jeon YS, Lee KY, Ahn SI, Shin WY. Transarterial 37 chemoembolization versus surgery/radiofrequency ablation for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma with or without microvascular invasion. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 1056-1064 [PMID: 24372785 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12507]
- Song JE, Kim DY. Conventional vs drug-eluting beads transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. 38 World J Hepatol 2017; 9: 808-814 [PMID: 28706579 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v9.i18.808]
- 39 Bzeizi KI, Arabi M, Jamshidi N, Albenmousa A, Sanai FM, Al-Hamoudi W, Alghamdi S, Broering D, Alqahtani SA. Conventional Transarterial Chemoembolization Versus Drug-Eluting Beads in Patients with Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 34944792 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13246172]
- Ali R, Riaz A, Gabr A, Abouchaleh N, Mora R, Al Asadi A, Caicedo JC, Abecassis M, Katariya N, Maddur H, Kulik L, 40 Lewandowski RJ, Salem R. Clinical outcomes of Y90 radioembolization for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma following curative resection. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2017; 44: 2195-2202 [PMID: 28812136 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-017-3792-3]
- 41 Zheng X, Ren Y, Hu H, Qian K. Transarterial Chemoembolization Combined With Radiofrequency Ablation Versus Repeat Hepatectomy for Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma After Curative Resection: A 10-Year Single-Center Comparative Study. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 713432 [PMID: 34568043 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.713432]
- Peng ZW, Zhang YJ, Chen MS, Xu L, Liang HH, Lin XJ, Guo RP, Zhang YQ, Lau WY. Radiofrequency ablation with or 42 without transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 426-432 [PMID: 23269991 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.9936]
- Lee MW, Lim HK. Management of sub-centimeter recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after curative treatment: Current 43 status and future. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 5215-5222 [PMID: 30581270 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i46.5215]
- 44 Song Q, Ren W, Fan L, Zhao M, Mao L, Jiang S, Zhao C, Cui Y. Long-Term Outcomes of Transarterial Chemoembolization Combined with Radiofrequency Ablation Versus Transarterial Chemoembolization Alone for Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma After Surgical Resection. Dig Dis Sci 2020; 65: 1266-1275 [PMID: 31312995 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-019-05733-0]
- Peng Z, Wei M, Chen S, Lin M, Jiang C, Mei J, Li B, Wang Y, Li J, Xie X, Kuang M. Combined transcatheter arterial 45 chemoembolization and radiofrequency ablation versus hepatectomy for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after initial surgery: a propensity score matching study. EurRadiol 2018; 28: 3522-3531 [PMID: 29536241 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-017-5166-41
- Zhang Y, Zhang MW, Fan XX, Mao DF, Ding QH, Zhuang LH, Lv SY. Drug-eluting beads transarterial 46 chemoembolization sequentially combined with radiofrequency ablation in the treatment of untreated and recurrent



hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastrointest Surg 2020; 12: 355-368 [PMID: 32903981 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v12.i8.355]

- Ji J, Yang W, Shi HB, Liu S, Zhou WZ. Transcatheter arterial chemoembolization alone versus combined with microwave 47 ablation for recurrent small hepatocellular carcinoma after resection: a retrospective comparative study. BMC Gastroenterol 2022; 22: 321 [PMID: 35768773 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-022-02387-7]
- 48 Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, de Oliveira AC, Santoro A, Raoul JL, Forner A, Schwartz M, Porta C, Zeuzem S, Bolondi L, Greten TF, Galle PR, Seitz JF, Borbath I, Häussinger D, Giannaris T, Shan M, Moscovici M, Voliotis D, Bruix J; SHARP Investigators Study Group. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 378-390 [PMID: 18650514 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708857]
- Vitale A, Volk ML, Pastorelli D, Lonardi S, Farinati F, Burra P, Angeli P, Cillo U. Use of sorafenib in patients with 49 hepatocellular carcinoma before liver transplantation: a cost-benefit analysis while awaiting data on sorafenib safety. Hepatology 2010; 51: 165-173 [PMID: 19877181 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23260]
- 50 Akateh C, Black SM, Conteh L, Miller ED, Noonan A, Elliott E, Pawlik TM, Tsung A, Cloyd JM. Neoadjuvant and adjuvant treatment strategies for hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 3704-3721 [PMID: 31391767 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i28.3704]
- Ghavimi S, Apfel T, Azimi H, Persaud A, Pyrsopoulos NT. Management and Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma 51 with Immunotherapy: A Review of Current and Future Options. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2020; 8: 168-176 [PMID: 32832397 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2020.00001]
- Finn RS, Qin S, Ikeda M, Galle PR, Ducreux M, Kim TY, Kudo M, Breder V, Merle P, Kaseb AO, Li D, Verret W, Xu 52 DZ, Hernandez S, Liu J, Huang C, Mulla S, Wang Y, Lim HY, Zhu AX, Cheng AL; IMbrave150 Investigators. Atezolizumab plus Bevacizumab in Unresectable Hepatocellular Carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1894-1905 [PMID: 32402160 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1915745]
- 53 Bruix J, Qin S, Merle P, Granito A, Huang YH, Bodoky G, Pracht M, Yokosuka O, Rosmorduc O, Breder V, Gerolami R, Masi G, Ross PJ, Song T, Bronowicki JP, Ollivier-Hourmand I, Kudo M, Cheng AL, Llovet JM, Finn RS, LeBerre MA, Baumhauer A, Meinhardt G, Han G; RESORCE Investigators. Regorafenib for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who progressed on sorafenib treatment (RESORCE): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017; 389: 56-66 [PMID: 27932229 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32453-9]
- Abou-Alfa GK, Meyer T, Cheng AL, El-Khoueiry AB, Rimassa L, Ryoo BY, Cicin I, Merle P, Chen Y, Park JW, Blanc 54 JF, Bolondi L, Klümpen HJ, Chan SL, Zagonel V, Pressiani T, Ryu MH, Venook AP, Hessel C, Borgman-Hagey AE, Schwab G, Kelley RK. Cabozantinib in Patients with Advanced and Progressing Hepatocellular Carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2018; 379: 54-63 [PMID: 29972759 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1717002]
- Zhu AX, Kang YK, Yen CJ, Finn RS, Galle PR, Llovet JM, Assenat E, Brandi G, Pracht M, Lim HY, Rau KM, Motomura 55 K, Ohno I, Merle P, Daniele B, Shin DB, Gerken G, Borg C, Hiriart JB, Okusaka T, Morimoto M, Hsu Y, Abada PB, Kudo M; REACH-2 study investigators. Ramucirumab after sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma and increased α -fetoprotein concentrations (REACH-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 282-296 [PMID: 30665869 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30937-9]
- Therasse P, Arbuck SG, Eisenhauer EA, Wanders J, Kaplan RS, Rubinstein L, Verweij J, Van Glabbeke M, van Oosterom 56 AT, Christian MC, Gwyther SG. New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer, National Cancer Institute of the United States, National Cancer Institute of Canada. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92: 205-216 [PMID: 10655437 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/92.3.205]
- Gillmore R, Stuart S, Kirkwood A, Hameeduddin A, Woodward N, Burroughs AK, Meyer T. EASL and mRECIST 57 responses are independent prognostic factors for survival in hepatocellular cancer patients treated with transarterial embolization. J Hepatol 2011; 55: 1309-1316 [PMID: 21703196 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.03.007]
- Llovet JM, Lencioni R. mRECIST for HCC: Performance and novel refinements. J Hepatol 2020; 72: 288-306 [PMID: 58 31954493 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.09.026]
- 59 Ogunwobi OO, Harricharran T, Huaman J, Galuza A, Odumuwagun O, Tan Y, Ma GX, Nguyen MT. Mechanisms of hepatocellular carcinoma progression. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 2279-2293 [PMID: 31148900 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i19.2279]
- Salvaggio G, Furlan A, Agnello F, Cabibbo G, Marin D, Giannitrapani L, Genco C, Midiri M, Lagalla R, Brancatelli G. 60 Hepatocellular carcinoma enhancement on contrast-enhanced CT and MR imaging: response assessment after treatment with sorafenib: preliminary results. Radiol Med 2014; 119: 215-221 [PMID: 24297581 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-013-0332-5]
- Choi JI, Imagawa DK, Bhosale P, Bhargava P, Tirkes T, Seery TE, Lall C. Magnetic resonance imaging following 61 treatment of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma with sorafenib. Clin Mol Hepatol 2014; 20: 218-222 [PMID: 25032190 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2014.20.2.218]
- Öcal O, Rössler D, Gasbarrini A, Berg T, Klümpen HJ, Bargellini I, Peynircioglu B, van Delden O, Schulz C, Schütte K, 62 Iezzi R, Pech M, Malfertheiner P, Sangro B, Ricke J, Seidensticker M. Gadoxetic acid uptake as a molecular imaging biomarker for sorafenib resistance in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a post hoc analysis of the SORAMIC trial. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2022; 148: 2487-2496 [PMID: 34541612 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-021-03803-3]
- 63 Ippolito D, Maino C, Ragusi M, Porta M, Gandola D, Franzesi CT, Giandola TP, Sironi S. Immune response evaluation criteria in solid tumors for assessment of atypical responses after immunotherapy. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12: 323-334 [PMID: 34131564 DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i5.323]
- Pinter M, Jain RK, Duda DG. The Current Landscape of Immune Checkpoint Blockade in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A 64 Review. JAMA Oncol 2021; 7: 113-123 [PMID: 33090190 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.3381]
- Peng Z, Chen S, Wei M, Lin M, Jiang C, Mei J, Li B, Wang Y, Li J, Xie X, Chen M, Qian G, Kuang M. Advanced 65 Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Treatment with Sorafenib Alone or in Combination with Transarterial Chemoembolization and Radiofrequency Ablation. Radiology 2018; 287: 705-714 [PMID: 29390197 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2018171541
- Kierans AS, Najjar M, Dutruel SP, Gavlin A, Chen C, Lee MJ, Askin G, Halazun KJ. Evaluation of the LI-RADS 66 treatment response algorithm in hepatocellular carcinoma after trans-arterial chemoembolization. Clin Imaging 2021; 80: 117-122 [PMID: 34303189 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2021.06.009]



- Kim DH, Kim B, Choi JI, Oh SN, Rha SE. LI-RADS Treatment Response versus Modified RECIST for Diagnosing 67 Viable Hepatocellular Carcinoma after Locoregional Therapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Comparative Studies. TaehanYongsangUihakhoe Chi 2022; 83: 331-343 [PMID: 36237934 DOI: 10.3348/jksr.2021.0173]
- 68 Seo N, Joo DJ, Park MS, Kim SS, Shin HJ, Chung YE, Choi JY, Kim MS, Kim MJ. Optimal imaging criteria and modality to determine Milan criteria for the prediction of post-transplant HCC recurrence after locoregional treatment. EurRadiol 2023; **33**: 501-511 [PMID: 35821427 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-022-08977-z]
- Kielar A, Fowler KJ, Lewis S, Yaghmai V, Miller FH, Yarmohammadi H, Kim C, Chernyak V, Yokoo T, Meyer J, 69 Newton I, Do RK. Locoregional therapies for hepatocellular carcinoma and the new LI-RADS treatment response algorithm. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2018; 43: 218-230 [PMID: 28780679 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-017-1281-6]
- Benson AB, D'Angelica MI, Abbott DE, Anaya DA, Anders R, Are C, Bachini M, Borad M, Brown D, Burgoyne A, 70 Chahal P, Chang DT, Cloyd J, Covey AM, Glazer ES, Goyal L, Hawkins WG, Iyer R, Jacob R, Kelley RK, Kim R, Levine M, Palta M, Park JO, Raman S, Reddy S, Sahai V, Schefter T, Singh G, Stein S, Vauthey JN, Venook AP, Yopp A, McMillian NR, Hochstetler C, Darlow SD. Hepatobiliary Cancers, Version 2.2021, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl ComprCancNetw 2021; 19: 541-565 [PMID: 34030131 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2021.0022]
- Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB, Zhu AX, Finn RS, Abecassis MM, Roberts LR, Heimbach JK. Diagnosis, Staging, and 71 Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: 2018 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 68: 723-750 [PMID: 29624699 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29913]
- 72 Chen LT, Martinelli E, Cheng AL, Pentheroudakis G, Qin S, Bhattacharyya GS, Ikeda M, Lim HY, Ho GF, Choo SP, Ren Z, Malhotra H, Ueno M, Ryoo BY, Kiang TC, Tai D, Vogel A, Cervantes A, Lu SN, Yen CJ, Huang YH, Chen SC, Hsu C, Shen YC, Tabernero J, Yen Y, Hsu CH, Yoshino T, Douillard JY. Pan-Asian adapted ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with intermediate and advanced/relapsed hepatocellular carcinoma: a TOS-ESMO initiative endorsed by CSCO, ISMPO, JSMO, KSMO, MOS and SSO. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 334-351 [PMID: 32067677 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2019.12.001]
- Vogel A, Cervantes A, Chau I, Daniele B, Llovet JM, Meyer T, Nault JC, Neumann U, Ricke J, Sangro B, Schirmacher P, Verslype C, Zech CJ, Arnold D, Martinelli E; ESMO Guidelines Committee. Hepatocellular carcinoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2018; 29: iv238-iv255 [PMID: 30285213 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy308]
- Kim KE, Sinn DH, Choi MS, Kim H. Outcomes of patients presenting with elevated tumor marker levels but negative 74 gadoxetic acid-enhanced liver MRI after a complete response to hepatocellular carcinoma treatment. PLoS One 2022; 17: e0262750 [PMID: 35085305 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262750]
- Erkan B, Meier J, Clark TJ, Kaplan J, Lambert JR, Chang S. Non-invasive diagnostic criteria of hepatocellular carcinoma: 75 Comparison of diagnostic accuracy of updated LI-RADS with clinical practice guidelines of OPTN-UNOS, AASLD, NCCN, EASL-EORTC, and KLSCG-NCC. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0226291 [PMID: 31821360 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226291
- Aubé C, Oberti F, Lonjon J, Pageaux G, Seror O, N'Kontchou G, Rode A, Radenne S, Cassinotto C, Vergniol J, Bricault I, 76 Leroy V, Ronot M, Castera L, Michalak S, Esvan M, Vilgrain V; CHIC Group. EASL and AASLD recommendations for the diagnosis of HCC to the test of daily practice. Liver Int 2017; 37: 1515-1525 [PMID: 28346737 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13429
- Lee YJ, Lee JM, Lee JS, Lee HY, Park BH, Kim YH, Han JK, Choi BI. Hepatocellular carcinoma: diagnostic performance 77 of multidetector CT and MR imaging-a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiology 2015; 275: 97-109 [PMID: 25559230 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.14140690]
- Tsurusaki M, Sofue K, Isoda H, Okada M, Kitajima K, Murakami T. Comparison of gadoxetic acid-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging and contrast-enhanced computed tomography with histopathological examinations for the identification of hepatocellular carcinoma: a multicenter phase III study. J Gastroenterol 2016; 51: 71-79 [PMID: 26130441 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-015-1097-5
- Roberts LR, Sirlin CB, Zaiem F, Almasri J, Prokop LJ, Heimbach JK, Murad MH, Mohammed K. Imaging for the 79 diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology 2018; 67: 401-421 [PMID: 28859233 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29487]
- Ahn SS, Kim MJ, Lim JS, Hong HS, Chung YE, Choi JY. Added value of gadoxetic acid-enhanced hepatobiliary phase 80 MR imaging in the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiology 2010; 255: 459-466 [PMID: 20413759 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.10091388]
- 81 Choi JY, Lee JM, Sirlin CB. CT and MR imaging diagnosis and staging of hepatocellular carcinoma: part II. Extracellular agents, hepatobiliary agents, and ancillary imaging features. Radiology 2014; 273: 30-50 [PMID: 25247563 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.14132362]
- Di Martino M, De Filippis G, De Santis A, Geiger D, Del Monte M, Lombardo CV, Rossi M, Corradini SG, Mennini G, 82 Catalano C. Hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients: prospective comparison of US, CT and MR imaging. *EurRadiol* 2013; 23: 887-896 [PMID: 23179521 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-012-2691-z]
- Kitao A, Zen Y, Matsui O, Gabata T, Kobayashi S, Koda W, Kozaka K, Yoneda N, Yamashita T, Kaneko S, Nakanuma 83 Y. Hepatocellular carcinoma: signal intensity at gadoxetic acid-enhanced MR Imaging--correlation with molecular transporters and histopathologic features. Radiology 2010; 256: 817-826 [PMID: 20663969 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.10092214]
- Yim JH, Kim YK, Min JH, Lee J, Kang TW, Lee SJ. Diagnosis of recurrent HCC: intraindividual comparison of 84 gadoxetic acid MRI and extracellular contrast-enhanced MRI. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2019; 44: 2366-2376 [PMID: 30847566 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-019-01968-7]
- Park MJ, Kim YK, Lee MW, Lee WJ, Kim YS, Kim SH, Choi D, Rhim H. Small hepatocellular carcinomas: improved 85 sensitivity by combining gadoxetic acid-enhanced and diffusion-weighted MR imaging patterns. Radiology 2012; 264: 761-770 [PMID: 22843769 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12112517]
- 86 Vandecaveye V, De Keyzer F, Verslype C, Op de Beeck K, Komuta M, Topal B, Roebben I, Bielen D, Roskams T, Nevens F, Dymarkowski S. Diffusion-weighted MRI provides additional value to conventional dynamic contrast-enhanced



MRI for detection of hepatocellular carcinoma. EurRadiol 2009; 19: 2456-2466 [PMID: 19440718 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-009-1431-5]

- Liu Z, Fan JM, He C, Li ZF, Xu YS, Li Z, Liu HF, Lei JQ. Utility of diffusion weighted imaging with the quantitative 87 apparent diffusion coefficient in diagnosing residual or recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after transarterial chemoembolization: a meta-analysis. Cancer Imaging 2020; 20: 3 [PMID: 31907050 DOI: 10.1186/s40644-019-0282-9]
- Wang W, Yang C, Zhu K, Yang L, Ding Y, Luo R, Zhu S, Chen C, Sun W, Zeng M, Rao SX. Recurrence After Curative 88 Resection of Hepatitis B Virus-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Diagnostic Algorithms on Gadoxetic Acid-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Liver Transpl 2020; 26: 751-763 [PMID: 31901208 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25713]
- Becker-Weidman D, Civan JM, Deshmukh SP, Roth CG, Herrine SK, Parker L, Mitchell DG. Hepatocellular carcinoma 89 after locoregional therapy: Magnetic resonance imaging findings in falsely negative exams. World J Hepatol 2016; 8: 685-690 [PMID: 27326315 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v8.i16.685]
- 90 Hai Y, Savsani E, Chong W, Eisenbrey J, Lyshchik A. Meta-analysis and systematic review of contrast-enhanced ultrasound in evaluating the treatment response after locoregional therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2021; 46: 5162-5179 [PMID: 34410432 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-021-03248-9]
- Bansal S, Lu F, Frehlich L, Wong JK, Burak KW, Wilson SR. A new proposal for secondary surveillance following 91 potentially curative therapy of HCC: alternating MRI and CEUS. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2022; 47: 618-629 [PMID: 34800161 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-021-03331-1]
- 92 Frieser M, Kiesel J, Lindner A, Bernatik T, Haensler JM, Janka R, Hahn EG, Strobel D. Efficacy of contrast-enhanced US versus CT or MRI for the therapeutic control of percutaneous radiofrequency ablation in the case of hepatic malignancies. Ultraschall Med 2011; 32: 148-153 [PMID: 21225567 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1245934]
- Wu JY, Bai XM, Wang H, Xu Q, Wang S, Wu W, Yan K, Yang W. The Perfusion Features of Recurrent Hepatocellular 93 Carcinoma After Radiofrequency Ablation Using Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound and Pathological Stemness Evaluation: Compared to Initial Tumors. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 1464 [PMID: 32983980 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01464]
- Huang Z, Shu Z, Zhu RH, Xin JY, Wu LL, Wang HZ, Chen J, Zhang ZW, Luo HC, Li KY. Deep learning-based 94 radiomics based on contrast-enhanced ultrasound predicts early recurrence and survival outcome in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2022; 14: 2380-2392 [PMID: 36568943 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v14.i12.2380]
- Gu DY, Zhang Y, Hu JX, Qin HY, Lu X, He GB, Shang L. The value of contrast-enhanced ultrasound quantitative 95 parameters in the prognosis prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma after thermal ablation: a retrospective cohort study. J Gastrointest Oncol 2022; 13: 2522-2531 [PMID: 36388675 DOI: 10.21037/jgo-22-919]
- Zhang H, Huo F. Prediction of early recurrence of HCC after hepatectomy by contrast-enhanced ultrasound-based deep 96 learning radiomics. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 930458 [PMID: 36248986 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.930458]
- 97 Zhang Y, Wei Q, Huang Y, Yao Z, Yan C, Zou X, Han J, Li Q, Mao R, Liao Y, Cao L, Lin M, Zhou X, Tang X, Hu Y, Li L, Wang Y, Yu J, Zhou J. Deep Learning of Liver Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound to Predict Microvascular Invasion and Prognosis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 878061 [PMID: 35875110 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.878061
- Zhong X, Peng J, Xie Y, Shi Y, Long H, Su L, Duan Y, Xie X, Lin M. A nomogram based on multi-modal ultrasound for 98 prediction of microvascular invasion and recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. Eur J Radiol 2022; 151: 110281 [PMID: 35395542 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2022.110281]
- Kudo M, Kawamura Y, Hasegawa K, Tateishi R, Kariyama K, Shiina S, Toyoda H, Imai Y, Hiraoka A, Ikeda M, Izumi N, 99 Moriguchi M, Ogasawara S, Minami Y, Ueshima K, Murakami T, Miyayama S, Nakashima O, Yano H, Sakamoto M, Hatano E, Shimada M, Kokudo N, Mochida S, Takehara T. Management of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Japan: JSH Consensus Statements and Recommendations 2021 Update. Liver Cancer 2021; 10: 181-223 [PMID: 34239808 DOI: 10.1159/000514174
- Bansal S, Gui J, Merrill C, Wong JK, Burak KW, Wilson SR. Contrast-enhanced US in Local Ablative Therapy and 100 Secondary Surveillance for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Radiographics 2019; 39: 1302-1322 [PMID: 31348734 DOI: 10.1148/rg.2019180205
- Fischer MA, Kartalis N, Grigoriadis A, Loizou L, Stål P, Leidner B, Aspelin P, Brismar TB. Perfusion computed 101 tomography for detection of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with liver cirrhosis. EurRadiol 2015; 25: 3123-3132 [PMID: 25903707 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-015-3732-1]
- Fischer MA, Marquez HP, Gordic S, Leidner B, Klotz E, Aspelin P, Alkadhi H, Brismar TB. Arterio-portal shunts in the 102 cirrhotic liver: perfusion computed tomography for distinction of arterialized pseudolesions from hepatocellular carcinoma. EurRadiol 2017; 27: 1074-1080 [PMID: 27368924 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-016-4432-1]
- 103 Hatzidakis A, Perisinakis K, Kalarakis G, Papadakis A, Savva E, Ippolito D, Karantanas A. Perfusion-CT analysis for assessment of hepatocellular carcinoma lesions: diagnostic value of different perfusion maps. Acta Radiol 2019; 60: 561-568 [PMID: 30114926 DOI: 10.1177/0284185118791200]
- Nakamura Y, Higaki T, Honda Y, Tatsugami F, Tani C, Fukumoto W, Narita K, Kondo S, Akagi M, Awai K. Advanced 104 CT techniques for assessing hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiol Med 2021; 126: 925-935 [PMID: 33954894 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-021-01366-4]
- 105 Ippolito D, Pecorelli A, Querques G, Drago SG, Maino C, Franzesi CT, Hatzidakis A, Sironi S. Dynamic Computed Tomography Perfusion Imaging: Complementary Diagnostic Tool in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Assessment From Diagnosis to Treatment Follow-up. AcadRadiol 2019; 26: 1675-1685 [PMID: 30852079 DOI: 10.1016/j.acra.2019.02.010]
- Ippolito D, Bonaffini PA, Capraro C, Leni D, Corso R, Sironi S. Viable residual tumor tissue after radiofrequency ablation 106 treatment in hepatocellular carcinoma: evaluation with CT perfusion. Abdom Imaging 2013; 38: 502-510 [PMID: 22743839 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-012-9924-0]
- Marquez HP, Puippe G, Mathew RP, Alkadhi H, Pfammatter T, Fischer MA. CT Perfusion for Early Response 107 Evaluation of Radiofrequency Ablation of Focal Liver Lesions: First Experience. Cardiovasc InterventRadiol 2017; 40: 90-98 [PMID: 27812781 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-016-1444-9]
- Yang L, Zhang XM, Tan BX, Liu M, Dong GL, Zhai ZH. Computed tomographic perfusion imaging for the therapeutic 108 response of chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2012; 36: 226-230 [PMID:


22446364 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.0b013e318245c23c]

- 109 Su TH, He W, Jin L, Chen G, Xiao GW. Early Response of Hepatocellular Carcinoma to Chemoembolization: Volume Computed Tomography Liver Perfusion Imaging as a Short-Term Response Predictor. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2017; 41: 315-320 [PMID: 27801695 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.000000000000511]
- 110 Borgheresi A, Gonzalez-Aguirre A, Brown KT, Getrajdman GI, Erinjeri JP, Covey A, Yarmohammadi H, Ziv E, Sofocleous CT, Boas FE. Does Enhancement or Perfusion on Preprocedure CT Predict Outcomes After Embolization of Hepatocellular Carcinoma? AcadRadiol 2018; 25: 1588-1594 [PMID: 29602726 DOI: 10.1016/j.acra.2018.02.027]
- Ippolito D, Querques G, Okolicsanyi S, Franzesi CT, Strazzabosco M, Sironi S. Diagnostic value of dynamic contrast-111 enhanced CT with perfusion imaging in the quantitative assessment of tumor response to sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: A feasibility study. Eur J Radiol 2017; 90: 34-41 [PMID: 28583645 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.02.027]
- 1132 Ippolito D, Querques G, Pecorelli A, TaleiFranzesi C, Okolicsanyi S, Strazzabosco M, Sironi S. Diagnostic Value of Quantitative Perfusion Computed Tomography Technique in the Assessment of Tumor Response to Sorafenib in Patients With Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2019; 43: 206-213 [PMID: 30407241 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.000000000000807]
- 113 Nakamura Y, Kawaoka T, Higaki T, Fukumoto W, Honda Y, Iida M, Fujioka C, Kiguchi M, Aikata H, Chayama K, Awai K. Hepatocellular carcinoma treated with sorafenib: Arterial tumor perfusion in dynamic contrast-enhanced CT as early imaging biomarkers for survival. Eur J Radiol 2018; 98: 41-49 [PMID: 29279169 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.10.017]
- Kobe A, Kindler Y, Klotz E, Puippe G, Messmer F, Alkadhi H, Pfammatter T. Fusion of Preinterventional MR Imaging 114 With Liver Perfusion CT After RFA of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Early Quantitative Prediction of Local Recurrence. Invest Radiol 2021; 56: 188-196 [PMID: 32932379 DOI: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000726]
- Erstad DJ, Tanabe KK. Prognostic and Therapeutic Implications of Microvascular Invasion in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. 115 Ann Surg Oncol 2019; 26: 1474-1493 [PMID: 30788629 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-019-07227-9]
- 116 Wu L, Yang C, Halim A, Rao S, Xu P, Feng W, Chen C, Ji Y, Zhu J, Zeng M. Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging perfusion can predict microvascular invasion in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (between 1 and 5 cm). AbdomRadiol (NY) 2022; 47: 3264-3275 [PMID: 35113174 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-022-03423-6]
- Song Q, Guo Y, Yao X, Rao S, Qian C, Ye D, Zeng M. Comparative study of evaluating the microcirculatory function 117 status of primary small HCC between the CE (DCE-MRI) and Non-CE (IVIM-DWI) MR Perfusion Imaging. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2021; 46: 2575-2583 [PMID: 33483778 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02945-1]
- Wang F, Yan CY, Wang CH, Yang Y, Zhang D. The Roles of Diffusion Kurtosis Imaging and Intravoxel Incoherent 118 Motion Diffusion-Weighted Imaging Parameters in Preoperative Evaluation of Pathological Grades and Microvascular Invasion in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Front Oncol 2022; 12: 884854 [PMID: 35646649 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.884854]
- 119 Zhao W, Liu W, Liu H, Yi X, Hou J, Pei Y, Feng D, Liu L, Li W. Preoperative prediction of microvascular invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma with IVIM diffusion-weighted MR imaging and Gd-EOB-DTPA-enhanced MR imaging. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0197488 [PMID: 29771954 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197488]
- Asman Y, Evenson AR, Even-Sapir E, Shibolet O. [18F]fludeoxyglucose positron emission tomography and computed 120 tomography as a prognostic tool before liver transplantation, resection, and loco-ablative therapies for hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver Transpl 2015; 21: 572-580 [PMID: 25644857 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24083]
- Kobayashi T, Aikata H, Honda F, Nakano N, Nakamura Y, Hatooka M, Morio K, Morio R, Fukuhara T, Masaki K, 121 Nagaoki Y, Kawaoka T, Tsuge M, Hiramatsu A, Imamura M, Kawakami Y, Ohdan H, Awai K, Chayama K. Preoperative Fluorine 18 Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography for Prediction of Microvascular Invasion in Small Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2016; 40: 524-530 [PMID: 26966955 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.000000000000405
- 122 Chiu RY, Yap WW, Patel R, Liu D, Klass D, Harris AC. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Post Embolotherapy: Imaging Appearances and Pitfalls on Computed Tomography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Can Assoc Radiol J 2016; 67: 158-172 [PMID: 26961737 DOI: 10.1016/j.carj.2015.09.006]
- 123 Alnammi M, Wortman J, Therrien J, Afnan J. MRI features of treated hepatocellular carcinoma following locoregional therapy: a pictorial review. AbdomRadiol (NY) 2022; 47: 2299-2313 [PMID: 35524803 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-022-03526-0



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1685-1707

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1685

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Factors affecting the quality of bowel preparation for colonoscopy in hard-to-prepare patients: Evidence from the literature

Endrit Shahini, Emanuele Sinagra, Alessandro Vitello, Rocco Ranaldo, Antonella Contaldo, Antonio Facciorusso, Marcello Maida

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Imaeda H, Japan; Li GF, China; Lin WR, Taiwan

Received: December 1, 2022 Peer-review started: December 1, 2022 First decision: February 1, 2023 Revised: February 2, 2023 Accepted: March 7, 2023 Article in press: March 7, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Endrit Shahini, Gastroenterology Unit, National Institute of Gastroenterology-IRCCS "Saverio de Bellis", Castellana Grotte, Bari 70013, Italy

Emanuele Sinagra, Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Unit, Fondazione Istituto G. Giglio, Cefalù 90015, Italy

Alessandro Vitello, Marcello Maida, Gastroenterology and Endoscopy Unit, S.Elia-Raimondi Hospital, Caltanissetta 93100, Italy

Rocco Ranaldo, Department of Internal Medicine, "Mazzolani-Vandini" Hospital, Digestive Endoscopy, Ferrara 744011, Italy

Antonella Contaldo, Gastroenterology Unit, National Institute of Gastroenterology "S de Bellis" Research Hospital, Bari 70013, Italy

Antonio Facciorusso, Department of Medical Sciences, University of Foggia, Section of Gastroenterology, Foggia 71122, Italy

Corresponding author: Endrit Shahini, MD, National Institute of Gastroenterology-IRCCS "Saverio de Bellis", Castellana Grotte, Bari 70013, Italy. endrit.shahini@irccsdebellis.it

Abstract

Adequate bowel cleansing is critical for a high-quality colonoscopy because it affects diagnostic accuracy and adenoma detection. Nevertheless, almost a quarter of procedures are still carried out with suboptimal preparation, resulting in longer procedure times, higher risk of complications, and higher likelihood of missing lesions. Current guidelines recommend high-volume or low-volume polyethylene glycol (PEG)/non-PEG-based split-dose regimens. In patients who have had insufficient bowel cleansing, the colonoscopy should be repeated the same day or the next day with additional bowel cleansing as a salvage option. A strategy that includes a prolonged low-fiber diet, a split preparation regimen, and a colonoscopy within 5 h of the end of preparation may increase cleansing success rates in the elderly. Furthermore, even though no specific product is specifically recommended in the other cases for difficult-to-prepare patients, clinical evidence suggests that 1-L PEG plus ascorbic acid preparation are associated with higher cleansing success in hospitalized and inflammatory bowel disease patients. Patients with severe renal insufficiency (creatinine clearance < 30 mL/min) should be prepared with isotonic high volume PEG solutions. Few data on



cirrhotic patients are currently available, and no trials have been conducted in this population. An accurate characterization of procedural and patient variables may lead to a more personalized approach to bowel preparation, especially in patients undergoing resection of left colon lesions, where intestinal preparation has a poor outcome. The purpose of this review was to summarize the evidence on the risk factors influencing the quality of bowel cleansing in difficult-to-prepare patients, as well as strategies to improve colonoscopy preparation in these patients.

Key Words: Colorectal cancer; Colonoscopy; Adenoma detection rate; Bowel preparation; Polyethylene glycol

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Almost a quarter of procedures are still performed with inadequate preparation. A strategy that includes a low-fiber diet for an extended period of time, a split preparation regimen, and a colonoscopy within 5 h of the end of preparation may improve cleansing success rates in the elderly. In addition, while no specific product is recommended for difficult-to-prepare patients, clinical evidence suggests that 1-L polyethylene glycol (PEG) plus ascorbic acid preparation is associated with higher cleansing success in hospitalized and inflammatory bowel disease patients. Isotonic high volume PEG solutions should be given to patients with severe renal failure.

Citation: Shahini E, Sinagra E, Vitello A, Ranaldo R, Contaldo A, Facciorusso A, Maida M. Factors affecting the quality of bowel preparation for colonoscopy in hard-to-prepare patients: Evidence from the literature. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(11): 1685-1707

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1685.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1685

INTRODUCTION

One of the most commonly used techniques for diagnosing colorectal diseases is colonoscopy. Furthermore, it is important in colorectal cancer (CRC) screening because early detection is linked to a long-term reduction in malignancy incidence and mortality[1,2].

As is well known, the quality of a colonoscopy is entirely dependent on adequate bowel cleansing, which can affect diagnostic accuracy and the rate of adenoma detection (ADR)[3]. Inadequate bowel preparation, on the other hand, leads to decreased sensitivity to colonoscopy, increased procedural time, a higher risk of adverse events, and a greater likelihood of having to repeat the exam at a higher cost[4-7].

This is a critical topic because data from the literature show that a quarter of procedures still have suboptimal preparation[8]. Similarly, a large Italian study discovered that poor preparation occurs in approximately 17% of colonoscopies[9], and results from the United Kingdom screening program confirmed that inadequate preparation accounts for more than 20% of incomplete procedures[10]. Finally, data from a recent survey of sixty-four Italian screening centers revealed that only 29% of centers meet the minimum standard of at least 90% colonoscopies with adequate cleansing[11].

The type of bowel preparation, split-dose regimen, low-fiber diet, comorbidities, concomitant medications, inpatient status, and elderly age have all been found to affect the quality of bowel cleansing (Figure 1)[12]. Some of these variables, such as the type of solution, preparation regimen, and diet, are modifiable risk factors. In this regard, recent scientific advances have resulted in the introduction of new effective bowel cleansing solutions and reinforced the importance of specific preparation regimens.

On the other side, factors such as age or comorbidities are not modifiable and not susceptible to intervention. This makes it more difficult to intervene to increase the quality of bowel cleansing in specific conditions, also considering that guidelines do not provide specific recommendations for patients with multiple risk factors[13].

The purpose of this review is to summarize the evidence on the risk factors that influence the quality of cleansing in difficult-to-prepare patients, as well as strategies to improve colonoscopy preparation in these patients.

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Factors affecting bowel preparation and impact on colonoscopy outcomes.

FACTORS INFLUENCING THE QUALITY OF BOWEL PREPARATION

Type of solution and tolerability

Several laxatives are currently available and have been studied, with varying efficacy and tolerability.

Among these solutions are polyethylene glycol plus ascorbate (PEG-ASC) (4-L, 2-L, and 1-L), 2-L PEG plus citrate, 2-L PEG plus Bisacodyl, magnesium citrate plus picosulphate (MCSP), and trisulfate (magnesium sulfate, sodium sulfate, and potassium sulfate), also known as oral sulfate solution (OSS).

A meta-analysis of PEG solutions discovered that split-dose high-volume PEG was more effective than other options, including low-volume regimens [odds ratio (OR) = 3.46, 95% confidence interval (95% CI) 2.45-4.89][14]. Another meta-analysis comparing split-dose high-volume PEG to split-dose lowvolume PEG found that high-volume regimens were superior (OR = 1.89, 95%CI 1.01-3.46)[15]. Nonetheless, because high-volume solutions may reduce patient compliance, resulting in suboptimal preparation, new low-volume laxatives have been introduced in the last decade.

Following that, a 2-L PEG plus citrate and simethicone solution was added. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comparing this formulation 2-L PEG plus citrate vs 4-L PEG found similar cleansing efficacy (73.6% vs 72.3%, 95% CI difference -7.5 to 10.1), but with greater tolerability (25.4% vs 37.0%, P < 0.01) and acceptability (93.9% *vs* 82.2%, *P* < 0.001)[16].

Moreover, 2-L PEG plus citrate showed similar efficacy (78.3% vs 74.3%, P = 0.37) and acceptability (81.4% *vs* 80.8%, *P* = 0.74) also when compared to 2-L PEG-ASC[17].

Recently, a 1-L PEG-ASC solution with a very low volume has been introduced to improve patients' experience during colonoscopy by reducing the total oral intake of liquids to be consumed. The development of this very low-volume solution was made possible by increasing the ascorbate content, which improves the laxative effect and allows the solution to be delivered in a smaller volume.

Three phase-3 RCTs comparing the effectiveness of 1-L PEG-ASC (Plenvu, Norgine, Harefield, United Kingdom) vs trisulfate[18], sodium picosulfate plus magnesium citrate[19], and 2-L PEG[20] revealed that 1-L PEG-ASC was non-inferior to the comparator.

Moreover, a multicenter prospective study was performed to assess the effectiveness of 1-L PEG-ASC compared to 2-L and 4-L PEG preparation in a real-life setting on a cohort of 1289 patients (n = 490 performing a 4-L PEG preparation, n = 566 a 2-L PEG and n = 233 a 1-L PEG)[21].

In this study, cleansing success was achieved in 72.4%, 74.1%, and 90.1% (P < 0.001), respectively, while high-quality cleansing of the right colon was achieved in 15.9%, 12.0%, and 41.4% (P < 0.001) for the 4-L, 2-L, and 1-L-PEG preparation groups, respectively. The 1-L PEG-ASC preparation was an independent predictor of overall cleansing success and high-quality cleansing of the right colon in multiple regression analysis. In that study, 44.8% of patients were over the age of 65, confirming the validity of the safety of 1-L PEG-ASC in the elderly.

A real-life study performed on a cohort of hospitalized subjects confirmed that, among all variables, the 1-L PEG-ASC solution (OR = 0.39, 95% CI 0.23-0.65) and a > 75% intake of bowel preparation (OR = 0.09, 95% CI 0.05-0.15) significantly reduced the risk of inadequate colon cleansing [22].

This information is undoubtedly valuable and should be considered even in the care of hospitalized patients.

Nonetheless, the same studies mentioned above found that 1-L PEG-ASC is associated with a higher incidence of adverse events, such as nausea and vomiting, even if none of these were serious enough to



impair bowel cleansing quality[18-21].

Based on current data, guidelines recommend using high-volume or low-volume PEG-based regimens, and non-PEG-based validated products, in a split-dose fashion[13].

Even though no specific product is recommended for difficult-to-prepare patients, 1-L PEG-ASC appears to be promisingly superior in hospitalized patients and could be a reasonable choice in this setting; however, these data were obtained after the guidelines were issued.

Preparation regimen

The preparation regimen has a significant impact on the quality of bowel cleansing. A day before preparation was traditionally performed before a colonoscopy. Nonetheless, the most recent evidence suggests that dividing the preparation between the day before the exam and the day of the exam leads to better intestinal cleansing and a shorter time between the end of the preparation and the same colonoscopy.

A meta-analysis of 47 trials involving 13487 patients revealed that a split-dose regimen is associated with significantly better cleansing than day-before preparations (OR = 2.51, 95% CI 1.86-3.39), regardless of solution type and dose[15].

Furthermore, subgroup analysis by solution type confirmed that split was more effective than the day-before regimen for PEG, sodium phosphate, and picosulfate (OR = 2.60, 95% CI 1.46-4.63; OR = 9.34, 95% CI 2.12-41.11; OR = 3.54, 95% CI 1.95-6.45, respectively). Likewise, a higher proportion of patients (OR = 1.90, 95% CI 1.05-3.46) were willing to repeat preparation with split-dose vs day-before cleansing 15

Subsequent RCTs evaluating the effectiveness of high-volume PEG[23,24], low-volume PEG[25,26], and sodium picosulfate[27-29] confirmed the split regimen's superiority over the day-before regimen.

In terms of the effectiveness of a split regimen on the detection of neoplastic lesions, an RCT comparing 2-L PEG-ASC in a split vs day-before fashion found that a split regimen resulted in a higher detection rate of adenomas (53.0% vs 40.9%; RR = 1.22, 95% CI 1.03-1.46) and advanced adenomas (26.4% vs 20.0%; RR = 1.35, 95% CI 1.06-1.73)[26].

Another RCT comparing 2-L PEG-ASC in split dose vs split-dose sodium picosulfate/magnesium citrate (SPMC) in a day-before dose showed a non-significant higher polyp detection rate, and a significantly higher detection rate of right-sided polyps and adenomas (51.5% vs 44.0%, P = 0.14; 28.0% *vs* 16.6%, *P* = 0.007; 21.0% *vs* 11.9%, *P* = 0.015, respectively) in favor of split regimen[30].

Also, two meta-analyses (including 11 and 14 RCTs) compared split-dose bowel preparation with same-day bowel preparation and found similar results in terms of bowel preparation quality, patient willingness to repeat it, and overall tolerability[31,32].

In addition to the split preparation, patients who need to have a colonoscopy in the afternoon should consider same-day preparation. In this regard, data from two meta-analyses revealed that when split and same-day regimens were used, the quality of bowel preparation, tolerability, and willingness to repeat were similar.

As a result, for patients undergoing afternoon colonoscopy, current guidelines recommend split-dose bowel preparation and same-day bowel preparation[13].

Diet before the procedure

Before a colonoscopy, a low-residue diet or clear liquids are usually advised. Patients should avoid foods high in fiber, such as fruits, vegetables, and whole grains, to achieve a low-residue diet. Colored liquids should be avoided because they can obscure proper mucosal visualization. Water, broth, coffee or tea, ice, gelatin, and fruit juices are the best clear liquid choices (apple, lemonade, and grapefruit).

On the day before the colonoscopy, two meta-analyses compared a low-residue diet to a clear liquid diet, with both arms using the same laxative. When compared to a clear liquid diet, Nguyen *et al*[33] discovered that a low residue diet was associated with better tolerability (OR = 1.92, 95% CI 1.36-2.70, P < 0.01) and higher willingness to repeat bowel preparation (OR = 1.86, 95% CI 1.34-2.59, P < 0.01). However, no differences in adequate bowel cleansing (OR = 1.21, 95%CI 0.64-2.28, P = 0.58) or adverse event incidence (OR = 0.88, 95% CI 0.58-1.35, P = 0.57) were found [33]. Another meta-analysis, this time by Avalos et al[34], compared a low-residue diet or a regular diet to a clear liquid diet. There were no differences in adequate cleansing (RR = 1.00, 95% CI 0.97-1.04). The low residue-regular diet was linked to a higher likelihood of repeating the procedure, better tolerability, and more frequent consumption of the solution (RR = 1.08, 95% CI 1.01-1.16; RR = 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.08; RR = 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.08, respectively). Except for more hungriness in the clear liquid diet group, there were no differences in ADR or adverse events between groups (RR = 1.93, 95% CI 1.13-3.30)[34]. In a third meta-analysis by Song et al[35] including 7 RCTs using different laxatives, a low residue diet showed higher tolerability (RR = 1.06, 95 %CI 1.02-1.11) and a higher likelihood of repeating the exam (RR = 1.17, 95%CI 1.09-1.26) compared with a clear liquid diet.

Concerning the duration of the diet, current guidelines recommend a low-residue diet or clear liquids for at least one day before the examination [13]. In this regard, two recent RCTs compared the 1-d vs 3-d diet, finding no significant difference after diet prolongation. The first RCT compared a 3-d vs 1-d lowfiber diet with a 4-L PEG split-dose preparation and found a similar rate of adequate bowel cleansing (91.7% for 3-d diet vs 94.7% for 1-d diet, P = 0.24)[36]. Similarly, the second RCT compared a 1-d vs 3-d



low-residue diet with a 2-L PEG + ASC split-dose preparation (82.7% *vs* 85.6%), with no differences in adherence, satisfaction, or polyp or ADR[37].

However, it should be noted that fiber consumption varies greatly between people and regions of the world. As a result, in countries where fiber consumption is naturally low, a single day's diet is more likely to suffice. On the contrary, in people or countries where fiber consumption is abundant, the diet should be tailored accordingly, particularly in hard-to-prepare patients.

Timing of colonoscopy after bowel preparation

The timing of colon preparation administration has a significant impact on both its tolerability and efficacy. Starting the preparation, the day before the colonoscopy improves the quality of colonic cleansing and the likelihood of finding flat lesions.

According to recent research, there is a negative correlation between the start of the colonoscopy, the interval since the last dose of bowel preparation, and the cleanliness of the mucosa. It is recommended to perform the colonoscopy sooner after the bowel preparation is complete to improve the quality of the examination[38,39].

Patients with intervals of 7 h or less between the start of PEG intake and the start of the colonoscopy had better bowel preparation than patients with intervals of more than 7 h (P = 0.03)[40].

Furthermore, bowel cleansing with the fractional regimen was superior within three hours of the last dose intake, declined gradually after 4-5 h, and became statistically insignificant at five hours, according to Bucci *et al*'s meta-analysis in 2014 including 29 RCTs comparing split *vs* day-before regimens[41].

Additionally, a subsequent multicenter, randomized, endoscopist-blinded study found that the best window of time for bowel preparation is the same for all preparations. Regardless of the preparation (PEG, PEG-ASC, \leq 11.8, sodium picosulphate/magnesium citrate, \leq 13.3 h), the ideal time before the colonoscopy was \leq 11.8 h. The timing of the preparation did not affect the tolerability[42].

Anyway, the overall findings support the recommendation in the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guidelines to begin the final dose of bowel preparation no later than 5 h before the colonoscopy and to finish it no later than 2 h before the procedure[13].

Of note, compared to other days of the week, Monday had the highest rate of inadequate preparation [Boston bowel preparation scale (BBPS) 6] of 16.5% in a 2022 retrospective review of 4279 colonoscopies. Notably, poor bowel preparation was not linked to post-holiday procedures[43].

However, in clinical practice, patients do not always adhere to the recommended timing due to a need related to the potential long distance to travel before having to perform the endoscopic exam, or as a result of the stress that they will have an urgent necessity for the public bathroom during the trip.

As a result of more accurate characterization of procedural and patient variables, bowel preparation may become more personalized.

SPECIFIC CLINICAL SETTINGS

Hospitalized patients

Hospitalization is associated with a nearly twofold increase in the risk of unsuccessful bowel preparation before colonoscopy when compared to the ambulatory setting[44,45].

Furthermore, the percentage of inpatients with an adequately prepared colon does not exceed 50% because they are typically elderly, frail, and suffering from comorbidities that either prevent successful bowel prep ingestion or affect patients' comprehension and compliance with the regimen's instructions [44,45].

Inadequate bowel preparation increases the risk of missed adenomatous polyps or CRC, as well as a patient inconvenience; it also harms healthcare systems by causing procedures to be delayed or repeated, as well as prolonged hospital stays[45-47].

Several studies have evaluated the efficacy of various interventions, such as different laxatives, changes in preparation administration timing, and promotion of educational programs for physicians, nurses, and patients, to overcome these challenges. Lower socioeconomic class, opiate/tricyclic antide-pressant use, afternoon colonoscopies, American Society of Anaesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification system class 3, and pre-preparation nausea/vomiting were identified as the main potential predictors of inadequate inpatient preparation[46].

Furthermore, Gkolfakis *et al*[45] recently published a systematic review with meta-analysis to evaluate the efficacy of various interventions to improve the quality of colon preparation in inpatients.

In this study, which included 17 studies and 2733 inpatients, the authors concluded that, despite several interventions, only nearly two-thirds of inpatients achieve adequate colon preparation before colonoscopy, and that educational interventions significantly improve inpatients' bowel preparation quality[45].

In the absence of standardized guidelines or recommendations, the ideal bowel preparation regimen for inpatients has yet to be determined [45].

In any preparation strategy, PEG-based regimens should be considered first because they are more likely to achieve adequate bowel cleansing while maintaining an optimal patient safety profile. Furthermore, case-by-case application of multiple and combined strategies (e.g., written educational material, nurse facilitation of the process, etc.) may have the potential to influence the outcome[45,48].

Elderly

With the extension of life expectancy, the opportunities for medical care for elderly patients increase [49]. The rise in cancer patients, in particular, is a global challenge; the International Agency for Research on Cancer estimates that the number of cancer patients will rise dramatically^[49]. Regardless of the procedure's risks, bowel preparation can be problematic in terms of purgative effect and risk[50].

Patients must also go through a period of dietary restriction, fasting, and later fluid restriction, which can be difficult for people who have diabetes or chronic kidney disease (CKD)[50]. Furthermore, an elderly patient whose only access to the toilet is via stair-lift may be unable to prepare at home, necessitating in-patient admission for bowel preparation or alternative investigation to colonoscopy[50].

Despite the fact that little research has been conducted on bowel preparation in the elderly and very elderly population, a 2016 study discovered that diabetes, difficulty walking, or performing activities of daily living were associated with poor bowel preparation in patients over the age of 65[50,51]. Furthermore, poor bowel preparation is the leading cause of colonoscopy failure in patients aged 90 and up[50,52].

In five years, a British Patient Safety Agency alert reported one death and 218 patient safety incidents [53]. Although the vast majority of these incidents (93%) resulted in no or minor harm, 6% resulted in moderate harm, and one patient died^[53].

Omitted medication (29%), incorrect drug (23%), and incorrect or unclear dose, strength, or frequency (11%) were all considered medicine errors. Side effects of bowel preparation include hypovolaemia, renal failure, and electrolyte disturbances^[54]. An accurate bowel preparation prescription, as well as consideration of potential interactions and side effects, is especially important in older adults, who are more likely to have multiple comorbidities and polypharmacy, both of which may exacerbate these side effects. They may also have less physical reserve to deal with any unforeseen complications. In patients over the age of 65, serum albumin concentration before bowel preparation, for example, may predict hypovolaemia^[55].

In elderly patients with pre-existing chronic renal failure, all oral laxatives should be used with caution, and patients undergoing dialysis or with advanced CKD should consult with the renal team. Sodium phosphate preparations should be avoided entirely in patients with renal failure[54]. Furthermore, any medications that, when combined with bowel preparation, may worsen renal failure, such as diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and angiotensin II receptor antagonists, should be avoided[54].

Cleaning success was achieved in 70.3% of patients aged > 65 years with comorbidities undergoing colonoscopy after a 1-L PEG-ASC, 2-L PEG/PEG-ASC, or 4-L-PEG-based preparation, according to a recent retrospective analysis of a prospective cohort. Notably, elderly patients had a higher rate of inadequate colonoscopy cleansing than non-elderly patients (7.0% vs 3.8%, P = 0.012)[56]. Split regimen, adequate cleansing at last colonoscopy, tolerability score, a low-fiber diet for at least 3 days, and colonoscopy within 5 h after the end of preparation (OR = 2.43, P = 0.003; OR = 2.29, P = 0.02; OR = 1.29, P < 0.001; OR = 2.45, P = 0.001; OR = 2.67, P = 0.008, respectively) were predictors of bowel cleansing in the elderly[56]. Also, 1-L PEG had a higher tolerability score than 2-L and 4-L PEG in elderly (7.7 vs 7.2 and 7.2, P = 0.099). Interestingly, when compared to the other preparations, the 1-L PEG-ASC preparation was associated with higher quality cleansing of the right colon (39.6% vs 17.0% vs 9.4%, respectively, P < 0.001) and may thus be the preferred option for the elderly.

Methods for achieving safe and adequate bowel preparations in the elderly should include clear instructions, reminder calls, and case management for potential confounding patient-related factors[57].

Comorbidities

Endoscopic techniques have become increasingly important in recent years, particularly in the treatment of colorectal flat lesions[58,59].

At the same time, the significance of accurate detection and assessment of such lesions in predicting malignancy has become clear. Indeed, proper bowel preparation is critical for colonoscopy because it allows for visualization of the entire colonic mucosa and improves the safety of therapeutic maneuvers **[6,60]**.

In contrast, poor preparation lengthens the procedure, increases the risk of complications, and increases the likelihood of missing lesions[61].

The percentage of colonoscopies performed with inadequate bowel cleansing ranges between 5% and 35%[12,44,62-66].

Because a proper bowel cleansing regimen increases the likelihood of success, identifying risk factors for inadequate bowel cleansing is critical. Patient-related predictors of colonoscopy preparation failure include prior inadequate bowel cleansing, a history of constipation, increasing age (> 65 years), male gender, low health literacy (e.g., cognitive skills), inpatient status, obesity, diabetes mellitus (DM), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), unexplained chronic diarrhea, megacolon, cirrhosis, stroke,



dementia or Parkinson's disease, patients at increased risk for electrolyte abnormalities (e.g., patients on diuretics), uncontrolled hypertension, severe congestive heart failure (New York Heart Association class III or IV), severe CKD (creatinine clearance < 30 mL/min/1.73 m), previous colorectal surgery, use of constipation-related medications (narcotics and tricyclic antidepressants), severe colonic stricture or obstructing tumor or perforation, dysphagia, gastroparesis, or gastric outlet obstruction, pregnancy or lactation[12,64,65,67-69].

Administration of the entire preparation the night before the colonoscopy, rather than split-dosing, and a later start time for the colonoscopy are procedure-related risk factors for inadequate bowel preparations^[44]. The presence of one or more of these risk factors can influence bowel cleansing regimens and choices[70].

ESGE recommends the use of high-volume or low-volume PEG-based regimens, as well as non-PEGbased agents that have been clinically validated for routine bowel preparation. For elective colonoscopy, split-dose bowel preparation (with or without additional measures) should be used, as it has been linked to improved preparation quality[13].

In 2015, Dik et al^[71] conducted a Dutch study that included only patients who who received a splitdose regimen. In total, 1331 colonoscopies were included in the study, with 12.9% having insufficient bowel preparation. Diabetes, chronic constipation, a history of abdominal or pelvic surgery, and recent hospitalization are all risk factors for poor bowel cleansing quality.

Gandhi et al[65] conducted a meta-analysis of independent risk factors in over 75,000 people receiving a split-dose bowel preparation. Constipation, diabetes, and medication use were identified as predictors of colonoscopy preparation failure despite the studies' heterogeneity. In a 2018 meta-analysis by Mahmood et al[12], age, male sex, inpatient status, DM, hypertension, cirrhosis, narcotic use, constipation, stroke and tricyclic antidepressants were associated with inadequate bowel cleansing (OR = -1.20, OR = 0.85, OR = 0.57, OR = 0.58, OR = 0.58, OR = 0.49, OR = 0.59, OR = 0.61, OR = 0.51, respectively). Furthermore, in Western countries, diabetes, cirrhosis, male sex, stroke history, and tricyclic antidepressant use were found to be stronger risk factors for inadequate bowel preparation than in Asian countries.

In a 2022 United States retrospective study of 1029 patients, Agrawal et al[66] discovered the following factors to be associated with colonoscopy cancellations: Graduate school education, Hispanic ethnicity, a hemoglobin level of 10 g/dL, and if the colonoscopy was done for other indications (OR = 1.93, *P* = 0.04; OR = 0.47, *P* = 0.01; OR = 1.41, *P* = 0.05; OR = 0.53, *P* = 0.04, respectively). Dementia (OR = 2.44, P = 0.02) and gastroparesis (OR = 3.97, P = 0.01) were factors associated with poor bowel preparation in a multivariate analysis.

Ultimately, in a 2016 United States study of 2401 colonoscopies, African Americans were 70% more likely to have suboptimal preparation (95%CI 1.2-2.4); DM, tricyclic antidepressant use, narcotic use, and Miralax-Gatorade prep vs 4-L PEG 3350 were all associated with suboptimal preparation quality in a multivariable analysis (OR = 2.3, 95% CI 1.6-3.2; OR = 2.5, 95% CI 1.3-4.9; OR = 1.7, 95% CI 1.2-2.5; OR = 0.6, 95% CI 0.4-0.9, respectively) [72].

Obesity: Obesity, when combined with other risk factors, is an independent predictor of poor bowel preparation during a colonoscopy in practice.

In a 2013 retrospective study of 2163 consecutive patients, mostly men, who had colonoscopies in Indiana, one of the independent risk factors for inadequate preparation was a body mass index (BMI) of \geq 30 Kg/m² (OR = 1.46, 95% CI 1.21-1.75, P < 0.0001)[73].

Sharara et al^[74] discovered that BMI was an independent risk factor for inadequate preparation in a 2016 Arabic study involving 541 patients. Obesity was associated with an OR of 5.3 (95%CI 1.4-19.8, P = 0.01) when compared to normal BMI. In a prospective study of 195 patients, obese patients had comparable rates of inadequate preparation to normal-weight individuals (OR = 0.7, 95%CI 1.10-3.96, P = 0.68). Patients who were underweight performed significantly worse than those with normal BMI (OR = 8.0, 95%CI 1.1-58.0, P = 0.04).

A high BMI had a significant difference in the effect of bowel cleansing between studies with mostly female patients (OR = 1.05) and studies with mostly male patients (OR = 1.30) (P = 0.013 for the difference), according to a 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis[65]. Inadequate bowel preparation was linked to diabetes (OR = 1.79) and hypertension (OR = 1.25), among other risk factors.

According to a recent study by Passi et al [75] in the United States, 49.4% of 27696 colonoscopies had insufficient bowel preparation, which was most common in the class III obesity group. When compared to the normal body mass index (BMI) group, a BMI of 30 kg/m² and 40 kg/m² was associated with an increased risk of an incomplete colonoscopy (P = 0.001 for overweight, P = 0.0004 for class I/II obesity), a longer procedure (P < 0.05 for all), and poorer tolerance (P < 0.0001 for class I/II obesity, P = 0.016 for class III obesity).

According to some studies, distinct bowel preparations are beneficial and safe for obese patients. In a 2012 prospective Australian study of 104 patients showing a similar bowel preparation quality after using sodium picosulphate, 90% of non-obese and 89% of obese patients had good bowel preparation (P > 0.99)[76].

Patients were randomized to receive split-dosing of either NER1006, 2-L PEG-ASC, or OSS in a recent (2021) two phases III Spanish trials [77]. Split-dose NER1006 (1-L-PEG-ASC) was associated with high



levels of cleansing, ranging from 87% to 94% in a total of 551 patients, including those who were obese or diabetic. Obese males aged above 60 had significantly higher overall and high-quality bowelcleansing success rates with 1-L-PEG-ASC, at 100.0% and 72.7%, respectively, compared to 86.7% and 50.0% in the control group (P = 0.015 and P = 0.033, respectively).

Diabetes mellitus: Due to the high prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms and the increased risk of CRC, diabetic patients have a higher demand for colonoscopies than the general population[78-80].

As a result, adults with diabetes should be properly screened, and a longer bowel preparation may be necessary to ensure an adequate endoscopic examination[81].

Due to dietary/medication regimen changes, narcotic use, and diabetes-related complications/ comorbidities such as hypoglycemia, electrolyte imbalance, acute renal failure, and ketoacidosis, diabetic patients are at risk of poor bowel preparation[82,83].

DM has been identified as an independent risk factor influencing bowel preparation quality by decreasing colonic motility[71,84-86].

The rate of insufficient bowel preparation in diabetic patients ranges from 9% to 30% [84,87,88], which should be significantly reduced by implementing a multifactorial strategy. Surprisingly, even though DM patients are notoriously difficult to prepare, few studies have looked into the best bowel preparation management strategy in this setting. In diabetic patients, taking 10 ounces of magnesium citrate two days before colonoscopies, in addition to a single 4-L PEG dose, improved colon cleansing (from 54% to 70%)[89].

Another single-blind prospective trial on DM patients discovered that adding lubiprostone, a highly selective locally-acting activator of chloride channels used in functional constipation, to a single 4-L PEG the day before the procedure improved colon cleansing; however, the improvement was statistically non-significant due to the small sample size[90]. A small trial in DM outpatients examined additional bowel cleansing strategies with 6-L PEG, but the results were not encouraging[84].

Current United States guidelines do not endorse any of these recommendations, instead recommending a split-dose bowel cleansing regimen for DM patients with no adjustments[8]. A subsequent European randomized, single-blind, superiority trial compared a conventional bowel preparation protocol with a diabetic-specific preparation protocol, which included a low-fiber diet for three days, a clear liquid diet for one day, and a 4-L split-dose PEG regimen[88].

The latter group was given a special education program that included diet, laxative intake, and blood glucose-lowering agent adjustment instructions. In the conventional protocol, inadequate bowel cleansing was statistically more common than in the diabetic-specific protocol (20% vs 7%; RR = 3.1, 95%CI 1.2-8.0, P = 0.014).

Chronic constipation: The most prevalent type of constipation, functional chronic constipation, frequently affects women and the elderly who undergo colonoscopies often and ranges in prevalence from 2% to 27% in Western countries [91-93]. Constipation has been identified as a risk factor for inadequate bowel preparation[13,94]. Currently, ESGE does not recommend any specific bowel preparation in patients suffering from constipation chronically^[13].

In elderly patients, slow transit constipation, defined by decreased bowel movements, may result in insufficient laxative wash-out and bowel preparation. This hypothesis was confirmed in a 2015 Korean study[95], which discovered that colonic transit time of more than 30 h was associated with inadequate bowel preparation. Furthermore, slow-transit constipation, as determined by radiopaque marker colonic transit testing, was linked to a more than 2-fold increased risk of poor bowel preparation in a 2022 study of 274 American patients with chronic constipation (OR = 2.2, 95%CI 1.1-4.4)[96].

In patients with a history of constipation, additional bowel purgatives should be considered[8]. Numerous studies in recent years have suggested different bowel preparation regimens in patients with chronic constipation, with good results using a variety of laxatives.

In a double-blind 2008 United States trial, 200 CRC screening patients were randomly assigned to receive a 24 g dose of lubiprostone or placebo before a split-dose PEG with electrolytes bowel preparation in the absence of dietary restriction[97].

Split-dose PEG, electrolytes, and lubiprostone pretreatment was found to be more effective (P = 0.001) and tolerable (P = 0.003) than placebo, most likely due to a reduction in abdominal bloating (P = 0.049) [97].

In a 2015 Italian randomized, single-blind study, 400 constipated patients were enrolled and randomly assigned to one of two arms: Split 2-L PEG-citrate-simethicone plus 2-day bisacodyl or split 4-L PEG[98]. In a 2016 Chinese RCT[99], the addition of lactulose one day before colonoscopy in combination with 4-L split-dose PEG was shown to be significantly superior (P < 0.05) to the conventional preparation with oral PEG and electrolytes for colonoscopy bowel preparation.

In terms of ease of administration (P < 0.001), willingness to repeat (P < 0.001), and compliance (P = 0.001) 0.002), the 2-L PEG-citrate-simethicone/bisacodyl solution was found to be significantly more acceptable^[98]. According to a 2019 RCT^[100], the optimal dose of crystalline lactulose for Japanese constipated patients is 26 g/day. A short therapy cycle of PEG plus electrolytes was effective and safe in improving bowel preparation in chronic constipation patients in a 2020 and 2021 Japanese study[101, 102]. In 2016, a larger Asian population was studied in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial[103]. Surprisingly, when lower doses of PEG were combined with lubiprostone, no significant



difference in preparation quality was observed.

In a 2021 systematic review and meta-analysis of three RCTs, Dang *et al*[104] enrolled 225 chronically constipated patients, with 47.6% receiving sodium phosphate and 52.4% receiving PEG. Despite the low quality of evidence, patients who received sodium phosphate before their colonoscopy had cleaner colons than those who received PEG (OR = 1.87, 95% CI 1.06-3.32, P = 0.003).

IBD: Inadequate bowel preparation has also been linked to comorbidities such as IBD[105]. This was demonstrated in an Italian multicenter, randomized, single-blind study of 211 adult outpatients with ulcerative colitis (UC) undergoing colonoscopy and receiving either 2-L PEG plus bisacodyl or 4-L PEG [106]. Low-volume PEG was not inferior to 4-L PEG for bowel cleansing in UC (P = NS), but it was better tolerated (P < 0.0001) and accepted (P < 0.0001). The split dosage was associated with better cleansing regardless of preparation. A period of more than 6 h between the end of preparation and the colonoscopy predicted poor cleansing.

In a 2021 retrospective analysis of a prospective cohort, Maida *et al*[107] demonstrated the efficacy and safety of 1-L PEG-ASC in 45% of 411 patients.

IBD patients had higher cleansing success (92.9% *vs* 85.4%, P = 0.02) than controls, with a similar number of patients experiencing adverse events (22.2% *vs* 21.2%, P = 0.821) and treatment-emergent adverse events (51 *vs* 62%, P = 0.821). Furthermore, the presence of IBD (OR = 2.51, P = 0.019), lower age (OR = 0.98, P = 0.014), a split regimen (OR = 2.43, P = 0.033), the absence of diabetes (OR = 2.85, P = 0.015), and chronic constipation (OR = 3.35, P = 0.005) were all independently associated with cleansing success[107].

Endoscopic disease activity has recently been discovered to predict suboptimal bowel preparation, and biological therapy has been shown to protect IBD patients from it.

In a 2022 United States study by Kumar *et al*[108], the moderate-to-severe endoscopic disease was associated with higher odds of suboptimal bowel preparation *vs* mild or inactive disease [adjusted OR (aOR) 2.7; (95% CI 1.52-4.94)], whereas baseline biologic use was associated with a lower odds of suboptimal bowel preparation [aOR, 0.24 (0.09-0.65)] among the overall IBD cohort. Furthermore, age > 65 years and single-dose *vs* split-dose bowel preparation were independent predictors of suboptimal bowel preparation [aOR, 2.99 (1.19-7.54); aOR, 2.37 (1.43-3.95), respectively].

Liver cirrhosis: Liver cirrhosis predicts poor bowel preparation at screening colonoscopy[64,109].

This finding is most likely due to multiple factors impairing intestinal motility in cirrhotic patients [110,111]. The role of chronic liver disease in predisposing to inadequate bowel preparation in the absence of cirrhosis is unknown. In a 2016 United States study, Anam *et al*[112] compared 120 cirrhotics to 220 non-cirrhotics with chronic liver disease, and the first group performed significantly worse on bowel preparation. Cirrhotics had lower bowel preparation scores than non-cirrhotics (P = 0.0027), with cirrhotics having the lowest (48%) and non-cirrhotics having the highest (30%), with no effect of the MELD score.

The rate of failure to complete the bowel preparation and the incidence of side effects were comparable in 53 cirrhotics compared to 52 healthy subjects undergoing screening colonoscopy, according to an Italian 2015 study by Salso *et al*[113]. Despite this, nearly half of the cirrhotics (49% *vs* 5% control; P < 0.001) had poor bowel cleansing.

In a 2017 Chinese retrospective study, Lee *et al*[114] compared the safety of two bowel-cleansing agents in patients with liver cirrhosis (2-L PEG-ASC *vs* 4-L PEG). Patients preferred the 2-L PEG-ASC over the 4-L PEG group for acceptability and compliance. Finally, because both groups were successfully cleansed, the authors concluded that using 2-L PEG-ASC for colonoscopy in cirrhotics was a safe option.

Decompensated cirrhosis patients are more prone to frailty, cognitive abnormalities, and decreased ambulation. Clayton *et al*[115] discovered that patient educational video did not improve bowel preparations (split-prep) in the pre/post-intervention period in 121 patients with decompensated cirrhosis undergoing colonoscopy during the initial liver transplantation evaluation (29.8% *vs* 31.9%, respectively).

Furthermore, patients with moderate to severe ascites had a significantly higher rate of inadequate colonoscopy bowel preparation than non-ascites patients[115].

CKD: The use of cleansing agents in patients with CKD should be carefully evaluated due to the risk of electrolyte imbalance or worsening renal function[116]. No significant changes in vital or biochemical parameters have been linked to high volume osmotically balanced solutions containing PEG and electrolytes capable of maintaining bowel lumen isosmosis[13].

According to previous research[117,118], PEG is generally safe in CKD patients; however, adequate hydration and renal function monitoring should be ensured before and after colonoscopy in some cases to avoid acute kidney failure[119]. Individualized laxative choice is strongly advised for patients at risk of hydroelectrolyte disturbances (moderate quality evidence)[13].

Because of hyperosmolarity and the risk of magnesium toxicity, as well as acute phosphate nephropathy, magnesium-based preparations and sodium phosphate should be avoided in CKD patients[13,120,121].

Furthermore, due to the poor tolerability of high-volume PEG-based regimens, low-volume PEG (2-L) solutions with ascorbic acid (PEG-ASC) solutions have been proposed to reduce the patient's excessive fluid intake. Ascorbic acid can act as an osmotic agent and enhance the laxative effect of PEG due to its hexose structure[122], and its pleasant taste makes it easier for patients to swallow. Ascorbic acid, on the other hand, has been linked to the formation of renal stones and acidosis, with contradictory results[123, 124]. As a result, low-volume preparations continue to be a challenge for many CKD patients.

Notably, ESGE guidelines do not recommend aspartame and ascorbate-containing solutions (such as 2-L and 1-L PEG-ASC solutions) for patients with renal insufficiency and creatinine clearance less than 30 mL/min. A high rate of hypernatremia has been observed following the administration of 1-L PEG-ASC, owing primarily to the product's sodium content[13]. If low volume PEG solutions combined with citrate and simethicone are administered to patients with creatinine clearance less than 30 mL/min, caution is advised[13].

In a 2016 retrospective study, a same-day 1-L low-volume PEG regimen with a previous-day low-residue diet and laxative was tested to improve tolerability[125]. The study included 5,427 patients who were instructed to consume a low-residue fiber diet with 10 mL sodium picosulfate one day before the colonoscopy, followed by 1-L low-volume PEG and 0.5-L water four hours before the exam. In 86 CKD patients (creatinine 1.1 mg/dL), the BBPS 6 success rate was 94.1%, and there were no serious complications[125]. Lee *et al*[123] found that the 2-L PEG-ASC was a safe choice for bowel preparation before colonoscopy in patients with impaired renal function in a 2016 study.

In one retrospective cohort, patients with a GFR of 60 mL/min were given either 4-L PEG or 2-L PEG-ASC solutions. Patients in the 2-L PEG-ASC group (n = 61) rated their tolerance and acceptability higher than those in the 4-L PEG group (n = 80)[123]. After either preparation, there was no statistically significant change in electrolytes, blood urea nitrogen, or creatinine. When the regimens were compared, 7.5% of 4-L PEG patients and 11.5% of 2-L PEG-ASC patients had a transient > 30% increase in creatinine levels, though the differences were not statistically significant[123]. Ohmiya *et al*[126] discovered that same-day conventional bowel preparation with PEG electrolyte lavage solution plus Ascorbate (PEG-ELS-ASC) was safe and effective in 56 CKD patients in the Japanese 2021 study.

Only retrospective cohorts have found PEG to be safer than other formulations in patients with impaired renal function[127].

The most severe kidney injury case reported reversible post-colonoscopy acute renal failure within a few weeks of oral sodium phosphate (OSP) intake, necessitating renal replacement therapy in 19% of patients[128]. Furthermore, during the 2006-2007 time period, the Food and Drug Administration received reports of 171 cases of renal failure caused by the use of OSP and 10 cases caused by the use of PEG[128]. A 2005 retrospective population-based Iceland study found that the risk of biopsy-proven acute phosphate nephropathy is about one in every 1000 OSP doses sold[128].

Three RCTs comparing OSS preparation to 4-L PEG found that split OSS was noninferior to split high-volume PEG in terms of efficacy, safety, and tolerability. Although real-world data on OSS in the setting of renal insufficiency are limited, and despite no significant differences in the frequency of acute renal failure reported with this preparation, European guidelines[13] recommend that it be avoided in patients with severe renal insufficiency (glomerular filtration rate 30 mL/min).

According to ESGE guidelines and current evidence, patients with severe renal insufficiency should be prepared with isotonic high volume PEG solutions rather than low volume PEG or non-PEG regimens.

Heart disease: Previously, it was thought that bowel preparation (particularly after administration of PEG-ELS solution) could worsen heart failure[129], as a result, except in urgent or emergency cases, exposing such patients to a colonoscopy was risky. Also, coronary heart disease has been identified as a risk factor for severe desaturation and relevant electrocardiographic changes during endoscopic sedation[130]. Furthermore, several studies have found that these solutions may be harmful to patients with heart disease due to the potential increase in plasma volume and their effects on electrolyte disturbances[131].

Thiazide diuretics and SSRIs, which have the potential to cause fluid and electrolyte imbalances, should be avoided in at-risk patients while undergoing bowel preparation[132].

Heart disease and CRC were the only predictors strongly associated with poor bowel cleansing in a 2019 Spanish single-center, endoscopist-blinded RCT of 136 patients (OR = 3.37, 95%CI 1.34-8.46, *P* = 0.010; OR = 3.82, 95%CI 1.26-11.61, *P* = 0.018, respectively)[133]. In a 2020 study, Poola *et al*[134] discovered that 44% of 315 inpatients' bowel preparation was fair/poor. Poor bowel preparation was associated with elderly people who had a history of congestive heart failure.

Concomitant medications

Most medications can be taken with a small sip of water until the day of the colonoscopy. Because of the decreased oral intake prior to the procedure, some medications, such as diabetes medications or anticoagulants, may need to be adjusted. Because it causes residual feces, oral iron should be stopped at least five days before the colonoscopy[135]. Additionally, the procedure's urgency and the availability of alternative tests must be taken into account.

In a 2017 Chinese systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs (overall 3217 patients with chronic pain), Huang et al[136] discovered that treatment with a fixed-ratio combination of prolonged-release oxycodone/naloxone reduces the incidence of opioid-induced constipation and provides clinically significant intermediate-term bowel function improvement while maintaining pain relief. According to a 2019 Spanish study by Velázquez Rivera et al[137], tapentadol and oxycodone had better bowel function profiles with no differences in a cross-sectional observational study of 180 Spanish patients with opioid-induced constipation during long-term treatment.

Previous history of colorectal surgery

Inadequate bowel cleansing is detrimental to the examination, resulting in lower ADR, longer procedural time, lower rates of cecal intubation, shorter intervals between examinations, and a 12%-22% increase in overall colonoscopy cost[4]. Previous colorectal surgery is a risk factor for patients who are difficult to prepare[64,138,139].

Previous colorectal surgery (along with diabetes, Parkinson's disease, and liver cirrhosis) is a condition that significantly predicts inadequate colon preparation, according to a prospective study enrolling 2811 outpatients in 2012[64].

Another study published in 2015 discovered that diabetes, chronic constipation, a history of abdominal and/or pelvic surgery, and current hospitalization were all significant predictors of poor bowel cleansing in patients using a split-dose preparation scheme^[71]. Improved bowel preparation strategies may be difficult to achieve in this patient population. The long-term effects of colonic surgery and anastomoses on colonic motor function are currently unknown [140]. Patients who have had colonic surgery are usually excluded from trials on the efficacy of bowel preparations due to this lack of knowledge. As a result, no evidence-based guidelines for preparing this subset of patients are now available, and the various bowel cleansing schemes rely on single-center experience or expert opinions recommending high-volume regimens^[141]. Following surgery, some mechanisms affecting the enteric nervous system and autonomic innervation are known to be altered.

Indeed, Vather et al[142] discovered that distal colonic motor patterns traversed healed anastomosis sites regularly, indicating possible cellular regeneration. Some of the causes could be attributed to colorectal anastomoses' effect on the enteric nervous system and autonomic innervation, which can result in changes in colonic retrograde and antegrade motor patterns[142-144]. Remarkably, patients who have had a previous colectomy appear to be the most difficult to prepare. While right colectomy reduces absorption and determines rapid transit, left colectomy may worsen peristalsis in moving luminal content outside the body[145].

Mussetto et al[139] found that a low-volume mixed preparation (15 mg bisacodyl plus 2-L PEG) was not inferior to 4-L PEG for adequate bowel cleansing during surveillance colonoscopy in a 2015 study of 120 patients who had prior colorectal resection for cancer (85.0% vs 81.7%, P = 0.624). Notably, the mixed low-volume regimen had a higher success rate and tolerability in patients who had previously undergone left colectomy vs right colectomy (P = 0.025 and P < 0.001, respectively). The only predictor of unsuccessful cleansing using logistic regression was previous left colectomy (P = 0.012). Similarly, Yoo et al[146] conducted a case-control study in Turkey in 2018, enrolling 200 patients who received either a low-volume or high-volume bowel preparation regimen. In terms of adequate cleansing (modified BBPS of 6-9), there was no statistical difference between the resection and control groups (88% vs 88%). Patients with a left colon resection had an OR of 0.27 (P = 0.003) for successful cleansing, according to the logistic regression analysis of the resection group, and low-volume preparation (OR = 3.09, P = 0.023) was the best predictor of an effective cleansing procedure.

According to Kim et al[147], 12.1% of the 12,881 participants in the National Cancer Center's health screening cohort who underwent screening or surveillance colonoscopy had a history of abdominopelvic surgery. Poor bowel preparation was linked to gastric or minor intestinal surgery in a multivariate analysis (OR = 1.76, 95% CI 1.23-2.53, P = 0.002). Other types of surgery, on the other hand, did not affect bowel preparation quality.

Chung et al[148] looked at 247 patients who had previously had a colorectal resection and had a surveillance colonoscopy in a 2017 study. The right colon preservation group had a significant association with bowel cleansing quality in both univariate (22.3% vs 7.5%, P = 0.028) and multivariate (OR = 3.6, 95%CI 1.0-12.3, P = 0.038) analysis.

In contrast, Gandhi *et al*[65] discovered that a history of abdominal surgery (OR = 0.99) did not correlate with inadequate bowel preparation in a 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis of 67 studies involving 75818 patients.

A study (NCT02761317) is currently being conducted on patients who have had colorectal resection to compare the efficacy of bowel cleansing between the standard preparation (2-L PEG solution, 2-L PEG-ELS), low-volume preparation (10 mg bisacodyl plus 2-L PEG-ELS), and high-volume preparation (10 mg bisacodyl plus 2-L PEG-ELS) (4-L PEG-ELS).

History of poor bowel preparation

The presence of one or more risk factors for inadequate preparation will influence preparation selection and regimen. Due to the high risk of missing clinically relevant lesions, patients with insufficient cleansing must have the colonoscopy repeated after a more thorough bowel cleansing attempt[13].



Patients who did not prepare adequately because they misinterpreted the instructions can be counseled and then directed to repeat the same bowel regimen. For patients who did not tolerate or respond adequately to the original preparation[149] alternative preparations should be tried.

Despite the lack of strong evidence from RCTs, the ESGE guidelines and some studies recommend repeating colonoscopy on the same or the next day with additional bowel cleansing (e.g., 500 mL PEG-ASC) or using enema as a salvage option in patients with insufficient bowel cleansing[72,149-152]. The bowel preparation regimen outlined below should be tailored to the potential causes of failure[13].

Some patients continue to have inadequate preparation despite following the regimen, switching regimens, and using a split-dose lavage. In such cases, two days of clear liquids are usually prescribed, followed by a morning procedure. If the patient's preparation was extremely poor, options include adding a second laxative if contraindications exist (e.g., using 4-L PEG-ELS solution followed by a 1-L solution of magnesium citrate) or repeating the preparation administration over two days (except for sodium phosphate).

Within one year, 90% of patients who did not do adequate bowel cleansing require a repeat colonoscopy after one or more attempts at bowel cleansing[13,70]. Similarly, experts advise patients who did not tolerate or respond well to the first bowel cleansing to try another. Split-dosing should also be used for improved bowel cleansing[70]. Despite adherence to the regimen, switching to different regimens, and using a split-dose lavage, some patients continue to have insufficient bowel cleansing for the next exam, particularly those with severe comorbidities (e.g., stroke, dementia, DM, obesity), the elderly, men, and people taking psychotropic drugs, all of which are commonly associated with a chronic constipation condition[6,64,153]. The efficacy of a next-day or same-day colonoscopy after additional bowel preparation vs a later colonoscopy is limited and contradictory. In a 2009 Israelian single-center study of 235 patients with inadequate preparation, next-day colonoscopy was associated with a lower risk of secondary failure (OR = 0.31, 95% CI 0.1-0.92)[63]. In a 2013 retrospective study of 3047 procedures with inadequate cleansing, patients advised to have a next-day colonoscopy were more likely to follow the recommendation for a repeat colonoscopy[154]. In a larger 2016 United States singlecenter series of 397 patients with inadequate procedures, recurrent failure was observed in 30.0% of the next-day group and 23.5% of the non-next-day group (P = 0.48)[155].

In a single-center Korean prospective nonrandomized study conducted in 2014, 87 patients with insufficient preparation after an initial 4-L PEG were given either an additional 2-L PEG on the same day or a 4-L PEG plus bisacodyl one week later after 3 days of a low residue diet, with no difference found between the two regimens[149]. A 2017 Spanish randomized trial demonstrated the superiority of a high-volume PEG-based regimen over a low-volume PEG-based regimen when combined with an intensive preparation regimen[150]. In a 2018 observational study, 60 Turkish patients who had received inadequate preparation underwent a same-day repeat colonoscopy after receiving an additional laxative of 250 mL senna alkaloids with 1.5-L water, and 83% of patients had the repeat colonoscopy reach the cecum[151].

In a 2012 United States study, Sohn et al[152] found that direct administration of laxative enemas through the colonoscope into the right colon via the biopsy channel was effective in 21 patients with inadequate preparation after low-volume PEG and bisacodyl preparation. In a 2012 Japanese study, Horiuchi et al[156] published a study in which 26 patients with inadequate preparation after lowvolume PEG were given 500 mL of PEG via the colonoscope biopsy channel, with 96.1% (25/26) of cases successfully prepared.

Yang et al[157] on the other hand, conducted a randomized trial in 125 patients with inadequate preparation, comparing administration of a 1-L PEG enema via colonoscope to additional oral ingestion of 2-L PEG, with 35 of 66 (53%) of the enema group and 53 of 67 (81%) of the oral group obtaining suitable preparation. 42 patients with inadequate preparation were randomly assigned to either pump irrigation or syringe irrigation in a 2012 Belgian monocenter study. In terms of pre-procedure preparation, pump irrigation outperformed hand irrigation, with a significant difference in the right colon[158].

Predictive models of inadequate bowel preparation in outpatients

Identifying risk factors for poor bowel cleansing can aid in determining which patients require more intensive bowel preparation. Six predictive models of inadequate bowel preparation have been developed to date based on patient potential risk factors[64,71,159-162].

Hassan et al[64] identified several factors that can significantly influence preparation quality in a 2012 Italian multicenter prospective study of 2811 consecutive outpatients, which were then used to develop an accurate predictive model. Overweight, male sex, having a high BMI, older age, previous colorectal surgery, cirrhosis, Parkinson's disease, diabetes, and positive fecal occult test results were all associated with inadequate bowel preparation. With 60% sensitivity, 59% specificity, 41% positive predictive value, and 76% negative predictive value, these factors predicted which patients would have inadequate cleansing.

In the validation cohort, the scale's discriminative ability was strong, with the area under the curve (AUC) of 0.77. An ASA score of 3, use of tricyclic antidepressants or narcotics, diabetes, constipation, previous abdominal and/or pelvic surgery, history of inadequate bowel preparation, and hospitalization were identified as independent predictors of inadequate bowel preparation in a 2015 Dutch



study by Dik *et al*[71]. The scale's discriminative ability was strong in the validation cohort, with an AUC of 0.77. Finally, in the multivariate analysis of 667 consecutive Spanish outpatients in 2017, antidepressants (OR = 4.25, 95% CI 1.91-9.47), co-morbidity (OR = 3.35, 95% CI 2.16-5.18), constipation (OR = 2.09, 95% CI 1.29-3.40), and abdominal/pelvic surgery (OR = 1.60, 95% CI 1.03-2.47) were independent predictors of inadequate cleansing. According to these findings, the model with all of these variables had an AUC of 0.72 in the development cohort and 0.70 in the validation cohort of 409 patients[150].

Berger *et al*[160] developed a predictive score called "Prepa-Co" in a recent French single-center study, allowing the identification of patients at high risk of inadequate bowel preparation. In total, 561 patients were included, with 25% having inadequate bowel preparation. In the prediction model of inadequate bowel preparation, the risk score includes seven variables: Diabetes or obesity, irregular physical activity, cirrhosis, use of antidepressants or neuroleptics, use of opiate medication, surgery history, and history of inadequate bowel preparation. With an AUC of 0.62, Prepa-Co correctly predicted bowel cleanliness in 68.3% of cases, with a specificity of 75.8% and a negative predictive value of 80.8%.

Sadeghi *et al*[161] conducted a population-based study on 2476 Iranian adults in 2022, and age, gender, ethnicity, BMI, abdominal circumference, fruit consumption, smoking, NSAIDs, SSRIs, education, constipation, physical activity, and diabetes were all factored into the predictive model, with the AUC reaching 0.70 in the final step.

Kurlander *et al*[162] developed prediction models for bowel preparation inadequacy in a retrospective cohort of 6885 United States veterans who underwent colonoscopy. The AUC for the validation cohort was 0.66 (95%CI 0.62-0.69), whereas the AUC for the validation cohort using random forest machine learning was 0.61 (95%CI 0.58-0.65).

So far, none of these predictive models have been tested outside of their validation cohorts, and no study has attempted to use a different regimen on patients who have risk factors for poor colon cleanliness. Furthermore, the ESGE concluded in 2019 that there was insufficient data to recommend the use of specific predictive models for inadequate bowel preparation in clinical practice[13].

CONCLUSION

To date, numerous efforts have been applied to increase the sensitivity of colonoscopy in the detection of polyps and advanced adenomas, reducing the risk of I-CRC[163,164]. These include the application of key-performance quality measures for colonoscopy[165], the use of distal attachment devices[166,167], and new intestinal preparations improving the quality of bowel cleansing[168].

Despite these efforts, adequate bowel cleansing remains a basic prerequisite for a quality colonoscopy, since it can affect other quality measures including ADR and cecal intubation rate.

Prior inadequate bowel cleansing, chronic constipation, elderly, male gender, low health literacy, obesity, diabetes, IBD, cirrhosis, neurologic disease, risk of electrolyte abnormalities, severe heart and renal failure, previous colorectal surgery, use of constipation-related medications, gastroparesis, and severe colonic stricture are the major patient-related predictors of colonoscopy preparation failure.

In the elderly, a strategy including a prolonged low-fiber diet, split preparation regimen, and colonoscopy within 5 h of the end of preparation, may increase the cleansing success rates. Furthermore, even though no specific product is specifically recommended in the other cases for difficult-to-prepare patients, recent evidence suggests that 1-L PEG-ASC preparation may be preferred in hospitalized and IBD patients. Figure 2 depicts a schematic view of the main bowel preparation tips to achieve a successful bowel cleansing.

According to current guidelines, patients with severe renal insufficiency (creatinine clearance less than 30mL/min) should be prepared with isotonic high volume PEG solutions, whereas low volume PEG plus adjuvants (*e.g.*, 1-L/2-L-PEG-ASC, and 1-L PEG plus citrate) or non-PEG regimens (*e.g.*, MCSP or OSS) are not advised.

To determine the most effective bowel preparation for difficult-to-prepare elderly, constipated, and cirrhotic patients, more high-quality research, including prospective studies with randomized designs, is required. Larger, multicenter, prospective studies are needed to determine the best bowel preparation for patients with prior abdominal-pelvic surgery, most importantly to improve ADR, especially for flat lesions in the right colon in patients who had a left colon resection.

Moreover, regardless of type of bowel solution, in very elderly patients with comorbidities, a careful assistance from family members or those who care for the elderly is necessary to guarantee the compliance to diet and preparation modalities.

In conclusion, an accurate characterization of procedural and patient variables may lead to a more personalized approach to bowel preparation (Table 1), reducing the risk of missed lesions and of I-CRC.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Recommendation for bowel preparation in specific clinical settings	
Clinical scenario	Remarks
Hospitalization	PEG-based regimens should be considered first in any preparation strategy because they are more likely to achieve adequate bowel cleansing while maintaining an optimal patient safety profile [13,45,48]
	Furthermore, multiple, combined strategies (e.g., written educational material, nurse facilitation of the process, etc.) based on a case-by-case decision could influence the outcome [45,48]
	Although no specific product is strongly recommended for difficult-to-prepare patients, clinical evidence suggests that a 1-L PEG-ASC preparation may be preferred in hospitalized patients[22]
Elderly	A strategy that includes a low-fiber diet for an extended period of time, a split preparation regimen, and a colonoscopy within 5 h of the end of preparation may improve cleansing success rates in the elderly[57]
	A 1-L PEG preparation may be preferred for the elderly due to higher cleansing quality and higher compliance due to lower volume [56,57,77]
Obesity	ESGE recommends the use of high volume or low volume PEG-based regimens, as well as non-PEG-based agents that have been clinically validated for routine bowel preparation[13]
	For elective colonoscopy, split-dose bowel preparation (with or without the additional measures) should be used, as it has been linked to improved preparation quality[13]
Diabetes mellitus	Current US guidelines do not support assumption of lubiprostone or magnesium citrate, instead recommending a split-dose bowel cleansing regimen with no adjustments for DM patients[8]
Chronic constipation	ESGE does not recommend any specific bowel preparation in constipation patients[13]
Inflammatory bowel disease	Split dosage was associated with better cleansing regardless of preparation in some studies[106,108]
	1-L PEG-ASC is associate to higher cleansing success and good safety and should be preferred[107]
Liver cirrhosis	The use of 2-L PEG-ASC for colonoscopy in liver cirrhosis to be a safe option[114]
Chronic kidney disease	All oral laxatives should be used with caution in patients with pre-existing chronic renal failure and liaison with the renal team is advised in patients undergoing dialysis or with advanced chronic kidney disease[54,106]
	Individualized laxative selection is strongly recommended for patients at risk for hydroelectrolyte disturbances (moderate quality evidence)[13]
	Because of the risk of magnesium toxicity and acute phosphate nephropathy, magnesium-based preparations and sodium phosphate should be avoided in chronic kidney disease patients[54,120,121]
	Also, because high-volume PEG-based regimens are poorly tolerated, low-volume PEG (2-L) solutions with ascorbic acid (PEG-ASC) have been proposed to reduce the patient's excessive fluid intake[122]
	According to ESGE guidelines, patients with severe renal insufficiency (creatinine clearance less than 30 mL/min) should be prepared with isotonic high volume PEG solutions, whereas low volume PEG plus adjuvants (<i>e.g.</i> , 1L-, 2L-PEG-ASC, 1 L PEG plus citrate) or non-PEG regimens (<i>e.g.</i> , MCSP or oral sulfate solution) are not advised[13]
Heart disease	Bowel preparation (particularly after administration of PEG-ELS solution) could worsen heart failure[129]
Polypharmacy	Most medications can be taken up until the day of the colonoscopy and are taken with a small sip of water[135]
	Some medications, such as diabetes medications or anticoagulants, may need to be adjusted due to decreased oral intake prior to the procedure[13]
	Oral iron should also be discontinued at least five days before the colonoscopy because it causes residual feces[135]
History of colorectal surgery	In a study of 120 patients with prior colorectal resection for colorectal cancer, a low-volume mixed preparation (15 mg bisacodyl plus 2-L PEG) was not inferior to a high-volume regimen (4-L PEG) for adequate bowel cleansing during surveillance colonoscopy [139]
	In patients who had previously undergone left colectomy vs right colectomy, the mixed low-volume regimen had a higher success rate and tolerability[139,146]
History of poor bowel preparation	Despite a lack of strong evidence from randomized controlled trials, the ESGE guidelines and some studies recommend repeating colonoscopy using same-day or the next day with additional bowel cleansing (<i>e.g.</i> , 500 mL PEG plus ascorbate) or using enema as a salvage option in patients with inadequate bowel cleansing[73,149-152,156]
	The next bowel preparation regimen should be tailored to the potential causes of failure[13]

PEG-ASC: Polyethylene glycol plus ascorbate; MCSP: Magnesium citrate plus picosulphate; DM: Diabetes mellitus; ESGE: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy.

Baisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 A schematic view of the main bowel preparation tips to achieve a successful bowel cleansing. PEG: Polyethylene glycol. PEG: Polyethylene glycol. Citation: The authors has been granted a license to use the BioRender content, including icons, templates and other original artwork, appearing in the attached completed graphic pursuant to BioRender's Academic License Terms, created with BioRender.com (Supplementary material).

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Shahini E and Maida M are the guarantors of the integrity of the entire study, and contributed to the manuscript drafting and revision for important intellectual content; all authors contributed to the manuscript editing and had full control over the preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have no proprietary, financial, professional, or other personal interest of any nature or kind in any product, service, and/or company that could be construed as influencing the position presented in, or the review of this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Endrit Shahini 0000-0002-4909-0436; Emanuele Sinagra 0000-0002-8528-0384; Alessandro Vitello 0000-0001-9099-9468; Antonio Facciorusso 0000-0002-2107-2156; Marcello Maida 0000-0002-4992-9289.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- Løberg M, Kalager M, Holme Ø, Hoff G, Adami HO, Bretthauer M. Long-term colorectal-cancer mortality after adenoma 1 removal. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 799-807 [PMID: 25162886 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1315870]
- 2 Baxter NN, Goldwasser MA, Paszat LF, Saskin R, Urbach DR, Rabeneck L. Association of colonoscopy and death from colorectal cancer. Ann Intern Med 2009; 150: 1-8 [PMID: 19075198 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-1-200901060-00306]
- 3 Sulz MC, Kröger A, Prakash M, Manser CN, Heinrich H, Misselwitz B. Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Bowel Preparation on Adenoma Detection: Early Adenomas Affected Stronger than Advanced Adenomas. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0154149 [PMID: 27257916 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154149]



- Rex DK, Imperiale TF, Latinovich DR, Bratcher LL. Impact of bowel preparation on efficiency and cost of colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97: 1696-1700 [PMID: 12135020 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05827.x]
- Froehlich F, Wietlisbach V, Gonvers JJ, Burnand B, Vader JP. Impact of colonic cleansing on quality and diagnostic yield 5 of colonoscopy: the European Panel of Appropriateness of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy European multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc 2005; 61: 378-384 [PMID: 15758907 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(04)02776-2]
- Wexner SD, Beck DE, Baron TH, Fanelli RD, Hyman N, Shen B, Wasco KE; American Society of Colon and Rectal 6 Surgeons; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy; Society of American Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons. A consensus document on bowel preparation before colonoscopy: prepared by a task force from the American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons (ASCRS), the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ASGE), and the Society of American Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons (SAGES). Gastrointest Endosc 2006; 63: 894-909 [PMID: 16733101 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2006.03.918]
- Hillyer GC, Basch CH, Lebwohl B, Basch CE, Kastrinos F, Insel BJ, Neugut AI. Shortened surveillance intervals following suboptimal bowel preparation for colonoscopy: results of a national survey. Int J Colorectal Dis 2013; 28: 73-81 [PMID: 22885884 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-012-1559-7]
- Johnson DA, Barkun AN, Cohen LB, Dominitz JA, Kaltenbach T, Martel M, Robertson DJ, Boland CR, Giardello FM, 8 Lieberman DA, Levin TR, Rex DK; US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer. Optimizing adequacy of bowel cleansing for colonoscopy: recommendations from the US multi-society task force on colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2014; 147: 903-924 [PMID: 25239068 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.002]
- 0 Radaelli F, Meucci G, Sgroi G, Minoli G; Italian Association of Hospital Gastroenterologists (AIGO). Technical performance of colonoscopy: the key role of sedation/analgesia and other quality indicators. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; **103**: 1122-1130 [PMID: 18445096 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01778.x]
- Lee TJ, Rutter MD, Blanks RG, Moss SM, Goddard AF, Chilton A, Nickerson C, McNally RJ, Patnick J, Rees CJ. 10 Colonoscopy quality measures: experience from the NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme. Gut 2012; 61: 1050-1057 [PMID: 21940723 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300651]
- Maida M, Annibale B, Benedetti A, Burra P, Frulloni L, Ianiro G, Luzza F, Repici A, Savarino E, Sinagra E, Vecchi M, 11 Ricciardiello L; Italian Society of Gastroenterology (SIGE). Quality of endoscopic screening for colorectal cancer in Italy: A national survey. Dig Liver Dis 2022; 54: 1410-1418 [PMID: 35753948 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2022.06.002]
- Mahmood S, Farooqui SM, Madhoun MF. Predictors of inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy: a systematic 12 review and meta-analysis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 30: 819-826 [PMID: 29847488 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001175]
- Hassan C, East J, Radaelli F, Spada C, Benamouzig R, Bisschops R, Bretthauer M, Dekker E, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Ferlitsch 13 M, Fuccio L, Awadie H, Gralnek I, Jover R, Kaminski MF, Pellisé M, Triantafyllou K, Vanella G, Mangas-Sanjuan C, Frazzoni L, Van Hooft JE, Dumonceau JM. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2019. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 775-794 [PMID: 31295746 DOI: 10.1055/a-0959-05051
- Enestvedt BK, Tofani C, Laine LA, Tierney A, Fennerty MB. 4-Liter split-dose polyethylene glycol is superior to other 14 bowel preparations, based on systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 10: 1225-1231 [PMID: 22940741 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.08.029]
- Martel M, Barkun AN, Menard C, Restellini S, Kherad O, Vanasse A. Split-Dose Preparations Are Superior to Day-15 Before Bowel Cleansing Regimens: A Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 79-88 [PMID: 25863216 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.004]
- Spada C, Cesaro P, Bazzoli F, Saracco GM, Cipolletta L, Buri L, Crosta C, Petruzziello L, Ceroni L, Fuccio L, 16 Giordanino C, Elia C, Rotondano G, Bianco MA, Simeth C, Consalvo D, De Roberto G, Fiori G, Campanale M, Costamagna G. Evaluation of Clensia(®), a new low-volume PEG bowel preparation in colonoscopy: Multicentre randomized controlled trial versus 4L PEG. Dig Liver Dis 2017; 49: 651-656 [PMID: 28233684 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2017.01.167]
- 17 Kump P, Hassan C, Spada C, Brownstone E, Datz C, Haefner M, Renner F, Schoefl R, Schreiber F. Efficacy and safety of a new low-volume PEG with citrate and simethicone bowel preparation for colonoscopy (Clensia): a multicenter randomized observer-blind clinical trial vs. a low-volume PEG with ascorbic acid (PEG-ASC). Endosc Int Open 2018; 6: E907-E913 [PMID: 30083580 DOI: 10.1055/a-0624-2266]
- DeMicco MP, Clayton LB, Pilot J, Epstein MS; NOCT Study Group. Novel 1 L polyethylene glycol-based bowel 18 preparation NER1006 for overall and right-sided colon cleansing: a randomized controlled phase 3 trial versus trisulfate. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: 677-687.e3 [PMID: 28803744 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.07.047]
- Schreiber S, Baumgart DC, Drenth JPH, Filip RS, Clayton LB, Hylands K, Repici A, Hassan C; DAYB Study Group. 19 Colon cleansing efficacy and safety with 1 L NER1006 versus sodium picosulfate with magnesium citrate: a randomized phase 3 trial. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 73-84 [PMID: 30025415 DOI: 10.1055/a-0639-5070]
- 20 Bisschops R, Manning J, Clayton LB, Ng Kwet Shing R, Álvarez-González M; MORA Study Group. Colon cleansing efficacy and safety with 1 L NER1006 versus 2 L polyethylene glycol + ascorbate: a randomized phase 3 trial. Endoscopy 2019; **51**: 60-72 [PMID: 30025414 DOI: 10.1055/a-0638-8125]
- 21 Maida M, Sinagra E, Morreale GC, Sferrazza S, Scalisi G, Schillaci D, Ventimiglia M, Macaluso FS, Vettori G, Conoscenti G, Di Bartolo C, Garufi S, Catarella D, Manganaro M, Virgilio CM, Camilleri S. Effectiveness of very lowvolume preparation for colonoscopy: A prospective, multicenter observational study. World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 1950-1961 [PMID: 32390705 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i16.1950]
- Fuccio L, Frazzoni L, Spada C, Mussetto A, Fabbri C, Manno M, Aragona G, Zagari RM, Rondonotti E, Manes G, 22 Occhipinti P, Cadoni S, Bazzoli F, Hassan C, Radaelli F; QIPS study group. Factors That Affect Adequacy of Colon Cleansing for Colonoscopy in Hospitalized Patients. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 19: 339-348.e7 [PMID: 32200083 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.02.0551
- Mohamed R, Hilsden RJ, Dube C, Rostom A. Split-Dose Polyethylene Glycol Is Superior to Single Dose for Colonoscopy 23 Preparation: Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 2016: 3181459 [PMID:



27446836 DOI: 10.1155/2016/3181459]

- Jung YS, Lee CK, Eun CS, Park DI, Han DS, Kim HJ. Low-Volume Polyethylene Glycol with Ascorbic Acid for 24 Colonoscopy Preparation in Elderly Patients: A Randomized Multicenter Study. Digestion 2016; 94: 82-91 [PMID: 27553205 DOI: 10.1159/000448887]
- 25 Horton N, Garber A, Hasson H, Lopez R, Burke CA. Impact of Single- vs. Split-Dose Low-Volume Bowel Preparations on Bowel Movement Kinetics, Patient Inconvenience, and Polyp Detection: A Prospective Trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2016; 111: 1330-1337 [PMID: 27377521 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.273]
- 26 Radaelli F, Paggi S, Hassan C, Senore C, Fasoli R, Anderloni A, Buffoli F, Savarese MF, Spinzi G, Rex DK, Repici A. Split-dose preparation for colonoscopy increases adenoma detection rate: a randomised controlled trial in an organised screening programme. Gut 2017; 66: 270-277 [PMID: 26657900 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310685]
- Manes G, Repici A, Hassan C; MAGIC-P study group. Randomized controlled trial comparing efficacy and acceptability 27 of split- and standard-dose sodium picosulfate plus magnesium citrate for bowel cleansing prior to colonoscopy. Endoscopy 2014; 46: 662-669 [PMID: 25019969 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1365800]
- 28 Schulz C, Müller J, Sauter J, Miehlke S, Schmöcker C, Hartmann D, Malfertheiner P, Badiola C. Superiority of a Splitdose Regimen of Sodium Picosulfate/Magnesium Citrate (SPMC) in Comparison to a Prior-day Schedule (AM/PM) for Colonoscopy Preparation. A Randomized Single-blinded Study. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2016; 25: 295-302 [PMID: 27689192 DOI: 10.15403/jgld.2014.1121.253.mag]
- Kiesslich R, Schubert S, Mross M, Klugmann T, Klemt-Kropp M, Behnken I, Bonnaud G, Keulen E, Groenen M, Blaker 29 M, Ponchon T, Landry W, Stoltenberg M. Efficacy and safety of PICOPREP tailored dosing compared with PICOPREP day-before dosing for colon cleansing: a multi-centric randomised study. Endosc Int Open 2017; 5: E282-E290 [PMID: 28393103 DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-102433]
- Pohl J, Halphen M, Kloess HR, Fischbach W. Impact of the quality of bowel cleansing on the efficacy of colonic cancer 30 screening: a prospective, randomized, blinded study. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0126067 [PMID: 25950434 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126067]
- Avalos DJ, Castro FJ, Zuckerman MJ, Keihanian T, Berry AC, Nutter B, Sussman DA. Bowel Preparations Administered 31 the Morning of Colonoscopy Provide Similar Efficacy to a Split Dose Regimen: A Meta Analysis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 52: 859-868 [PMID: 28885304 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000866]
- 32 Pan H, Zheng XL, Fang CY, Liu LZ, Chen JS, Wang C, Chen YD, Huang JM, Zhou YS, He LP. Same-day single-dose vs large-volume split-dose regimens of polyethylene glycol for bowel preparation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Clin Cases 2022; 10: 7844-7858 [PMID: 36158495 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v10.i22.7844]
- 33 Chen E, Chen L, Wang F, Zhang W, Cai X, Cao G. Low-residue versus clear liquid diet before colonoscopy: An updated meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e23541 [PMID: 33285772 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000023541
- Avalos DJ, Sussman DA, Lara LF, Sarkis FS, Castro FJ. Effect of Diet Liberalization on Bowel Preparation. South Med J 34 2017; 110: 399-407 [PMID: 28575897 DOI: 10.14423/SMJ.00000000000662]
- Song GM, Tian X, Ma L, Yi LJ, Shuai T, Zeng Z, Zeng XT. Regime for Bowel Preparation in Patients Scheduled to 35 Colonoscopy: Low-Residue Diet or Clear Liquid Diet? Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e2432 [PMID: 26735547 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000002432]
- Taveira F, Areia M, Elvas L, Alves S, Brito D, Saraiva S, Cadime AT. A 3-day low-fibre diet does not improve 36 colonoscopy preparation results compared to a 1-day diet: A randomized, single-blind, controlled trial. United European Gastroenterol J 2019; 7: 1321-1329 [PMID: 31839957 DOI: 10.1177/2050640619883176]
- Gimeno-García AZ, de la Barreda Heuser R, Reygosa C, Hernandez A, Mascareño I, Nicolás-Pérez D, Jiménez A, Lara 37 AJ, Alarcon-Fernández O, Hernandez-Guerra M, Romero R, Alonso I, González Y, Adrian Z, Hernandez G, Hernandez D, Delgado R, Quintero E. Impact of a 1-day versus 3-day low-residue diet on bowel cleansing quality before colonoscopy: a randomized controlled trial. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 628-636 [PMID: 30943553 DOI: 10.1055/a-0864-1942]
- 38 Siddiqui AA, Yang K, Spechler SJ, Cryer B, Davila R, Cipher D, Harford WV. Duration of the interval between the completion of bowel preparation and the start of colonoscopy predicts bowel-preparation quality. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 69: 700-706 [PMID: 19251013 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.09.047]
- Seo EH, Kim TO, Park MJ, Joo HR, Heo NY, Park J, Park SH, Yang SY, Moon YS. Optimal preparation-to-colonoscopy 39 interval in split-dose PEG bowel preparation determines satisfactory bowel preparation quality: an observational prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 583-590 [PMID: 22177570 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.09.029]
- 40 Eun CS, Han DS, Hyun YS, Bae JH, Park HS, Kim TY, Jeon YC, Sohn JH. The timing of bowel preparation is more important than the timing of colonoscopy in determining the quality of bowel cleansing. Dig Dis Sci 2011; 56: 539-544 [PMID: 21042853 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-010-1457-1]
- 41 Bucci C, Rotondano G, Hassan C, Rea M, Bianco MA, Cipolletta L, Ciacci C, Marmo R. Optimal bowel cleansing for colonoscopy: split the dose! Gastrointest Endosc 2014; 80: 566-576.e2 [PMID: 25053529 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.05.320
- Kojecky V, Matous J, Keil R, Dastych M, Zadorova Z, Varga M, Kroupa R, Dolina J, Misurec M, Hep A, Griva M. The 42 optimal bowel preparation intervals before colonoscopy: A randomized study comparing polyethylene glycol and lowvolume solutions. Dig Liver Dis 2018; 50: 271-276 [PMID: 29102524 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2017.10.010]
- 43 Rebhun J, Pagani W, Xia Y, Shuja A. Effect of the Weekend on Bowel Preparation Quality in Outpatient Colonoscopies. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 67: 1231-1237 [PMID: 34018071 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-021-07037-8]
- 44 Ness RM, Manam R, Hoen H, Chalasani N. Predictors of inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 1797-1802 [PMID: 11419832 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03874.x]
- Gkolfakis P, Tziatzios G, Papanikolaou IS, Triantafyllou K. Strategies to Improve Inpatients' Quality of Bowel 45 Preparation for Colonoscopy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2019; 2019: 5147208 [PMID: 31191646 DOI: 10.1155/2019/5147208]
- Yadlapati R, Johnston ER, Gregory DL, Ciolino JD, Cooper A, Keswani RN. Predictors of Inadequate Inpatient 46 Colonoscopy Preparation and Its Association with Hospital Length of Stay and Costs. Dig Dis Sci 2015; 60: 3482-3490



[PMID: 26093612 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-015-3761-2]

- Gkolfakis P, Tziatzios G, Dimitriadis GD, Triantafyllou K. New endoscopes and add-on devices to improve colonoscopy 47 performance. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 3784-3796 [PMID: 28638218 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i21.3784]
- Argyropoulos SK, Mahmood SK, Campbell EJ, Richter JM. Improving the Quality of Inpatient Bowel Preparation for 48 Colonoscopies. Dig Dis Sci 2018; 63: 338-344 [PMID: 29302876 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-017-4896-0]
- 49 Sinagra E, Luppino I, Messina M, Stasi E, Utzeri E, Messina C, Belletrutti P, Fabbri C, Anderloni A. Endoscopic approach to early gastric cancer in older adults. J Geriatr Oncol 2021; 12: 160-162 [PMID: 32467026 DOI: 10.1016/j.jgo.2020.05.0051
- Neilson LJ, Thirugnanasothy S, Rees CJ. Colonoscopy in the very elderly. Br Med Bull 2018; 127: 33-41 [PMID: 50 29868786 DOI: 10.1093/bmb/Ldy018]
- Kumar A, Lin L, Bernheim O, Bagiella E, Jandorf L, Itzkowitz SH, Shah BJ. Effect of Functional Status on the Quality of 51 Bowel Preparation in Elderly Patients Undergoing Screening and Surveillance Colonoscopy. Gut Liver 2016; 10: 569-573 [PMID: 27021501 DOI: 10.5009/gnl15230]
- Schmilovitz-Weiss H, Weiss A, Boaz M, Levin I, Chervinski A, Shemesh E. Predictors of failed colonoscopy in 52 nonagenarians: a single-center experience. J Clin Gastroenterol 2007; 41: 388-393 [PMID: 17413608 DOI: 10.1097/01.mcg.0000225666.46050.78]
- NPSA. Rapid Response Report: Reducing risk of harm from oral bowel cleansing solutions. Feb 19, 2009. [cited 20 Jan 53 2023]. Available from: https://www.cas.mhra.gov.uk/ViewandAcknowledgment/ ViewAttachment.aspx?Attachment_id=100794
- 54 Connor A, Tolan D, Hughes S, Carr N, Tomson C. Consensus guidelines for the safe prescription and administration of oral bowel-cleansing agents. Gut 2012; 61: 1525-1532 [PMID: 22842619 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300861]
- Ogino N, Aridome G, Oshima J, Shibata M, Watanabe T, Kume K, Yoshikawa I, Harada M. Serum Albumin 55 Concentrations Predict hypovolaemia Caused by Polyethylene Glycol Plus Ascorbic Acid Prior to Colonoscopy in Elderly Patients. Drugs Aging 2016; 33: 355-363 [PMID: 26895453 DOI: 10.1007/s40266-016-0355-4]
- Maida M, Facciorusso A, Sinagra E, Morreale G, Sferrazza S, Scalisi G, Pallio S, Camilleri S. Predictive Factors of 56 Adequate Bowel Cleansing for Colonoscopy in the Elderly: A Retrospective Analysis of a Prospective Cohort. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 36428927 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12112867]
- 57 Ho SB, Hovsepians R, Gupta S. Optimal Bowel Cleansing for Colonoscopy in the Elderly Patient. Drugs Aging 2017; 34: 163-172 [PMID: 28214970 DOI: 10.1007/s40266-017-0436-z]
- Shahini E, Passera R, Lo Secco G, Arezzo A. A systematic review and meta-analysis of endoscopic mucosal resection vs 58 endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal sessile/non-polypoid lesions. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol 2022; 31: 835-847 [PMID: 35112654 DOI: 10.1080/13645706.2022.2032759]
- 59 Shahini E, Libânio D, Lo Secco G, Pisani A, Arezzo A. Indications and outcomes of endoscopic resection for nonpedunculated colorectal lesions: A narrative review. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 13: 275-295 [PMID: 34512876 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v13.i8.275]
- 60 Landreneau SW, Di Palma JA. Update on preparation for colonoscopy. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2010; 12: 366-373 [PMID: 20640945 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-010-0121-4]
- 61 Chokshi RV, Hovis CE, Hollander T, Early DS, Wang JS. Prevalence of missed adenomas in patients with inadequate bowel preparation on screening colonoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 75: 1197-1203 [PMID: 22381531 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.01.005
- Belsey J, Epstein O, Heresbach D. Systematic review: oral bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 62 2007; **25**: 373-384 [PMID: 17269992 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.03212.x]
- Ben-Horin S, Bar-Meir S, Avidan B. The outcome of a second preparation for colonoscopy after preparation failure in the 63 first procedure. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 69: 626-630 [PMID: 19251002 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.08.027]
- Hassan C, Fuccio L, Bruno M, Pagano N, Spada C, Carrara S, Giordanino C, Rondonotti E, Curcio G, Dulbecco P, Fabbri 64 C, Della Casa D, Maiero S, Simone A, Iacopini F, Feliciangeli G, Manes G, Rinaldi A, Zullo A, Rogai F, Repici A. A predictive model identifies patients most likely to have inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 10: 501-506 [PMID: 22239959 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.12.037]
- Gandhi K, Tofani C, Sokach C, Patel D, Kastenberg D, Daskalakis C. Patient Characteristics Associated With Quality of 65 Colonoscopy Preparation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 357-369.e10 [PMID: 28826680 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.08.016]
- Agrawal R, Majeed M, Attar BM, Flores E, Haque Z, Ba Aqeel S, Wang Y, Omar YA, Parajuli P, Demetria M, Gandhi S. 66 Predictors of poor bowel preparations and colonoscopy cancellations in inpatient colonoscopies, a single center retrospective study. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 7: 4 [PMID: 35243113 DOI: 10.21037/tgh.2020.02.13]
- Borg BB, Gupta NK, Zuckerman GR, Banerjee B, Gyawali CP. Impact of obesity on bowel preparation for colonoscopy. 67 Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 7: 670-675 [PMID: 19245852 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2009.02.014]
- Rex DK. Optimal bowel preparation--a practical guide for clinicians. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 11: 419-425 68 [PMID: 24686267 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.35]
- 69 Lebwohl B, Wang TC, Neugut AI. Socioeconomic and other predictors of colonoscopy preparation quality. Dig Dis Sci 2010; 55: 2014-2020 [PMID: 20082217 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-009-1079-7]
- 70 Hassan C, Bretthauer M, Kaminski MF, Polkowski M, Rembacken B, Saunders B, Benamouzig R, Holme O, Green S, Kuiper T, Marmo R, Omar M, Petruzziello L, Spada C, Zullo A, Dumonceau JM; European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guideline. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 142-150 [PMID: 23335011 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1326186]
- Dik VK, Moons LM, Hüyük M, van der Schaar P, de Vos Tot Nederveen Cappel WH, Ter Borg PC, Meijssen MA, 71 Ouwendijk RJ, Le Fèvre DM, Stouten M, van der Galiën O, Hiemstra TJ, Monkelbaan JF, van Oijen MG, Siersema PD; Colonoscopy Quality Initiative. Predicting inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy in participants receiving splitdose bowel preparation: development and validation of a prediction score. Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 81: 665-672 [PMID:



25600879 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.09.066]

- Govani SM, Elliott EE, Menees SB, Judd SL, Saini SD, Anastassiades CP, Urganus AL, Boyce SJ, Schoenfeld PS. 72 Predictors of suboptimal bowel preparation in asymptomatic patients undergoing average-risk screening colonoscopy. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2016; 8: 616-622 [PMID: 27668072 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v8.i17.616]
- 73 Fayad NF, Kahi CJ, Abd El-Jawad KH, Shin AS, Shah S, Lane KA, Imperiale TF. Association between body mass index and quality of split bowel preparation. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 11: 1478-1485 [PMID: 23811246 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.05.037]
- Sharara AI, Harb AH, Sarkis FS, Chalhoub JM, Habib RH. Body mass index and quality of bowel preparation: Real life 74 vs. clinical trials. Arab J Gastroenterol 2016; 17: 11-16 [PMID: 26795085 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajg.2015.12.001]
- Passi M, Rahman F, Koh C, Kumar S. Efficacy and tolerability of colonoscopies in overweight and obese patients: Results 75 from a national database on gastrointestinal endoscopic outcomes. Endosc Int Open 2022; 10: E311-E320 [PMID: 35433209 DOI: 10.1055/a-1672-3525]
- Hookey L, Bertiger G, Johnson KL 2nd, Boules M, Ando M, Dahdal DN. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of a ready-to-76 drink bowel preparation in overweight and obese adults: subanalysis by body mass index from a phase III, assessorblinded study. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2020; 13: 1756284820910050 [PMID: 32313553 DOI: 10.1177/1756284820910050]
- Baile-Maxia S, Amlani B, Martínez RJ. Bowel-cleansing efficacy of the 1L polyethylene glycol-based bowel preparation 77 NER1006 (PLENVU) in patient subgroups in two phase III trials. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2021; 14: 17562848211020286 [PMID: 34249144 DOI: 10.1177/17562848211020286]
- Larsson SC, Orsini N, Wolk A. Diabetes mellitus and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 78 97: 1679-1687 [PMID: 16288121 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/dji375]
- Enck P, Rathmann W, Spiekermann M, Czerner D, Tschöpe D, Ziegler D, Strohmeyer G, Gries FA. Prevalence of 79 gastrointestinal symptoms in diabetic patients and non-diabetic subjects. Z Gastroenterol 1994; 32: 637-641 [PMID: 78869721
- Chen H, Zheng X, Zong X, Li Z, Li N, Hur J, Fritz CD, Chapman W Jr, Nickel KB, Tipping A, Colditz GA, Giovannucci 80 EL, Olsen MA, Fields RC, Cao Y. Metabolic syndrome, metabolic comorbid conditions and risk of early-onset colorectal cancer. Gut 2021; 70: 1147-1154 [PMID: 33037055 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321661]
- Piper MS, Saad RJ. Diabetes Mellitus and the Colon. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2017; 15: 460-474 [PMID: 81 29063998 DOI: 10.1007/s11938-017-0151-1]
- Madhoun MF, Bitar H, Bhatti O, Zia H, Parava P, Bashir MH. Diabetics on Narcotics Are Less Likely to Achieve 82 Excellent Bowel Preparation Than Are Patients with Either Condition. Dig Dis Sci 2017; 62: 723-729 [PMID: 28035547 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-016-4417-6]
- 83 Hochberg I, Segol O, Shental R, Shimoni P, Eldor R. Antihyperglycemic therapy during colonoscopy preparation: A review and suggestions for practical recommendations. United European Gastroenterol J 2019; 7: 735-740 [PMID: 31316777 DOI: 10.1177/2050640619846365]
- Taylor C, Schubert ML. Decreased efficacy of polyethylene glycol lavage solution (golytely) in the preparation of diabetic 84 patients for outpatient colonoscopy: a prospective and blinded study. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 710-714 [PMID: 11280539 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03610.x]
- Ozturk NA, Gokturk HS, Demir M, Erdogan D, Unler GK, Gur G, Yilmaz U. The effect of autonomous neuropathy on 85 bowel preparation in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Colorectal Dis 2009; 24: 1407-1412 [PMID: 19582466 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-009-0757-4]
- Romero RV, Mahadeva S. Factors influencing quality of bowel preparation for colonoscopy. World J Gastrointest Endosc 86 2013; 5: 39-46 [PMID: 23424015 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v5.i2.39]
- Ozturk NA, Gokturk HS, Demir M, Unler GK, Gur G, Yilmaz U. Efficacy and safety of sodium phosphate for colon cleansing in type 2 diabetes mellitus. South Med J 2010; 103: 1097-1102 [PMID: 20856180 DOI: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181f20b13]
- 88 Alvarez-Gonzalez MA, Flores-Le Roux JA, Seoane A, Pedro-Botet J, Carot L, Fernandez-Clotet A, Raga A, Pantaleon MA, Barranco L, Bory F, Lorenzo-Zuñiga V. Efficacy of a multifactorial strategy for bowel preparation in diabetic patients undergoing colonoscopy: a randomized trial. Endoscopy 2016; 48: 1003-1009 [PMID: 27490086 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-111320]
- Hayes A, Buffum M, Hughes J. Diabetic colon preparation comparison study. Gastroenterol Nurs 2011; 34: 377-382 89 [PMID: 21979399 DOI: 10.1097/SGA.0b013e31822c3a24]
- Grigg E, Schubert MC, Hall J, Rahhal F, Raina D, Sridhar S, Chamberlain SM. Lubiprostone used with polyethylene 90 glycol in diabetic patients enhances colonoscopy preparation quality. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 2: 263-267 [PMID: 21160617 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v2.i7.263]
- 91 Panarese A, Pesce F, Porcelli P, Riezzo G, Iacovazzi PA, Leone CM, De Carne M, Rinaldi CM, Shahini E. Chronic functional constipation is strongly linked to vitamin D deficiency. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 1729-1740 [PMID: 31011257 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i14.1729]
- 92 Stewart WF, Liberman JN, Sandler RS, Woods MS, Stemhagen A, Chee E, Lipton RB, Farup CE. Epidemiology of constipation (EPOC) study in the United States: relation of clinical subtypes to sociodemographic features. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94: 3530-3540 [PMID: 10606315 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01642.x]
- 93 Higgins PD, Johanson JF. Epidemiology of constipation in North America: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol 2004; **99**: 750-759 [PMID: 15089911 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2004.04114.x]
- Fang J, Fu HY, Ma D, Wang D, Liu YP, Wang YF, Zhu CP, Qian W, Bai Y, Li ZS. Constipation, fiber intake and non-94 compliance contribute to inadequate colonoscopy bowel preparation: a prospective cohort study. J Dig Dis 2016; 17: 458-463 [PMID: 27356275 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12376]
- 95 Park HJ, Chae MH, Kim HS, Kim JW, Kim MY, Baik SK, Kwon SO, Kim HM, Lee KJ. Colon Transit Time May Predict Inadequate Bowel Preparation in Patients With Chronic Constipation. Intest Res 2015; 13: 339-345 [PMID: 26576140 DOI: 10.5217/ir.2015.13.4.339]



- Pathipati MP, Silvernale CJ, Barshop KG, Ha JB, Richter JM, Staller KD. Rectal Evacuation Disorders are Associated 96 With Poor Bowel Preparation in Patients With Chronic Constipation: Results From Two Centers. J Clin Gastroenterol 2022; 56: 438-443 [PMID: 34334764 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000001593]
- 97 Stengel JZ, Jones DP. Single-dose lubiprostone along with split-dose PEG solution without dietary restrictions for bowel cleansing prior to colonoscopy: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 2224-2230 [PMID: 18684185 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.02053.x]
- Parente F, Vailati C, Bargiggia S, Manes G, Fontana P, Masci E, Arena M, Spinzi G, Baccarin A, Mazzoleni G, Testoni 98 PA. 2-Litre polyethylene glycol-citrate-simethicone plus bisacodyl versus 4-litre polyethylene glycol as preparation for colonoscopy in chronic constipation. Dig Liver Dis 2015; 47: 857-863 [PMID: 26232311 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2015.06.008]
- Lu J, Cao Q, Wang X, Pu J, Peng X. Application of Oral Lactulose in Combination With Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte 99 Powder for Colonoscopy Bowel Preparation in Patients With Constipation. Am J Ther 2016; 23: e1020-e1024 [PMID: 26658804 DOI: 10.1097/MJT.000000000000351]
- 100 Kasugai K, Iwai H, Kuboyama N, Yoshikawa A, Fukudo S. Efficacy and safety of a crystalline lactulose preparation (SK-1202) in Japanese patients with chronic constipation: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-finding study. J Gastroenterol 2019; 54: 530-540 [PMID: 30643982 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-018-01545-7]
- 101 Yoshida N, Inagaki Y, Fukumoto K, Yoriki H, Inada Y, Murakami T, Tomita Y, Hashimoto H, Sugino S, Hirose R, Dohi O, Inoue K, Itoh Y. The Efficacy of Short-Duration Polyethylene Glycol plus Electrolytes for Improving Bowel Preparation of Colonoscopy in Patients with Chronic Constipation. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2020; 2020: 8886073 [PMID: 33299407 DOI: 10.1155/2020/8886073]
- 102 Ichijima R, Suzuki S, Esaki M, Sugita T, Ogura K, Kusano C, Ikehara H, Gotoda T. Efficacy of macrogol 4000 plus electrolytes in bowel preparation for colonoscopy in patients with chronic constipation. BMC Gastroenterol 2021; 21: 387 [PMID: 34666685 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-01976-2]
- Banerjee R, Chaudhari H, Shah N, Saravanan A, Tandan M, Reddy DN. Addition of Lubiprostone to polyethylene 103 glycol(PEG) enhances the quality & efficacy of colonoscopy preparation: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. BMC Gastroenterol 2016; 16: 133 [PMID: 27737636 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-016-0542-0]
- Dang JT, Moolla M, Dang TT, Shaw A, Tian C, Karmali S, Sultanian R. Sodium phosphate is superior to polyethylene 104 glycol in constipated patients undergoing colonoscopy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 900-909 [PMID: 32124060 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07464-0]
- 105 Martel M, Ménard C, Restellini S, Kherad O, Almadi M, Bouchard M, Barkun AN. Which Patient-Related Factors Determine Optimal Bowel Preparation? Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2018; 16: 406-416 [PMID: 30390208 DOI: 10.1007/s11938-018-0208-9
- Manes G, Fontana P, de Nucci G, Radaelli F, Hassan C, Ardizzone S. Colon Cleansing for Colonoscopy in Patients with 106 Ulcerative Colitis: Efficacy and Acceptability of a 2-L PEG Plus Bisacodyl Versus 4-L PEG. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2015; 21: 2137-2144 [PMID: 26164666 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000463]
- Maida M, Morreale GC, Sferrazza S, Sinagra E, Scalisi G, Vitello A, Vettori G, Rossi F, Catarella D, Di Bartolo CE, 107 Schillaci D, Raimondo D, Camilleri S, Orlando A, Macaluso FS. Effectiveness and safety of 1L PEG-ASC preparation for colonoscopy in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Dig Liver Dis 2021; 53: 1171-1177 [PMID: 33994129 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2021.04.006]
- Kumar A, Shenoy V, Buckley MC, Durbin L, Mackey J, Mone A, Swaminath A. Endoscopic Disease Activity and 108 Biologic Therapy Are Independent Predictors of Suboptimal Bowel Preparation in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease Undergoing Colonoscopy. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 67: 4851-4865 [PMID: 35624326 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-022-07530-8
- Gu P, Lew D, Oh SJ, Vipani A, Ko J, Hsu K, Mirakhor E, Pattisapu V, Bullen T, Fuller G, Spiegel BMR, Almario CV. 109 Comparing the Real-World Effectiveness of Competing Colonoscopy Preparations: Results of a Prospective Trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114: 305-314 [PMID: 30730859 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000057]
- 110 Gupta A, Dhiman RK, Kumari S, Rana S, Agarwal R, Duseja A, Chawla Y. Role of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth and delayed gastrointestinal transit time in cirrhotic patients with minimal hepatic encephalopathy. J Hepatol 2010; 53: 849-855 [PMID: 20675008 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.05.017]
- 111 Maheshwari A, Thuluvath PJ. Autonomic neuropathy may be associated with delayed orocaecal transit time in patients with cirrhosis. Auton Neurosci 2005; 118: 135-139 [PMID: 15795187 DOI: 10.1016/j.autneu.2005.02.003]
- Anam AK, Karia K, Jesudian AB, Bosworth BP. Cirrhotic Patients Have Worse Bowel Preparation at Screening 112 Colonoscopy than Chronic Liver Disease Patients without Cirrhosis. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2016; 6: 297-302 [PMID: 28003719 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2016.08.009]
- Salso A, De Leonardis F, Lionetti R, Lenci I, Angelico M, Telese A, Baiocchi L. Standard bowel cleansing is highly 113 ineffective in cirrhotic patients undergoing screening colonoscopy. Dig Liver Dis 2015; 47: 523-525 [PMID: 25819557 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2015.02.013]
- Lee JM, Lee JH, Kim ES, Lee JM, Yoo IK, Kim SH, Choi HS, Keum B, Seo YS, Jeen YT, Lee HS, Chun HJ, Um SH, 114 Kim CD. The safety and effectiveness of 2-liter polyethylene glycol plus ascorbic acid in patients with liver cirrhosis: A retrospective observational study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: e9011 [PMID: 29390432 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000009011]
- 115 Clayton DB, Palmer WC, Robison SW, Heckman MG, Chimato NT, Harnois DM, Francis DL. Colonoscopy bowel preparation quality improvement for patients with decompensated cirrhosis undergoing evaluation for liver transplantation. Clin Transplant 2016; 30: 1236-1241 [PMID: 27423053 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12809]
- 116 Lien YH. Is bowel preparation before colonoscopy a risky business for the kidney? Nat Clin Pract Nephrol 2008; 4: 606-614 [PMID: 18797448 DOI: 10.1038/ncpneph0939]
- Russmann S, Lamerato L, Marfatia A, Motsko SP, Pezzullo JC, Olds G, Jones JK. Risk of impaired renal function after 117 colonoscopy: a cohort study in patients receiving either oral sodium phosphate or polyethylene glycol. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102: 2655-2663 [PMID: 17970832 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01610.x]
- 118 Lim YJ, Hong SJ. What is the best strategy for successful bowel preparation under special conditions? World J



Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 2741-2745 [PMID: 24659865 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i11.2741]

- 119 Choi NK, Lee J, Chang Y, Jung SY, Kim YJ, Lee SM, Lee JH, Kim JY, Song HJ, Park BJ. Polyethylene glycol bowel preparation does not eliminate the risk of acute renal failure: a population-based case-crossover study. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 208-213 [PMID: 23322476 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1326031]
- 120 Kontani M, Hara A, Ohta S, Ikeda T. Hypermagnesemia induced by massive cathartic ingestion in an elderly woman without pre-existing renal dysfunction. Intern Med 2005; 44: 448-452 [PMID: 15942092 DOI: 10.2169/internalmedicine.44.448
- Desmeules S, Bergeron MJ, Isenring P. Acute phosphate nephropathy and renal failure. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 1006-121 1007 [PMID: 12954755 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200309043491020]
- Mathus-Vliegen EM, van der Vliet K. Safety, patient's tolerance, and efficacy of a 2-liter vitamin C-enriched macrogol 122 bowel preparation: a randomized, endoscopist-blinded prospective comparison with a 4-liter macrogol solution. Dis Colon Rectum 2013; 56: 1002-1012 [PMID: 23838870 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e3182989f05]
- 123 Lee JM, Keum B, Yoo IK, Kim SH, Choi HS, Kim ES, Seo YS, Jeen YT, Chun HJ, Lee HS, Um SH, Kim CD, Kim MG, Jo SK. Polyethylene glycol plus ascorbic acid for bowel preparation in chronic kidney disease. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e4755 [PMID: 27603372 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000004755]
- 124 Lee SP, Park E, Kim HV, Sung IK, Kim JH, Lee SY, Park HS, Shim CS. Does 2 L Polyethylene Glycol Plus Ascorbic Acid Increase the Risk of Renal Impairment Compared to 4 L Polyethylene Glycol? Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61: 3207-3214 [PMID: 27624692 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-016-4297-9]
- Yoshida N, Naito Y, Murakami T, Hirose R, Ogiso K, Inada Y, Dohi O, Okayama T, Kamada K, Uchiyama K, Ishikawa T, Handa O, Konishi H, Siah KT, Yagi N, Itoh Y. Safety and Efficacy of a Same-Day Low-Volume 1 L PEG Bowel Preparation in Colonoscopy for the Elderly People and People with Renal Dysfunction. Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61: 3229-3235 [PMID: 27487795 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-016-4262-7]
- 126 Ohmiya N, Nakagawa Y, Horiguchi N, Omori T, Kamano T, Funasaka K, Nagasaka M, Shibata T. Safety of Polyethylene Glycol Solution plus Ascorbic Acid for Bowel Preparation for Colonoscopy in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2021; 2021: 6696591 [PMID: 33815499 DOI: 10.1155/2021/6696591]
- Russmann S, Lamerato L, Motsko SP, Pezzullo JC, Faber MD, Jones JK. Risk of further decline in renal function after the 127 use of oral sodium phosphate or polyethylene glycol in patients with a preexisting glomerular filtration rate below 60 ml/ min. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 2707-2716 [PMID: 18945285 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.02201.x]
- 128 Markowitz GS, Stokes MB, Radhakrishnan J, D'Agati VD. Acute phosphate nephropathy following oral sodium phosphate bowel purgative: an underrecognized cause of chronic renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16: 3389-3396 [PMID: 16192415 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005050496]
- 129 Granberry MC, White LM, Gardner SF. Exacerbation of congestive heart failure after administration of polyethylene glycol-electrolyte lavage solution. Ann Pharmacother 1995; 29: 1232-1235 [PMID: 8672827 DOI: 10.1177/106002809502901208
- 130 Lazzaroni M, Bianchi Porro G. Preparation, premedication, and surveillance. Endoscopy 2001; 33: 103-108 [PMID: 11272212 DOI: 10.1055/s-2001-11665]
- Parikh K, Weitz H. Can a bowel preparation exacerbate heart failure? Cleve Clin J Med 2011; 78: 157-160 [PMID: 131 21364158 DOI: 10.3949/ccjm.77a.10025]
- 132 Samad N, Fraser I. Severe symptomatic hyponatremia associated with the use of polyethylene glycol-based bowel preparation. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep 2017; 2017 [PMID: 28458891 DOI: 10.1530/EDM-16-0119]
- 133 Guardiola-Arévalo A, Granja Navacerrada A, García-Alonso FJ, Bernal Checa P, Piqué Becerra R, Guerra I, Algaba A, de Andrés Esteban E, Bermejo F. Randomized clinical trial evaluating the effect of a visual educational leaflet on the preparation of colonoscopies in hospitalized patients. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2019; 111: 946-952 [PMID: 31755280 DOI: 10.17235/reed.2019.6317/2019
- Poola S, Jampala N, Tumin D, Ali E. Factors influencing inpatient colonoscopy bowel preparation quality. Minerva 134 Gastroenterol Dietol 2020; 66: 194-200 [PMID: 32218419 DOI: 10.23736/S1121-421X.20.02657-4]
- ASGE Standards of Practice Committee, Anderson MA, Ben-Menachem T, Gan SI, Appalaneni V, Banerjee S, Cash BD, Fisher L, Harrison ME, Fanelli RD, Fukami N, Ikenberry SO, Jain R, Khan K, Krinsky ML, Lichtenstein DR, Maple JT, Shen B, Strohmeyer L, Baron T, Dominitz JA. Management of antithrombotic agents for endoscopic procedures. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 70: 1060-1070 [PMID: 19889407 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.09.040]
- 136 Huang L, Zhou JG, Zhang Y, Wang F, Wang Y, Liu DH, Li XJ, Lv SP, Jin SH, Bai YJ, Ma H. Opioid-Induced Constipation Relief From Fixed-Ratio Combination Prolonged-Release Oxycodone/Naloxone Compared With Oxycodone and Morphine for Chronic Nonmalignant Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Pain Symptom Manage 2017; 54: 737-748.e3 [PMID: 28736104 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.07.025]
- Velázquez Rivera I, Velázquez Clavarana L, García Velasco P, Melero Ramos C. Opioid-induced constipation in chronic 137 pain: Experience with 180 patients. J Opioid Manag 2019; 15: 69-76 [PMID: 30855724 DOI: 10.5055/jom.2019.0487]
- 138 Lim SW, Seo YW, Sinn DH, Kim JY, Chang DK, Kim JJ, Rhee JC, Shim SG, Kim YH. Impact of previous gastric or colonic resection on polyethylene glycol bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Surg Endosc 2012; 26: 1554-1559 [PMID: 22170320 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-011-2068-4]
- Mussetto A, Frazzoni L, Paggi S, Dari S, Laterza L, Radaelli F, Hassan C, Triossi O, Fuccio L. Split dosing with a low-139 volume preparation is not inferior to split dosing with a high-volume preparation for bowel cleansing in patients with a history of colorectal resection: a randomized trial. Endoscopy 2015; 47: 917-924 [PMID: 25910064 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1391987]
- 140 Bonavina L, Arini A, Ficano L, Iannuzziello D, Pasquale L, Aragona SE, Ciprandi G, On Digestive Disorders ISG. Postsurgical intestinal dysbiosis: use of an innovative mixture (Lactobacillus plantarum LP01, Lactobacillus lactis subspecies cremoris LLC02, Lactobacillus delbrueckii LDD01). Acta Biomed 2019; 90: 18-23 [PMID: 31292422 DOI: 10.23750/abm.v90i7-S.8651]
- 141 Rex DK. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: entering an era of increased expectations for efficacy. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 458-462 [PMID: 24239858 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.11.003]



- 142 Vather R, O'Grady G, Arkwright JW, Rowbotham DS, Cheng LK, Dinning PG, Bissett IP. Restoration of normal colonic motor patterns and meal responses after distal colorectal resection. Br J Surg 2016; 103: 451-461 [PMID: 26780492 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.10074]
- 143 Huizinga JD, Lammers WJ. Gut peristalsis is governed by a multitude of cooperating mechanisms. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2009; 296: G1-G8 [PMID: 18988693 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.90380.2008]
- Mañé N, Jimenez M. Interplay between myogenic pacemakers and enteric neurons determine distinct motor patterns in the 144 rat colon. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2014; 26: 1508-1512 [PMID: 25088991 DOI: 10.1111/nmo.12393]
- Phillips SF. Functions of the large bowel: an overview. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1984; 93: 1-12 [PMID: 6145214] 145
- 146 Yoo IK, Jeen YT, Choi SJ, Choi HS, Keum B, Kim ES, Chun HJ, Lee HS, Kim CD. Evaluation of bowel preparation quality in patients with a history of colorectal resection. Turk J Gastroenterol 2019; 30: 278-283 [PMID: 30666966 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2018.17517
- 147 Kim B, Kim BC, Kim J, Oh HJ, Ryu KH, Park BJ, Sohn DK, Hong CW, Han KS. Quality of Bowel Preparation for Colonoscopy in Patients with a History of Abdomino-Pelvic Surgery: Retrospective Cohort Study. Yonsei Med J 2019; 60: 73-78 [PMID: 30554493 DOI: 10.3349/ymj.2019.60.1.73]
- 148 Chung E, Kang J, Baik SH, Lee KY. Impact of Resected Colon Site on Quality of Bowel Preparation in Patients Who Underwent Prior Colorectal Resection. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2017; 27: 290-294 [PMID: 28614169 DOI: 10.1097/SLE.000000000000425
- Kim JW, Han JH, Boo SJ, Ko OB, Park SK, Park SH, Yang DH, Jung KW, Kim KJ, Ye BD, Myung SJ, Yang SK, Kim 149 JH, Byeon JS. Rescue bowel preparation: same day 2 L polyethylene glycol addition, not superior to bisacodyl addition 7 days later. Dig Dis Sci 2014; 59: 2215-2221 [PMID: 24748228 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-014-3125-3]
- Gimeno-García AZ, Hernandez G, Aldea A, Nicolás-Pérez D, Jiménez A, Carrillo M, Felipe V, Alarcón-Fernández O, 150 Hernandez-Guerra M, Romero R, Alonso I, Gonzalez Y, Adrian Z, Moreno M, Ramos L, Quintero E. Comparison of Two Intensive Bowel Cleansing Regimens in Patients With Previous Poor Bowel Preparation: A Randomized Controlled Study. Am J Gastroenterol 2017; 112: 951-958 [PMID: 28291237 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2017.53]
- 151 Akgul G, Ozgur Yeniova A, Ozsoy Z, Yenidogan E, Kefeli A, Dasıran MF, Daldal E, Akbas A, Okan İ. Effect and Tolerability of Same-Day Repeat Colonoscopy. J Invest Surg 2020; 33: 459-465 [PMID: 30380338 DOI: 10.1080/08941939.2018.1513611]
- 152 Sohn N, Weinstein MA. Management of the poorly prepared colonoscopy patient: colonoscopic colon enemas as a preparation for colonoscopy. Dis Colon Rectum 2008; 51: 462-466 [PMID: 18188651 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-007-9127-x]
- Nguyen DL, Wieland M. Risk factors predictive of poor quality preparation during average risk colonoscopy screening: 153 the importance of health literacy. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2010; 19: 369-372 [PMID: 21188326]
- 154 Chokshi RV, Hovis CE, Colditz GA, Early DS, Wang JS. Physician recommendations and patient adherence after inadequate bowel preparation on screening colonoscopy. Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 2151-2155 [PMID: 23535876 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-013-2642-9]
- 155 Murphy CJ, Jewel Samadder N, Cox K, Iqbal R, So B, Croxford D, Fang JC. Outcomes of Next-Day Versus Non-next-Day Colonoscopy After an Initial Inadequate Bowel Preparation. Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61: 46-52 [PMID: 26289257 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-015-3833-3
- Horiuchi A, Nakayama Y, Kajiyama M, Kato N, Kamijima T, Ichise Y, Tanaka N. Colonoscopic enema as rescue for 156 inadequate bowel preparation before colonoscopy: a prospective, observational study. Colorectal Dis 2012; 14: e735-e739 [PMID: 22630138 DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2012.03107.x]
- Yang HJ, Park DI, Park SK, Kim S, Lee T, Jung Y, Eun CS, Han DS. A Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing 157 Colonoscopic Enema With Additional Oral Preparation as a Salvage for Inadequate Bowel Cleansing Before Colonoscopy. J Clin Gastroenterol 2019; 53: e308-e315 [PMID: 30001288 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.000000000001087]
- 158 Rigaux J, Juriens I, Devière J. A novel system for the improvement of colonic cleansing during colonoscopy. Endoscopy 2012; 44: 703-706 [PMID: 22723186 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1309890]
- 159 Gimeno-García AZ, Baute JL, Hernandez G, Morales D, Gonzalez-Pérez CD, Nicolás-Pérez D, Alarcon-Fernández O, Jiménez A, Hernandez-Guerra M, Romero R, Alonso I, Gonzalez Y, Adrian Z, Carrillo M, Ramos L, Quintero E. Risk factors for inadequate bowel preparation: a validated predictive score. Endoscopy 2017; 49: 536-543 [PMID: 28282690] DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-101683]
- Berger A, Cesbron-Métivier E, Bertrais S, Olivier A, Becq A, Boursier J, Lannes A, Luet D, Pateu E, Dib N, Caroli-Bosc 160 FX, Vitellius C, Calès P. A predictive score of inadequate bowel preparation based on a self-administered questionnaire: PREPA-CO. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2021; 45: 101693 [PMID: 33852957 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2021.101693]
- Sadeghi A, Rajabnia M, Bagheri M, Jamshidizadeh S, Saberi S, Shahnazi P, Pasharavesh L, Pourhoseingholi MA, Mirzaei 161 M, Asadzadeh Aghdaei H, Zali MR. Predictive factors of inadequate bowel preparation for elective colonoscopy. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench 2022; 15: 66-78 [PMID: 35611256]
- Kurlander JE, Waljee AK, Menees SB, Lipson R, Kokaly AN, Read AJ, Shehadeh KS, Cohn A, Saini SD. Regression 162 and Random Forest Machine Learning Have Limited Performance in Predicting Bowel Preparation in Veteran Population. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 67: 2827-2841 [PMID: 34169434 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-021-07113-z]
- Samadder NJ, Curtin K, Tuohy TM, Pappas L, Boucher K, Provenzale D, Rowe KG, Mineau GP, Smith K, Pimentel R, 163 Kirchhoff AC, Burt RW. Characteristics of missed or interval colorectal cancer and patient survival: a population-based study. Gastroenterology 2014; 146: 950-960 [PMID: 24417818 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.013]
- 164 Facciorusso A, Di Maso M, Serviddio G, Vendemiale G, Spada C, Costamagna G, Muscatiello N. Factors Associated With Recurrence of Advanced Colorectal Adenoma After Endoscopic Resection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 1148-1154.e4 [PMID: 27005802 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.03.017]
- Maida M, Morreale G, Sinagra E, Ianiro G, Margherita V, Cirrone Cipolla A, Camilleri S. Quality measures improving 165 endoscopic screening of colorectal cancer: a review of the literature. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2019; 19: 223-235 [PMID: 30614284 DOI: 10.1080/14737140.2019.1565999]
- Facciorusso A, Del Prete V, Buccino RV, Della Valle N, Nacchiero MC, Monica F, Cannizzaro R, Muscatiello N. Comparative Efficacy of Colonoscope Distal Attachment Devices in Increasing Rates of Adenoma Detection:



A Network Meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 1209-1219.e9 [PMID: 29133257 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.11.007]

- 167 Maida M, Camilleri S, Manganaro M, Garufi S, Scarpulla G. New endoscopy advances to refine adenoma detection rate for colorectal cancer screening: None is the winner. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2017; 9: 402-406 [PMID: 29085566 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v9.i10.402]
- 168 Maida M, Macaluso FS, Sferrazza S, Ventimiglia M, Sinagra E. Effectiveness and safety of NER1006 versus standard bowel preparations: A meta-analysis of randomized phase-3 clinical trials. Dig Liver Dis 2020; 52: 833-839 [PMID: 32586765 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2020.05.046]



WŨ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1708-1720

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1708

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Gut microbiome therapeutic modulation to alleviate drug-induced hepatic damage in COVID-19 patients

Khansa Ahsan, Munir Ahmad Anwar, Nayla Munawar

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Baloch Z, China; Ling O, China; Mahmoud MZ, Saudi Arabia

Received: September 15, 2022 Peer-review started: September 15, 2022 First decision: November 15, 2022 Revised: January 6, 2023 Accepted: March 7, 2023 Article in press: March 7, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Khansa Ahsan, Nayla Munawar, Department of Chemistry, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain 15551, United Arab Emirates

Munir Ahmad Anwar, Industrial Biotechnology Division, National Institute for Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering College, Pakistan Institute of Engineering and Applied Sciences (NIBGE-C, PIEAS), Faisalabad 38000, Pakistan

Corresponding author: Nayla Munawar, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Chemistry, College of Science, United Arab Emirates University (UAEU), Al Ain 15551, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. nmunawar@uaeu.ac.ae

Abstract

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 virus, its symptoms, treatment, and post-COVID-19 effects have been a major focus of research since 2020. In addition to respiratory symptoms, different clinical variants of the virus have been associated with dynamic symptoms and multiorgan diseases, including liver abnormalities. The release of cytokines by the activation of innate immune cells during viral infection and the high doses of drugs used for COVID-19 treatment are considered major drivers of liver injury in COVID-19 patients. The degree of hepatic inflammation in patients suffering from chronic liver disease and having COVID-19 could be severe and can be estimated through different liver chemistry abnormality markers. Gut microbiota influences liver chemistry through its metabolites. Gut dysbiosis during COVID-19 treatment can promote liver inflammation. Here, we highlighted the bidirectional association of liver physiology and gut microbiota (gut-liver axis) and its potential to manipulate drug-induced chemical abnormalities in the livers of COVID-19 patients.

Key Words: COVID-19; Gut-liver axis; Probiotics; Prebiotics; Cytokines; Gut microbiome

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: There are several reviews in the literature focused on the pathophysiology of liver damage during severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection. However, we highlighted the potential role of gut microbiota in managing drug-induced liver damage during and after coronavirus disease 2019. We shed light on various metabolites produced by gut microorganisms that have a significant role in reducing liver damage in coronavirus disease 2019 with the use of different probiotics and prebiotics.

Citation: Ahsan K, Anwar MA, Munawar N. Gut microbiome therapeutic modulation to alleviate drug-induced hepatic damage in COVID-19 patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(11): 1708-1720 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1708.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1708

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious viral disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) that spreads easily from person to person *via* respiratory droplets in the form of aerosols. COVID-19 has a global overall mortality rate of 2%-3%[1]. After the first case was reported in Wuhan, China in November 2019[2], SARS-CoV-2 rapidly spread throughout the world. Because of the consequential health crisis worldwide, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic disease in March 2020[3]. To date, more than 6 million deaths caused by the virus have been reported around the globe.

Similar to all other RNA viruses, when SARS-CoV-2 enters and adapts to a new human host, its nucleic acids mutate, which results in new viral progeny. Several variants have gained concern during the course of the pandemic due to their impact on human health, such as alpha (B.1.1.7), beta (B.1.351), gamma (P.1), delta (B.1.617.2), and omicron (B.1.1.529)[4]. SARS-CoV-2 binds to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors of the host prior to entry into the cells. ACE2 is a protein receptor found on the epithelial lining of many cells and tissues such as the nose, mouth, and lungs. It is also present on blood vessels, the heart, kidneys, the liver, and the gastrointestinal (GI) tract[5,6].

Patients during the first outbreak of COVID-19 exhibited only respiratory symptoms. Approximately 2.6% suffered from diarrhea, and 2% suffered from chronic liver illness[7]. With the progression of the disease, several patients started to report gastric issues, including diarrhea, nausea, anorexia, vomiting, abdominal pain, anxiety, and intestinal bleeding[8]. These gastric symptoms lead to gut dysbiosis, which is associated with bacterial translocation into the blood during the course of COVID-19 infection, resulting in lethal secondary infections[9]. Similarly, COVID-19 damages the liver to various degrees. Numerous factors that could contribute to liver damage during infection include direct viral cytopathic effects, immune-mediated injury (systemic inflammatory response syndrome), passive hepatic congestion due to right-sided heart failure, liver hypoxia, and drug-induced liver injury[10]. Hence, COVID-19 is not limited to the respiratory tract but is also a multiorgan disease with dynamic symptoms.

To date, there is no effective therapy or antivirals for SARS-CoV-2 due to rapid genomic changes in the virus; however, symptoms are treated with various drugs. Clinical trials are being conducted to evaluate these drugs, although some of them have adverse effects on human health including liver damage or abnormal liver function[10]. It is well known that the use of drugs can cause dysregulation of gut microbiota (gut dysbiosis) as well[11]. Gut dysbiosis can result in hepatic inflammation through the biliary tract, portal vein, and systemic circulation. The translocation of endotoxins and bacteria due to increased intestinal permeability and reduction in the production of commensal gut microbial metabolites such as butyric acid, bile acids, phenolic compounds, indole and bile acid derivatives, and carotenoids promote liver inflammation. The intestine and the liver communication with each other through the gut microbiota and their metabolites have been highlighted in several studies[12]. In addition, the molding of gut community structure with drugs used for the treatment of COVID-19 infection is also well-documented[13,14]. It ultimately disturbs the gut-liver link and participates in the severity of COVID-19 consequently.

This review was conducted with the aim of evaluating and explaining the bidirectional association of the gut microbiota and liver and resolving drug-induced liver damage by investigating the role of the microbiota in restoring liver chemistry. We understand that the incorporation of microbiome-targeted therapeutics may potentially create a new way of alleviating or preventing drug-induced hepatic damage in COVID-19 patients.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

SARS-COV-2 PATHOGENESIS

SARS-CoV-2 invades host cells by binding its spike protein to ACE2 host cell receptors, which is a transmembrane protein. More specifically, spike S1 of SARS-CoV-2 binds to the enzymatic domain of mACE2 (membrane-bound ACE2) of epithelial cells, resulting in the invasion of the virus in the form of endosomes. Since these membrane receptors are known to be expressed on the epithelial lining of the nose, lungs, GI tract, heart, liver, and blood vessels, they are prone to viral attachment[6]. Viral entry occurs via host proteases such as transmembrane serine protease types 2 and 4 followed by viral replication[15]

The SARS-CoV-2 virus also disrupts the normal intestinal microbiome, leading to digestive issues such as diarrhea. Meta-analysis of 60 studies comprising 4243 patients from China, Singapore, South Korea, the United Kingdom, and the United States showed a frequency of GI symptoms (nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, anorexia) of 17.6%. Among these, anorexia and diarrhea were most common at 26.8% and 12.5%, respectively. These symptoms usually appear after 1-2 d of respiratory symptoms (dry cough, sore throat, shortness of breath, pneumonia, and lung infection)[16,17]. Furthermore, there is an increase in the number of lung-derived C-C chemokine receptor 9 and cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4+) T cells in the small intestine by elevated levels of chemokine ligand 25, causing intestinal inflammation [18].

Several studies have shown the association of the GI tract in the pathogenesis of COVID-19, signifying the link between gut microbiota and the clinical outcome of the disease. Consequently, gut microbial dysbiosis has been found to be related to the development and severity of the disease [19,20]. When the gut microbial composition of patients with COVID-19 was compared with healthy individuals, numerous gut commensals with well-known immunomodulatory potential including Faecalibacterium praunitzii, Eubacterium rectale, and bifidobacteria were observed to be depleted in COVID-19 individuals and persisted to be low in stool and blood samples collected up to 1 mo after recovery from the disease. This unbalanced microbial composition indicated stratification according to disease severity corresponding to higher levels of inflammatory cytokines and blood markers including C-reactive protein, lactate dehydrogenase, γ -glutamyl transferase, and aspartate aminotransferase. The study not only specified the association of gut microbiome with disease severity but also indicated that altered gut microbiota may contribute to persistence of symptoms^[20].

Similarly, Zuo et al[21] observed that the gut microbiome profiles of COVID-19 patients had prominent alterations with an increase in opportunistic pathogens such as Coprobacillus, Clostridium ramosum, and Clostridium hathewayi and a decrease in Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (butyrate producing anti-inflammatory bacterium), leading to severity of the disease^[21]. Correspondingly, patients had higher proportions of opportunistic fungal pathogens in their fecal samples including *Candida albicans*, *Candida auris,* and *Aspergillus flavus* when compared to controls. Prolonged gut dysbiosis was observed during the hospitalization of these patients even after nasopharyngeal clearance of SARS-CoV-2, which indicates the long-term influence of the disease on the microbiota composition[21].

A cross-sectional study involving 30 patients suffering from COVID-19, 24 influenza A (H1N1) patients and 30 healthy individuals was conducted by Gu *et al*[22]. 16S rRNA analysis of V_3 - V_4 regions revealed a decrease in gut microbial diversity of COVID-19 patients and a relative increase in opportunistic pathogens including Streptococcus, Rothia, Actinomyces, Vellionella, and Erysipelatoclostridium compared to healthy controls. Total number of Streptococcus and Escherichia/Shigella significantly increased in COVID-19 and H1N1 patients, respectively[22]. Disturbance in the normal gut microbiome and abundance of opportunistic pathogens leads to intestinal inflammation. Hence, the GI epithelium may become susceptible to SARS-CoV2 infection under certain circumstances such as viral load, coexisting disease, age, medication, gut dysbiosis, and inflammation[23]. Correspondingly, levels of interleukin (IL-17A) rise, triggering neutrophils to migrate. Hence, the lungs become prone to cytokines and bacterial invasions via the bloodstream, resulting in inflamed lungs[24].

The bidirectional axis of the intestine, microbiome, and liver via the portal vein is also affected. The portal vein transports host and microbial metabolites such as ammonia to the liver, which has an impact on liver functioning. Gut microflora that are involved in the fermentation of amino acids, constantly produce ammonia as metabolic waste, which is transported to the liver and converted into urea to be excreted in the urine. Opportunistic pathogens such as Clostridium and Peptostreptococcus are known to produce high levels of ammonia causing disruption in body nitrogen homeostasis. This eventually leads to hepatocellular metabolic dysfunction and liver injury[25] that might increase by gut dysbiosis during antiviral drug treatment of COVID-19 infection.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF THE LIVER IN COVID-19 INFECTION

Despite the fact that SARS-CoV-2 is a respiratory infection, it is also primarily associated with the liver. As mentioned above, the presence of ACE2 receptors makes the host's liver prone to injury. The expression of the ACE2 receptor is significantly higher in cholangiocytes, i.e. 57.7% (bile duct epithelial cells) vs 2.6% in hepatocytes[26]. Multiple factors are involved in liver damage during COVID-19, such



as direct cytopathic attack by SARS-CoV-2, inflammation, intrahepatic immunity, multidrug-induced liver damage, drug toxicity, hypoxia, and gut dysbiosis (Figure 1)[27-30]. A direct viral attack can also lyse or induce hepatic apoptosis. Virus-specific protein 7a induces a caspase-dependent apoptosis pathway that is usually present in the lungs, kidneys, and liver[31]. Viral replication has also been observed in hepatic cells with viral spikes present in the host cytoplasm[32]. These observations suggest the cytopathic effect of SARS-CoV-2 on hepatocytes. Wang et al [33] further observed dilatation of the endoplasmic reticulum, reduced glycogen granules, mitochondrial swelling, and membrane disruption in hepatocytes followed by hepatic apoptosis and binuclear hepatocytes.

Another significant cause of liver damage is immune-mediated liver injury. It typically occurs due to a cytokine storm with elevated levels of IL-1, IL-6, viral-induced cytotoxic T cells (CD8), and tumor necrosis factor produced by host cells against viral infection[32,34-36]. Liver tissues of 40 patients who died due to COVID-19 were subjected to PCR for viral RNA in a study by Lagana et al[37]. Mitochondrial enlargement, dilation of the endoplasmic reticulum, and membrane dysfunction were observed in autopsies. Additionally, hepatic enzymes such as alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) were found to be elevated to 68 U/L (normal 46 U/L) and 102 U/L (normal 37 U/L), respectively. Seventy-five percent of patients had macrovesicular steatosis, 50% had lobular necroinflammation (acute hepatitis), and 15% had sinusoidal microthrombi, indicating that COVID-19-infected individuals had biochemical evidence of liver damage.

Neutrophils, Kupffer cells, and plasmocytes were observed in hepatic lobules and sinusoidal and portal regions in autopsies of 48 COVID-infected patients[38]. Liver damage related to COVID-19 infection results in a change in liver enzyme serum levels, with an increase ranging from 16% to 62% for aminotransferases and 5%-20% for bilirubin[39]. Another study by Guan et al[40] indicated increased aminotransferase levels in serum by 22% in 757 hospitalized patients, increased AST in 18.2% of patients with mild symptoms, 39% of patients with severe symptoms, and 50% of patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU). Serum bilirubin levels were also above the upper limit of normal in 13.3% of patients with mild symptoms and 20.8% of patients with severe symptoms[40].

DRUG-INDUCED LIVER DAMAGE (HEPATOTOXICITY)

The use of drugs for underlying chronic diseases, including antibiotics, antivirals, anti-inflammatory drugs, and anticoagulants, during COVID-19 infection is a major cause of liver damage (Figure 1)[41]. Cai et al [42] revealed that over 10% of the patients had elevated liver enzymes when they were admitted to the hospital, which may have been caused by prescribed medications[42]. A systematic review/metaanalysis consisting of 20874 SARS-CoV-2 patients summarized from 107 articles showed that 25.4% of patients had drug-induced liver toxicity. Among 208 patients who received remdesivir treatment, 15.2% had a drug-induced liver injury. Lopinavir/ritonavir had a higher incidence rate of 37.2% in 775 patients[43]. Furthermore, antiviral drugs (such as favipiravir, remdesivir, lopinavir/ritonavir, chloroquine, oseltamivir, and ribavirin) and antipyretics (acetaminophen) can lead to hepatotoxicity during the course of COVID-19 infection[34]. One of the most common causes of liver damage was underlying liver disease (chronic liver disease, hepatitis, cirrhosis, and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis), which was found in a meta-analysis of 13 studies including 3046 COVID-19 patients. Of these, 25% of individuals had a hepatic injury, 21% had elevated ALT, and 24% had elevated AST. These injuries lead to the severity of COVID-19 symptoms[44]. Therefore, it was suggested that patients with underlying liver diseases must not be prescribed hepatotoxic drugs since most of the drugs are metabolized in the liver, including oseltamivir, lopinavir/ritonavir, and chloroquines. Moreover, gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and bilirubin levels mainly increase with the use of antiviral drugs in COVID-19 patients. The GGT enzyme is primarily found in liver cells. In the case of liver damage, the enzyme may leak out into the bloodstream, resulting in high levels of GGT in the blood and causing liver damage.

Drugs such as lopinavir (ritonavir) may cause a transient and slight increase in liver enzymes. Patients with advanced liver disease had elevated lopinavir plasma levels. Approximately 57.8% of patients taking lopinavir developed liver damage[45]. Lopinavir is a protease inhibitor. It is usually given in combination with ritonavir to increase the plasma half-life for the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Since it has low efficacy toward SARS-CoV-1, it must be prescribed as early as possible after the initial diagnosis of COVID-19[46]. Severe hepatotoxicity could be caused by a high dose of ritonavir (i.e. 1200 mg/day). However, in lower doses (200-400 mg), it could boost other drugs (such as lopinavir and indinavir)[47].

Lopinavir/ritonavir showed 63% adverse drug reactions in 217 COVID-19 patients. However, other drugs (umifenovir, chloroquine, and antibacterial) contributed to 47% of adverse drug reactions in total [48]. Fan et al[49] further indicated that out of 148 COVID-19 patients, 45 individuals had a normal baseline liver function test, among which 48% developed liver abnormalities after hospital admission. When compared to patients with normal liver function (31.3%), a significantly higher percentage of patients with abnormal liver function (57.8%) had received lopinavir/ritonavir after admission[49]. Similarly, in a study involving 417 COVID-19 patients, Cai et al [42] indicated that liver dysfunction was considerably more prevalent in the lopinavir/ritonavir-treated groups. Within 2 wk of admission, the





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1708 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Potential causes of liver injury during coronavirus disease 2019. Following severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection, liver injury may arise due to direct viral entry [via angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors on hepatocytes] or gut microbial dysbiosis leading to cytokine storm in the liver. ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; CD4+: Cluster of differentiation; GGT: Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase; SCFA: Short-chain fatty acids.

presence of abnormal liver tests became more pronounced, with levels of ALT, AST, total bilirubin, and GGT exceeding the upper limit of normal in 49 (23.4%), 31 (14.8%), 24 (11.5%), and 51 (24.4%) patients, respectively. However, the definition of drug-induced liver injury by clinical guidelines from the European Association for the Study of the Liver was not applicable to this study due to the lack of evidence demonstrating the role of drugs in observed liver injury[42].

Simultaneous use of lopinavir/ritonavir and arbidol in COVID-19 patients with mild symptoms increased the odds of liver function, up to 3.58 times greater than in those who did not receive the medications. Human liver microsomes were used to examine the metabolic interactions between the two drugs in an effort to determine the cause of this unexpected increase. The following chain of evidence revealed that the use of tocilizumab was observed to improve both lung and liver functions within 3 wk in a case series of 7 patients who had significant abnormal liver tests in addition to worsening respiratory system function 5-7 d after receiving treatment with lopinavir/ritonavir, hydroxychloroquine, and azithromycin[50].

Since the direct effect of lopinavir/ritonavir on gut microbiota in SARS-CoV2 patients is still unknown, changes in bacterial diversity of HIV-1 patients have been observed when lopinavir/ritonavir was administered in antiretroviral therapy. Predominantly affected phylum include *Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Bacteriodetes,* and *Actinobacteria.* Moreover, levels of gut microbial genera such as *Lachnospira, Butyricicoccus, Oscillospir,* and *Prevotella* were reduced. The *Provetella* population has been previously linked to HIV-induced inflammatory response in the host[51]. Also, a decrease in *Lachnospira, Butyricicoccus,* and *Oscillospir* has adverse effects on the host immune system since these are beneficial microbiota of the human gut[52]. Short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) such as butyrate produced by gut microbiota suppress colon inflammation. Consequently, it protects against liver damage and regulates insulin signaling in adipose tissues[53,54]. Hence, the change in gut microbiota related to lopinavir/ritonavir/ritonavir treatment could pose a risk of liver damage during COVID-19 infection.

Another drug used for COVID-19 patients is remdesivir, which is a nucleotide prodrug of an adenosine analog. It terminates viral replication by binding to viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase enzyme without interfering with host RNA or DNA polymerases[55]. Remdesivir has been used for the treatment of the Filoviridae viral family, including the Ebola and Marburg viruses[56]. Its efficacy extends to Lassa fever virus and pathogenic CoV (including Middle East respiratory syndrome and SARS CoVs)[2]. Grein *et al*[57] reported the first study in a cohort of 53 COVID-19 patients. Drug effects were observed from 5-10 d of administration. Elevated levels of hepatic enzymes with a 23% incidence



[®] WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

rate were the most frequent adverse effect. Additionally, elevated liver aminotransferase was the reason why 1 of the 4 patients stopped receiving treatment^[57]

A similar pattern was observed in the study by Kalil et al[58] that included 402 patients to determine the best time course for intravenous remdesivir. The most frequent adverse effects on the liver in that grade were reported to be ALT and AST elevations of 1-2 (i.e. 7% and 6%, respectively). Moreover, Wang et al[33] demonstrated a placebo-controlled double-blind clinical trial on a group of 255 patients. Grade 1-2 elevated AST was identified as an adverse liver effect (12% in the placebo group, 7% in the drug-treated group), and grade 1-2 elevated ALT resulted in discontinuation of the drug (1%). Nevertheless, grade 1-2 hypoalbuminemia (15% in the placebo group, 13% in the drug-treated group) and grade 1-2 increased bilirubin (9% in the placebo group, 10% in the drug-treated group) were the most frequent liver adverse effects[33].

Interestingly, the harmful effects of remdesivir were studied in COVID-19 patients from intensive care units (ICUs) and infectious disease wards (IDWs). The approximately same level of increase in aminotransferase was observed in both groups (ICU: 44.4%; IDW: 41.2%); however, the level of bilirubin increased more in the ICU group than in IDW individuals, indicating that the difference in enzyme levels may be related to the difference in symptomatic severity in patients [59]. In another case, an acute rise in ALT was noted after the start of remdesivir for 2 d and was immediately reversed after stopping it. The patient developed hepatotoxicity, which was proposed to be due to a drug-drug interaction of remdesivir and P-glycoprotein inhibitors. Hence, it was suggested to use the drug with caution[60]. Remdesivir-associated liver failure improved in a study reported by Carothers et al[61], suggesting that the use of acetylcysteine could be beneficial. However, there is a limitation in data regarding the management of acetaminophen-associated liver failure with acetylcysteine.

Similarly, favipiravir (avigan) is also considered for the treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infection. It is a broad-spectrum antiviral medicine that was initially administered for the treatment of influenza in Japan. Favipiravir is a prodrug that is taken up by viral RNA polymerase as a purine nucleotide after being intracellularly phosphorylated to form the active metabolite (favipiravir ibofuranosyl-5'triphosphate), effectively inhibiting RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. It has been effective against RNA viruses such as West Nile virus, yellow fever virus, foot-and-mouth disease, Ebola, and Lassa virus[62]. In a case study, favipiravir was found to cause cholestatic liver injury. The authors suggested that liver injury developed due to the use of antibacterials followed by a high dose of favipiravir (6000 mg on the 1st d and 2400 mg for 14 d), which worsened liver function with elevated transaminase and total bilirubin levels^[63].

A recent study comparing patients in the favipiravir group to those in the control group receiving lopinavir/ritonavir 400 mg/100 mg twice daily for 14 d plus aerosolized interferon- α by inhalation (5 million U twice daily) showed that the favipiravir group significantly reduced the amount of time needed for viral clearance (median 4 d vs 11 d) while also experiencing fewer side effects[64]. Additionally, teratogenicity (abnormal fetal development), hyperuricemia[50], diarrhea, and neutropenia are the known side effects of this drug[65]. Although the dose regimen for clinical trials or experimental drugs used for COVID-19 patients is aided by information from the treatment of influenza, more clinical testing is necessary to determine the exact effectiveness of favipiravir[65].

Guaraldi et al[66] in a retrospective cohort study found that tocilizumab (an IL-6 receptor antagonist) does not have any harmful effects on the liver when administered to 1351 COVID-19 patients. However, serum transaminase levels were elevated up to 40 fold [67]. Similarly, a significant correlation was later found between the administration of lopinavir/ritonavir, hydroxychloroquine, remdesivir, and tocilizumab, leading to liver damage in 1827 patients [68]. Other drugs, including hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin, are known to be used for SARS-CoV-2 infections leading to liver damage[69].

Most of these drugs also inhibit liver transporters including ABCB11/BSEP, ABCC2/MRP2, SLC47A1/ MATE1, ABCC3/MRP3, ABCC4/MRP4, SLC22A1/OCT1, SLCO1B1/OATP1B1, SLCO1B3/ OATP1B3, and SLC10A1/NTCP. Since these transporters play a significant role in the clearance of endobiotics and other toxic compounds, their inhibition may affect liver functioning and cause alterations in the GI tract and kidney damage[1].

Since inflammatory cytokines are produced in response to COVID-19 infection, excessive cytokine (cytokine storm) causes septic shock, tissue damage, and organ failure. The microbial imbalance found in the blood analysis of COVID-19 patients was also linked to elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines and blood markers, such as C-reactive protein and specific enzymes, as a result of tissue damage[20]. The gut dysbiosis-associated hepatic inflammation led to severe symptoms of COVID-19 and increased mortality. Therefore, incorporation of the drug-induced gut dysbiosis and its connection to hepatic injury could better elucidate the gut-liver-bidirectional-axis association with COVID-19 severity. A precise understanding of interaction between gut microbiota and liver physiology will facilitate the development of targeted therapeutics to improve the condition of COVID-19 patients.

GI MANIFESTATION AND GUT DYSBIOSIS (METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION)

Studies have suggested that altered gut microbiota (dysbiosis) can play a significant role in immune-



mediated inflammatory diseases^[70]. Similarly, dysbiosis of the gut microbiota might determine the clinical outcome of patients with underlying comorbid illnesses such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and obesity in COVID-19[71]. A potential role of gut microbiota in overall pathogenesis and outcomes is implied by the fact that gut microbial diversity generally decreases with age and that COVID-19 severity and fatality increase in older individuals. The impact of this disease can be minimized by improving the gut microbiota profile via personalized nutrition and supplements that improve immunity in older patients and immunocompromised individuals^[72].

It has further been suggested that patients with COVID-19 have compromised gut microbiota, which has well-known immunomodulatory potential. Blood and stool samples were collected from 100 COVID-19 patients in a two-hospital cohort study. A significant alteration in gut microbial composition was found in COVID-19 patients compared to healthy individuals. Gut commensal microbiota with known immunomodulatory potential, such as Bifidobacteria, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, and Eubacterium rectale, decreased in number and remained low even when the samples were collected until 30 d after recovery from COVID-19 infection. Moreover, blood markers, including AST, C-reactive protein, lactate dehydrogenase, and GGT, were elevated in this perturbed composition, which also showed stratification with disease severity[20]. Since the digestive and respiratory systems have an impact on each other *via* the gut-lung axis (common mucosal immune system), it is believed that improved GI ecology will have a positive impact on COVID-19 patients[73].

Although a small case series from China suggested that COVID-19 patients had less Lactobacillus and Bifidobacteria during microbial dysbiosis, no conclusive research linked the intestinal microbiota to COVID-19 at that time[74]. However, the SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 was found to control intestinal microbial homeostasis via amino acids in a previously reported study [75]. Gut microbiota are known to produce SCFAs by fermentation. Predominant gut bacteria [Ruminococcaceae (cluster IV) and Eubacterium (cluster XIVa) in order Clostridia and phylum Firmicutes] produce SCFAs including acetate, propionate, and butyrate, which are frequently metabolized [76]. SCFAs that remain undigested further promote the formation of naïve CD4+ T cells, which mainly aid in controlling the level of lymphocytes in bone marrow and peripheral blood circulation (Figure 1). Consequently, gut microbial homeostasis is disturbed, ultimately compromising the immune system.

Increased levels of cytokines and inflammatory cells during COVID-19 infection are linked to sepsis and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Inflammatory cytokines [IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α)] were found to be high in number, leading to ARDS and multiple-organ dysfunction^[77,78]. Butyric acid produced by intestinal bacteria is known to reduce cytokine storm^[79]. Thus, the gut microbiota could help in reducing the prevalence of ARDS and sepsis, which are major mortality risks in COVID-19. Moreover, some researchers think that sepsis and abnormalities of the gut microbiota should be promoted together[80].

POTENTIAL THERAPEUTICS: PROBIOTICS AND PREBIOTICS

Considering the link between gut dysbiosis due to cytokine storm and COVID-19 severity, modulation of the gut microbiome holds great therapeutic potential for disease modification (Figure 2). However, there is currently no microbiota-directed therapy that has been shown to be effective in preventing the development or progression of COVID-19. Nevertheless, scientists are raising concerns about the health benefits and disease prevention properties of diet and gut microbiota during the course of infection. Growth of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus spp. in the human gut is promoted by plant-based fibers, which also help reduce harmful microbiota (Clostridia)[81]. Since microbial SCFAs are produced by the fermentation of dietary fibers and have anti-inflammatory effects, fiber intake can improve the host immune system[82]. When tested in mouse models, a fiber-rich diet promoting SCFA was found to increase immunity against allergic inflammation in the lungs, whereas a low-fiber diet with low SCFA levels increased allergic airway disease [83,84]. Studies have verified that the use of whole-grain fiber can reduce the mortality rate in various respiratory diseases[85].

Similarly, oral administration of probiotics alters the composition of the gut microbiota once it reaches the intestine^[81]. Several studies have shown that the consumption of probiotics (beneficial bacteria) changes the local and systemic inflammatory balance, which in turn reduces respiratory infections and other extra-intestinal illnesses. When Lactobacillus gasseri SBT2055 was administered orally as a probiotic in mice, the inflammatory response against respiratory syncytial virus infection in the lungs was repressed. Levels of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and chemokine ligand 2) significantly decreased and were maintained at equivalent levels compared to control mice [86]. Furthermore, the cellular immunity of 30 elderly volunteers was boosted when they took Bifidobacterium lactis HN019[87]. Similarly, placebo-controlled clinical trials using the probiotic Bacillus subtilis and Enterococcus faecalis were effective and safe ways to prevent ventilator-associated pneumonia and gastric colonization of potentially pathogenic microorganisms[88]. Probiotics seem to be among the most suitable, efficient, and potentially safe strategies if dysbiosis is indeed involved in the pathogenesis of severe COVID-19. In fact, the National Health Commission (China) suggested the use of probiotics for maintaining gut microbial homeostasis and preventing secondary bacterial infections[89].





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1708 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Modulation of gut microbiota and its role in the gut-liver axis during coronavirus disease 2019. Probiotics and prebiotics could be used as potential therapeutics to lower coronavirus disease 2019 symptom severity by producing various bioactive metabolites, which are absorbed into the liver mainly via the hepatic portal vein, for regulation of hepatic function by reducing inflammatory cytokines. CCL2: Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2; IL-1β: Interleukin-1 beta; IL-6: Interleukin 6; LSEC: Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells; TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor-α.

> Since drug-induced liver damage is one of the major outcomes of COVID-19 infections, scientists are focusing on possible strategies to mitigate liver damage. As discussed, hepatotoxicity is most likely induced by chemical exposure, disrupted intestinal microbiome, gut mucosal barrier damage, and systematic immune activation. However, many preclinical studies have shown that prebiotic and probiotic supplementation could improve drug-induced liver injury[90]. Pretreatment with Lactobacillus reuteri DSM 17938 was performed on rats after undergoing a model of liver failure. Not only did it lower serum ALT, AST, GGT, IL-1, IL-2, IL-18, macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and macrophage inflammatory protein 3α levels, but it also improved histological abnormalities in the terminal ileum and liver caused by d-galactosamine[91].

> Similarly, the hepatotoxic effect of acetaminophen was observed to be reduced using probiotic Mega Spore Biotic TM, which is a Bacillus spore-based probiotic. It also decreased proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and L-1 β and reduced hepatocyte necrosis[92]. Acetaminophen is a widely used antipyretic and has adverse effects in COVID-19 patients [93]. Moreover, the use of Bifidobacterium adolescentis CGMCC15058 in rats with liver failure was reported to have therapeutic effects with reduced levels of inflammatory liver cytokines such as $TNF-\alpha$ and IL-6[94]. Amplicon sequencing revealed the loss of potential SCFA-producing gut microbiota, such as ASV0AKS_Oscillibacter, ASV009F_Anaerofustis, ASV02YT_Blautia, ASV07LA_Blautia, and ASV0AM6_Eubacterium hallii in post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. These gut microbial species could be elevated using a high-fiber formula. Clinical parameters such as alkaline phosphatase, AST, ALT, albumin, and total bilirubin returned to normal levels after a high-fiber diet, leading to improved post-acute COVID-19 GI symptoms and liver function[95].

CONCLUSION

The gut microbiota play an important role in maintaining human health. Irrespective of the poor understanding of the connection between the gut and drug-induced hepatic injury mechanisms, the gut microbiota poses a significant role in liver protection through different pathways seems to be critical. The use of antiviral agents in SARS-CoV-2 patients results in gut dysbiosis that may predispose patients to severe COVID-19, as intestinal permeability and bacterial products spilling out enhanced by increased proinflammatory cytokine due to liver damage led to the severity of symptoms. It is therefore crucial that we explore potential preventive and therapeutic targets, such as probiotics and dietary interventions for gut rebiosis. Different probiotics using diverse prebiotics produce a variety of hepatic protective bioactive metabolites that could mitigate drug-induced liver damage during COVID-19. We



believe that the risk of drug-induced liver injury could be minimized by boosting hepatic function via rebuilding the dysbiotic intestinal environment with probiotics and prebiotics. The targeted intervention of gut microbiota may regulate the intestinal microbial community and thus manage liver injury. Moreover, we suggest well-planned experiments on animal models and clinical trials to understand the interactions between gut microbes and liver diseases to use this approach comprehensively.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author acknowledges United Arabs Emirates University for all research and financial support.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ahsan K performed data acquisition, the majority of the writing, and prepared the figures; Anwar MA wrote a section, reviewed, and edited; Munawar N conceptualized the manuscript, designed the outline and figures, wrote the abstract, and provided major input in writing and guidance in the investigation of data for the manuscript.

Supported by United Arab Emirates University UPAR 2022 Research Grant, No. 12S094.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Arab Emirates

ORCID number: Nayla Munawar 0000-0001-9448-2845.

S-Editor: Liu GL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu GL

REFERENCES

- Ambrus C, Bakos É, Sarkadi B, Özvegy-Laczka C, Telbisz Á. Interactions of anti-COVID-19 drug candidates with hepatic transporters may cause liver toxicity and affect pharmacokinetics. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 17810 [PMID: 34497279 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-97160-3]
- Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H, Spitters C, Ericson K, Wilkerson S, Tural A, Diaz 2 G, Cohn A, Fox L, Patel A, Gerber SI, Kim L, Tong S, Lu X, Lindstrom S, Pallansch MA, Weldon WC, Biggs HM, Uyeki TM, Pillai SK; Washington State 2019-nCoV Case Investigation Team. First Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 929-936 [PMID: 32004427 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001191]
- 3 World Health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19. [Internet] [cited 25 March 2020]. Available from: https://www.ukwhoswho.com/display/10.1093/ww/9780199540891.001.0001/ww-9780199540884-e-23682; jsessionid=6261A20B8ED0D73F03F1732D837B83BD
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Aleem A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation, and Treatment of Coronavirus 4 (COVID-19). 2022 Oct 13. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan- [PMID: 32150360
- Samavati L, Uhal BD. ACE2, Much More Than Just a Receptor for SARS-COV-2. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2020; 10: 5 317 [PMID: 32582574 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00317]
- 6 Hu B, Guo H, Zhou P, Shi ZL. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nat Rev Microbiol 2021; 19: 141-154 [PMID: 33024307 DOI: 10.1038/s41579-020-00459-7]
- Garland V, Kumar AB, Borum ML. Gastrointestinal and Hepatic Manifestations of COVID-19: Evolving Recognition and Need for Increased Understanding in Vulnerable Populations. J Natl Med Assoc 2021; 113: 142-146 [PMID: 32807512 DOI: 10.1016/j.jnma.2020.07.017]
- Wang MK, Yue HY, Cai J, Zhai YJ, Peng JH, Hui JF, Hou DY, Li WP, Yang JS. COVID-19 and the digestive system: A comprehensive review. World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 3796-3813 [PMID: 34141737 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i16.3796]
- 0 Venzon M, Bernard-Raichon L, Klein J, Axelrad JE, Zhang C, Hussey GA, Sullivan AP, Casanovas-Massana A, Noval MG, Valero-Jimenez AM, Gago J, Putzel G, Pironti A, Wilder E; Yale IMPACT Research Team, Thorpe LE, Littman DR, Dittmann M, Stapleford KA, Shopsin B, Torres VJ, Ko AI, Iwasaki A, Cadwell K, Schluter J. Gut microbiome dysbiosis during COVID-19 is associated with increased risk for bacteremia and microbial translocation. bioRxiv 2022 [PMID:



35262080 DOI: 10.1101/2021.07.15.452246]

- Kariyawasam JC, Jayarajah U, Abeysuriya V, Riza R, Seneviratne SL. Involvement of the Liver in COVID-19: A 10 Systematic Review. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2022; 106: 1026-1041 [PMID: 35203056 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.21-1240]
- Weersma RK, Zhernakova A, Fu J. Interaction between drugs and the gut microbiome. Gut 2020; 69: 1510-1519 [PMID: 11 32409589 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320204]
- Anand S, Mande SS. Host-microbiome interactions: Gut-Liver axis and its connection with other organs. NPJ Biofilms 12 Microbiomes 2022; 8: 89 [PMID: 36319663 DOI: 10.1038/s41522-022-00352-6]
- Zhao S, Feng P, Meng W, Jin W, Li X. Modulated Gut Microbiota for Potential COVID-19 Prevention and Treatment. 13 Front Med (Lausanne) 2022; 9: 811176 [PMID: 35308540 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2022.811176]
- Chen J, Vitetta L. Modulation of Gut Microbiota for the Prevention and Treatment of COVID-19. J Clin Med 2021; 10 14 [PMID: 34209870 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10132903]
- Zang R, Gomez Castro MF, McCune BT, Zeng Q, Rothlauf PW, Sonnek NM, Liu Z, Brulois KF, Wang X, Greenberg 15 HB, Diamond MS, Ciorba MA, Whelan SPJ, Ding S. TMPRSS2 and TMPRSS4 promote SARS-CoV-2 infection of human small intestinal enterocytes. Sci Immunol 2020; 5 [PMID: 32404436 DOI: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abc3582]
- 16 Aguila EJT, Cua IHY, Dumagpi JEL, Francisco CPD, Raymundo NTV, Sy-Janairo MLL, Cabral-Prodigalidad PAI, Lontok MAD. COVID-19 and its effects on the digestive system and endoscopy practice. JGH Open 2020; 4: 324-331 [PMID: 32514432 DOI: 10.1002/jgh3.12358]
- Gu J, Han B, Wang J. COVID-19: Gastrointestinal Manifestations and Potential Fecal-Oral Transmission. 17 Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1518-1519 [PMID: 32142785 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.02.054]
- Wu X, Sun M, Yang Z, Lu C, Wang Q, Wang H, Deng C, Liu Y, Yang Y. The Roles of CCR9/CCL25 in Inflammation 18 and Inflammation-Associated Diseases. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 9: 686548 [PMID: 34490243 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2021.686548
- Zuo T, Zhang F, Lui GCY, Yeoh YK, Li AYL, Zhan H, Wan Y, Chung ACK, Cheung CP, Chen N, Lai CKC, Chen Z, 19 Tso EYK, Fung KSC, Chan V, Ling L, Joynt G, Hui DSC, Chan FKL, Chan PKS, Ng SC. Alterations in Gut Microbiota of Patients With COVID-19 During Time of Hospitalization. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 944-955.e8 [PMID: 32442562 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.048]
- Yeoh YK, Zuo T, Lui GC, Zhang F, Liu Q, Li AY, Chung AC, Cheung CP, Tso EY, Fung KS, Chan V, Ling L, Joynt G, 20 Hui DS, Chow KM, Ng SSS, Li TC, Ng RW, Yip TC, Wong GL, Chan FK, Wong CK, Chan PK, Ng SC. Gut microbiota composition reflects disease severity and dysfunctional immune responses in patients with COVID-19. Gut 2021; 70: 698-706 [PMID: 33431578 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323020]
- Zuo T, Zhan H, Zhang F, Liu Q, Tso EYK, Lui GCY, Chen N, Li A, Lu W, Chan FKL, Chan PKS, Ng SC. Alterations in 21 Fecal Fungal Microbiome of Patients With COVID-19 During Time of Hospitalization until Discharge. Gastroenterology 2020; **159**: 1302-1310.e5 [PMID: 32598884 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.06.048]
- Gu S, Chen Y, Wu Z, Gao H, Lv L, Guo F, Zhang X, Luo R, Huang C, Lu H, Zheng B, Zhang J, Yan R, Zhang H, Jiang 22 H, Xu Q, Guo J, Gong Y, Tang L, Li L. Alterations of the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 or H1N1 Influenza. Clin Infect Dis 2020; 71: 2669-2678 [PMID: 32497191 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa709]
- 23 Clerbaux LA, Fillipovska J, Muñoz A, Petrillo M, Coecke S, Amorim MJ, Grenga L. Mechanisms Leading to Gut Dysbiosis in COVID-19: Current Evidence and Uncertainties Based on Adverse Outcome Pathways. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 36143044 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11185400]
- Li Y, Shi CW, Zhang YT, Huang HB, Jiang YL, Wang JZ, Cao X, Wang N, Zeng Y, Yang GL, Yang WT, Wang CF. Riboflavin Attenuates Influenza Virus Through Cytokine-Mediated Effects on the Diversity of the Gut Microbiota in MAIT Cell Deficiency Mice. Front Microbiol 2022; 13: 916580 [PMID: 35722312 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.916580]
- Ganesan R, Jeong JJ, Kim DJ, Suk KT. Recent Trends of Microbiota-Based Microbial Metabolites Metabolism in Liver 25 Disease. Front Med (Lausanne) 2022; 9: 841281 [PMID: 35615096 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2022.841281]
- Yao N, Wang SN, Lian JQ, Sun YT, Zhang GF, Kang WZ, Kang W. [Clinical characteristics and influencing factors of 26 patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia combined with liver injury in Shaanxi region]. Zhonghua Gan Zang Bing Za Zhi 2020; 28: 234-239 [PMID: 32153170 DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.cn501113-20200226-00070]
- 27 Morgan K, Samuel K, Vandeputte M, Hayes PC, Plevris JN. SARS-CoV-2 Infection and the Liver. Pathogens 2020; 9 [PMID: 32486188 DOI: 10.3390/pathogens9060430]
- Sonzogni A, Previtali G, Seghezzi M, Grazia Alessio M, Gianatti A, Licini L, Morotti D, Zerbi P, Carsana L, Rossi R, 28 Lauri E, Pellegrinelli A, Nebuloni M. Liver histopathology in severe COVID 19 respiratory failure is suggestive of vascular alterations. Liver Int 2020; 40: 2110-2116 [PMID: 32654359 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14601]
- Boettler T, Marjot T, Newsome PN, Mondelli MU, Maticic M, Cordero E, Jalan R, Moreau R, Cornberg M, Berg T. 29 Impact of COVID-19 on the care of patients with liver disease: EASL-ESCMID position paper after 6 mo of the pandemic. JHEP Rep 2020; 2: 100169 [PMID: 32835190 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhepr.2020.100169]
- Nacem M, Bano N, Manzoor S, Ahmad A, Munawar N, Razak SIA, Lee TY, Devaraj S, Hazafa A. Pathogenetic 30 Mechanisms of Liver-Associated Injuries, Management, and Current Challenges in COVID-19 Patients. Biomolecules 2023; 13 [PMID: 36671484 DOI: 10.3390/biom13010099]
- Tan YJ, Fielding BC, Goh PY, Shen S, Tan TH, Lim SG, Hong W. Overexpression of 7a, a protein specifically encoded 31 by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, induces apoptosis via a caspase-dependent pathway. J Virol 2004; 78: 14043-14047 [PMID: 15564512 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.78.24.14043-14047.2004]
- Garrido I, Liberal R, Macedo G. Review article: COVID-19 and liver disease-what we know on 1st May 2020. Aliment 32 Pharmacol Ther 2020; 52: 267-275 [PMID: 32402090 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15813]
- 33 Wang Y, Zhang D, Du G, Du R, Zhao J, Jin Y, Fu S, Gao L, Cheng Z, Lu Q, Hu Y, Luo G, Wang K, Lu Y, Li H, Wang S, Ruan S, Yang C, Mei C, Wang Y, Ding D, Wu F, Tang X, Ye X, Ye Y, Liu B, Yang J, Yin W, Wang A, Fan G, Zhou F, Liu Z, Gu X, Xu J, Shang L, Zhang Y, Cao L, Guo T, Wan Y, Qin H, Jiang Y, Jaki T, Hayden FG, Horby PW, Cao B, Wang C. Remdesivir in adults with severe COVID-19: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. Lancet 2020; 395: 1569-1578 [PMID: 32423584 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31022-9]



- Cichoż-Lach H, Michalak A. Liver injury in the era of COVID-19. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 377-390 [PMID: 33584070 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i5.377]
- Fara A, Mitrev Z, Rosalia RA, Assas BM. Cytokine storm and COVID-19: a chronicle of pro-inflammatory cytokines. 35 Open Biol 2020; 10: 200160 [PMID: 32961074 DOI: 10.1098/rsob.200160]
- Shi H, Wang W, Yin J, Ouyang Y, Pang L, Feng Y, Qiao L, Guo X, Shi H, Jin R, Chen D. The inhibition of IL-2/IL-2R 36 gives rise to CD8(+) T cell and lymphocyte decrease through JAK1-STAT5 in critical patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Cell Death Dis 2020; 11: 429 [PMID: 32513989 DOI: 10.1038/s41419-020-2636-4]
- 37 Lagana SM, Kudose S, Iuga AC, Lee MJ, Fazlollahi L, Remotti HE, Del Portillo A, De Michele S, de Gonzalez AK, Saqi A, Khairallah P, Chong AM, Park H, Uhlemann AC, Lefkowitch JH, Verna EC. Hepatic pathology in patients dying of COVID-19: a series of 40 cases including clinical, histologic, and virologic data. Mod Pathol 2020; 33: 2147-2155 [PMID: 32792598 DOI: 10.1038/s41379-020-00649-x]
- Kuo YF, Kwo P, Wong RJ, Singal AK. Impact of COVID-19 on Liver Transplant Activity in the USA: Variation by 38 Etiology and Cirrhosis Complications. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2023; 11: 130-135 [PMID: 36406316 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2022.00129
- Brito CA, Barros FM, Lopes EP. Mechanisms and consequences of COVID-19 associated liver injury: What can we 39 affirm? World J Hepatol 2020; 12: 413-422 [PMID: 32952870 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v12.i8.413]
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, Liu L, Shan H, Lei CL, Hui DSC, Du B, Li LJ, Zeng G, Yuen KY, 40 Chen RC, Tang CL, Wang T, Chen PY, Xiang J, Li SY, Wang JL, Liang ZJ, Peng YX, Wei L, Liu Y, Hu YH, Peng P, Wang JM, Liu JY, Chen Z, Li G, Zheng ZJ, Qiu SQ, Luo J, Ye CJ, Zhu SY, Zhong NS; China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1708-1720 [PMID: 32109013 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032]
- Licata A. Adverse drug reactions and organ damage: The liver. Eur J Intern Med 2016; 28: 9-16 [PMID: 26827101 DOI: 41 10.1016/j.ejim.2015.12.017]
- Cai Q, Huang D, Yu H, Zhu Z, Xia Z, Su Y, Li Z, Zhou G, Gou J, Qu J, Sun Y, Liu Y, He Q, Chen J, Liu L, Xu L. 42 COVID-19: Abnormal liver function tests. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 566-574 [PMID: 32298767 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.04.006
- Kulkarni AV, Kumar P, Tevethia HV, Premkumar M, Arab JP, Candia R, Talukdar R, Sharma M, Qi X, Rao PN, Reddy 43 DN. Systematic review with meta-analysis: liver manifestations and outcomes in COVID-19. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2020; 52: 584-599 [PMID: 32638436 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15916]
- Kullar R, Patel AP, Saab S. Hepatic Injury in Patients With COVID-19. J Clin Gastroenterol 2020; 54: 841-849 [PMID: 44 32976196 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.000000000001432]
- 45 Chu H, Bai T, Chen L, Hu L, Xiao L, Yao L, Zhu R, Niu X, Li Z, Zhang L, Han C, Song S, He Q, Zhao Y, Zhu Q, Chen H, Schnabl B, Yang L, Hou X. Multicenter Analysis of Liver Injury Patterns and Mortality in COVID-19. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020; 7: 584342 [PMID: 33195339 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2020.584342]
- Cao B, Wang Y, Wen D, Liu W, Wang J, Fan G, Ruan L, Song B, Cai Y, Wei M, Li X, Xia J, Chen N, Xiang J, Yu T, Bai 46 T, Xie X, Zhang L, Li C, Yuan Y, Chen H, Li H, Huang H, Tu S, Gong F, Liu Y, Wei Y, Dong C, Zhou F, Gu X, Xu J, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Shang L, Wang K, Li K, Zhou X, Dong X, Qu Z, Lu S, Hu X, Ruan S, Luo S, Wu J, Peng L, Cheng F, Pan L, Zou J, Jia C, Liu X, Wang S, Wu X, Ge Q, He J, Zhan H, Qiu F, Guo L, Huang C, Jaki T, Hayden FG, Horby PW, Zhang D, Wang C. A Trial of Lopinavir-Ritonavir in Adults Hospitalized with Severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1787-1799 [PMID: 32187464 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001282]
- Sulkowski MS, Mehta SH, Chaisson RE, Thomas DL, Moore RD. Hepatotoxicity associated with protease inhibitor-based 47 antiretroviral regimens with or without concurrent ritonavir. AIDS 2004; 18: 2277-2284 [PMID: 15577540 DOI: 10.1097/00002030-200411190-00008]
- Sun J, Deng X, Chen X, Huang J, Huang S, Li Y, Feng J, Liu J, He G. Incidence of Adverse Drug Reactions in COVID-48 19 Patients in China: An Active Monitoring Study by Hospital Pharmacovigilance System. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2020; 108: 791-797 [PMID: 32324898 DOI: 10.1002/cpt.1866]
- 49 Fan Z, Chen L, Li J, Cheng X, Yang J, Tian C, Zhang Y, Huang S, Liu Z, Cheng J. Clinical Features of COVID-19-Related Liver Functional Abnormality. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 1561-1566 [PMID: 32283325 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.04.002]
- Serviddio G, Villani R, Stallone G, Scioscia G, Foschino-Barbaro MP, Lacedonia D. Tocilizumab and liver injury in 50 patients with COVID-19. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2020; 13: 1756284820959183 [PMID: 33101458 DOI: 10.1177/1756284820959183
- Ray S, Narayanan A, Giske CG, Neogi U, Sönnerborg A, Nowak P. Altered Gut Microbiome under Antiretroviral 51 Therapy: Impact of Efavirenz and Zidovudine. ACS Infect Dis 2021; 7: 1104-1115 [PMID: 33346662 DOI: 10.1021/acsinfecdis.0c00536]
- Vacca M, Celano G, Calabrese FM, Portincasa P, Gobbetti M, De Angelis M. The Controversial Role of Human Gut 52 Lachnospiraceae. Microorganisms 2020; 8 [PMID: 32326636 DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms8040573]
- Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, Schilter HC, Rolph MS, Mackay F, Artis D, Xavier RJ, 53 Teixeira MM, Mackay CR. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. Nature 2009; 461: 1282-1286 [PMID: 19865172 DOI: 10.1038/nature08530]
- Han H, Wang M, Zhong R, Yi B, Schroyen M, Zhang H. Depletion of Gut Microbiota Inhibits Hepatic Lipid Accumulation in High-Fat Diet-Fed Mice. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 36012616 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23169350]
- Warren TK, Jordan R, Lo MK, Ray AS, Mackman RL, Soloveva V, Siegel D, Perron M, Bannister R, Hui HC, Larson N, 55 Strickley R, Wells J, Stuthman KS, Van Tongeren SA, Garza NL, Donnelly G, Shurtleff AC, Retterer CJ, Gharaibeh D, Zamani R, Kenny T, Eaton BP, Grimes E, Welch LS, Gomba L, Wilhelmsen CL, Nichols DK, Nuss JE, Nagle ER, Kugelman JR, Palacios G, Doerffler E, Neville S, Carra E, Clarke MO, Zhang L, Lew W, Ross B, Wang Q, Chun K, Wolfe L, Babusis D, Park Y, Stray KM, Trancheva I, Feng JY, Barauskas O, Xu Y, Wong P, Braun MR, Flint M, McMullan LK, Chen SS, Fearns R, Swaminathan S, Mayers DL, Spiropoulou CF, Lee WA, Nichol ST, Cihlar T, Bavari S. Therapeutic efficacy of the small molecule GS-5734 against Ebola virus in rhesus monkeys. Nature 2016; 531: 381-385



[PMID: 26934220 DOI: 10.1038/nature17180]

- Lo MK, Jordan R, Arvey A, Sudhamsu J, Shrivastava-Ranjan P, Hotard AL, Flint M, McMullan LK, Siegel D, Clarke 56 MO, Mackman RL, Hui HC, Perron M, Ray AS, Cihlar T, Nichol ST, Spiropoulou CF. GS-5734 and its parent nucleoside analog inhibit Filo-, Pneumo-, and Paramyxoviruses. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 43395 [PMID: 28262699 DOI: 10.1038/srep43395]
- 57 Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A, Feldt T, Green G, Green ML, Lescure FX, Nicastri E, Oda R, Yo K, Quiros-Roldan E, Studemeister A, Redinski J, Ahmed S, Bernett J, Chelliah D, Chen D, Chihara S, Cohen SH, Cunningham J, D'Arminio Monforte A, Ismail S, Kato H, Lapadula G, L'Her E, Maeno T, Majumder S, Massari M, Mora-Rillo M, Mutoh Y, Nguyen D, Verweij E, Zoufaly A, Osinusi AO, DeZure A, Zhao Y, Zhong L, Chokkalingam A, Elboudwarej E, Telep L, Timbs L, Henne I, Sellers S, Cao H, Tan SK, Winterbourne L, Desai P, Mera R, Gaggar A, Myers RP, Brainard DM, Childs R, Flanigan T. Compassionate Use of Remdesivir for Patients with Severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 2327-2336 [PMID: 32275812 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2007016]
- 58 Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, Marconi VC, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Hsieh L, Kline S, Tapson V, Iovine NM, Jain MK, Sweeney DA, El Sahly HM, Branche AR, Regalado Pineda J, Lye DC, Sandkovsky U, Luetkemeyer AF, Cohen SH, Finberg RW, Jackson PEH, Taiwo B, Paules CI, Arguinchona H, Erdmann N, Ahuja N, Frank M, Oh MD, Kim ES, Tan SY, Mularski RA, Nielsen H, Ponce PO, Taylor BS, Larson L, Rouphael NG, Saklawi Y, Cantos VD, Ko ER, Engemann JJ, Amin AN, Watanabe M, Billings J, Elie MC, Davey RT, Burgess TH, Ferreira J, Green M, Makowski M, Cardoso A, de Bono S, Bonnett T, Proschan M, Deye GA, Dempsey W, Nayak SU, Dodd LE, Beigel JH; ACTT-2 Study Group Members. Baricitinib plus Remdesivir for Hospitalized Adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 795-807 [PMID: 33306283 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2031994]
- 59 Antinori S, Cossu MV, Ridolfo AL, Rech R, Bonazzetti C, Pagani G, Gubertini G, Coen M, Magni C, Castelli A, Borghi B, Colombo R, Giorgi R, Angeli E, Mileto D, Milazzo L, Vimercati S, Pellicciotta M, Corbellino M, Torre A, Rusconi S, Oreni L, Gismondo MR, Giacomelli A, Meroni L, Rizzardini G, Galli M. Compassionate remdesivir treatment of severe Covid-19 pneumonia in intensive care unit (ICU) and Non-ICU patients: Clinical outcome and differences in posttreatment hospitalisation status. Pharmacol Res 2020; 158: 104899 [PMID: 32407959 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104899]
- Leegwater E, Strik A, Wilms EB, Bosma LBE, Burger DM, Ottens TH, van Nieuwkoop C. Drug-induced Liver Injury in 60 a Patient With Coronavirus Disease 2019: Potential Interaction of Remdesivir With P-Glycoprotein Inhibitors. Clin Infect Dis 2021; 72: 1256-1258 [PMID: 32594120 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa883]
- Carothers C, Birrer K, Vo M. Acetylcysteine for the Treatment of Suspected Remdesivir-Associated Acute Liver Failure 61 in COVID-19: A Case Series. Pharmacotherapy 2020; 40: 1166-1171 [PMID: 33006138 DOI: 10.1002/phar.2464]
- Furuta Y, Komeno T, Nakamura T. Favipiravir (T-705), a broad spectrum inhibitor of viral RNA polymerase. Proc Jpn 62 Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci 2017; 93: 449-463 [PMID: 28769016 DOI: 10.2183/pjab.93.027]
- Yamazaki S, Suzuki T, Sayama M, Nakada TA, Igari H, Ishii I. Suspected cholestatic liver injury induced by favipiravir 63 in a patient with COVID-19. J Infect Chemother 2021; 27: 390-392 [PMID: 33402301 DOI: 10.1016/j.jiac.2020.12.021]
- Cai Q, Yang M, Liu D, Chen J, Shu D, Xia J, Liao X, Gu Y, Cai Q, Yang Y, Shen C, Li X, Peng L, Huang D, Zhang J, 64 Zhang S, Wang F, Liu J, Chen L, Chen S, Wang Z, Zhang Z, Cao R, Zhong W, Liu Y, Liu L. Experimental Treatment with Favipiravir for COVID-19: An Open-Label Control Study. Engineering (Beijing) 2020; 6: 1192-1198 [PMID: 32346491 DOI: 10.1016/j.eng.2020.03.007]
- Pilkington V, Pepperrell T, Hill A. A review of the safety of favipiravir a potential treatment in the COVID-19 65 pandemic? J Virus Erad 2020; 6: 45-51 [PMID: 32405421 DOI: 10.1016/S2055-6640(20)30016-9]
- Guaraldi G, Meschiari M, Cozzi-Lepri A, Milic J, Tonelli R, Menozzi M, Franceschini E, Cuomo G, Orlando G, Borghi 66 V, Santoro A, Di Gaetano M, Puzzolante C, Carli F, Bedini A, Corradi L, Fantini R, Castaniere I, Tabbì L, Girardis M, Tedeschi S, Giannella M, Bartoletti M, Pascale R, Dolci G, Brugioni L, Pietrangelo A, Cossarizza A, Pea F, Clini E, Salvarani C, Massari M, Viale PL, Mussini C. Tocilizumab in patients with severe COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Rheumatol 2020; 2: e474-e484 [PMID: 32835257 DOI: 10.1016/S2665-9913(20)30173-9]
- Muhović D, Bojović J, Bulatović A, Vukčević B, Ratković M, Lazović R, Smolović B. First case of drug-induced liver 67 injury associated with the use of tocilizumab in a patient with COVID-19. Liver Int 2020; 40: 1901-1905 [PMID: 32478465 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14516]
- Hundt MA, Deng Y, Ciarleglio MM, Nathanson MH, Lim JK. Abnormal Liver Tests in COVID-19: A Retrospective 68 Observational Cohort Study of 1,827 Patients in a Major U.S. Hospital Network. Hepatology 2020; 72: 1169-1176 [PMID: 32725890 DOI: 10.1002/hep.314871
- Falcão MB, Pamplona de Góes Cavalcanti L, Filgueiras Filho NM, Antunes de Brito CA. Case Report: Hepatotoxicity 69 Associated with the Use of Hydroxychloroquine in a Patient with COVID-19. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 102: 1214-1216 [PMID: 32314698 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-0276]
- 70 Forbes JD, Van Domselaar G, Bernstein CN. The Gut Microbiota in Immune-Mediated Inflammatory Diseases. Front Microbiol 2016; 7: 1081 [PMID: 27462309 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01081]
- Chattopadhyay I, Shankar EM. SARS-CoV-2-Indigenous Microbiota Nexus: Does Gut Microbiota Contribute to 71 Inflammation and Disease Severity in COVID-19? Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2021; 11: 590874 [PMID: 33791231 DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.590874]
- Dhar D, Mohanty A. Gut microbiota and Covid-19- possible link and implications. Virus Res 2020; 285: 198018 [PMID: 72 32430279 DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020.198018]
- Hussain I, Cher GLY, Abid MA, Abid MB. Role of Gut Microbiome in COVID-19: An Insight Into Pathogenesis and 73 Therapeutic Potential. Front Immunol 2021; 12: 765965 [PMID: 34721437 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.765965]
- Yamamoto S, Saito M, Tamura A, Prawisuda D, Mizutani T, Yotsuyanagi H. The human microbiome and COVID-19: A 74 systematic review. PLoS One 2021; 16: e0253293 [PMID: 34161373 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253293]
- Yu Z, Yang Z, Wang Y, Zhou F, Li S, Li C, Li L, Zhang W, Li X. Recent advance of ACE2 and microbiota dysfunction in 75 COVID-19 pathogenesis. Heliyon 2021; 7: e07548 [PMID: 34296023 DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07548]
- 76 Ohira H, Tsutsui W, Fujioka Y. Are Short Chain Fatty Acids in Gut Microbiota Defensive Players for Inflammation and Atherosclerosis? J Atheroscler Thromb 2017; 24: 660-672 [PMID: 28552897 DOI: 10.5551/jat.RV17006]


- Wang J, Yang X, Li Y, Huang JA, Jiang J, Su N. Specific cytokines in the inflammatory cytokine storm of patients with COVID-19-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome and extrapulmonary multiple-organ dysfunction. Virol J 2021; 18: 117 [PMID: 34088317 DOI: 10.1186/s12985-021-01588-y]
- Costela-Ruiz VJ, Illescas-Montes R, Puerta-Puerta JM, Ruiz C, Melguizo-Rodríguez L. SARS-CoV-2 infection: The role 78 of cytokines in COVID-19 disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2020; 54: 62-75 [PMID: 32513566 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.06.001]
- K NK, Patil P, Bhandary SK, Haridas V, N SK, E S, Shetty P. Is butyrate a natural alternative to dexamethasone in the 79 management of CoVID-19? F1000Res 2021; 10: 273 [PMID: 34046165 DOI: 10.12688/f1000research.51786.1]
- Burchill E, Lymberopoulos E, Menozzi E, Budhdeo S, McIlroy JR, Macnaughtan J, Sharma N. The Unique Impact of 80 COVID-19 on Human Gut Microbiome Research. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 652464 [PMID: 33796545 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.652464]
- Abid MB, Koh CJ. Probiotics in health and disease: fooling Mother Nature? Infection 2019; 47: 911-917 [PMID: 81 31478123 DOI: 10.1007/s15010-019-01351-0]
- Ratajczak W, Rył A, Mizerski A, Walczakiewicz K, Sipak O, Laszczyńska M. Immunomodulatory potential of gut 82 microbiome-derived short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs). Acta Biochim Pol 2019; 66: 1-12 [PMID: 30831575 DOI: 10.18388/abp.2018 2648
- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngom-Bru C, Blanchard C, Junt T, Nicod LP, Harris 83 NL, Marsland BJ. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. Nat Med 2014; 20: 159-166 [PMID: 24390308 DOI: 10.1038/nm.3444]
- Lewis G, Wang B, Shafiei Jahani P, Hurrell BP, Banie H, Aleman Muench GR, Maazi H, Helou DG, Howard E, Galle-Treger L, Lo R, Santosh S, Baltus A, Bongers G, San-Mateo L, Gilliland FD, Rehan VK, Soroosh P, Akbari O. Dietary Fiber-Induced Microbial Short Chain Fatty Acids Suppress ILC2-Dependent Airway Inflammation. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 2051 [PMID: 31620118 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02051]
- 85 Scoditti E, Massaro M, Garbarino S, Toraldo DM. Role of Diet in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Prevention and Treatment. Nutrients 2019; 11 [PMID: 31208151 DOI: 10.3390/nu11061357]
- Eguchi K, Fujitani N, Nakagawa H, Miyazaki T. Prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection with probiotic lactic 86 acid bacterium Lactobacillus gasseri SBT2055. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 4812 [PMID: 30886158 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-39602-7
- 87 Gill HS, Rutherfurd KJ, Cross ML, Gopal PK. Enhancement of immunity in the elderly by dietary supplementation with the probiotic Bifidobacterium lactis HN019. Am J Clin Nutr 2001; 74: 833-839 [PMID: 11722966 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/74.6.833
- Zeng J, Wang CT, Zhang FS, Qi F, Wang SF, Ma S, Wu TJ, Tian H, Tian ZT, Zhang SL, Qu Y, Liu LY, Li YZ, Cui S, 88 Zhao HL, Du QS, Ma Z, Li CH, Li Y, Si M, Chu YF, Meng M, Ren HS, Zhang JC, Jiang JJ, Ding M, Wang YP. Effect of probiotics on the incidence of ventilator-associated pneumonia in critically ill patients: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. Intensive Care Med 2016; 42: 1018-1028 [PMID: 27043237 DOI: 10.1007/s00134-016-4303-x]
- Gao QY, Chen YX, Fang JY. 2019 Novel coronavirus infection and gastrointestinal tract. J Dig Dis 2020; 21: 125-126 89 [PMID: 32096611 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12851]
- Chen T, Li R, Chen P. Gut Microbiota and Chemical-Induced Acute Liver Injury. Front Physiol 2021; 12: 688780 90 [PMID: 34122150 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2021.688780]
- Jiang H, Yan R, Wang K, Wang Q, Chen X, Chen L, Li L, Lv L. Lactobacillus reuteri DSM 17938 alleviates d-91 galactosamine-induced liver failure in rats. Biomed Pharmacother 2021; 133: 111000 [PMID: 33202285 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.111000]
- Neag MA, Catinean A, Muntean DM, Pop MR, Bocsan CI, Botan EC, Buzoianu AD. Probiotic Bacillus Spores Protect 92 Against Acetaminophen Induced Acute Liver Injury in Rats. Nutrients 2020; 12 [PMID: 32120994 DOI: 10.3390/nu12030632
- Manjani L, Desai N, Kohli A, Arya R, Woods C, Desale S. Effects of acetaminophen on outcomes in patients hospitalized 93 with COVID-19. Chest 2021; 160: A1072 [DOI: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.07.992]
- 94 Li Y, Lv L, Ye J, Fang D, Shi D, Wu W, Wang Q, Wu J, Yang L, Bian X, Jiang X, Jiang H, Yan R, Peng C, Li L. Bifidobacterium adolescentis CGMCC 15058 alleviates liver injury, enhances the intestinal barrier and modifies the gut microbiota in D-galactosamine-treated rats. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2019; 103: 375-393 [PMID: 30345482 DOI: 10.1007/s00253-018-9454-y]
- Wang Y, Wu G, Zhao L, Wang W. Nutritional Modulation of Gut Microbiota Alleviates Severe Gastrointestinal 95 Symptoms in a Patient with Post-Acute COVID-19 Syndrome. *mBio* 2022; 13: e0380121 [PMID: 35254129 DOI: 10.1128/mbio.03801-211



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1721-1734

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1721

Basic Study

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction method identifying two polymorphisms of hepatitis B virus genotype C2 infections, rt269L and rt269I

Kijeong Kim, Yu-Min Choi, Dong Hyun Kim, Junghwa Jang, Won Hyeok Choe, Bum-Joon Kim

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Gao YT, China; Kao JT, Taiwan; Min X, China

Received: October 14, 2022 Peer-review started: October 14, 2022 First decision: January 3, 2023 Revised: January 13, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Kijeong Kim, Department of Microbiology, College of Medicine, Chung-Ang University, Seoul 06974, South Korea

Yu-Min Choi, Dong Hyun Kim, Junghwa Jang, Bum-Joon Kim, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, College of Medicine, Seoul National University, Seoul 03080, South Korea

Won Hyeok Choe, Department of Internal Medicine, Konkuk University School of Medicine, Seoul 05030, South Korea

Bum-Joon Kim, Department of Biomedical Sciences, College of Medicine, Seoul National University, Seoul 03080, South Korea

Bum-Joon Kim, Liver Research Institute, College of Medicine, Seoul National University, Seoul 03080, South Korea

Bum-Joon Kim, Seoul National University Medical Research Center, Seoul 03080, South Korea

Corresponding author: Bum Joon Kim, PhD, Professor, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, College of Medicine, Seoul National University, 103 Daehak-ro, Jongno-gu, Seoul 03080, South Korea. kbumjoon@snu.ac.kr

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The presence of two distinct hepatitis B virus (HBV) Pol RT polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269I, could contribute to the unique clinical or virological phenotype of HBV genotype C2. Therefore, a simple and sensitive method capable of identifying both types in chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients infected with genotype C2 should be developed.

AIM

To develop a novel simple and sensitive locked nucleic acid (LNA)-real timepolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) method capable of identifying two rt269 types in CHB genotype C2 patients.

METHODS

We designed proper primer and probe sets for LNA-RT-PCR for the separation of rt269 types. Using synthesized DNAs of the wild type and variant forms, melting



temperature analysis, detection sensitivity, and endpoint genotyping for LNA-RT-PCR were performed. The developed LNA-RT-PCR method was applied to a total of 94 CHB patients of genotype C2 for the identification of two rt269 polymorphisms, and these results were compared with those obtained by a direct sequencing protocol.

RESULTS

The LNA-RT-PCR method could identify two rt269L and rt269I polymorphisms of three genotypes, two rt269L types ['L1' (WT) and 'L2'] and one rt269I type ('I') in single (63 samples, 72.4%) or mixed forms (24 samples, 27.6%) in 87 (92.6% sensitivity) of 94 samples from Korean CHB patients. When the results were compared with those obtained by the direct sequencing protocol, the LNA-RT-PCR method showed the same results in all but one of 87 positive detected samples (98.9% specificity).

CONCLUSION

The newly developed LNA-RT-PCR method could identify two rt269 polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269I, in CHB patients with genotype C2 infections. This method could be effectively used for the understanding of disease progression in genotype C2 endemic areas.

Key Words: Hepatitis B virus; Genotype C2; Polymerase; rt269; Locked nucleic acid-real time-polymerase chain reaction; Chronic hepatitis B

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Hepatitis B virus (HBV) genotype C2 infections have distinct clinical or virological traits, including a higher risk of hepatocellular carcinoma, lower response rate to interferon or prolonged hepatitis B e antigen-positive phase. We recently reported that the presence of two HBV Pol RT polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269I, contributed to unique traits of HBV genotype C2. Here, instead of time- or labor-consuming direct sequencing, we developed a new locked nucleic acid (LNA)-real timepolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) method for the separation between rt269L (L1 and L2) and I type from Korean chronic hepatitis B patients of genotype C2. The newly developed LNA-RT-PCR could be effectively used for the understanding of epidemiology and disease progression in genotype C2 endemic areas.

Citation: Kim K, Choi YM, Kim DH, Jang J, Choe WH, Kim BJ. Locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction method identifying two polymorphisms of hepatitis B virus genotype C2 infections, rt269L and rt269L. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(11): 1721-1734

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1721.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1721

INTRODUCTION

Although vaccines and therapeutic agents are currently available against hepatitis B virus (HBV), HBV infection is still a high-risk global health issue. More than 350 million people are chronically infected, and approximately 786000 patients die annually worldwide due to HBV-related diseases, including cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)[1,2].

HBV belongs into hepadnaviridae and is an enveloped and partially double-stranded DNA virus. Its genome is approximately 3.2 kb in length and contains 4 overlapping open reading frames: Surface antigens (S), core proteins (C), polymerase (Pol), and X proteins (X)[3]. The HBV reverse transcriptase can lead to HBV mutations of higher frequency than that of other DNA viruses due to its lack of proofreading ability [4,5]. This results in the failure of antiviral therapy with nucleos(t) ide analogs and liver disease progression via persistent infections[5-9]. According to the criteria of an 8% divergence in HBV genome sequences, HBV has been grouped into 10 genotypes as A-J[10-12]. A number of studies on HBV genotypes have reported that they play significant roles in the development of different disease profiles during chronic hepatitis B (CHB) infection as well as distinct geographic and ethnic distributions[13,14]. Of note, genotype C, particularly C2, vs genotype B showed a higher HBV replication capacity and higher tendency of chronicity and more frequently developed into liver cirrhosis (LC) and HCC in CHB patients of HBV endemic Asian nations, such as China, Japan and South Korea[11,15-19]. In addition, incomplete response to interferon (IFN) therapy and higher levels of mutations were also reported in genotype C2 infections[18,20-22]. However, thus far, which factor can explain several



distinct characteristics in clinical and virological aspects found in genotype C2 infections remains elusive.

As one likely answer to this issue, we have recently reported that the presence of two HBV Pol RT polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269L that are found only in HBV genotype C could affect viral phenotypes and clinical outcomes and cause worse responses to IFN therapy in genotype C2 infections. In particular, we showed that the wild rt269L type infection that is distinct in genotype C vs the rt269I type is more strongly related to higher HBV replication and hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) positive serostatus, which are two distinct traits of genotype C infections [23-25]. This suggests that the presence of RT polymorphisms, particularly the wild rt269L type, could at least partly contribute into clinical or virological traits that are distinct in genotype C infections. However, our previous study has limitations in exploring the distribution of rt269 polymorphisms in CHB patients due to use of a conventional nested polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based direct sequencing protocol, which could underestimate genuine HBV quasispecies in patient sera[23]. A locked nucleic acid (LNA) is a nucleic acid analog containing a methylene bridge that connects the 2'-oxygen of ribose with the 4'-carbon [26,27]. The real time PCR method using a LNA-based probe capable of improving the hybridization affinity for complementary sequences shows strong mismatch discriminatory power[28,29]. Therefore, without the application of nested PCR, it could discriminate HBV mutations from CHB patients with high sensitivity and specificity.

Therefore, in this study, for the first time, we sought to develop a novel simple and sensitive locked nucleotide probe (LNA probe)-based RT-PCR (LNA-RT-PCR) method that is capable of separating two different rt269 polymorphisms, the wild-type rt269L (CTC/A) and rt269I type (ATC), in CHB patients of genotype C2.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient sera, HBV DNA extraction and genotyping

For this study, serum samples from 94 patients who visited Seoul National University Hospital (2005-2007), met the inclusion criteria of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) positivity and HBV DNA positivity (for more than 6 mo), and were lamivudine, adefovir dipivoxil, entecavir, telbivudine, tumor necrosis factor, and peg-IFN treatment-naïve were used. All patients had negative tests for hepatitis C virus, human immunodeficiency virus and markers for coexisting autoimmune liver disease and did not have an alcohol or drug addiction. HBV DNA was extracted from 200 µL of serum samples using the QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (QIAGEN Inc, Hilden, Germany). To analyze the genotyping, a nested PCR-based sequencing protocol targeting partial HBsAg sequences was used as previously described [30]. This study was approved by Seoul National University Hospital (IRB-1012-131-346).

Synthesis of positive control DNAs for variants at the HBV rt269 codon

We prepared six positive control DNAs for L1 [CTC, wild type (WT)] and the variants I (ATC) and L2 (CTA) at the HBV rtL269I locus. The DNAs were synthesized based on the HBV C2 polymerase sequence by Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc. They were 473 bp long and included the three variant sequences, with one of the 'A/G' polymorphisms near the variant sequence (Figure 1, Supplementary Table 1). These were used for the development of the methods for the application of LNA real-time PCR to a rapid differential and quantitative identification of the WT and variants. We used these DNAs to intentionally mix DNA templates with WT control DNA and variant control DNA in different ratios in a range of amounts to mimic clinical samples. We also used positive controls for melting temperature (T_m) analysis, detection sensitivity, and endpoint genotyping and for the construction of quantification standard graphs for LNA-RT-PCR to estimate the quantity of HBV WT and variant DNA in clinical samples.

Primer and LNA probe design

Primers were designed using LightCycler Probe Design Software 2.0 (LC PDS 2.0) Version 1.0.R.36 (Roche). The primers were designed to have high melting temperatures (> 65 °C) and to be highly conserved in the target DNA region of HBV. We used LC PDS (version 2.0) software for the probe design and referred to the design guidelines of the LNA manufacturer (Integrated DNA Technologies). The potential presence of cross-complementarities among all the primers and LNA probes was checked by using LC PDS 2.0 software. The LNA probes were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies, and primers were purchased from Macrogen.

RT-PCR

A LightCycler Version 96 system (Roche) was used for LNA-RT-PCR, and three channels were used for the experiment. An optimal reaction mixture was established for the sensitive and specific detection of target sequences. A 10-µL reaction mixture was prepared for each sample as follows: 1 µL PCR buffer for Taq (Ex Taq HS, Takara), 2 mmol/L MgCl₂, 0.2 mmol/L deoxynucleoside triphosphate mixture



Kim K et al. LNA-RT-PCR identifying rt269L and rt269I

	1790	1800	1810	1820
	I			
Consensus	ACTTC <u>ATGGGATATGTA</u>	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CCACAGGAACAT
Translation	F M G Y V I	G S W G	TLP	Q E H
L	ACTTCATGGGATATGT	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CCACAGGAACAT
L	ACTTCATGGGATATGT	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CC G CAGGAACAT
I	ACTTCATGGGATATGT	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CCACAGGAACAT
I	ACTTCATGGGATATGTA	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CC G CAGGAACAT
L2	ACTTCATGGGATATGTA	AATTGGAAGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CCACAGGAACAT
L2	ACTT T ATGGGATATGT	G AT C GG G AGTTG	GGGTACTTTA	CCACAGGAACA C
	1840	1850	1860	1870
			1	
Consensus	ATTGTACWAAAA MTCA	A R CAATGTTTTC	GGAAACTGCC	tgt m aataga <u>cc</u>
Translation	I V L K L/IK	QCFR	K L P	VNRP
L	ATTGTAC A AAAA C TCAA	AGCAATGTTTTC	GGAAACTGCC	IGT A AATAGACC
L	ATTGTAC T AAAA C TCAA	ACAATGTTTTC	GGAAACTGCC'	IGT C AATAGACC
I	ATTGTAC T AAAA A TCAA	AGCAATGTTTTC	GGAAACTGCC'	IGT A AATAGACC
I	ATTGTAC T AAAA A TCAA	ACAATGTTTTC	GGAAACTGCC'	IGT C AATAGACC
L2	ATTGTAC A AAAA CTA AA	A <u>GCAATGT</u> TTTC	GGAAACTGCC	IGT A AATAGACC
L2	attgtac t aaaa c t a aa	ACAATGTTTTC	G A AAACT T CC'	IGT A AATAGACC
	1890	1900	1910	1920
	I			
Consensus	TATTGATTGGAAAGTAT	GTCAAAGAATT	<u>GTGGG</u> TCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
Translation	IDWKVC	QRI	VGLL	GFA
L	TATTGACTGGAAAGTAT	GTCAAAGAATTO	GTGGGTCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
L	TATTGATTGGAAAGTCT	GTCAAAGAATTO	GTGGGTCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
I	TATTGATTGGAAAGTAT	GTCAAAGAATTO	GTGGGTCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
I	TATTGATTGGAAAGT C T	GTCAAAGAATTO	GTGGGTCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
L2	TATTGATTGGAAAGTAT	GTCAAAGAATTO	GTGGGTCTTTI	GGGCTTTGCTG
L2	TATTGATTGGAAAGTAT	GTCA G AGAATT(GTGGGTCTTT	GGGCTTTGCTG
	DOI: 10.3748/wja.v.	29.i11.1721 Сор	vriaht ©The	Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Primer and locked nucleic acid probe positions designed for the detection of three genotypes of polymorphisms in the rt269 codon, 'L1', 'l' and 'L2'. Arrows indicate the primer positions. Underlines indicate the probe positions. The numbers designate the nucleotide position on the hepatitis B virus P gene sequence. Boldface bases denote the different bases. The box represents the codon and amino acid sequences of rtL269 variants. This single nucleotide difference is the basis of their discriminative identification by locked nucleic acid probes in this study. The amino acid sequence is shown as oneletter amino acid symbols.

> (Takara), 0.2 μM forward primer, 0.8 μM reverse primer, 0.4 μM LNA FAM probe (L_CTC), 0.4 μM LNA Hex probe (I_ATC), 0.2 µM LNA Cy5 probe (L2_CTA), 0.25 u Ex Taq HS (Takara), 1 mg/mL bovine serum albumin (Ambion, ThermoFisher), 2 µL template DNA, and PCR-grade water (Roche). The cycling conditions were as follows, with default ramping speed rates if not specified: 60 s at 95 °C; four cycles of 10 s at 95 °C, 10 s at 58 °C, and 25 s at 72 °C with a 2.2 °C/s ramp; 46 cycles of 10 s at 95 °C, 10 s at 58 °C (with a single fluorescence acquisition), 25 s at 72 °C with a 2.2 °C/s ramp, and melting-curve analysis with 10 s at 95 °C, 60 s at 53 °C, and 1 s at 80 °C with a 0.08 °C/s ramp under continuous fluorescence acquisition at a rate of 4 readings/°C.

Identification of the WT and variant forms

Identification of the WT and variant forms 'I' and 'L2' at the rt269 codon in a sample was performed based on the three different LNA probe-specific T_m measurements at their own specified channels. To establish the diagnostic T_m range for the WT and variant forms, the control DNAs of the WT form, the variant forms and their mixtures at a variety of ratios were tested to observe melting peak formation and measure the specific T_m values for the WT and variant forms.

Construction of standard quantification curves

Six types of standard quantification curves for the WT and variant forms were generated with known amounts of positive control DNAs for their application to the estimation of the amount of the target DNAs in unknown samples. The standard curves were produced by duplicate LNA real-time PCR for each target DNA with known amounts (4.0E + 08 to 4.0E + 01 copies) of control DNAs. The R² correlation for all the standard curves was greater than 0.99. The limit of detection and limit of quantification of the WT and variant forms were determined among the series of diluted copies. These standard curves were applied to the quantification of DNA samples in a pure form and dominant type of variants in a mixed form.

Construction of standard genotyping plots to determine a dominant type in a mixture sample

To determine a dominant type of rtL269I variant in a mixture of a sample, standard genotyping plots were constructed using LNA real-time PCR with positive control DNA mixture sets in various ratios





Figure 2 Differentiation of dominant hepatitis B virus rtL269 genotype variants using an endpoint genotyping method (LC96 software). L plus I genotype mixtures were prepared with known amounts of the genotypes in various ratios. I-dominant mixtures were positioned closer to axis Hex with higher Hex-fluorescence values, whereas L-dominant ones were located closer to axis FAM with higher FAM-fluorescence values. NTC: Nontemplate control.

and the endpoint genotyping tool of LC 96 system software. These plots were based on the endpoint fluorescence (EPF) values at the two channels for comparison. These plots were applied to determine the dominant type in the clinical samples (Figure 2).

Application of LNA-RT-PCR to clinical samples

The DNA of a total of 94 human sera was tested for the identification of the WT and 'I' and 'L2' variant forms of the HBV RT gene by LNA-RT-PCR. The quantification cycle (Cq), EPF, and T_m produced by the WT- and variant-targeting LNA probes with sample DNA were measured. Identification of the WT and variant forms was determined by comparing their T_m values obtained from their specific channel (FAM for WT, Hex for 'I', and Cy5 for 'L2') with their diagnostic T_m ranges obtained from standard assays.

Comparison of LNA-RT-PCR and direct sequencing for identification of WT and variant DNA

A total of 94 clinical samples were tested for the comparison of the LNA-RT-PCR method and directing sequencing method in the accurate identification of the rt269 variant and WT DNA. Direct sequencing was performed using the same primer sets producing the 128-bp LNA-RT-PCR amplicon.

RESULTS

Primer and probe design for LNA-based RT-PCR

First, we investigated the full-length HBV reverse transcriptase sequences from 131 treatment-naïve Korean patients chronically infected with HBV genotype C2 (GenBank No CH patients (GenBank Nos: KX264864-KX264922) and HCC patients (GenBank Nos: KX264792-KX264863)[30]. SeqMan II software Version 5.03 (DNASTAR) was used to search for appropriate primer sequences for LNA-based RT-PCR that are highly conserved to first obtain the shortest possible amplification product of the rt269 codon for efficient PCR (Figure 1).

We found three distinct sequence types in the rt269 codon from 131 patients, two types in rt269L, CTC (designated L1) and CTA (designated L2), and one rt269I type, ATC (designated I). Therefore, we designed three different LNA probes for specific simultaneous detection in a single reaction of the 'L' (WT), 'I', and 'L2' variants of HBV. The sequences of primers and LNA probes are shown in Table 1 and Figure 1.

Determination of the diagnostic T_m range for the identification of the WT and variant forms

Identification of the three sequence types, "L1", "I" and "L2", was accomplished by LNA-RT-PCR melting curve analysis by observation of their melting peak formation and their specific T_m measurement at their specified channel (Table 2, Figure 3). LNA-RT-PCR with samples of WT control DNA (n = 68) in amounts ranging from 4.0E + 00 to 4.0E + 08 copies resulted in a 100% positive detection rate and 100% specificity. A distinct melting peak formation at the FAM channel in all the tested WT control DNA samples with T_m s of 62.4 ± 0.4 °C for 'L' and 58.0 ± 0.2 °C for 'L' was observed, but no significant melting peak formation at the other channels (Hex and Cy5) was observed. LNA-RT-PCR with samples of the 'I' positive control DNA (n = 76) also resulted in a 100% positive detection rate and 100% specificity. A distinct melting peak formation in the Hex channel, 60.2 ± 0.7 °C for 'I' and 56.6



locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction									
Primer/probe	Sequence (5' to 3') ¹	T _m (°C) ²	Target	СН					
Primers (product: 128 bp)									
Forward	ATGGGATATGTAATTGGAAGtTGGGG	65-67	HBV P gene						
Reverse	CCCACAATTC#TGACATACTTTCCAATCAATAGG	67-69	HBV P gene						
LNA Probes									
L_CTC	5′ 6-FAM-AAA+C+T+CAAR+CA+ATGT - 3′ IABkFQ	61-64	L (WT)	FAM					
I_ATC	5' HEX-AAA+A+T+CAAR+CAA+T+GT - 3' IABkFQ	61-64	Ι	HEX					
L2_CTA	5′ CY5-AAA+C+T+AAAR+CAA+T+GT - 3′ IABkFQ	60-63	L2	CY5					

¹Locked nucleic acid nucleotides are written +A, +C, +T or +G.

²Primer T_m was calculated by using LC PDS software version 2.0, and probe T_m was calculated by https://www.exiqon.com/ls/pages/exiqontmpredictiontool.aspx.

T_m: Melting temperature; CH: Channel; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; WT: Wild type; LNA: Locked nucleic acid.

 \pm 0.2 °C for 'I', was observed, but no significant melting peak formation in the other channels (FAM and Cy5) was observed. LNA-RT-PCR with samples of the 'L2' positive control DNA (n = 52) also resulted in a 100% positive detection rate and 100% specificity. A distinct melting peak formation at the Cy5 channel, 64.6 \pm 0.1 °C for 'L2' and 61.2 \pm 0.2 °C for 'L2', was observed, but no significant melting peak formation at the other channels (FAM and Hex) was observed.

LNA-RT-PCR with samples (n = 320) of the 'L' WT positive control DNA plus 'I' control DNA or 'L2' plus 'I', mixed in different ratios (1:1, 1:2, 1:4, 1:8, 2:1, 4:1, and 8:1) in amounts ranging from 4.0E + 01 to 4.0E + 08 copies resulted in a nearly 100% positive detection rate (only three samples undetected in the smallest amount of DNA) for both the variant and WT DNA. A distinct melting peak formation at the FAM, Hex, and Cy5 channels in all the mixed DNA samples with detectable T_ms was observed. The measured T_ms were shifted slightly downward from the range of the T_ms measured only with nonmixed DNAs, as shown in Table 1. These slight changes did not affect the identification of the sequence types in the samples.

Application of LNA-RT-PCR to clinical samples and comparison with the results of the direct sequencing protocol

Of the 94 clinical samples tested by our LNA-RT-PCR method, 87 samples (92.6% sensitivity) were positively identified as 'L1' (WT), 'I', and 'L2' variants in single or mixed forms. Among the positively identified samples (n = 87), all samples produced a distinct melting peak or peaks with a T_m or T_ms within the diagnostic T_m range for the WT form "L1" or the two variant forms "I" and "L2". Of the 87 positively detected samples, 63 (72.4%) and 24 samples (27.6%) were identified either singly or in a mixed manner, respectively. Of the 63 samples identified singly, the prevalence of the 'L1' type, 'I' type and 'L2' type was 82.5% (*n* = 52), 12.7% (*n* = 8) and 4.8% (*n* = 3), respectively (Table 3). Of the 24 mixed form samples (27.6%), the prevalence of samples with almost the same ratio of L1 and I (codominant cases) was 29.2% (n = 7). The prevalence of L1 (L1 + I or L1 + L2) and I dominant (L1 + I) cases was 54.2% (n = 13) and 16.7% (n = 4), respectively. Given that the dominant cases included the respective exclusive cases, of the 87 positively detected samples, the prevalence of L, I and coinfection with L and I was 78.2% [*n* = 68, L1(65) + L2(3)], 13.8% (*n* = 12), and 8.0% (*n* = 7), respectively. PCR direct sequencing using the same primer set used in the LNA-RT-PCR method enabled the successful separation between the L1, L2 and I sequence types in all 94 clinical samples (100% sensitivity). Comparison between results obtained by both direct sequencing and LNA-RT-PCR protocols showed that of the 87 samples identified by LNA-RT-PCR, all (86 samples, 98.9% specificity) but one sample (SNU3-479) produced completely identical results between the two protocols (Figure 4). A mismatched sample was identified as I dominant (L1:I = 1:4) by LNA and exclusive I type by the direct sequencing protocol. The distinct results between both protocols may be due to the difference in sensitivity between the protocols. All seven samples not detected by the LNA-RT-PCR method were demonstrated to have mutations in their respective probe binding sequences by a direct sequencing protocol, which could interfere with normal LNA-RT-PCR (Table 4).

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 measurement of metang temperatures of the Line2 variants by multiprobe locked nucleic acturear-time polymerase chain reaction											
Construct of positive control DNA features $(4.00 \pm 0.0) (4.00 \pm 0.0)$	Target sequence ¹	Measured T _m (°C) in channel ²									
		Min ³	Max ³	mean ± SD (detection) ³	Min ⁴	Max ⁴	mean ± SD (detection) ⁴	Min⁵	Max ⁵	mean ± SD (detection) ⁵	
L (<i>n</i> = 34)	AAA CTC AA <u>G</u> CAATGTT	61.6	63.1	62.4 ± 0.4 (34, 100%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	55.2	56.2	55.8 ± 0.2 (26, 76.4%)	
L' (n = 34)	AAACTCAAACAATGTT	57.8	58.7	58.0 ± 0.2 (34, 100%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	
I (<i>n</i> = 42)	AAA ATC AA <u>G</u> CAATGTT	-	-	- (0, 0%)	59.0	61.6	60.2 ± 0.7 (42, 100%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	
I' (<i>n</i> = 34)	AAA ATC AA <u>A</u> CAATGTT	-	-	- (0, 0%)	56.3	57.1	56.6 ± 0.2 (34, 100%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	
L2 (<i>n</i> = 34)	AAA CTA AA <u>G</u> CAATGTT	-	-	- (0, 0%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	64.4	64.8	64.6 ± 0.1 (26, 100%)	
L2' (n = 18)	AAA CTA AA <u>A</u> CAATGTT	-	-	- (0, 0%)	-	-	- (0, 0%)	60.9	61.4	61.2 ± 0.2 (18, 100%)	

¹Bold, target codon; underline, A/G polymorphism.

²Bold, target specific melting temperature.

³FAM.

⁴Hex.

⁵Cy5.

Bold words represent genotype-specific T_ms. T_m: Melting temperature; -: No significant melting temperature; SD: Standard deviation.

DISCUSSION

LNA-based RT-PCR assays have been widely applied to viral single-nucleotide polymorphism analysis as well as simple viral detection in clinical settings instead of the less sensitive traditional RT-PCR or nested RT-PCR assays prone that are to cross-contamination[31,32]. In particular, it has recently been reported that this method could successfully identify YMDD mutations of HBV from Korean patients with chronic HBV infections[30,33]. In the present study, we developed an LNA-RT-PCR assay using melting curve analysis for the identification of two polymorphisms within codon 269 of HBV Pol, rt269L and rt269I (three genotypes, rt269L1, rt269L2 and rt269I), with the advantages of easy performance and a low likelihood of cross-contamination. The clinical application of the LNA-RT-PCR assay was also compared in parallel with a direct sequencing protocol using clinical samples. Our data showed that the LNA-RT-PCR assay can separate the two polymorphisms in the rt269 codon of HBV Pol in clinical specimens with high sensitivity (92.6%, 87/94 samples) and specificity (98.9%, 86/87 samples) (Table 3). Of note, this assay can determine an almost exact ratio between two types within specimens from mixed cases (23/24 cases), suggesting its feasibility in the analysis of quasispecies distribution in mixed samples (Table 3, Figure 4).

Our LNA-based RT-PCR assays showed that the WT 'L1' type (n = 65, 74.7%) was found at the highest frequency in our cohort, followed by the 'I' type (n = 12, 13.8%) and 'L2' type (n = 3, 3.4%) (Table 3). This finding suggests that the 'L1' type is responsible for the majority of HBV infections in South Korea and that the WT form is prevalent in genotype C2 infections. Additionally, these findings suggest that the I type may be a variant of L1 rather than an independent polymorphism. Indeed, our

Table 3 Rates of positive detection of the hepatitis B virus L/I/L2 variants in a total of 94 clinical samples by locked nucleic acid realtime polymerase chain reaction

Type of detection	No. of samples	Percentage
Clinical samples	94	100
Single	63	67.0
L	55	58.5
Ι	8	8.5
Mixed	24	24.5
L + I (1:1)	7	7.4
L dominant	13	4.3
I dominant	4	12.8
Unidentified	7	7.4
Inconsistent with direct sequencing	1	1.1

Table 4 Samples which cannot be identified by locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction assay									
No.	Patients	Direct sequencing (AAACTCAARCAATGT)	Туре	LNA-RT-PCR					
1	SNU3 30 HCC	AAAATCAAGCACTGT	Ι	Not detected					
2	SNU3 70 HCC	AAAATTAAGCAATGT	Ι	Not detected					
3	SNU3 82 CH	AAAATCAAACTATGT	Ι	Not detected					
4	SNU3 123 HCC	AAACTTAAGCAATGT	L	Not detected					
5	SNU3 31 CH	AAAATCCAGCAATGT	Ι	Not detected					
6	SNU3 355 LC	AAAATTAAGCAATG	Ι	Not detected					
7	SNU3 388 LC	AAACTTAAGCAATGT	L	Not detected					

Bases in bold indicate the different ones from the target probe sequence. LNA-RT-PCR: Locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; CH: Chronic hepatitis; LC: Liver cirrhosis.

previous study based on a direct sequencing protocol also showed that the 'L1' type vs the 'I' type is more closely related to higher HBV replication, higher HBsAg levels and HBeAg positive serostatus [23], suggesting that the majority of the 'L1' type infections in our cohort may be due to its enhanced viral infectivity. Therefore, it is tempting to speculate that the 'L1' type uniquely found in genotype C2 infections may contribute to some distinct traits of the genotype C2 infections, including an enhanced duration of the HBeAg-positive stage[34-36], higher infectivity[37,38] and a higher prevalence of occult infection via vertical transmission[33,39,40]. Since our LNA-based RT-PCR assays can identify L1 of higher infectivity and other variants (L2 or I type) related to disease progression from large serum samples without time-consuming or labor intensive sequencing procedures, it could help in the management or treatment of chronic patients in genotype C2 endemic nations, including China, Japan and South Korea.

In 7 (7.4%) of the 94 samples, despite successful amplification, our LNA-based RT-PCR assays failed to separate the two polymorphisms in the rt269 codon (Table 4). Comparison with the direct sequencing protocol revealed that all seven samples amplified but not identified by LNA-based RT-PCR assays had one more mismatch mutation that was different from the probe binding sequences. This was enough to interfere with normal detection due to the lower meting temperature than the respective probe. Therefore, in the samples amplified but not identified by our LNA-based RT-PCR assays, a further direct sequencing protocol should be recommended for the identification of the two polymorphisms.

A total of 24 (27.6%) of the 87 positively detected samples were identified in a mixed manner, and L1, in most cases of mixed infections, was dominant or codominant over I or L2. These findings further support our hypothesis that I or L2 may be a variant of the L1 type rather than an independent polymorphism. However, to clarify whether mixed infection in a patient is due to simple mutation of L1 to L2 or I type or superinfection of another type, further quasispecies analysis should be investigated in the future.



Figure 3 Multiprobe locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction for discrimination among three types of polymorphisms in the rt269 codon. Amplification curves are shown on the left, and melting peaks are shown on the right. A: With L1 wild-type DNA templates, L1-type specific signals in the FAM channel (solid) were detected, showing their dominant amplification and distinct melting temperatures (T_m), with minimal cross signals of amplification and melting peaks generated by weak cross hybridizations of the other probes (I and L2), which were differentiated from the T_m values for I and L2 detection; B: For I variant-type DNA templates, I-type specific signals in the Hex channel (dotted) were detected, showing their exclusive amplifications and distinct T_m values, with no cross signals; C: For L2 variant-type DNA templates, amplification curves showed weak cross signals, but melting peaks were distinct with no cross signals.

The limitation of this study is that all the samples included were obtained from patients at the initial stage of drug use and are from one medical institution. To determine the exact clinical significance of L1, L2 and I infections or mixed infections in genotype C2-infected chronic patients, our LNA-based RT-PCR assays should be applied to a larger population-based cohort of multicenter registries in future studies.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our data showed that the LNA-RT-PCR method developed in this study can successfully identify two different polymorphisms, rt269L (L1 and L2) and rt269I, in the rt269 codon of HBV Pol from CHB patients with genotype C2 infections. The wildtype 'L1' form is more prevalent than the rt269I form in Korean CHB patients with genotype C2 infections, which is possibly due to its higher infectivity. Therefore, our LNA-RT-PCR method enables the separation of rt269 types and could be effectively used for a deeper understanding of epidemiology and disease progression in genotype C2 endemic areas.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Jaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1721 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Confirmation of multiprobe locked nucleic acid real-time polymerase chain reaction identification results of hepatitis B virus rtL269 variants by direct sequencing. Nucleotide bases are shown in the parentheses. Lowercase letters represent the base present in a lower amount relative to the dominant variant. Bold indicates the dominant amino acids and bases. Arrows represent the codon sequence positions for leucine or isoleucine; yellow, mixed bases.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) genotype C infections has distinct clinical or virological traits including higher risk of hepatocellular carcinoma, lower response rate to interferon or prolonged hepatitis B e antigenpositive phase. As a likely answer to this issue, we have recently reported that the presence of two HBV Pol RT polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269I could contribute to unique traits of HBV genotype C.

Research motivation

For the identification between two rt269 types from chronic patients of genotype C2 endemic areas instead of time or labor consuming direct sequencing protocol, we sought to develop a novel simple and sensitive locked nucleotide probe based real-time polymerase chain reaction (LNA-RT-PCR) method capable of separating two rt269 types, rt269L type encoding leucine, 'L' (L1: CTC, L2: CTA) and rt269I type encoding isoleucine (ATC) from chronic hepatitis B (CHB) genotype C2 patients.

Research objectives

To develop a novel simple and sensitive LNA-RT-PCR method capable of identifying two rt269 types in CHB genotype C2 patients.

Research methods

We designed appropriate primer and probe sets for LNA-RT-PCR for the separation of rt269 types. The developed LNA-RT-PCR method was applied to a total of 94 CHB patients of genotype C2 for the identification of two rt269 polymorphisms, and these results were compared with those obtained by a direct sequencing protocol.

Research results

The LNA-RT-PCR method could identify two rt269L and rt269I polymorphisms of three genotypes, two rt269L types ['L1' (WT) and 'L2'] and one rt269I type ('I') in single (63 samples, 72.4%) or mixed forms (24 samples, 27.6%) in 87 (92.6% sensitivity) of 94 samples from Korean CHB patients.

Research conclusions

The newly developed LNA-RT-PCR method could identify two rt269 polymorphisms, rt269L and rt269I, in CHB patients with genotype C2 infections. This method could be effectively used for the understanding of disease progression in genotype C2 endemic areas.

Research perspectives

The newly developed LNA-RT-PCR method could identify three rt269 types, L1, L2 and I from CHB patients of genotype C2 with high-sensitivity and specificity. It could play a relevant role in the clinical management of CHB patients of genotype C2 infection.

aishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kim K and Kim BJ contributed to study conception and design, and designed and performed experiments; Choe WH contributed to collection of clinical data; Kim K, Choi YM, Kim DH, Jang J, Choe WH, and Kim BJ contributed to data acquisition, data analysis and interpretation; Kim K, Choi YM, Choe WH, and Kim BJ contributed to writing of article, editing, reviewing and final approval of article.

Supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea, No. 2022R1A2B5B01001421; and the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute, the Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea, No. HI22C0476.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at Seoul National University Hospital.

Informed consent statement: Informed consent was waived because of the retrospective nature of the study and the analysis used anonymous clinical data.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: South Korea

ORCID number: Kijeong Kim 0000-0002-5132-1774; Yu-Min Choi 0000-0003-4709-3155; Dong Hyun Kim 0000-0003-0716-0456; Junghwa Jang 0000-0002-7794-8452; Won Hyeok Choe 0000-0002-8019-5412; Bum-Joon Kim 0000-0003-0085-6709.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Nannini P, Sokal EM. Hepatitis B: changing epidemiology and interventions. Arch Dis Child 2017; 102: 676-680 [PMID: 27986700 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-312043]
- 2 Abara WE, Qaseem A, Schillie S, McMahon BJ, Harris AM; High Value Care Task Force of the American College of Physicians and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Abraham GM, Centor R, DeLong DM, Gantzer HE, Horwitch CA, Humphrey LL, Jokela JA, Li JMW, Lohr RH, López AM, McLean RM. Hepatitis B Vaccination, Screening, and Linkage to Care: Best Practice Advice From the American College of Physicians and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Ann Intern Med 2017; 167: 794-804 [PMID: 29159414 DOI: 10.7326/M17-1106]
- Yuen MF, Chen DS, Dusheiko GM, Janssen HLA, Lau DTY, Locarnini SA, Peters MG, Lai CL. Hepatitis B virus 3 infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2018; 4: 18035 [PMID: 29877316 DOI: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.35]
- Liang TJ. Hepatitis B: the virus and disease. *Hepatology* 2009; 49: S13-S21 [PMID: 19399811 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22881] 4
- Fu Y, Wu S, Hu Y, Chen T, Zeng Y, Liu C, Ou Q. Mutational characterization of HBV reverse transcriptase gene and the 5 genotype-phenotype correlation of antiviral resistance among Chinese chronic hepatitis B patients. Emerg Microbes Infect 2020; 9: 2381-2393 [PMID: 33124952 DOI: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1835446]
- Wang J, Liu J, Yu Q, Jin L, Yao N, Yang Y, Yan T, Hu C, He Y, Zhao Y, Chen T, Zheng J. High Prevalence of 6 Preexisting HBV Polymerase Mutations in Pregnant Women Does Not Limit the Antiviral Therapy Efficacy. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 2021; 2021: 6653546 [PMID: 33986897 DOI: 10.1155/2021/6653546]
- Choi YM, Lee SY, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring hepatitis B virus reverse transcriptase mutations related to potential antiviral drug resistance and liver disease progression. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 1708-1724 [PMID: 29713126 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i16.1708]
- Peck KM, Lauring AS. Complexities of Viral Mutation Rates. J Virol 2018; 92 [PMID: 29720522 DOI: 8 10.1128/JVI.01031-17
- 0 Al-Sadeq DW, Taleb SA, Zaied RE, Fahad SM, Smatti MK, Rizeq BR, Al Thani AA, Yassine HM, Nasrallah GK. Hepatitis B Virus Molecular Epidemiology, Host-Virus Interaction, Coinfection, and Laboratory Diagnosis in the MENA Region: An Update. Pathogens 2019; 8 [PMID: 31083509 DOI: 10.3390/pathogens8020063]
- 10 Kurbanov F, Tanaka Y, Mizokami M. Geographical and genetic diversity of the human hepatitis B virus. Hepatol Res 2010; **40**: 14-30 [PMID: 20156297 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2009.00601.x]
- 11 Sunbul M. Hepatitis B virus genotypes: global distribution and clinical importance. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 5427-5434 [PMID: 24833873 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i18.5427]



- Yin Y, He K, Wu B, Xu M, Du L, Liu W, Liao P, Liu Y, He M. A systematic genotype and subgenotype re-ranking of 12 hepatitis B virus under a novel classification standard. Heliyon 2019; 5: e02556 [PMID: 31687483 DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02556]
- Lin CL, Kao JH. Hepatitis B virus genotypes and variants. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2015; 5: a021436 [PMID: 13 25934462 DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a021436]
- Guettouche T, Hnatyszyn HJ. Chronic hepatitis B and viral genotype: the clinical significance of determining HBV 14 genotypes. Antivir Ther 2005; 10: 593-604 [PMID: 16152753]
- Jeong H, Kim DH, Choi YM, Choi H, Kim D, Kim BJ. rt269I Type of Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) Polymerase versus rt269L 15 Is More Prone to Mutations within HBV Genome in Chronic Patients Infected with Genotype C2: Evidence from Analysis of Full HBV Genotype C2 Genome. Microorganisms 2021; 9 [PMID: 33803998 DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms9030601]
- 16 Ginzberg D, Wong RJ, Gish RG. Hepatitis B virus diagnostics: anything new? In: Foster GR, Reddy KR. Clinical Dilemmas in Viral Liver Disease. London: John Wiley & Sons, 2020: 220-230
- McMahon BJ, Nolen LD, Snowball M, Homan C, Negus S, Roik E, Spradling PR, Bruden D. HBV Genotype: A 17 Significant Risk Factor in Determining Which Patients With Chronic HBV Infection Should Undergo Surveillance for HCC: The Hepatitis B Alaska Study. Hepatology 2021; 74: 2965-2973 [PMID: 34292609 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32065]
- 18 Lin CL, Kao JH. Natural history of acute and chronic hepatitis B: The role of HBV genotypes and mutants. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2017; 31: 249-255 [PMID: 28774406 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2017.04.010]
- 19 An P, Xu J, Yu Y, Winkler CA. Host and Viral Genetic Variation in HBV-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Front Genet 2018; 9: 261 [PMID: 30073017 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00261]
- 20 Kim H, Lee SA, Kim BJ. X region mutations of hepatitis B virus related to clinical severity. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 5467-5478 [PMID: 27350725 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i24.5467]
- Jiang S, Wang X, Chen K, Yang P. Establishment of an inducible cell line for Hepatitis B virus genotype C2 and its 21 pharmacological responses to interferons. Pharmacol Res 2022; 178: 106142 [PMID: 35218895 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106142]
- Chen H, Sun J, Zhou B, Xie Q, Liang X, Fan R, Conran C, Xu J, Ji Y, Zhang X, Sun L, Jia J, Wang G, Hou J, Jiang DK. 22 Variants in STAT4 Associated With Cure of Chronic HBV Infection in HBeAg-positive Patients Treated With Pegylated Interferon-alpha. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 196-204.e8 [PMID: 31042581 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.04.044]
- 23 Lee SY, Choi YM, Oh SJ, Yang SB, Lee J, Choe WH, Kook YH, Kim BJ. rt2691 Type of Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) Leads to HBV e Antigen Negative Infections and Liver Disease Progression via Mitochondrial Stress Mediated Type I Interferon Production in Chronic Patients With Genotype C Infections. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 1735 [PMID: 31402915 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01735]
- Tai CS, Wu JF, Chen HL, Ni YH, Hsu HY, Chang MH. The Impact of Hepatitis B Vaccine Failure on Long-term Natural 24 Course of Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection in Hepatitis B e Antigen-Seropositive Children. J Infect Dis 2017; 216: 662-669 [PMID: 28934424 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jix339]
- Yang HC. Viral Factors Affecting Disease Progression. In: Hepatitis B Virus and Liver Disease. Switzerland: Springer, 25 2018: 119-133
- Ishige T, Itoga S, Matsushita K. Locked Nucleic Acid Technology for Highly Sensitive Detection of Somatic Mutations in 26 Cancer. Adv Clin Chem 2018; 83: 53-72 [PMID: 29304903 DOI: 10.1016/bs.acc.2017.10.002]
- Braasch DA, Corey DR. Locked nucleic acid (LNA): fine-tuning the recognition of DNA and RNA. Chem Biol 2001; 8: 27 1-7 [PMID: 11182314 DOI: 10.1016/s1074-5521(00)00058-2]
- Ugozzoli LA, Latorra D, Puckett R, Arar K, Hamby K. Real-time genotyping with oligonucleotide probes containing 28 locked nucleic acids. Anal Biochem 2004; 324: 143-152 [PMID: 14654057 DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2003.09.003]
- 29 You Y, Moreira BG, Behlke MA, Owczarzy R. Design of LNA probes that improve mismatch discrimination. Nucleic Acids Res 2006; 34: e60 [PMID: 16670427 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gk1175]
- Kim JE, Lee SY, Kim H, Kim KJ, Choe WH, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring mutations in the reverse transcriptase region of 30 hepatitis B virus polymerase from treatment-naïve Korean patients infected with genotype C2. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 4222-4232 [PMID: 28694662 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i23.4222]
- Matsuda K. PCR-Based Detection Methods for Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism or Mutation: Real-Time PCR and Its 31 Substantial Contribution Toward Technological Refinement. Adv Clin Chem 2017; 80: 45-72 [PMID: 28431642 DOI: 10.1016/bs.acc.2016.11.002
- Chu SV, Vu ST, Nguyen HM, Le NT, Truong PT, Vu VTT, Phung TTB, Nguyen ATV. Fast and Sensitive Real-Time 32 PCR Detection of Major Antiviral-Drug Resistance Mutations in Chronic Hepatitis B Patients by Use of a Predesigned Panel of Locked-Nucleic-Acid TaqMan Probes. J Clin Microbiol 2021; 59: e0093621 [PMID: 34319801 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.00936-21]
- Kim H, Lee SA, Kim DW, Lee SH, Kim BJ. Naturally occurring mutations in large surface genes related to occult 33 infection of hepatitis B virus genotype C. PLoS One 2013; 8: e54486 [PMID: 23349904 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054486]
- Chan HL, Hui AY, Wong ML, Tse AM, Hung LC, Wong VW, Sung JJ. Genotype C hepatitis B virus infection is 34 associated with an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut 2004; 53: 1494-1498 [PMID: 15361502 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2003.033324]
- Zhong YW, Li J, Song HB, Duan ZP, Dong Y, Xing XY, Li XD, Gu ML, Han YK, Zhu SS, Zhang HF. Virologic and 35 clinical characteristics of HBV genotypes/subgenotypes in 487 Chinese pediatric patients with CHB. BMC Infect Dis 2011; 11: 262 [PMID: 21961963 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-11-262]
- Coffin CS, Zhou K, Terrault NA. New and Old Biomarkers for Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Hepatitis B Virus 36 Infection. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 355-368.e3 [PMID: 30472225 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.037]
- Liu Z, Zhang Y, Xu M, Li X, Zhang Z. Distribution of hepatitis B virus genotypes and subgenotypes: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100: e27941 [PMID: 34918643 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000027941]
- Kumar R. Review on hepatitis B virus precore/core promoter mutations and their correlation with genotypes and liver 38 disease severity. World J Hepatol 2022; 14: 708-718 [PMID: 35646275 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v14.i4.708]



- Kim H, Kim BJ. Association of preS/S Mutations with Occult Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) Infection in South Korea: 39 Transmission Potential of Distinct Occult HBV Variants. Int J Mol Sci 2015; 16: 13595-13609 [PMID: 26084041 DOI: 10.3390/ijms160613595]
- Liao H, Liu Y, Chen J, Ding W, Li X, Xu Z, Yang Y, Chen R, Si L, Xu X, Guo J, Xu D. Characterization of hepatitis B 40 virus (HBV) preS/S gene mutations in blood donors with occult HBV infection in the Baoji area of North China. Transfusion 2017; 57: 857-866 [PMID: 28236303 DOI: 10.1111/trf.14046]



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1735-1744

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1735

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Risk factors predict microscopic extranodal tumor deposits in advanced stage III colon cancer patients

Yi-Han Jhuang, Yu-Ching Chou, Yu-Chun Lin, Je-Ming Hu, Ta-Wei Pu, Chao-Yang Chen

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Khefacha F, Tunisia; Wang P, China; Zhang Z, China

Received: December 3, 2022 Peer-review started: December 3. 2022 First decision: December 19, 2022 Revised: January 2, 2023 Accepted: March 3, 2023 Article in press: March 3, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Yi-Han Jhuang, Division of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Yu-Ching Chou, School of Public Health, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Yu-Chun Lin, Department of Pathology, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Je-Ming Hu, Chao-Yang Chen, Division of Colorectal Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Ta-Wei Pu, Division of Colorectal Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital Song-shan Branch, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei 114, Taiwan

Corresponding author: Chao-Yang Chen, MD, Assistant Professor, Division of Colorectal Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, No. 325 Chang-gong Road, Nei-Hu District, Taipei 114, Taiwan. cartilage88@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Colorectal cancer is a frequent cause of cancer-related mortality in patients with lymph node or distant metastases. Pericolonic tumor deposits (TDs) are considered prognostically distinct from lymph node metastases.

AIM

To investigate risk factors for extranodal TDs in stage III colon cancer.

METHODS

This was a retrospective cohort study. We selected 155 individuals diagnosed with stage III colon cancer from the database of the Cancer Registry of the Tri-Service General Hospital. The patients were allocated into the groups with/without N1c. Multivariate Cox regression analysis and Kaplan-Meier method were done. The primary outcomes investigate the association between the covariates and extranodal TDs, and prognostic significance of the covariates regarding the survival.

RESULTS

There were 136 individuals in the non-N1c group and 19 individuals in the N1c group. Patients with lymphovascular invasion (LVI) had a higher risk of TDs.



Overall survival rates of patients with and without LVI were 6.64 years and 8.61 years, respectively (P = 0.027). The N1c patients without LVI had higher overall survival than those who with LVI (7.73 years *vs* 4.42 years, *P* = 0.010).

CONCLUSION

Patients having stage III colon cancer with LVI have a higher probability of having TDs than those with stage III colon cancer without LVI. Stage III colon cancer patients with TDs and LVI could have poor prognosis and outcome.

Key Words: Colon cancer; Tumor deposits; Lymphovascular invasion; Risk factor

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Tumor deposits has been associated with poor outcome in patient with colorectal cancer. In our study, we investigated the risk factors predicting extranodal tumor deposits in stage III colorectal cancer patients according to the new American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM staging and helped pathologist not to miss the subgroup of N1c patients. Sincerely, we look forward to more robust therapeutic approach and closer survivorship planning for this subgroup of high-risk stage III colon cancer patients in the future.

Citation: Jhuang YH, Chou YC, Lin YC, Hu JM, Pu TW, Chen CY. Risk factors predict microscopic extranodal tumor deposits in advanced stage III colon cancer patients. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(11): 1735-1744 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1735.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1735

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the fourth most common cancer and the fifth most frequent cause of cancerrelated mortalities worldwide[1]. The International Union Against Cancer/American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM classification has been utilized for cancer staging[2] and its function has aimed to determine patient care and treatment, as well as to predict cancer prognosis. The TNM staging system is revised every few years as knowledge of cancer continually expands[3].

A pericolonic tumor deposit (TD) is a perineural, peri- or intra-vascular tumor extending beyond the muscularis mucosae. It is different from lymph node metastases and should not be contemplated its prognostic value^[4-7]. The disease-free survival influence of even small pericolonic TDs is significant^[8], recommending that pericolonic TDs of all volumes should be contemplated clinically important[7,9,10].

The TNM classification of pericolonic TDs as lymph node metastases or sporadic tumor extensions is perhaps inaccurate. The quantity and greatest dimension of pericolonic TDs should be stated separately from lymph node metastases. In the seventh edition of the AJCC TNM staging system, TD was classified as pN1c in stage III colon cancer patients without lymph node metastasis[11].

Extranodal deposits are a different form of metastatic disease in patients with CRC. The relationship with vascular invasion and earlier development of metastases probably implies that a significant information of extranodal deposits may represent blood-borne spread. Some researchers have indicated worse prognosis of patients with TDs and have claimed that TDs should be categorized as M classification[6,9].

In this single-institution retrospective study, we investigate the risk factors predicting extranodal TDs in stage III CRC patients according to the new (eighth edition) AJCC TNM staging. In regard to possible poor prognosis of stage III CRC patient with factors predicting extranodal TDs, adjust the adjuvant chemotherapy regimens with target therapy or immunotherapy might be considered.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and population

All data were obtained retrospectively from the Cancer Registry database of the Tri-Service General Hospital (TSGH), Taipei, Taiwan. The cancer registry of the TSGH included 4067 patients with CRC from 2010 to 2016. The inclusion criteria were described as follows: (1) All the patients received colonoscopy with tumor biopsy and pathology proved malignancy; and (2) abdomen computed tomography or whole body positron emission tomography scan showed no distant metastasis. All patients received regular postoperative follow-up at our colorectal outpatient department. The exclusion



criteria were described as follows: (1) Lack of comprehensive data in long-term follow-up; (2) death within 30 d of surgery; (3) local excision or uncertain procedure; (4) synchronous tumors; and (5) rectal cancer or non-stage III colon cancer patients (Figure 1). A total of 155 individuals diagnosed with stage III colon cancer from a single institution of a medical center were enrolled. All patients signed informed consents, and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of TSGH permitted our study (TSGHIRB No. C202005173). Our study was conducted only for medical research and was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The definition of N1c

TDs, also called extranodal TDs, were defined as tumor cells in the pericolic or perirectal fat tissue without proof of residual lymph node tissue in the relevant lymphatic system of the primary tumor site [6]. According to the latest TNM 8th staging system announced in 2016, aiming to eliminate any lesion with identifiable structures pointing towards LN metastasis, extramural venous invasion or perineural invasion[12]. The hematoxylin eosin (HE) staining of extra-nodal TDs (N1c group) showed that there are nodules made up of tumor cells found in the structures near the colon that do not seem to be lymph nodes (Figure 2A). The HE staining of non-TDs (non-N1c group) showed that tumor cells revealed in regional lymph nodes (Figure 2B). A list of potential microscopic features that may be valuable to aid in the difference between tumor deposit and a positive lymph node was compiled and sent out for ranking with the virtual slides. The virtual slides were sent to three pathologists with a certain interest in gastrointestinal pathology for review. Each pathologist was asked to render an opinion of either tumor deposit or lymph node metastasis for each slide.

Covariates

The covariates comprised age, gender, body mass index (BMI), cigarettes smoking and alcohol consumption habits, hypertension (HTN), diabetes mellitus (DM), neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR)[13], carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), CA 19-9, and tumor characteristics. The tumor characteristics included tumor location (right and left), T stage, mean tumor size, tumor type (ulcerative and polypoid), tumor grade (well, moderate, and poorly differentiated), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) expression, and lymphovascular invasion (LVI). LVI was defined as tumor cells invading the lymphatic or blood vessels microscopically[14]. In our study, all specimens had been fixed immediately in formalin solution. For definite diagnosis, two pathologists resected our specimens for routine pathological examination independently by hematoxylin and eosin staining (H&E staining) and immunohistochemistry based on the eighth edition of the AJCC TNM system and the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria.

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics software (IBM Corp., Released 2016. IBM SPSS Statistics for MAC version 24.0. Armonk, NY, United States). Student's *t*-test was used to analyze quantitative variables in terms of the mean with SD. The chi-square test was used to analyze the qualitative variables in terms of frequency and percentage. Multivariate Cox regression analysis was performed to investigate the association between the covariates and extranodal TDs. The Kaplan-Meier method was used to calculate the overall survival and disease-free survival rates. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics

We included 155 individuals with stage III colon cancer in our study; their clinicopathological characteristics are shown in Table 1. There were 136 (88%) individuals in the non-N1c group and 19 (12%) individuals in the N1c group. The mean age of the N1c and non-N1c groups was 66.8 years and 65.2 years, respectively. N1c was observed mainly in male patients. The other characteristics showed no significant difference between the N1c and non-N1c groups, except for LVI (P = 0.049).

Risk factors of predicting extranodal TDs (N1c)

We investigated the association between the covariates and extranodal TDs using multivariate analysis (Table 2). There was no significant relationship between N1c and other confounding factors, such as age (HR = 1.03, 95% CI = 0.99-1.08), BMI (HR = 1.03, 95% CI = 0.68-1.04), HTN (HR = 0.87, 95% CI = 0.21-3.85), type II DM (HR = 0.69, 95% CI = 0.19-2.52), NLR (HR = 1.03, 95% CI = 0.92-1.15), CEA (HR = 1.00, 95% CI = 1.00-1.01), CA 19-9 (HR = 1.02, 95% CI = 0.99-1.04), and tumor characteristics. Notably, in stage III colon cancer, male patients (HR = 6.16, 95% CI = 1.24-30.10) with LVI (HR = 4.62, 95% CI = 1.17-18.33) had a higher risk of extranodal TDs.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of N1c group and non-N1c group, n (%)									
Item	N1c	Non-N1c	P value						
Sample size (<i>n</i>)	19	136							
Gender			0.08						
Male	13 (68.4)	64 (47.1)							
Female	6 (31.6)	72 (52.9)							
Mean age (yr)	66.79	65.17	0.09						
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.77	23.41	0.15						
Habit of smoking	8 (42.1)	46 (33.8)	0.48						
Habit of alcoholic drinking	4 (21.1)	13 (9.6)	0.13						
Hypertension	6 (31.6)	46 (33.8)	0.85						
Diabetes mellitus	4 (21.1)	29 (21.3)	0.98						
Neutrophil to Lymphocyte ratio	4.33	4.62	0.42						
CEA (mg/dL)	12.83	18.23	0.62						
CA 19-9 (mg/dL)	23.61	29.14	0.20						
Tumor characteristics									
Location			0.27						
Right colon	6 (9)	61 (91)							
Left colon	13 (14.8)	75 (85.2)							
T stage			0.90						
T1	1 (5.3)	5 (3.7)							
T2	1 (5.3)	12 (8.8)							
T3	16 (84.2)	110 (80.9)							
T4a	0 (0)	4 (2.9)							
T4b	1 (5.3)	5 (3.7)							
Mean tumor size (cm)	4.24	4.8	0.98						
Tumor type			0.26						
Polypoid	8 (42.1)	76 (55.9)							
Ulcerative	11 (57.9)	60 (44.1)							
Tumor grade			0.62						
Well	0	5 (100)							
Moderate	16 (13.3)	104 (86.7)							
Poor	3 (10.0)	27 (90.0)							
EGFR	17 (89.5)	117 (86.0)	0.68						
Lymphovascular invasion	3 (15.8)	53 (39.0)	0.049						

95% CI: 95% confidence interval; BMI: Body mass index; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; CA 19-9: Carbohydrate antigen 19-9.

Overall survival

The overall survival rates of patients with and without LVI were 6.64 years and 8.61 years, respectively (P = 0.027, Figure 3A), indicating that patients without LVI had higher overall survival than those with LVI. Furthermore, we divided the patients into N1c and non-N1c groups for subgroup analysis in regards to the impact of LVI on overall survival. In the non-N1c group, the overall survival rates of the patients with and without LVI were 6.91 years and 8.56 years, respectively (P = 0.13, Figure 3B), whereas the overall survival rates of the individuals with and without LVI in the N1c group were 4.42 years and 7.73 years, respectively (P = 0.01, Figure 3C).



Table 2 N1c group vs non-N1c group by multivariable cox regression										
li	Multivariable logistic regression									
Item	Exp (B)	95%CI	P value							
Gender										
Female	Reference									
Male	4.62	(1.17-18.33)	0.030							
Age	1.03	(0.99-1.08)	0.190							
BMI	0.84	(0.68-1.04)	0.110							
Habit of smoking	0.92	(0.27-3.07)	0.890							
Habit of alcoholic drinking	1.41	(0.29-6.81)	0.670							
Hypertension	0.87	(0.21-3.85)	0.850							
Diabetes mellitus	0.69	(0.19-2.52)	0.570							
Neutrophil to Lymphocyte ratio	1.03	(0.92-1.15)	0.660							
CEA	1.00	(1.00-1.01)	0.770							
CA 19-9	1.02	(0.99-1.04)	0.200							
Tumor characteristics										
Location										
Right colon	Reference									
Left colon	1.67	(0.45-6.21)	0.440							
T stage										
Tumor size	0.99	(0.96-1.02)	0.550							
Tumor type										
Polypoid	Reference									
Ulcerative	1.75	(0.62-4.92)	0.290							
Tumor grade	0.51	(0.12-2.21)	0.370							
EGFR	1.05	(0.20-5.48)	0.950							
Lymphovascular invasion	6.16	(1.24-30.10)	0.027							

95% CI: 95% confidence interval; BMI: Body mass index; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; CA 19-9: Carbohydrate antigen 19-9.

Disease-free survival

The disease-free survival rates of patients with and without LVI were 5.92 years and 8.16 years, respectively (P = 0.005, Figure 4A), indicating that patients without LVI had higher disease-free survival than those with LVI. As before, subgroup analysis of LVI was performed by patient grouping into N1c and non-N1c groups. The disease-free survival rates of the patients in the non-N1c group with and without LVI were 5.98 years and 8.18 years, respectively (P = 0.013, Figure 4B). However, in the N1c group, the disease-free survival rates were 4.42 years and 7.56 years, respectively, for patients with and without LVI (P = 0.097, Figure 4C).

DISCUSSION

Patients with stage III colon cancer are contemplated to have a clinically significant hazard of distant metastasis after surgical resection. However, individuals with stage III colon cancer have a spectrum of risk of progressive disease. Beside tumor stage, the NCCN identifies LVI, TDs, and perineural invasion as histopathological characters related with patient survival [15]. In addition, TDs have been comprehensively studied in colon cancer, with most studies representing that they are an essential prognostic variable[15]. Some studies have even stated that TDs and tumor budding are the only histological variables that individually predict tumor recurrence in stage III colon cancer and should be comprised





Figure 1 Description of the study flowchart.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1735 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Hematoxylin-eosin staining. A: The hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining of N1c; B: The HE staining of non-N1c.

as part of a regular comprehensive pathological risk appraisal. TDs are defined as a discrete focus of tumor within the lymph node drainage area of the primary carcinoma with no distinguishable lymph node[15].

TDs are defeined as extramural focal aggregates of cancer cells located in the peritumoral fatty tissue (either mesocolon or mesorectum), which have no continuity with the main tumor mass and are not associated with a lymph node[16]. However, there is still a debate about what TDs really are, as they usually share different morphologies that make their origin unclear[16]. Some studies believe that TDs simply represent a stage of the LVI and/or perineural invasion process during which malignant cells begin to proliferate, giving rise to distinct nodules of cancer[16] that have to be distinguished from the involved lymph nodes. Other studies believe that TDs either represent a sporadic tumor spread, a totally replaced lymph node (LN), venous invasion with extravascular extension, and/or less commonly, a small vessel or perineural invasion[17]. TDs are generally present in about 4.5%-45.0% of CRC patients[16], while their incidence looks to be greater in advanced and/or metastatic tumors[16]. Jin *et al*[17] demonstrated that about 10% of CRCs have TDs, and 2.5% of colon cancers and 3.3% of rectal cancers have TDs without positive LNs.

Interobserver variability exists among pathologists in interpreting TDs[17]. It is clear that the determination of TD remains subjective, and no single criterion or group of criteria are comprehensively used or agreed upon. However, knowledge of the potential challenges and possible solutions may help reduce interobserver variability. In our study, we used the multivariable Cox regression model to analyze characteristics, including age, sex, comorbidities, tumor location, tumor staging, and tumor markers, of the CRC patients. We showed that LVI could predict CRC patients with N1c component, and this could allow pathologists to pay more attention to this subgroup of patients.



Figure 3 Overall survival. A: The overall survival of the patient with/without lymphovascular invasion (LVI); B: The overall survival of the non-N1c patient with/without LVI; C: The overall survival of the N1c patient with/without LVI.

LVI positivity, characterized by the extension of tumor cells into lymphatic and/or blood vessels, has long been recognized as a probable indicator of lymph node metastasis, prognostic indicator, and predictor of patient outcomes. Many studies have investigated the presence of LVI in CRC and have determined it to be a strong stage-independent prognostic marker[18]. Patients with LVI usually have a higher chance of disease progression and poorer prognosis[18]. On the other hand, in recent years, TDs have become a hotspot in colon cancer study. In the seventh and eighth editions of the AJCC staging system, TDs were included in the nodal staging[19]. TD patients without regional lymph node metastasis were correlated with other high-risk characters, because there was more LV and perineural invasion in this group. This finding correlates with histopathologic results in other studies because TDs were revealed to be of perineural origin in 77% of cases, intravascular origin in 83% of cases, and a combined perineural, perivascular, and intravascular origin in 40%[20].

In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of stage I-IV CRC, TDs were always related with worse overall survival and disease-free survival[20]. One study stated that the survival curves of all patients in stages I-III with TDs were more similar to the survival curves of the stage IV than stage III patients, and patients with TDs in stages I-III showed similar mortality rates as stage IV patients[21]. Another up-to-date study has indicated that the presence of TD in individuals with stage III colon cancer is related with a 2.2-fold increased risk of developing disease recurrence[22]. In our study, the results reported that LVI could predict TDs in patients with stage III colon cancer. The subgroup of N1c stage III colon cancer patients with LVI showed poor prognosis regarding overall survival, while the non-N1c subgroup patients showed no significant difference.

Despite showing that the predicted risk factor of LVI makes the prognostic significance of TDs in stage III colon cancer patients more promising, there are still some limitations to the study. This is a retrospective study of observational data using a small sample of patients, the prevalence of N1c in colon cancer could as low as 1.59% in the previous study[23], which might result in statistical bias with inconsistent results between overall and disease-free survival. Further prospective studies with more patients involved might address our result more promising. There might also be systematic differences in the pathological evaluation of the surgical specimens, which may have biased the outcomes.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1735 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Disease-free survival. A: The disease-free survival of the patients with/without lymphovascular invasion (LVI); B: The disease-free survival of the non-N1c patient with/without LVI; C: The disease-free survival of the N1c patient with/without LVI.

CONCLUSION

Patients with stage III colon cancer with LVI might be more likely to have TDs. Interobserver variability among pathologists and the multidisciplinary committee might at times influence consistent interpretation and reporting, and the frequent association between co-occurrence of TDs and LVI may postulate extra insight into the nature and derivation of TDs. Pathologist should not miss these subgroups of N1c patients, because TDs in combination with LVI could predict poor patient outcomes. Greater attention must be paid to the subject of TD positivity and prompt suitable risk stratification by considering a more robust therapeutic approach and closer survivorship planning for this subgroup of high-risk stage III colon cancer patients, who might be undertreated and require adjustment of adjuvant chemotherapy regimens. Amendment in the delivery of proper care to these patients may increase survival and should be an object of future quality ambition.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

In the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) TNM staging system, tumor deposit (TD) was classified as pN1c in stage III colon cancer patients without lymph node metastasis, but extranodal deposits are a distinct form of metastatic disease in patients with colon cancer in some studies.

Research motivation

To conduct a retrospective study to investigate risk factors for extranodal TDs in stage III colon cancer.



Research objectives

We used SPSS Statistics software. Student's t-test and the chi-square test were utilized to investigate quantitative variables and qualitative variables. Multivariate Cox regression analysis was performed to investigate the association between the covariates and extranodal TDs. The Kaplan-Meier method was utilized to analyze the overall survival and disease-free survival rates.

Research methods

We selected 155 patients diagnosed with stage III colon cancer from the database of the Cancer Registry of the Tri-Service General Hospital retrospectively. The patients were categorized into the groups with/ without N1c. Multivariate Cox regression analysis and Kaplan-Meier method were done. The primary outcomes investigate the association between the covariates and extranodal TDs, and prognostic significance of the covariates regarding the survival.

Research results

Patients with lymphovascular invasion (LVI) had a higher risk of TDs. Overall survival rates of patients with and without LVI were 6.64 years and 8.61 years, respectively. The N1c patients without LVI had higher overall survival than those who with LVI.

Research conclusions

Stage III colon cancer patients with TDs and LVI could have poor prognosis and outcome.

Research perspectives

Greater attention must be paid to the issue of TD. Amendment in the delivery of proper care to these patients may increase survival and should be a target of future quality ambition.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Jhuang YH contributed to conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, investigation, methodology, validation, and writing original draft; Chou YC contributed to methodology, software and supervision; Lin YC, Hu JM, and Pu TW contributed to data collection; Chen CY contributed to supervision, validation, review and editing.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of TSGH (Approval No. C202005173).

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflicts of interest to report.

Data sharing statement: Data can be acquired from the corresponding author.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

ORCID number: Yi-Han Jhuang 0000-0002-5730-094X; Yu-Ching Chou 0000-0003-4823-6541; Je-Ming Hu 0000-0002-7377-0984; Ta-Wei Pu 0000-0002-0538-407X; Chao-Yang Chen 0000-0002-2246-7635.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- Weitz J, Koch M, Debus J, Höhler T, Galle PR, Büchler MW. Colorectal cancer. Lancet 2005; 365: 153-165 [PMID: 1 15639298 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17706-X]
- Greene FL. Current TNM staging of colorectal cancer. Lancet Oncol 2007; 8: 572-573 [PMID: 17613421 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(07)70185-7



- Quirke P, Williams GT, Ectors N, Ensari A, Piard F, Nagtegaal I. The future of the TNM staging system in colorectal 3 cancer: time for a debate? Lancet Oncol 2007; 8: 651-657 [PMID: 17613427 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(07)70205-X]
- Belt EJ, van Stijn MF, Bril H, de Lange-de Klerk ES, Meijer GA, Meijer S, Stockmann HB. Lymph node negative 4 colorectal cancers with isolated tumor deposits should be classified and treated as stage III. Ann Surg Oncol 2010; 17: 3203-3211 [PMID: 20625841 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-010-1152-7]
- Goldstein NS, Turner JR. Pericolonic tumor deposits in patients with T3N+MO colon adenocarcinomas: markers of 5 reduced disease free survival and intra-abdominal metastases and their implications for TNM classification. Cancer 2000; 88: 2228-2238 [PMID: 10820343]
- Puppa G, Maisonneuve P, Sonzogni A, Masullo M, Capelli P, Chilosi M, Menestrina F, Viale G, Pelosi G. Pathological 6 assessment of pericolonic tumor deposits in advanced colonic carcinoma: relevance to prognosis and tumor staging. Mod Pathol 2007; 20: 843-855 [PMID: 17491597 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3800791]
- Ueno H, Mochizuki H, Shirouzu K, Kusumi T, Yamada K, Ikegami M, Kawachi H, Kameoka S, Ohkura Y, Masaki T, 7 Kushima R, Takahashi K, Ajioka Y, Hase K, Ochiai A, Wada R, Iwaya K, Nakamura T, Sugihara K. Actual status of distribution and prognostic impact of extramural discontinuous cancer spread in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 2550-2556 [PMID: 21576644 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.7725]
- Nagayoshi K, Ueki T, Nishioka Y, Manabe T, Mizuuchi Y, Hirahashi M, Oda Y, Tanaka M. Tumor deposit is a poor 8 prognostic indicator for patients who have stage II and III colorectal cancer with fewer than 4 lymph node metastases but not for those with 4 or more. Dis Colon Rectum 2014; 57: 467-474 [PMID: 24608303 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.000000000000059]
- Al Sahaf O, Myers E, Jawad M, Browne TJ, Winter DC, Redmond HP. The prognostic significance of extramural deposits 9 and extracapsular lymph node invasion in colon cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2011; 54: 982-988 [PMID: 21730787 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e31821c4944
- Tateishi S, Arima S, Futami K, Kawahara K, Tachikawa D, Naritomi K, Iwashita A. A clinicopathological investigation of 10 "tumor nodules" in colorectal cancer. Surg Today 2005; 35: 377-384 [PMID: 15864419 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-004-2950-y]
- Edge SB, Compton CC. The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and 11 the future of TNM. Ann Surg Oncol 2010; 17: 1471-1474 [PMID: 20180029 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-010-0985-4]
- Amin MB, Greene FL, Edge SB, Compton CC, Gershenwald JE, Brookland RK, Meyer L, Gress DM, Byrd DR, 12 Winchester DP. The Eighth Edition AJCC Cancer Staging Manual: Continuing to build a bridge from a population-based to a more "personalized" approach to cancer staging. CA Cancer J Clin 2017; 67: 93-99 [PMID: 28094848 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21388]
- 13 Haram A, Boland MR, Kelly ME, Bolger JC, Waldron RM, Kerin MJ. The prognostic value of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in colorectal cancer: A systematic review. J Surg Oncol 2017; 115: 470-479 [PMID: 28105646 DOI: 10.1002/iso.24523]
- Hogan J, Chang KH, Duff G, Samaha G, Kelly N, Burton M, Burton E, Coffey JC. Lymphovascular invasion: a 14 comprehensive appraisal in colon and rectal adenocarcinoma. Dis Colon Rectum 2015; 58: 547-555 [PMID: 25944426 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.00000000000361]
- Landau MA, Zhu B, Akwuole FN, Pai RK. Histopathological Predictors of Recurrence in Stage III Colon Cancer: 15 Reappraisal of Tumor Deposits and Tumor Budding Using AJCC8 Criteria. Int J Surg Pathol 2019; 27: 147-158 [PMID: 29992847 DOI: 10.1177/1066896918787275]
- Athanasakis E, Xenaki S, Venianaki M, Chalkiadakis G, Chrysos E. Newly recognized extratumoral features of colorectal 16 cancer challenge the current tumor-node-metastasis staging system. Ann Gastroenterol 2018; 31: 525-534 [PMID: 30174388 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2018.0284]
- Jin M, Frankel WL. Lymph Node Metastasis in Colorectal Cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 2018; 27: 401-412 [PMID: 17 29496097 DOI: 10.1016/j.soc.2017.11.011]
- Aktekin A, Özkara S, Gürleyik G, Odabaşi M, Müftüoğlu T, Sağlam A. The Factors Effecting Lymphovascular Invasion 18 in Adenocarcinoma of the Colon and Rectum. Indian J Surg 2015; 77: 314-318 [PMID: 26730017 DOI: 10.1007/s12262-013-0816-5
- Zheng P, Chen Q, Li J, Jin C, Kang L, Chen D. Prognostic Significance of Tumor Deposits in Patients With Stage III 19 Colon Cancer: A Nomogram Study. J Surg Res 2020; 245: 475-482 [PMID: 31446189 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2019.07.099]
- Wong-Chong N, Motl J, Hwang G, Nassif GJ Jr, Albert MR, Monson JRT, Lee L. Impact of Tumor Deposits on 20 Oncologic Outcomes in Stage III Colon Cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2018; 61: 1043-1052 [PMID: 30086053 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.00000000001152]
- Lino-Silva LS, Anchondo-Núñez P, Chit-Huerta A, Aguilar-Romero E, Morales-Soto J, Salazar-García JA, Guzmán-21 López CJ, Maldonado-Martínez HA, Meneses-García A, Salcedo-Hernández RA. Stage I-III colon cancer patients with tumor deposits behave similarly to stage IV patients. Cross-section analysis of 392 patients. J Surg Oncol 2019; 120: 300-307 [PMID: 31017669 DOI: 10.1002/jso.25482]
- Pricolo VE, Steingrimsson J, McDuffie TJ, McHale JM, McMillen B, Shparber M. Tumor Deposits in Stage III Colon Cancer: Correlation With Other Histopathologic Variables, Prognostic Value, and Risk Stratification-Time to Consider "N2c". Am J Clin Oncol 2020; 43: 133-138 [PMID: 31764018 DOI: 10.1097/COC.0000000000665]
- Simon HL, Reif de Paula T, Spigel ZA, Keller DS. N1c colon cancer and the use of adjuvant chemotherapy: a current 23 audit of the National Cancer Database. Colorectal Dis 2021; 23: 653-663 [PMID: 33064353 DOI: 10.1111/codi.15406]

WÜ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1745-1756

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1745

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Outcomes of ABO-incompatible liver transplantation in end-stage liver disease patients co-infected with hepatitis B and human immunodeficiency virus

Jian-Xin Tang, Kang-Jun Zhang, Tai-Shi Fang, Rui-Hui Weng, Zi-Ming Liang, Xu Yan, Xin Jin, Lin-Jie Xie, Xin-Chen Zeng, Dong Zhao

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Lo SY, Taiwan; Tavan H. Iran

Received: October 24, 2022 Peer-review started: October 24. 2022 First decision: November 2, 2022 Revised: November 7, 2022 Accepted: March 6, 2023 Article in press: March 6, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Jian-Xin Tang, Kang-Jun Zhang, Tai-Shi Fang, Zi-Ming Liang, Xu Yan, Xin Jin, Lin-Jie Xie, Xin-Chen Zeng, Dong Zhao, Department of Liver Surgery and Organ Transplantation Center, The Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen (The Second Affiliated Hospital of Southern University of Science and Technology), Shenzhen 518000, Guangdong Province, China

Rui-Hui Weng, Department of Neurology, The Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen (The Second Affiliated Hospital of Southern University of Science and Technology), Shenzhen 518000, Guangdong Province, China

Dong Zhao, Department of Liver Surgery and Organ Transplantation Center, National Clinical Research Center for Infectious Disease, Shenzhen 518000, Guangdong Province, China

Corresponding author: Dong Zhao, MD, Chief Doctor, Professor, Surgeon, Department of Liver Surgery and Organ Transplantation Center, The Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen, No. 29 Bulan Road, Longgang District, Shenzhen 518000, Guangdong Province, China. zdong1233@126.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients coinfected with hepatitis B virus (HBV) are eligible for liver transplantation (LT) in Africa and Southeast Asia, particularly China. However, the outcome of HIV-HBV coinfected patients referred for ABO-incompatible LT (ABOi-LT) is unknown.

AIM

To clarify the outcome of ABOi-LT for HIV-HBV coinfected patients with endstage liver disease (ESLD).

METHODS

We report on two Chinese HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD who underwent A to O brain-dead donor LT and reviewed the literature on HIV-HBV coinfected patients treated with ABO-compatible LT. The pretransplantation HIV viral load was undetectable, with no active opportunistic infections. Induction therapy consisted of two sessions of plasmapheresis and a single dose of



rituximab in two split doses, followed by an intraoperative regimen of intravenous immunoglobulin, methylprednisolone, and basiliximab. Post-transplant maintenance immunosuppressive agents consisted of tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil, and prednisone.

RESULTS

At the intermediate-term follow-up, patients showed undetectable HIV viral load, CD4(+) T cell counts greater than 150 cells/ μ L, no HBV recurrence, and stable liver function. A liver allograft biopsy showed no evidence of acute cellular rejection. Both patients survived at 36-42 mo of follow-up.

CONCLUSION

This is the first report of ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV recipients with good intermediate-term outcomes, suggesting that ABOi-LT may be feasible and safe for HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD.

Key Words: ABO incompatibility liver transplantation; Human immunodeficiency virus; Hepatitis B virus; End-stage liver disease; Immunosuppression

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The outcome of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-hepatitis B virus (HBV) coinfected patients referred for ABO-incompatible liver transplantation (LT) (ABOi-LT) is unknown. We report on two Chinese HIV-HBV coinfected patients with end-stage liver disease (ESLD) who underwent A to O brain-dead donor LT and reviewed the literature on HIV-HBV coinfected patients treated with ABO-compatible LT. At intermediate-term follow-up, patients showed undetectable HIV viral load, CD4(+) T cell counts greater than 150 cells/ μ L, no HBV recurrence, and stable liver function. Both patients survived at 36-42 mo of follow-up. This is the first report of ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV recipients with good intermediate-term outcomes, suggesting that ABOi-LT may be feasible and safe for HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD.

Citation: Tang JX, Zhang KJ, Fang TS, Weng RH, Liang ZM, Yan X, Jin X, Xie LJ, Zeng XC, Zhao D. Outcomes of ABO-incompatible liver transplantation in end-stage liver disease patients co-infected with hepatitis B and human immunodeficiency virus. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(11): 1745-1756 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1745.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1745

INTRODUCTION

The recent introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) has dramatically changed the natural history of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection[1]. Both the mortality rate and the incidence of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) due to HIV infection have decreased with effective suppression of viral replication and prophylaxis against opportunistic infections[2]. However, HIV-infected patients are frequently coinfected with hepatitis B virus (HBV) since both viruses share similar modes of transmission, resulting in an increased risk of developing chronic liver disease[3,4]. After the dramatic improvement in the survival of HIV-infected patients with HAART, hepatitis cirrhosis and its complications have replaced opportunistic infections as the leading cause of mortality in the HIV-HBV coinfected patient[5]. In addition, almost all of the antiretroviral agents are metabolized in the liver. Patients with hepatic metabolic impairment cannot use these agents, accounting for the increased mortality associated with AIDS[6]. Accordingly, end-stage liver disease (ESLD) accounts for up to 50% of deaths in HIV-infected patients[7,8].

It has long been thought that HIV is a contraindication to liver transplantation (LT) in the pre-HAART era since immunosuppression can reportedly aggravate HIV infection and complications[9]. Case reports have shown nearly 25% AIDS-related mortality in HIV patients 6 mo after transplantation [10,11]. However, an increasing body of evidence suggests comparable survival rates between HIV-positive and HIV-negative recipients after LT in the HAART era[12-14]. These results suggest that HIV infection should not be a contraindication to LT, provided the underlying HIV disease is under control. Recent studies have shown that common indicators of controlled HIV disease-infected patient pretransplantation include an HIV viral load < 200 copies/mm³, a CD4(+) T cell count greater than 200 cells/ μ L, and the absence of active opportunistic infections for at least 6 mo[15].

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

ABO-incompatible LT (ABOi-LT) is considered to be a high-risk procedure, compared to ABOcompatible LT, associated with a higher rate of antibody-mediated rejection, biliary complications, hepatic artery thrombosis, and mortality [16]. Hence, ABO-incompatible liver grafts have been used as a rescue option. Advances in the treatment strategies for ABOi-LT[17] include plasmapheresis, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG), splenectomy, rituximab, antilymphocyte antibodies, and immunosuppressant medications have improved the post-LT outcomes. The past decade has witnessed an increase in ABOi-LT procedures with increasing success. No significant difference between rejection and allograft survival at 1, 3, and 5 years after transplantation was found in a United Network of Organ Sharing Database analysis between 1990 and 2010 that compared ABOi liver transplants with ABOcompatible transplants[18].

Notably, the China Liver Transplant Registry does not prohibit HIV patients from receiving organs. With the introduction and effectiveness of HAART therapy, the outcomes of HIV-positive recipients with ESLD are reportedly similar to HIV-negative recipients after LT[19]. However, the incompatibility between the ABO blood group and living organ donation severely limits the transplantation opportunities for this patient population[20]. Besides, LT in HIV patients using ABOi organs brings additional complexity and difficulty to this already intricate patient population. Therefore, assessing the practicability of ABOi-LT in HIV-positive recipients is essential. To our knowledge, ABOi-LT in an HIV-HBV coinfected recipient with ESLD has hitherto not been documented in the literature. Here, we report on two cases and review major clinical and research issues related to HIV-HBV coinfected patients treated with ABO-compatible LT. We present the following article in accordance with the AME Case Series reporting checklist.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

From January 2019 to December 2021, 7 patients with HIV infection underwent LT in our LT center, including 2 patients with ABOi-LT. These 2 patients underwent ABOi-LT between April 2019 and December 2019, and their clinical data were extracted from our database. Both patients received HAART and anti-HBV therapy before transplantation and presented undetectable HIV RNA and HBV DNA levels, while the CD4(+) T cell count of one patient was less than 100 cells/ μ L. The surgical technique of ABOi-LT was a modified piggyback technique with triangulation of the hepatic veins. The vena cava anastomosis was completed with three separate continuous sutures, first completing the right side of the triangle. Subsequently, we released the vena cava blood flow to reduce the cold ischemia time. Next, we successively performed portal vein and hepatic artery vascular anastomosis. Bile duct reconstruction was performed by end-to-end anastomosis (continuous for the posterior wall and interrupted for the anterior wall). The authors are accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (as revised in 2013). This retrospective study was a single-center consecutive case series analysis approved by the Ethics Committee of the Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen (No. 2022-038-02). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

To the best of our knowledge, no cases of ABO incompatibility involving HIV-HBV coinfection recipients have been reported in the literature. Little information is available on HIV-HBV coinfected patients that undergo LT and methods to improve survival and reduce complications. We systematically searched for all patients diagnosed with HIV who underwent LT from 1995 to 2022. Search terms were (HIV or human immunodeficiency virus) AND (HBV or hepatitis B virus) AND (liver or hepatic) AND (transplantation or transplant) in Embase, MEDLINE, and PubMed. When data were missing, we contacted the study authors for additional information.

RESULTS

Clinical data of patients

Case 1: A 61-year-old HIV-positive Chinese man with grade IV hepatic encephalopathy and hepatorenal syndrome secondary to decompensated HBV cirrhosis was referred for LT. He was considered a good candidate for LT because he had undetectable HIV RNA levels for at least 5 years, the CD4(+) T cell count was 42 cell/µL, and he received lamivudine and efavirenz as part of his Reverse Transcriptase inhibitor-based HAART therapy regimen for approximately 6 years. The model for ESLD (MELD) score was 40. However, given the absence of a suitable ABO-compatible liver donor and the patient's critical condition requiring urgent LT, a man with blood type A+ was used as the donor (O+ recipient, A+ donor). The recipient's latest anti-A titers were 1:128 for immunoglobulin G (IgG) and 1:32 for immunoglobulin M (IgM) before transplantation.

The decision was made to proceed with LT on April 4, 2019. Induction therapy consisted of two sessions of plasmapheresis, and rituximab 375 mg/m^2 in split doses was administered intravenously



before surgery. IVIG 400 mg/kg, rituximab 375 mg/m² in split doses, and methylprednisolone 0.5 g were administered intravenously during the operation; and basiliximab 20 mg was administered intravenously prior to the release of circulation in the graft.

Following transplantation, the patient was started on methylprednisolone for 7 d and switched to prednisone 48 mg daily and tapered to 8 mg daily over 4 wk. Maintenance immunosuppressive agents included tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil. Initially, 1 mg tacrolimus twice daily was started on postoperative day (POD) 1 and titrated to achieve a trough of 12 to 15 ng/mL during the first 2 postoperative weeks. The tacrolimus dose was adjusted to maintain a concentration of 8 to 12 ng/mL from 2 wk to 1 mo after transplantation, 6 to 8 ng/mL within 1 to 6 mo after transplantation, and then 4 to 6 ng/mL for long-term follow-up in our institution. Mycophenolate mofetil was started on POD4 and adjusted reasonably according to the postoperative liver function, infection index, white blood cell count, and drug concentration. IVIG 400 mg/kg was given daily for 7 d, then every other day for two more sessions. In addition, the second dose of basiliximab 20 mg was given on POD4. HAART therapy consisting of dolutegravir and lamivudine was restarted on POD1. Post-transplant anti-HBV therapy included tenofovir alafenamide and monthly infusions of high-dose hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG). Given the presence of HIV-associated immunodeficiency and antirejection medication use, infection prophylaxis is critical. The patient was treated with antibiotics, ganciclovir, and antifungal combination therapy.

Due to a high preoperative anti-A IgM/IgG titer, the anti-A IgM/IgG titer, CD4(+) T lymphocyte count, postoperative rejection, and the risk of opportunistic infection after LT were dynamically monitored. From POD1, ABO blood group antibody titers and T lymphocyte subsets were detected in the blood collected from the patient every other day. Postoperative monitoring showed that anti-A IgG/ IgM decreased from 1:128/1:32 to 1:32/1:16 at 2 wk postoperatively (Figure 1A). There were no problems with postoperative infection and HIV management; the patient received post-transplant HAART and anti-HBV therapy with CD4(+) T cell counts ranging from 60 to 148 cells/µL with undetectable HIV RNA and HBV DNA levels. Allograft ultrasound showed normal blood vessels and biliary tract. Serum transaminase peaked at 458 U/L on POD1, then began to trend down. However, graft function worsened on POD14. Mild elevation of the hepatic enzymes [total bilirubin (Tbil): 97 µmol/L; γ-glutamyltransferase: 255 U/L; aspartate aminotransferase: 39 U/L; alanine aminotransferase (ALT): 61 U/L] was observed (Figure 1B). The IgG and IgM titers remained stable (1:32 and 1:16, respectively). The follow-up liver allograft biopsy showed mild acute cellular rejection, with a Banff rejection activity index score of 4 (Figure 2A). After the patient received intravenous pulse steroid therapy (80 mg of methylprednisolone for 3 d, then tapered), liver enzymes decreased and subsequently remained in the normal range. The patient was discharged on POD37 without any infection and exhibited normal liver function. On subsequent clinical follow-up, normal hepatic enzymes were maintained. His latest CD4(+) T cell count was 159 cells/µL on June 6, 2022. A follow-up liver biopsy 1 year after transplantation revealed no evidence of graft rejection. More than 3 years after LT, the patient and graft function remained stable.

Case 2: A 46-year-old HIV-HBV coinfected Chinese man with acute-on-chronic liver failure was referred for LT. The preoperative Tbil was 320 µmol/L, and the international normalized ratio was 9.85. A multidisciplinary team discussion concluded that he was considered a good candidate for emergency LT with a MELD score of 40 and received a HAART therapy regimen for approximately 3 years with undetectable HIV RNA levels and a CD4(+) T cell count of 120 cells/µL. However, in the absence of suitable ABO-compatible liver donors, a man with blood type A+ was used as the donor (O+ recipient, A+ donor). The recipient's most recent anti-A titers for IgG and IgM were both 1:32 before transplantation. On November 19, 2019, the patient underwent ABOi-LT in our LT center. The induction treatment and maintenance immunosuppression scheme is shown in patient 1. HAART therapy was restarted on POD1 without changes. Given the immunodeficiency status of the patient treated with antirejection medication, the patient was treated with antibiotics, ganciclovir, and an antifungal combination therapy for infection prophylaxis.

The baseline anti-A IgG/IgM titers were both 1:32. Although the baseline anti-A titer was high and the CD4(+) T cell count was less than 200 cells/ μ L, an emergency ABOi-LT was successfully performed. The anti-A IgG/IgM titer, CD4(+) T cell count, postoperative rejection, and the risk of opportunistic infection after LT were dynamically monitored. Postoperatively the anti-A IgG/IgM titers decreased from 1:32/1:32 to 1:16/1:4 at 2 wk. Postoperative infection was not observed, and HAART and anti-HBV therapy were continued; the post-transplant CD4(+) T cell counts ranged from 62 to 494 cells/µL with undetectable HIV RNA and HBV DNA levels. The patient was finally discharged on POD63 with normal liver function, IgG and IgM titers of 1:8 and 1:4, respectively, and the absence of any complications (Figure 3A).

Deteriorating graft function was observed three months after LT, with relatively stable liver function (Figure 3B). The blood drug concentration of tacrolimus was 3 ng/mL, and the CD4(+) T-cell count was 390 cells/µL. A follow-up liver biopsy at 6 mo after transplantation revealed no evidence of graft rejection. Twenty-five months after LT, he was hospitalized due to abnormal hepatic enzymes and underwent a liver biopsy. The pathology report suggested chronic cholangitis with bile duct sclerosis and the possibility of early chronic rejection (Figure 2B). After the adjustment of the immunosup-





Figure 1 Dynamic changes in immunological indicators and liver function in case 1. A: Trends of anti-A immunoglobulin M (IgM)/immunoglobulin G (IgG) titers and CD4(+) T cell counts over time; B: Trends of liver enzymes over time after liver transplantation. γGT: γ-glutamyltransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; Tbil: Total bilirubin.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1745 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Pathological results of liver allograft biopsy. A: Patient 1. The pathology results of liver allograft biopsy showed mild portal inflammation, mild venous endothelial inflammation, mild small bile duct inflammation and capillary bile duct cholestasis suggesting mild acute cellular rejection (Banff rejection activity index score, 4); B: Patient 2. The pathology results suggested chronic interlobular cholangitis with bile duct sclerosis and the possibility of early chronic rejection.

pressive drug regimen, the patient's liver function gradually stabilized. During the subsequent followup, the hepatic enzymes remained within the normal range with a CD4(+) T cell count of 467 cells/ μ L on February 7, 2022. Nearly 36 mo after LT, the patient and graft function remained stable.

Literature review

To date, there have been no reports of successful ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV coinfected patients. To understand the prognosis and risk of HIV complications in patients with simultaneous HBV infection after LT, we reviewed the literature for LT in HBV-HIV coinfected patients[12-15,21-27]. Eleven studies were screened, reporting the characteristics of 69 patients with HIV-HBV coinfection that underwent LT from 1995 to 2022 (Table 1). The etiology of liver disease was HBV-related cirrhosis (n = 62) and fulminant liver failure due to HBV (n = 7).

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Summary of outcomes pre- and post-liver transplantation in human immunodeficiency virus-hepatitis B virus coinfected patients

		s, Study period in yr	Pre-LT				Post-LT					
Ref.	Patients, <i>n</i>		Liver disease	CD4(+) T cell count as cells/µL	HIV-RNA as copies/mm ³	HBV-DNA as IU/mL	Median follow-up in mo	Latest CD4(+) T cell count as cells/µL	Latest HIV-RNA as copies/mm³	Latest HBV- DNA as IU/mL	Rejections, <i>n</i>	Survival after LT in mo
Tateo <i>et al</i> [12]	13	1999-2007	HBV	173 (118-615) ¹	100% < 40	100% < 12	32 ± 5.2^2	281 (10-810) ¹	100% < 40	100% < 12	2	100% 1 yr, 100% 3 yr, 100% 5 yr
Schreibman et al[27]	6	1999-2006	5 HBV, 1 ALF	100% > 100	100% < 200	66.7% < 12	60 (2-64) ¹	83.3% > 100	100% < 100	83.3% ND	1	66.7% 1 yr, 66.7% 3 yr, 66.7% 5 yr
Norris <i>et al</i> [25]	5	1995-2003	4 HBV, 1 ALF	187 (124-293) ¹	20% < 50	100% < 12	15 (6-65) ¹	467 (241-754) ¹	100% < 50	100% < 12	1	100% 1 yr, 100% 3 yr
Coffin <i>et al</i> [15]	22	2001-2007	21 HBV, 1 Alf	317 (38-1070) ¹	100% < 40	45.4% ND	42 (0.6-84) ¹	289 (48–744) ¹	NA	68% ND	5	85% 1 yr, 85% 3 yr
Vernadakis <i>et</i> al[<mark>1</mark>]	2	1996-2009	1 HBV, 1 ALF	219, 403	50% < 50	NA	3, 34	NA	NA	NA	0	3, 34
Neff et al[22]	4	1997-2001	2 HBV, 2 ALF	75% > 100	50% < 50	ND	21 (5-36) ¹	100% > 100	100% < 50	ND	3	100% 1 yr, 100% 3 yr
Anadol <i>et al</i> [<mark>23</mark>]	10	1997-2011	HBV	100% > 100	80% < 50	ND	NA	NA	ND	ND	1	80% 1 yr, 80% 3 yr, 80% 5 yr
Radecke <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>]	1	1998-2001	HBV	196	380	NA	3	> 100	NA	NA	1	3
Schliefer <i>et al</i> [<mark>26</mark>]	1	1997-1999	ALF	477	< 80	NA	27	> 100	< 80	NA	0	27 (Alive)
Roland <i>et al</i> [<mark>21</mark>]	1	NA	HBV	439	ND	ND	20	305 to 700	ND	ND	0	20 (Alive)
Terrault <i>et al</i> [1]	4	2000-2002	HBV	175 (104-439)	100% < 75	ND	18, 25, 42, 48	315 (125-505)	ND	ND	0	100% 1 yr, 100% 3 yr

¹Median (range);

 2 mean ± SD.

ALF: Acute liver failure; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; NA: Not available; ND: Not detectable; LT: Liver transplantation.

Fifty-nine patients had HIV infection under control, with undetectable or low HIV viral loads and no previous AIDS events or opportunistic infections upon LT waiting list registration. At the time of transplantation, all but one patient had CD4(+) T cell counts above ≥ 100 cells/µL[22]. Polymerase chain reaction showed that 17.4% of patients (12/69) had detectable HBV DNA prior to transplant (among these, 10 patients received adefovir and/or entecavir therapy, and 2 patients received lamivudine



Figure 3 Dynamic changes in immunological indicators and liver function of case 2. A: Trends of anti-A immunoglobulin M (IgM)/immunoglobulin G (IgG) titers and CD4(+) T cell counts over time; B: Trends of liver enzymes over time after liver transplantation. γGT: γ-glutamyltransferase; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; Tbil: Total bilirubin.

combined with tenofovir therapy).

All patients received HAART following LT and plasma HIV-RNA remained low to undetectable in all patients (one case presented with a viral load of 76 copies/mL) during follow-up. No viral breakthrough was observed. CD4(+) T cell counts were maintained at more than \geq 100 cells/µL. All patients received dual immunoprophylaxis with hepatitis B immunoglobulin and anti-HBV medications. Eight patients tested positive for HBV DNA (among these, low-level HBV viremia was intermittently detected in 7 patients[15] but not associated with hepatitis B surface antigen detection or ALT elevation; for one patient[27] with a transiently positive HBV DNA, serum HBV DNA results were undetectable after tenofovir was added for antiviral therapy) (Table 1). 20.3% (14/69) of HIV-HBV coinfected patients were treated with high-dose prednisone or adjustment of immunosuppressive therapy after developing acute cellular rejection. However, one patient[23] died of hepatic artery thrombosis and graft failure due to rejection. The cumulative patient survival at one and three years in the HIV-HBV coinfected patients was 85.9% and 77.3%, respectively.

DISCUSSION

Current evidence suggests that in the era of HAART therapy, morbidity and mortality have declined in HIV-infected patients [28,29]. Mortality in this patient population is mainly attributed to comorbidities such as viral hepatitis infection, which is well-established to be associated with an increased prevalence of HIV-infected patients with ESLD. In recent years, studies have shown that the outcomes of HIV and non-HIV recipients were comparable, which has led to much controversy on transplantation in HIV patients [15]. Multiple centers have established protocols for HIV recipients, including an undetectable HIV RNA viral load and CD4(+) T cell counts greater than 200 cells/ μ L for sustained HAART therapy without other contraindications to LT. Overwhelming evidence[30-32] suggests promising outcomes for HAART-treated HIV-infected patients with maximally suppressed viral loads and no significant increase in opportunistic infections after LT.

Although LT is more common in selected HIV recipients, no studies have reported ABO incompatibility involving HIV-HBV coinfected recipients in the literature, while only 2 cases involving ABOincompatible kidney transplantation have been reported in HIV recipients[33,34]. Our study provides the first documented cases of A to O incompatible LT in HIV-HBV coinfected recipients with ESLD. Ample evidence suggests that HIV-positive liver transplant recipients are prone to rejection due to immunosuppression or immune dysregulation from the virus itself[35-37]. Interestingly, the United Network of Organ Sharing Database[38] showed that the overall incidence of acute rejection in non-HIV recipients was 24.7% within 1 year after LT, which is similar to the incidence (20.3%) in our review of HIV-infected recipients. Regardless of the HIV infection status, acute rejection is common in ABOi transplantation, with an acute rejection rate of nearly 22%[18]. In our report, emergency ABOi-LT was successfully performed in HIV-HBV coinfected recipients that received induction therapy and adjunctive immunosuppressive regimens, including plasmapheresis, rituximab, basiliximab, methylprednisolone, and IVIG. Liver biopsy at mid-term follow-up did not show acute cellular rejection.

The two patients described in our study are the first cases of A to O brain-dead donor LT reported in the literature. The A-blood group is unique since it exhibits two phenotypes (A1 and A2) that harbor different immunogenicity. The A2 phenotype is characterized by reduced reactivity with anti-A isoagglutinin since it expresses fewer A epitopes on two of four possible core saccharide chains of the ABO antigen[39]. Besides, an increasing body of evidence[40,41] suggests that transplantation of A2 Liver grafts does not elevate anti-A titers after LT. Kluger et al[18] reported that blood group O recipients with A2 grafts exhibited no significant differences in rejection during the transplant hospitalization and at 12 mo postoperatively, with the same overall and graft survival rates as recipients with O grafts at 1, 5, and 10 years. The patient's preoperative anti-A IgG/IgM titers in case 1 were 1:128 and 1:32, respectively. No definite graft rejection was observed 3 years after LT because the donor's blood group was A2. Our center's protocol for A to O LT is based on baseline (pretransplantation) titer data. If the anti-IgG and the IgM titers are > 1:16, the preoperative management consists of two sessions of plasmapheresis, IVIG 400 mg/kg, and rituximab 375 mg/m² in split doses. In our article, both patients received this protocol. Postoperative anti-A titer monitoring in patient 1 showed that anti-A IgG/IgM decreased from 1:128/1:32 pre-LT to 1:32/1:16 at 2 wk. During the subsequent three years of clinical follow-up, the patient exhibited normal liver enzyme levels.

Preventing HBV recurrence and HIV progression has become a research hotspot in patients with HIV-HBV coinfection after LT. No consensus has been reached on the optimal anti-HBV therapy in patients with HIV-HBV coinfection. Anti-HIV drugs with anti-HBV activity include lamivudine, tenofovir, and emtricitabine. Drug therapy for HIV infection has important implications for preventing the recurrence of HBV infection. However, treating HBV infection in a coinfected patient with lamivudine or tenofovir alone can result in HIV resistance to these drugs, affecting anti-HIV treatment options in the future[42,43]. Accordingly, clinicians should be aware of the potential impact of nucleos/ tide analogue selection on managing HIV-HBV coinfected recipients. Terrault et al[13] suggested that the combination therapy using nucleos(t)ide analogues and HBIG in the HIV-HBV coinfected recipient could effectively prevent post-transplantation HBV recurrence. In this report, the patient had excellent short outcomes after treatment with anti-HBV therapy, including tenofovir alafenamide and HBIG, and the HAART regimen consisting of dolutegravir and lamivudine. Subsequently, the two patients that underwent ABOi-LT with HIV were switched to albuvirtide and dolutegravir, well-recognized for their low hepatorenal toxicity and non-CYP450 enzyme inhibitors[44], reducing the impact of calcineurin inhibitor-type immunosuppressive drugs, which achieved intermediate-term excellent outcomes. Overall, it is essential to continuously monitor HIV RNA and HBV DNA levels and optimize anti-HIV and anti-HBV therapies to reduce postoperative complications and prolong survival in HBV-HIV coinfected recipients. Our HIV patients remained infection-free with good CD4(+) T cell count and stable liver function. Moreover, Albuvirtide and dolutegravir represent good options for HIV patients undergoing ABOi-LT.

Given that the number of HIV-infected patients with ESLD is expected to rise in the coming years, the same organ shortage issues that plague non-HIV patients will become increasingly severe for HIV patients[45]. To our knowledge, these two cases are the first reports of ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD in the literature. In this study, the early course of ABOi-LT in HIV recipients was similar to that of ABO-compatible LT, without severe acute rejection. Desensitization regimens for ABOi-LT include rituximab, plasmapheresis, and IVIG. In previous studies[46,47] and our previous clinical practice, it has been observed that multiple doses of rituximab could increase the risk of infection, especially in immunodeficient HIV patients. Therefore, a sufficient dose and course of prophylactic antibiotics are crucial to prevent postoperative infection. Furthermore, the number of targeted B cells was significantly smaller in HIV transplant patients, and multiple doses of rituximab yielded no significant benefit for acute rejection or survival in transplant patients[48], suggesting that a single dose of rituximab may be sufficient. The desensitization protocol is usually initiated 2 to 3 d before transplantation. In these two cases, we administered a single dose of rituximab in two split doses, and two sessions of plasmapheresis were performed to reduce the anti-A titers with satisfactory results.

CONCLUSION

We successfully performed emergency ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV coinfected patients. Their intermediateterm outcomes are encouraging, with normal graft function. Thus, ABOi-LT may be safe and feasible in HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD. We are cautiously optimistic that ABOi transplantation can be extended to other HIV-positive patients with ESLD.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients coinfected with hepatitis B virus (HBV) are eligible for liver transplantation (LT) in Africa and Southeast Asia, particularly China. However, the outcome of HIV-HBV coinfected patients referred for ABO-incompatible LT (ABOi-LT) is unknown.

Research motivation

There have been no reports about the intermediate-term outcome of ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV coinfected recipients.

Research objectives

We sought to clarify the outcome of ABOi-LT for HIV-HBV coinfected patients with end-stage liver disease (ESLD).

Research methods

We report on two Chinese HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD who underwent A to O brain-dead donor LT and reviewed the literature on HIV-HBV coinfected patients treated with ABO-compatible LT. Data of the pre- and post-transplantation were collected, including HIV viral load, CD4(+) T cell count, induction therapy methods, the immunosuppressive regimen and the clinical materials.

Research results

After follow-up for 36-42 mo, both patients survived with undetectable HIV viral load, CD4(+) T cell counts greater than 150 cells/µL, no HBV recurrence, and stable liver function. Liver biopsy showed no evidence of acute cellular rejection.

Research conclusions

This is the first study of ABOi-LT in HIV-HBV recipients with good intermediate-term outcomes, which suggests that ABOi-LT may be feasible and safe for HIV-HBV coinfected patients with ESLD.

Research perspectives

Due to the relatively small number of cases in the study, follow-up studies with large samples are still required.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all the patients for cooperating with our investigation.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhao D and Tang JX performed the conception and design; Zhao D contributed to the administrative support; Tang JX, Zhang KJ and Fang TS contributed to the provision of study materials or patients; Liang ZM, Yan X, Jin X and Zeng XC performed the collection and assembly of data; Weng RH and Xie LJ contributed to the data analysis and interpretation; All authors participated in the writing and final approval of the manuscript.

Supported by The Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen Scientific Research Project, No. G2021008 and No. G2022008; Shenzhen Key Medical Discipline Construction Fund, No. SZXK079; Shenzhen Science and Technology Research and Development Fund, No. JCYJ20210324131809027 and No. JCYJ20220530163011026.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by ethics committee of the Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen, No. 2022-038-02.



Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report having no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jian-Xin Tang 0000-0003-4416-5336; Rui-Hui Weng 0000-0002-0325-7608; Dong Zhao 0000-0003-3773-721X.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Fan JR

REFERENCES

- Falade-Nwulia O, Seaberg EC, Snider AE, Rinaldo CR, Phair J, Witt MD, Thio CL. Incident Hepatitis B Virus Infection in HIV-Infected and HIV-Uninfected Men Who Have Sex With Men From Pre-HAART to HAART Periods: A Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med 2015; 163: 673-680 [PMID: 26457744 DOI: 10.7326/M15-0547]
- Sezgin E, Van Natta ML, Thorne JE, Puhan MA, Jabs DA; Longitudinal Studies of the Ocular Complications of AIDS 2 (SOCA) Research Group. Secular trends in opportunistic infections, cancers and mortality in patients with AIDS during the era of modern combination antiretroviral therapy. HIV Med 2018; 19: 411-419 [PMID: 29573311 DOI: 10.1111/hiv.12609]
- 3 Liu L, Wang L, Zhang H, Ou W, Li D, Feng Y, Zhuang H, Shao Y. Changing Epidemiology of Hepatitis B Virus and Hepatitis C Virus Coinfection in a Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Positive Population in China: Results From the Third and Fourth Nationwide Molecular Epidemiologic Surveys. Clin Infect Dis 2021; 73: 642-649 [PMID: 34398954 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciab058]
- Su M, Liao L, Xing H, Wang S, Li Y, Lu W, He L, Deng J, Shao Y, Li T, Zhuang H. Characteristics of HBV infection in 4 705 HIV-infected patients under lamivudine-based antiretroviral treatment from three regions in China. Infect Drug Resist 2018; 11: 1635-1644 [PMID: 30323633 DOI: 10.2147/IDR.S173757]
- Lacombe K, Rockstroh J. HIV and viral hepatitis coinfections: advances and challenges. Gut 2012; 61 Suppl 1: i47-i58 5 [PMID: 22504919 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302062]
- Deeks SG, Tracy R, Douek DC. Systemic effects of inflammation on health during chronic HIV infection. Immunity 2013; 39: 633-645 [PMID: 24138880 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.001]
- Bica I, McGovern B, Dhar R, Stone D, McGowan K, Scheib R, Snydman DR. Increasing mortality due to end-stage liver disease in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Clin Infect Dis 2001; 32: 492-497 [PMID: 11170959 DOI: 10.1086/318501]
- Tuma P, Jarrin I, Del Amo J, Vispo E, Medrano J, Martin-Carbonero L, Labarga P, Barreiro P, Soriano V. Survival of 8 HIV-infected patients with compensated liver cirrhosis. AIDS 2010; 24: 745-753 [PMID: 20154579 DOI: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283366602]
- Baccarani U, Righi E, Adani GL, Lorenzin D, Pasqualucci A, Bassetti M, Risaliti A. Pros and cons of liver transplantation 9 in human immunodeficiency virus infected recipients. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 5353-5362 [PMID: 24833865 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i18.5353]
- 10 Fox AN, Vagefi PA, Stock PG. Liver transplantation in HIV patients. Semin Liver Dis 2012; 32: 177-185 [PMID: 22760657 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1316474]
- Bouscarat F, Samuel D, Simon F, Debat P, Bismuth H, Saimot AG. An observational study of 11 French liver transplant 11 recipients infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Clin Infect Dis 1994; 19: 854-859 [PMID: 7893869 DOI: 10.1093/clinids/19.5.854]
- Tateo M, Roque-Afonso AM, Antonini TM, Medja F, Lombes A, Jardel C, Teicher E, Sebagh M, Roche B, Castaing D, 12 Samuel D, Duclos-Vallee JC. Long-term follow-up of liver transplanted HIV/hepatitis B virus coinfected patients: perfect control of hepatitis B virus replication and absence of mitochondrial toxicity. AIDS 2009; 23: 1069-1076 [PMID: 19417577 DOI: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32832c2a37]
- Terrault NA, Carter JT, Carlson L, Roland ME, Stock PG. Outcome of patients with hepatitis B virus and human 13 immunodeficiency virus infections referred for liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2006; 12: 801-807 [PMID: 16628690 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.20776]
- 14 Vernadakis S, Sotiropoulos GC, Brokalaki EI, Esser S, Kaiser GM, Cicinnati VR, Beckebaum S, Paul A, Mathé Z. Longterm outcomes of liver transplant patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection and end-stage-liver-disease: single center experience. Eur J Med Res 2011; 16: 342-348 [PMID: 21813377 DOI: 10.1186/2047-783x-16-8-342]



- Coffin CS, Stock PG, Dove LM, Berg CL, Nissen NN, Curry MP, Ragni M, Regenstein FG, Sherman KE, Roland ME, 15 Terrault NA. Virologic and clinical outcomes of hepatitis B virus infection in HIV-HBV coinfected transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 1268-1275 [PMID: 20346065 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03070.x]
- 16 Lee EC, Kim SH, Park SJ. Outcomes after liver transplantation in accordance with ABO compatibility: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 6516-6533 [PMID: 29085201 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i35.6516
- Kim SH, Lee EC, Shim JR, Park SJ. A simplified protocol using rituximab and immunoglobulin for ABO-incompatible 17 low-titre living donor liver transplantation. Liver Int 2018; 38: 932-939 [PMID: 29053910 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13614]
- Kluger MD, Guarrera JV, Olsen SK, Brown RS Jr, Emond JC, Cherqui D. Safety of blood group A2-to-O liver 18 transplantation: an analysis of the United Network of Organ Sharing database. Transplantation 2012; 94: 526-531 [PMID: 22874840 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31825c591e]
- 19 Lieveld FI, Smit C, Richter C, van Erpecum KJ, Spanier BWM, Gisolf EH, Vrolijk JM, Siersema PD, Hoepelman AIM, Reiss P, Arends JE. Liver decompensation in HIV/Hepatitis B coinfection in the combination antiretroviral therapy era does not seem increased compared to hepatitis B mono-infection. Liver Int 2019; 39: 470-483 [PMID: 30411848 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14000]
- Taege AJ. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Organ Transplantation. Infect Dis Clin North Am 2018; 32: 615-634 [PMID: 20 30146026 DOI: 10.1016/j.idc.2018.04.013]
- Roland ME, Adey D, Carlson LL, Terrault NA. Kidney and liver transplantation in HIV-infected patients: case 21 presentations and review. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2003; 17: 501-507 [PMID: 14588090 DOI: 10.1089/108729103322494294]
- Neff GW, Bonham A, Tzakis AG, Ragni M, Jayaweera D, Schiff ER, Shakil O, Fung JJ. Orthotopic liver transplantation 22 in patients with human immunodeficiency virus and end-stage liver disease. Liver Transpl 2003; 9: 239-247 [PMID: 12619020 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2003.50054]
- 23 Anadol E, Beckebaum S, Radecke K, Paul A, Zoufaly A, Bickel M, Hitzenbichler F, Ganten T, Kittner J, Stoll M, Berg C, Manekeller S, Kalff JC, Sauerbruch T, Rockstroh JK, Spengler U. Orthotopic liver transplantation in humanimmunodeficiency-virus-positive patients in Germany. AIDS Res Treat 2012; 2012: 197501 [PMID: 22900154 DOI: 10.1155/2012/197501]
- Radecke K, Frühauf NR, Miller M, Ross B, Köditz R, Malagó M, Broelsch CE, Gerken G, Treichel U. Outcome after 24 orthotopic liver transplantation in five HIV-infected patients with virus hepatitis-induced cirrhosis. Liver Int 2005; 25: 101-108 [PMID: 15698406 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2005.01031.x]
- Norris S, Taylor C, Muiesan P, Portmann BC, Knisely AS, Bowles M, Rela M, Heaton N, O'Grady JG. Outcomes of liver 25 transplantation in HIV-infected individuals: the impact of HCV and HBV infection. Liver Transpl 2004; 10: 1271-1278 [PMID: 15376307 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.20233]
- Schliefer K, Paar WD, Aydemir G, Wolff M, Rockstroh JK, Spengler U, Sauerbruch T. [Orthotopic liver transplantation 26 in a 33-year-old patient with fulminant hepatitis B and HIV infection]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 2000; 125: 523-526 [PMID: 10829796 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1024313]
- Schreibman I, Gaynor JJ, Jayaweera D, Pyrsopoulos N, Weppler D, Tzakis A, Schiff ER, Regev A. Outcomes after 27 orthotopic liver transplantation in 15 HIV-infected patients. Transplantation 2007; 84: 697-705 [PMID: 17893602 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000282873.24648.5b]
- Bandera A, Gori A, Clerici M, Sironi M. Phylogenies in ART: HIV reservoirs, HIV latency and drug resistance. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2019; 48: 24-32 [PMID: 31029861 DOI: 10.1016/j.coph.2019.03.003]
- Frigati L, Archary M, Rabie H, Penazzato M, Ford N. Priorities for Decreasing Morbidity and Mortality in Children With 29 Advanced HIV Disease. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 66: S147-S151 [PMID: 29514237 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciy013]
- Bonny TS, Kirby C, Martens C, Rose R, Desai N, Seisa M, Petropoulos C, Florman S, Friedman-Moraco RJ, Turgeon 30 NA, Brown D, Segev DL, Durand CM, Tobian AAR, Redd AD. Outcomes of donor-derived superinfection screening in HIV-positive to HIV-positive kidney and liver transplantation: a multicentre, prospective, observational study. Lancet HIV 2020; 7: e611-e619 [PMID: 32730756 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30200-9]
- Miro JM, Agüero F, Duclos-Vallée JC, Mueller NJ, Grossi P, Moreno A; ESCMID Study Group of Infection in 31 Compromised Hosts. Infections in solid organ transplant HIV-infected patients. Clin Microbiol Infect 2014; 20 Suppl 7: 119-130 [PMID: 25040016 DOI: 10.1111/1469-0691.12754]
- 32 Tan-Tam CC, Frassetto LA, Stock PG. Liver and kidney transplantation in HIV-infected patients. AIDS Rev 2009; 11: 190-204 [PMID: 19940946]
- Forbes RC, DeMers A, Concepcion BP, Moore DR, Schaefer HM, Shaffer D. A2 to B Blood Type Incompatible 33 Deceased Donor Kidney Transplantation in a Recipient Infected with the Human Immunodeficiency Virus: A Case Report. Transplant Proc 2017; 49: 206-209 [PMID: 28104138 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2016.11.033]
- Campara M, West-Thielke P, Thielke J, Ommert T, Oberholzer J, Benedetti E, Kaplan B. ABO incompatible renal 34 transplantation in an HIV-seropositive patient. Transplantation 2008; 86: 176-178 [PMID: 18622297 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31817cf403]
- 35 Agüero F, Rimola A, Stock P, Grossi P, Rockstroh JK, Agarwal K, Garzoni C, Barcan LA, Maltez F, Manzardo C, Mari M, Ragni MV, Anadol E, Di Benedetto F, Nishida S, Gastaca M, Miró JM; FIPSE/NIH HIVTR/NEAT023 Investigators. Liver Retransplantation in Patients With HIV-1 Infection: An International Multicenter Cohort Study. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 679-687 [PMID: 26415077 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13461]
- Terrault N, Reddy KR, Poordad F, Curry M, Schiano T, Johl J, Shaikh O, Dove L, Shetty K, Millis M, Schiff E, 36 Regenstein F, Barnes D, Barin B, Peters M, Roland M, Stock P; HIVTR Investigators. Peginterferon and ribavirin for treatment of recurrent hepatitis C disease in HCV-HIV coinfected liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 1129-1135 [PMID: 24636466 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12668]
- Thorsen T, Dahlgren US, Aandahl EM, Grzyb K, Karlsen TH, Boberg KM, Rydberg L, Naper C, Foss A, Bennet W. 37 Liver transplantation with deceased ABO-incompatible donors is life-saving but associated with increased risk of rejection and post-transplant complications. Transpl Int 2015; 28: 800-812 [PMID: 25736519 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12552]


- Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Noreen SM, Robinson AM, Miller E, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, 38 Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2017 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2019; 19 Suppl 2: 184-283 [PMID: 30811890 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15276]
- Böhmig GA, Farkas AM, Eskandary F, Wekerle T. Strategies to overcome the ABO barrier in kidney transplantation. Nat 39 Rev Nephrol 2015; 11: 732-747 [PMID: 26324199 DOI: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.144]
- Puri Y, Rammohan A, Sachan D, Vij M, Rela M. ABO-Incompatible Living Donor Liver Transplant From a Blood Type 40 A2 Donor to a Type B Recipient: A Note of Caution. Exp Clin Transplant 2022; 20: 100-103 [PMID: 34763633 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2021.0203]
- Skogsberg U, Breimer ME, Friman S, Mjörnstedt L, Mölne J, Olausson M, Rydberg L, Svalander CT, Bäckman L. 41 Successful ABO-incompatible liver transplantation using A2 donors. Transplant Proc 2006; 38: 2667-2670 [PMID: 17098033 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.07.025]
- 42 Aoudjane S, Chaponda M, González Del Castillo AA, O'Connor J, Noguera M, Beloukas A, Hopkins M, Khoo S, van Oosterhout JJ, Geretti AM. Hepatitis B virus sub-genotype A1 infection is characterized by high replication levels and rapid emergence of drug resistance in HIV-positive adults receiving first-line antiretroviral therapy in Malawi. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59: 1618-1626 [PMID: 25100867 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciu630]
- Boyd A, Gozlan J, Maylin S, Delaugerre C, Peytavin G, Girard PM, Zoulim F, Lacombe K. Persistent viremia in human 43 immunodeficiency virus/hepatitis B coinfected patients undergoing long-term tenofovir: virological and clinical implications. Hepatology 2014; 60: 497-507 [PMID: 24752996 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27182]
- Esposito I, Labarga P, Barreiro P, Fernandez-Montero JV, de Mendoza C, Benítez-Gutiérrez L, Peña JM, Soriano V. Dual 44 antiviral therapy for HIV and hepatitis C - drug interactions and side effects. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2015; 14: 1421-1434 [PMID: 26212044 DOI: 10.1517/14740338.2015.1073258]
- Neuberger J. An update on liver transplantation: A critical review. J Autoimmun 2016; 66: 51-59 [PMID: 26350881 DOI: 45 10.1016/j.jaut.2015.08.021]
- Egawa H, Teramukai S, Haga H, Tanabe M, Mori A, Ikegami T, Kawagishi N, Ohdan H, Kasahara M, Umeshita K. 46 Impact of rituximab desensitization on blood-type-incompatible adult living donor liver transplantation: a Japanese multicenter study. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 102-114 [PMID: 24279828 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12520]
- Egawa H, Umeshita K, Uemoto S. Optimal dosage regimen for rituximab in ABO-incompatible living donor liver 47 transplantation. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2017; 24: 89-94 [PMID: 28002655 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.419]
- Wang XZ, Wan Z, Xue WJ, Zheng J, Li Y, Ding CG. B-Cell Activating Factor Predicts Acute Rejection Risk in Kidney 48 Transplant Recipients: A 6-Month Follow-Up Study. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 1046 [PMID: 31156628 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01046



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 March 21; 29(11): 1757-1764

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1757

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

CASE REPORT

Eosinophilic enteritis requiring differentiation from chronic enteropathy associated with SLCO2A1 gene: A case report

Kantaro Kimura, Keisuke Jimbo, Nobuyasu Arai, Masamichi Sato, Mitsuyoshi Suzuki, Takahiro Kudo, Tomonori Yano, Toshiaki Shimizu

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Anand A, Nepal; Bernabe-Ortiz JC, Peru; Hakimi T, Afghanistan; Paparoupa M, Germany

Received: January 16, 2023 Peer-review started: January 16, 2023 First decision: January 30, 2023 Revised: February 6, 2023 Accepted: February 27, 2023 Article in press: February 27, 2023 Published online: March 21, 2023



Kantaro Kimura, Keisuke Jimbo, Nobuyasu Arai, Masamichi Sato, Mitsuyoshi Suzuki, Takahiro Kudo, Toshiaki Shimizu, Department of Pediatrics, Juntendo University Faculty of Medicine, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Tomonori Yano, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University, Tochigi 329-0498, Japan

Corresponding author: Keisuke Jimbo, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Pediatrics, Juntendo University Faculty of Medicine, 2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan. kjinbo@juntendo.ac.jp

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Eosinophilic gastrointestinal disease (EGID) is a disorder characterized by infiltration of eosinophils causing mucosal damage and dysfunction of the gastrointestinal tract. The endoscopic findings of eosinophilic enteritis (EoN), an EGID variant, are nonspecific and occasionally difficult to diagnose. In contrast, chronic enteropathy associated with SLCO2A1 (CEAS) is a chronic persistent small intestinal disorder characterized by endoscopic findings such as multiple oblique and circular ulcers.

CASE SUMMARY

We report the case of a 10-year-old boy who had suffered abdominal pain and fatigue for the preceding 6 mo. He was referred to our institute for investigation of suspected gastrointestinal bleeding because of severe anemia with hypoproteinemia and positive fecal human hemoglobin. The upper and lower gastrointestinal endoscopic findings were normal; however, double-balloon small bowel endoscopy showed multiple oblique and circular ulcers with discrete margins and mild constriction of the intestinal lumen in the ileum. The findings were highly consistent with CEAS, but urine prostaglandin metabolites were within normal limits, and no previously reported mutations in the SLCO2A1 gene were identified. Histological evaluation demonstrated moderate to severe eosinophilic infiltration localized to the small intestine suggesting a diagnosis of EoN. Clinical remission was maintained with montelukast and a partial elemental diet, but emergent surgery for bowel obstruction due to small intestinal stenosis was performed two years after the initial treatment.

CONCLUSION



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

EoN should be considered in the differential diagnosis of CEAS-like small intestinal ulcerative lesions and normal urinary prostaglandin metabolite levels.

Key Words: Anemia; Chronic enteropathy associated with *SLCO2A1*; Double-balloon endoscopy; Eosinophilic gastrointestinal disease; Hypoproteinemia; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Eosinophilic enteritis (EoN), a form of eosinophilic gastrointestinal disease localized to the small intestine, is extremely rare in children. The present pediatric case of EoN displayed multiple ulcerative lesions mimicking chronic enteropathy associated with *SLCO2A1* and bowel obstruction due to small intestinal stenosis. The diagnosis was confirmed by small intestinal biopsy using double-balloon enteroscopy and analysis of urine prostaglandin metabolites.

Citation: Kimura K, Jimbo K, Arai N, Sato M, Suzuki M, Kudo T, Yano T, Shimizu T. Eosinophilic enteritis requiring differentiation from chronic enteropathy associated with *SLCO2A1* gene: A case report. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(11): 1757-1764

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i11/1757.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1757

INTRODUCTION

In eosinophilic gastrointestinal disease (EGID), tissue and functional disorders of the gastrointestinal tract are caused by inflammation due to abnormal infiltration of eosinophils within the gastrointestinal wall[1]. EGID can occur in any location between the esophagus and the colon, but localization to the small intestine is extremely rare[2]. The disease was re-classified from eosinophilic gastroenteritis (EGE) to eosinophilic enteritis (EoN) in 2022[3]. In addition, the nonspecific gastrointestinal endoscopic findings of EGID (edema, erythema, erosions, and ulcers) lead to difficulty in differentiating EGID from other digestive disorders[4].

In contrast, chronic enteropathy associated with *SLCO2A1* (CEAS) is a chronic persistent small bowel disease characterized by multiple oblique and circular ulcers with discrete margins in the ileum endoscopically. It is complicated by small intestinal obstruction due to ulcerative scarring and stenosis in the natural course[5].

Herein, we report a pediatric case of EoN involving multiple ulcerative lesions mimicking CEAS with diagnostic and therapeutic difficulties.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A 10-year-old Japanese boy presented to his family pediatrician with the complaints of easy fatigue and abdominal pain for 6 mo.

History of present illness

The patient presented to the family pediatrician with facial pallor and severe anemia (Hb: 2.9 g/dL) and was referred to his previous physician for admission. He then received red blood cell transfusion and iron supplementation. Further analysis also showed positive fecal human hemoglobin, indicating anemia due to gastrointestinal bleeding, and the patient was transferred to our institution for further evaluation.

History of past illness

The patient had no previous medical history.

Personal and family history

Prior to the patient's birth, the father had been treated with antibiotics for iron deficiency anemia caused by *Helicobacter pylori* infection.

Zaishidene® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Laboratory findings on admission									
	Laboratory data	Reference range							
White blood cell count (/µL)	5300	4000-8000							
Differential (percent)									
Neutrophils	2597 (49.0)	1800-4800							
Lymphocytes	2067 (39.0)	1000-3600							
Eosinophils	53 (1.0)	40-400							
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	9.7	14-18							
Hematocrit (%)	35.0	40-48							
MCV (fL)	74.9	84-99							
MCHC (g/dL)	27.7	32-36							
Ferrum (µg/dL)	39	50-190							
Ferritin (ng/mL)	23	30-400							
Total protein (g/dL)	6.1	6.7-8.3							
Albumin (g/dL)	2.9	3.9-4.9							
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.34	0.61-1.04							
C-reactive protein (mg/dL)	0.1	< 0.3							
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (mm/h)	4	0-15							
IgG (mg/dL)	665	870-1700							
IgE (IU/mL)	515	0-173							
Fecal human hemoglobin (ng/mL)	2018	< 50							
Fecal calprotectin ($\mu g/g$)	510	< 50							

MCV: Mean corpuscular volume; MCHC: Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; IgM: Immunoglobulin M; IgE: Immunoglobulin E.

Physical examination

On physical examination, vital signs were as follows: Temperature, 36.8 °C; blood pressure, 99/60 mmHg; heart rate, 80 beats per min; respiratory rate, 18 breaths per min. His height was 122.7 cm (-1.63 standard deviation), and his weight was 24.1 kg (-0.92 standard deviation), with no significant growth disturbance on the growth curve and no other abnormal physical findings other than pale eyelid conjunctiva.

Laboratory examinations

Blood analysis demonstrated low levels of hemoglobin (9.7 g/dL) and albumin (2.9 g/dL), and fecal analysis showed elevated levels of human hemoglobin (2018 ng/mL) and calprotectin (510 μ g/g). No elevation of inflammatory markers and no eosinophilia were observed (Table 1).

Imaging examinations

Upper and lower gastrointestinal endoscopy showed normal mucosal findings. Small intestinal capsule endoscopy was not performed because of the patency capsule retention in the stomach, and transanal double-balloon enteroscopy (DBE) was performed. DBE showed multiple oblique and circular ulcers with discrete margins at 70-100 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve with slight constriction of the small intestinal lumen (Figure 1).

Further diagnostic work-up

No histological abnormalities were identified on biopsies conducted by upper and lower gastrointestinal endoscopy. The ileal biopsy with DBE showed moderate to severe histological eosinophilic infiltration [maximum 80 eosinophils/high-power field (HPF)] and cryptitis within the mucosa (Figure 2). Of the urine prostaglandin metabolites that are elevated in CEAS, the levels in the present patient were as follows: Prostaglandin F2a metabolite, 3.2 (normal range: 3.0-4.0) ng/mg Cre; prostaglandin E2 metabolite, 2.09 (normal range: 2.0-3.0) ng/mg Cre; and prostaglandin D2 metabolite, 8.5 (normal range: 9.0-10) ng/mg Cre, all of which were within the normal ranges[6,7]. No previously

Diskidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1757 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Findings of initial double-balloon small intestinal endoscopy. A: Initial double-balloon enteroscopy (DBE) shows multiple oblique ulcers with discrete margins, 70-100 cm proximal to the ileal valve; B: The circular ulcers with slight constriction of the small intestinal lumen at initial DBE; C: Follow-up DBE performed 1 year later shows mucosal healing; D: The oblique ulcer and scars at 70 cm proximal to the ileal valve at follow-up DBE.

> reported mutations in the SLCO2A1 gene or in the targeted gene panels for very early-onset inflammatory bowel disease were identified[8].

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

The diagnostic findings and medical history indicated a final diagnosis of EoN.

TREATMENT

The patient was treated with montelukast (10 mg/d for a total of 26 mo), which reduced the frequency of abdominal pain. Partial elemental diet therapy (600 kcal/day for a total of 24 mo) was also implemented due to insufficient response of hypoalbuminemia and anemia[9]. Corticosteroids were not administered because the patient's family preferred that steroids be avoided.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The abdominal pain resolved completely 2 mo after the administration of montelukast and the partial elemental diet, and improvement of hemoglobin (11.2 g/dL) and hypoalbuminemia (3.5 g/dL) and normalization of fecal human hemoglobin (56 ng/mL) were observed after 4 mo. At follow-up of the small intestine by DBE performed 1 year later, mucosal healing was achieved, except for the oblique ulcer and scars at 70 cm proximal to the ileal valve, and no intestinal stenosis caused by the healing ulcer was observed (Figure 1). Eosinophilic infiltration had also disappeared on biopsy, suggesting histological remission. The patient was in clinical remission thereafter, but 2 years and 2 mo after the first visit, sudden bowel obstruction was induced by small intestinal stenosis, and emergent surgery was performed. The ileal macroscopic findings showed strictures at 40 cm and 44 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve, leading to ileal resection of the strictures and ileostomy (Figure 3). The histological findings of the resected specimen were of ulcer formation and peri-ulcer mucosal damage, suggesting intestinal stenosis in the process of ulcerative scarring. No significant granuloma or eosinophilic infilt-





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1757 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023

Figure 2 Histopathological findings of ileal tissue obtained from double-balloon enteroscopy. A: Hematoxylin and eosin staining (× 100) shows mild villous atrophy; B: Hematoxylin and eosin staining (× 400) shows moderate to severe histological eosinophilic infiltration (maximum 80 eosinophils/high-power field); C: Hematoxylin and eosin staining (× 400) shows crypt destruction (cryptitis).

ration was observed (Figure 3). The patient's postoperative course was uneventful. Ileostomy closure was performed 2 mo later, and the patient is currently being followed on an outpatient basis. An ileal resection specimen obtained at ileostomy closure showed marked eosinophilic infiltration (> 50/HPF) in the subserosa (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

The incidence of EGE in the United States is 2.5-30 cases per 100000 people, whereas the incidence in Japan is estimated to be 5.5 times higher[10]. EGE is usually difficult to diagnose because of the variety of gastrointestinal symptoms, as well as the extremely nonspecific findings of gastrointestinal endoscopy[11]. A case series that reported the small intestinal capsule endoscopic findings in 10 EGE cases found small intestinal lesions such as multiple erythematous lesions in 6 cases, erosions and ulcers in 5 cases, flattened or missing villi in 4 cases, and intestinal stenosis in 7 cases[9]. In that study, EGE was defined as EGID with extensive lesions extending from the stomach to the large intestine; however, only one pediatric and 6 adult cases of EoN localized to the small intestine have been reported (Table 2) [12-17]. These reports described various forms of ulcerative lesions and strictures in the small intestine, but all patients were diagnosed with EGE because of the difficulty of distinguishing EGE from CEAS based on the endoscopic images, as in the present case, and the patients had histologically significant eosinophilic infiltrates[12-17]. In contrast, the present case showed hypoproteinemia and iron deficiency anemia combined with multiple oblique and circular ileal ulcers, consistent with the diagnostic criteria for CEAS[18].

CEAS was first reported in Japan in 1968 as "nonspecific multiple ulcers of the small intestine"[5] and is caused by *SLCO2A1* germline variants encoding a prostaglandin transporter. The identification of hot spots of *SLCO2A1* variants is thus valuable for diagnosis but not currently included in the definitive diagnostic guidelines[5,7,18]. In addition, the clinical manifestations of CEAS are chronic and intractable nonspecific gastrointestinal symptoms comparable to EGID, and no effective treatment for these disorders has been established[18]. Ulcers of CEAS have been described as shallow oblique, circular, or longitudinal with discrete margins in case series of the endoscopic findings of CEAS[13,19]. CEAS-like disorders, inherited human cPLA2 α deficiency, and cryptogenic multifocal ulcerous stenosing enteritis; histologically, however, these diseases show nonspecific inflammatory cell infiltration predominantly



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Summary of four previous cases of eosinophilic enteritis

Case	Age/sex	Location	Endoscopic findings				Laboratory findings	
			Multiple erythema	Erosions	Ulcer	Stricture	Anemia	Hypoproteinemia
1	62/F	Throughout	-	+	+	-	NR	NR
2	66/F	Throughout	-	+	+	-	NR	NR
3	48/M	Upper jejunum/ileum	-	-	+	-	-	-
4	2/M	Jejunum/proximal ileum	+	-	-	-	-	NR
5	70/F	Ileum	-	-	-	-	-	+
6	54/M	Ileum	-	-	-	+	-	-
7	68/M	Distal jejunum/proximal ileum	-	-	-	+	-	-

F: Female; M: Male; NR: No record.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i11.1757 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Macroscopic and microscopic histological findings of the resected ileum. A: Macroscopically, strictures are observed 40 cm and 44 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve (arrowhead); B: Resected ileum shows ulcer formation and peri-ulcer mucosal damage histologically; C: No significant eosinophilic infiltration is observed transmurally; D: Resected ileum at the ileostomy closure shows marked eosinophilic infiltration (> 50/high-power field) in the subserosa.

> by neutrophils, rather than eosinophils[20,21]. The present case thus meets the diagnostic criteria for CEAS, but the diagnosis of EoN was reasonable based on the histological findings and the therapeutic course and responsiveness.

> The patient developed bowel obstruction induced by small bowel stricture during the clinical course. Most cases of CEAS manifest with small bowel stricture associated with the healing of ulcers and require long-term endoscopic follow-up and treatment, whereas few cases of small bowel stricture have been reported in EGID[16,17,22,23]. In particular, two EoN cases with stricture showed a transmural eosinophilic infiltration at the resected intestinal tract[16,17], suggesting that the eosinophilic infiltration in the muscle layer and serosa is a risk factor for intestinal stricture. However, identification of these by endoscopic mucosal biopsy may be extremely difficult. In the present case, the mucosal eosinophilic infiltration at the time of the small bowel resection was insignificant compared to that at the ileostomy closure, in which insufficient therapeutic agents were regularly administered, suggesting the treatment for EoN was unlikely to be inadequate. This fact indicates that periodic endoscopic follow-up with



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

consideration of the possibility of small bowel stricture would be required in EoN localized to the small bowel with CEAS-like ulcerative lesions.

CONCLUSION

EoN should be included in the differential diagnosis of patients who exhibit CEAS-like ulcerative lesions localized to the small intestine and have normal urinary prostaglandin metabolites. In addition, EoN with CEAS-like ulcerative lesions may require periodic endoscopic follow-up taking into account the potential complication of small bowel stricture.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the patient's family for permission to publish this case report.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kimura K, Jimbo K, and Arai N contributed to manuscript writing and editing, and data collection; Jimbo K, Sato M, and Suzuki M contributed to data analysis; Kudo T, Yano T, and Shimizu T contributed to conceptualization and supervision; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Supported by a Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists, No. 20K16905.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

ORCID number: Kantaro Kimura 0000-0001-7440-1059; Keisuke Jimbo 0000-0001-6317-4305; Nobuyasu Arai 0000-0001-7276-8201; Masamichi Sato 0000-0002-8375-4996; Mitsuyoshi Suzuki 0000-0002-9969-3454; Takahiro Kudo 0000-0003-4708-8049; Tomonori Yano 0000-0002-0160-432X; Toshiaki Shimizu 0000-0003-0364-0022.

S-Editor: Yan JP L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yan JP

REFERENCES

- Rothenberg ME. Eosinophilic gastrointestinal disorders (EGID). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 113: 11-28; quiz 29 [PMID: 14713902 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.10.047]
- 2 Ingle SB, Hinge Ingle CR. Eosinophilic gastroenteritis: an unusual type of gastroenteritis. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 5061-5066 [PMID: 23964139 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i31.5061]
- 3 Dellon ES, Gonsalves N, Abonia JP, Alexander JA, Arva NC, Atkins D, Attwood SE, Auth MKH, Bailey DD, Biederman L, Blanchard C, Bonis PA, Bose P, Bredenoord AJ, Chang JW, Chehade M, Collins MH, Di Lorenzo C, Dias JA, Dohil R, Dupont C, Falk GW, Ferreira CT, Fox AT, Genta RM, Greuter T, Gupta SK, Hirano I, Hiremath GS, Horsley-Silva JL, Ishihara S, Ishimura N, Jensen ET, Gutiérrez-Junquera C, Katzka DA, Khoury P, Kinoshita Y, Kliewer KL, Koletzko S, Leung J, Liacouras CA, Lucendo AJ, Martin LJ, McGowan EC, Menard-Katcher C, Metz DC, Miller TL, Moawad FJ, Muir AB, Mukkada VA, Murch S, Nhu QM, Nomura I, Nurko S, Ohtsuka Y, Oliva S, Orel R, Papadopoulou A, Patel DA, Pesek RD, Peterson KA, Philpott H, Putnam PE, Richter JE, Rosen R, Ruffner MA, Safroneeva E, Schreiner P, Schoepfer A, Schroeder SR, Shah N, Souza RF, Spechler SJ, Spergel JM, Straumann A, Talley NJ, Thapar N, Vandenplas Y,



Venkatesh RD, Vieira MC, von Arnim U, Walker MM, Wechsler JB, Wershil BK, Wright BL, Yamada Y, Yang GY, Zevit N, Rothenberg ME, Furuta GT, Aceves SS. International Consensus Recommendations for Eosinophilic Gastrointestinal Disease Nomenclature. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2022; **20**: 2474-2484.e3 [PMID: 35181570 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.02.017]

- 4 Chen MJ, Chu CH, Lin SC, Shih SC, Wang TE. Eosinophilic gastroenteritis: clinical experience with 15 patients. World J Gastroenterol 2003; 9: 2813-2816 [PMID: 14669340 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v9.i12.2813]
- 5 Umeno J, Hisamatsu T, Esaki M, Hirano A, Kubokura N, Asano K, Kochi S, Yanai S, Fuyuno Y, Shimamura K, Hosoe N, Ogata H, Watanabe T, Aoyagi K, Ooi H, Watanabe K, Yasukawa S, Hirai F, Matsui T, Iida M, Yao T, Hibi T, Kosaki K, Kanai T, Kitazono T, Matsumoto T. A Hereditary Enteropathy Caused by Mutations in the SLCO2A1 Gene, Encoding a Prostaglandin Transporter. *PLoS Genet* 2015; 11: e1005581 [PMID: 26539716 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005581]
- 6 Matsuno Y, Umeno J, Esaki M, Hirakawa Y, Fuyuno Y, Okamoto Y, Hirano A, Yasukawa S, Hirai F, Matsui T, Hosomi S, Watanabe K, Hosoe N, Ogata H, Hisamatsu T, Yanai S, Kochi S, Kurahara K, Yao T, Torisu T, Kitazono T, Matsumoto T. Measurement of prostaglandin metabolites is useful in diagnosis of small bowel ulcerations. *World J Gastroenterol* 2019; 25: 1753-1763 [PMID: 31011259 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i14.1753]
- Jimbo K, Okuno T, Ohgaki R, Nishikubo K, Kitamura Y, Sakurai Y, Quan L, Shoji H, Kanai Y, Shimizu T, Yokomizo T. A novel mutation in the SLCO2A1 gene, encoding a prostaglandin transporter, induces chronic enteropathy. *PLoS One* 2020; 15: e0241869 [PMID: 33166338 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241869]
- 8 Arai K. Very Early-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Challenging Field for Pediatric Gastroenterologists. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr* 2020; 23: 411-422 [PMID: 32953636 DOI: 10.5223/pghn.2020.23.5.411]
- 9 Higuchi T, Tokunaga M, Murai T, Takeuchi K, Nakayama Y. Elemental diet therapy for eosinophilic gastroenteritis and dietary habits. *Pediatr Int* 2022; 64: e14894 [PMID: 34157188 DOI: 10.1111/ped.14894]
- 10 Zhang M, Li Y. Eosinophilic gastroenteritis: A state-of-the-art review. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 32: 64-72 [PMID: 27253425 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13463]
- 11 Kinoshita Y, Furuta K, Ishimaura N, Ishihara S, Sato S, Maruyama R, Ohara S, Matsumoto T, Sakamoto C, Matsui T, Ishikawa S, Chiba T. Clinical characteristics of Japanese patients with eosinophilic esophagitis and eosinophilic gastroenteritis. *J Gastroenterol* 2013; 48: 333-339 [PMID: 22847555 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-012-0640-x]
- 12 Mizumoto N, Sasaki Y, Abe Y, Yagi M, Kon T, Onozato Y, Sakai T, Ito M, Umehara M, Ueno Y. Small-bowel Capsule Endoscopic Features in Patients with Eosinophilic Gastroenteritis: Three Case Reports. *Intern Med* 2021; 60: 2961-2965 [PMID: 33776012 DOI: 10.2169/internalmedicine.6935-20]
- 13 Okuda K, Daimon Y, Iwase T, Mitsufuji S. Novel findings of capsule endoscopy and double-balloon enteroscopy in a case of eosinophilic gastroenteritis. *Clin J Gastroenterol* 2013; 6: 16-19 [PMID: 26181398 DOI: 10.1007/s12328-012-0344-z]
- 14 Nguyen N, Kramer RE, Friedlander JA. Videocapsule Endoscopy Identifies Small Bowel Lesions in Patients With Eosinophilic Enteritis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2018; 16: e64-e65 [PMID: 28870663 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.08.043]
- 15 Yamaga Y, Mizuno M, Okae S, Nio-Tamaoki M, Masuo K, Mashimo-Matsuo Y, Tanaka J, Nabeshima M. Eosinophilic enteritis accompanied by cytomegalovirus disease: a case report. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2022; 22: 209 [PMID: 35484485 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-022-02274-1]
- 16 Jagtap SV, Nikumbh DB, Kshirsagar AY, Ahuja N. Unusual presentation of eosinophilic enteritis as multiple strictures of small intestine. *Clin Pract* 2012; 2: e24 [PMID: 24765423 DOI: 10.4081/cp.2012.e24]
- 17 Shivathirthan N, Maheshwari G, Kamath D, Haldar P. Enterolithiasis complicating eosinophilic enteritis: A case report and review of literature. *World J Gastrointest Surg* 2009; 1: 68-70 [PMID: 21160800 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v1.i1.68]
- 18 Hosoe N, Ohmiya N, Hirai F, Umeno J, Esaki M, Yamagami H, Onodera K, Bamba S, Imaeda H, Yanai S, Hisamatsu T, Ogata H, Matsumoto T; CEAS Atlas Group. Chronic Enteropathy Associated With SLCO2A1 Gene [CEAS]-Characterisation of an Enteric Disorder to be Considered in the Differential Diagnosis of Crohn's Disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2017; 11: 1277-1281 [PMID: 28510689 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx068]
- 19 Umeno J, Esaki M, Hirano A, Fuyuno Y, Ohmiya N, Yasukawa S, Hirai F, Kochi S, Kurahara K, Yanai S, Uchida K, Hosomi S, Watanabe K, Hosoe N, Ogata H, Hisamatsu T, Nagayama M, Yamamoto H, Abukawa D, Kakuta F, Onodera K, Matsui T, Hibi T, Yao T, Kitazono T, Matsumoto T; CEAS study group. Clinical features of chronic enteropathy associated with SLCO2A1 gene: a new entity clinically distinct from Crohn's disease. *J Gastroenterol* 2018; 53: 907-915 [PMID: 29313109 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-017-1426-y]
- 20 Chang C, Jiang C, Miao Y, Fang B, Zhang L. A case report of intestinal obstruction caused by cryptogenic multifocal ulcerous stenosing enteritis. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2020; 20: 300 [PMID: 32933476 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-020-01450-5]
- 21 Adler DH, Cogan JD, Phillips JA 3rd, Schnetz-Boutaud N, Milne GL, Iverson T, Stein JA, Brenner DA, Morrow JD, Boutaud O, Oates JA. Inherited human cPLA(2alpha) deficiency is associated with impaired eicosanoid biosynthesis, small intestinal ulceration, and platelet dysfunction. *J Clin Invest* 2008; 118: 2121-2131 [PMID: 18451993 DOI: 10.1172/JCI30473]
- 22 Tan HL, Sithasanan N, Foley P, Davidson GP. The successful medical management of severe duodenal strictures secondary to eosinophilic gastroenteritis in an infant. *Pediatr Surg Int* 2003; 19: 562-563 [PMID: 12905002 DOI: 10.1007/s00383-003-0995-4]
- 23 Attar A, Cazals-Hatem D, Ponsot P. Videocapsule endoscopy identifies stenoses missed by other imaging techniques in a patient with eosinophilic gastroenteritis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 9: A28 [PMID: 20728576 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.07.021]

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

